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Dear Ms. Ferguson:
 
Attached please find a letter from Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP on behalf of the Feather River
Watershed Alliance regarding the US Copper’s Vested Rights Petition. Please confirm receipt of this
email and attachment. Should you have any trouble accessing the file, please contact Ryan
Gallagher.
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Legal Secretary

mailto:TraceyFerguson@countyofplumas.com
mailto:larkin@smwlaw.com
mailto:KristinaRogers@countyofplumas.com
mailto:PCBS@countyofplumas.com
mailto:rgallagher@smwlaw.com
mailto:Folk@smwlaw.com
mailto:traceyferguson@countyofplumas.com










Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP
396 Hayes Street
San Francisco, CA 94102-4421
p: 415/552-7272 x235
www.smwlaw.com | A San Francisco Green Business

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE 

The information contained in this e-mail message, including any attachment(s), is privileged, confidential, and
protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, you may not read, use, copy, disclose, or
distribute the information contained in this e-mail message. If you think that you have received this
communication in error, please promptly advise Shute, Mihaly & Weinberger LLP by e-mail at
info@smwlaw.com or telephone at (415) 552 7272, and delete all copies of this message. 

 
 
 
 

http://www.smwlaw.com/
file:////c/info@smwlaw.com


  
 

 

396 HAYES STREET, SAN FRANCISCO, CA 94102 

T: (415) 552-7272  F: (415) 552-5816 

www.smwlaw.com 

RYAN K. GALLAGHER 

Attorney 

rgallagher@smwlaw.com 

 

March 20, 2024 

Via Email Only 
 
Tracey Ferguson, AICP 
Planning Director 
County of Plumas 
555 Main Street 
Quincy, CA 95971 
traceyferguson@countyofplumas.com  

 

Re: Vested Rights Petition for Engels-Superior Mines 
 
Dear Ms. Ferguson: 

On behalf of our client, the Feather River Watershed Alliance, we write 
regarding the “Verified Request for Determination of Vested Rights for the Engels-
Superior Mines” (“Petition”) submitted to the County of Plumas (“County”) by US 
Copper Corp. The Petition seeks a determination that US Copper holds a vested right to 
mine “copper, gold, silver, and construction aggregate” on approximately 736 acres of 
land in the unincorporated County (the “Property”).1 Portions of the Property were home 
to the now-defunct Engels and Superior Mines, which have been closed for nearly a 
century. 

The County must deny the Petition for multiple reasons. First, and most 
importantly, there simply has never been a vested right to mine for copper, gold, or silver 
on the Property.2 As US Copper acknowledges, the relevant “vesting date” for any right 

 
1 US Copper initially sought a determination that it holds a vested right to mine ten 
parcels, totaling approximately 967 acres. It has since amended the Petition to exclude 
eight of those parcels, leaving the two parcels that comprise the current Property. 
2 As discussed below, we acknowledge that in 2011, the County purported to recognize a 
limited vested right to quarry aggregate on a very small portion of the Property. Unless 
otherwise stated, this letter uses the term “vested right(s)” to refer to any additional right 
to mine on the Property that exceeds the scope of the County’s 2011 determination. 
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to mine is 1958, when the County adopted its first zoning ordinance. The problem for US 
Copper is that its predecessors in interest were not mining the Property in 1958, and had 
not been for nearly thirty years. Under the vested rights doctrine, US Copper’s 
predecessors could not have acquired a right to continue a use that was not actually 
occurring when it became nonconforming. 

Second, even if US Copper’s predecessors had attained a vested right in 
1958, that right has long since been abandoned. The County’s own ordinances and the 
State Mining and Reclamation Act (“SMARA”) are clear that any vested right to mine 
the Property has been abandoned by operation of law. And even if the abandonment were 
not automatic, the historical record plainly shows that US Copper’s predecessors intended 
to abandon—and did abandon—any right to mine the Property. In short, common sense 
and blackletter law all point to the same conclusion: US Copper does not have a vested 
right to operate a mine that has been closed for 94 years. 

Finally, even if some vested right to mine the Property existed, and even if 
that right had not been abandoned, the County still must deny the Petition. US Copper is 
demanding that the County grant it an open-ended entitlement to mine from the entire 
Property whatever materials it can find, in whatever quantities it desires, via whatever 
methods it chooses. This is not how vested rights work. It is US Copper’s burden to 
supply actual evidence proving that it retains a right to extract particular materials, from 
certain areas of the Property, using specific techniques. The Petition does not even 
attempt to provide this proof. What limited information the Petition does provide would 
not be enough for a reviewing court to conclude that US Copper holds any vested right to 
mine the Property. It should not be enough for the County, either.  

To be clear, our client does not necessarily oppose all redevelopment of the 
former Engels and Superior Mines. The mining industry unquestionably helped shape this 
County’s history. And it can be a constructive part of its future, too—provided that any 
proposals to restart large-scale mining first receive the careful scrutiny that the public 
deserves and state law requires. What our client does oppose are cynical efforts to bypass 
these normal avenues of environmental review and community input by misusing the 
vested rights doctrine.  

I. The Petition ignores foundational elements of vested rights law. 

The Petition’s barebones legal discussion omits several principles that are 
essential to understanding the vested rights doctrine and legal nonconforming uses. See 
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Petition (“Pet.”) 13–17.3 Critically, “[t]he ultimate purpose of zoning” is “to reduce all 
nonconforming uses within the zone to conformity as speedily as is consistent with 
proper safeguards for the interests of those affected.” Dienelt v. County of Monterey 
(1952) 113 Cal.App.2d 128, 131; see also City of Los Angeles v. Gage (1954) 127 
Cal.App.2d 442, 459 (emphasizing “pre-existing nonconforming uses” are not meant to 
be “perpetual”). Given this aim to “eliminate nonconforming uses, courts throughout the 
country”—including the California Supreme Court—“follow a strict policy against their 
extension or enlargement.” County of San Diego v. McClurken (1951) 37 Cal.2d 683, 
687. And neither courts nor the County hold “the power to waive or consent to violation 
of the zoning law.” Hansen Brothers Enters., Inc. v. Bd. of Supervisors (1996) 12 Cal.4th 
533, 564.  

Additionally, the party asserting a vested right bears the “burden of proving 
its vested rights claim.” Calvert v. County of Yuba (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 613, 629 
(citing Hansen Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 564). Taken together, this means that it is US 
Copper’s demanding task to prove that it retains a vested right to resume mining 
operations on the Property, despite the state’s strong public policy interests in weeding 
out nonconforming uses over time. 

II. Because all mining stopped long before 1958, there has never been a vested 
right to mine on the Property. 

Some vested rights cases can be complicated and fact-intensive. This is not 
one of them. The law is clear that a property owner can attain a vested right only “to 
continue a use which existed at the time zoning regulations changed and the use 
thereafter became a nonconforming use.” Stokes v. Bd. of Permit Appeals (1997) 52 
Cal.App.4th 1348, 1353 (citing Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 540 n.1) (emphasis added). 
Therefore, “a use must be present at the time a law takes effect, to be considered a 
nonconforming use.”4 Hardesty v. State Mining & Geology Bd. (2017) 219 Cal.Rptr.3d 

 
3 The Petition is sequentially paginated, but its hundreds of pages of exhibits are not. For 
convenience, this letter cites to both the Petition and its exhibits based on the page 
numbers of the “Full Package” PDF document available on the County’s website here: 
https://www.plumascounty.us/DocumentCenter/View/47729/Request-for-Vested-Rights-
Determination-Engels-Superior-Mine---Full-Package?bidId=.  
4 Consistent with these basic legal principles, section 61311 of the County’s 1958 
Ordinance Code states that a “lawful use of land . . . existing at the effective date of [this 
ordinance], although such does not conform with the provisions hereof, may be 
continued.” Pet. 130 (emphases added). 
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28, 42; see also id. (collecting cases); Keep the Code, Inc. v. County of Mendocino (Cal. 
Ct. App. 2018) 2018 WL 6259477, at *4 (“[I]f at the time a zoning ordinance creates a 
nonconforming use the landowner is not using the land for that purpose, no vested right is 
created that can be transferred to a successor owner.”);5 Hill v. City of Manhattan Beach 
(1971) 6 Cal.3d 279, 286 (“Nonuse is not a nonconforming use.”). 

In the mining context, this means that a vested right cannot attach to 
“dormant mines.” Hardesty, 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 42. Rather, it is the applicant’s “burden to 
prove [that its predecessor] was conducting a nonconforming [mining] use at the time the 
law changed.” Id. at 43; see also Keep the Code, 2018 WL 6259477, at *4 (agreeing that 
because an owner “was not using the property as a commercial quarry and aggregate 
business on” the vesting date, “a nonconforming use did not exist that could be 
transferred to” a succeeding owner (emphasis added)). Additionally, it is the “use of the 
land,” not the owner’ identity, that determines the right to continue a use. Hansen Bros., 
12 Cal.4th at 540 n.1 (emphasis added).  

These straightforward rules require that the County deny the Petition. As 
US Copper has correctly recognized, the critical vesting date here is July 8, 1958. That is 
when the County first adopted a comprehensive zoning ordinance that required a use 
permit for any mining activity on the Property. See Pet. 13–14, 21; see also Pet. 131–32 
(Ex. 14; 1958 County Ordinance Code).  

But the Petition does not include any evidence that mining was actually 
occurring on the Property in July 1958. In fact, the Petition barely discusses the 1950s at 
all. See Pet. 12–13. The reason for this is obvious: By 1958, the Engels and Superior 
Mines had been closed for nearly thirty years. There was no mining occurring on the 
Property. See Pet. 11–12. As US Copper admits, both mines had stopped operating in 
1930. Pet. 5, 11; Pet. 40–41 (Ex. 1); Pet. 56 (Ex. 3). All attempts to revive their 
operations over the next few years failed entirely. Pet. 11. And, by 1938, all equipment 
had been removed from the mines and the mineshafts had been allowed to flood. Pet. 12; 
Pet. 63 (Ex. 5); Pet. 65 (Ex. 6). Operations never resumed. Accordingly, mining was not 
an ongoing “use” of the Property in 1958 and no one could have acquired a vested right 
to continue it. 

The only historical evidence that the Petition provides of actual activities on 
the Property at any time in the 1950s—let alone in the crucial 1958 vesting year—is a 

 
5 Although Hardesty and Keep the Code are not published decisions, they provide a 
strong indication of how a court is likely to approach similar vested rights issues. Copies 
of these decisions are included as Attachment A and Attachment B to this letter. 
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two-page, unauthenticated “transcript” of a 2023 interview with CEMCO’s President, 
Norman Lamb. See Pet. 430–31 (Ex. 17). This document simply drives home how 
baseless the Petition is. In it, Mr. Lamb vaguely explains than an entity called “Indian 
Valley Chemical Company” had “tr[ied]” to implement “some process” for extracting 
“minerals” from sand tailings left over on a portion of the Property. See Pet. 430. This 
proposal never materialized. See id. Indeed, Mr. Lamb directly refuted the interviewer’s 
suggestion that an entity was “actually doing some sort of mining” during this time, 
instead explaining that the project’s financial backers “lost all of” the money they had 
invested in the venture. Id. Mr. Lamb was even equivocal about when these events 
actually occurred, recounting it “was in the 40s. Yeah, or 50s, right in there.” Id. This 
does not come remotely close to carrying US Copper’s evidentiary burden that mining 
was actually occurring on the Property in July 1958. 

Courts have rejected vested rights claims in these exact circumstances. For 
example, in Hardesty, a property owner claimed a vested right to reopen a gold mine that 
had last operated in the 1940s. 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 28. The relevant vesting date was 1976, 
when the enactment of SMARA imposed new permitting and reporting requirements on 
all mines in the state. Id. However, the historical record indicated that the property “was 
essentially dormant” from World War II through the end of the 1980s, apart from reports 
of “sporadic, limited mining involving only a very small portion of the property.” Id. 
Thus, the rights claimant “fail[ed] to describe what, if anything was happening on the 
property on or immediately before” the relevant vesting date. Id. On these facts, the court 
had no trouble concluding that a vested right to mine had never arisen, since there was no 
evidence that mining was actually occurring in 1976. See id. at 42–43; see also Keep the 
Code, 2018 WL 6259477, at *3–4 (concluding no vested right arose when the record was 
“devoid of any credible or reliable evidence” that a quarry was actually operating on the 
vesting date). The same is true here. As Hardesty put it, “the fact that mines were worked 
on the property years ago does not necessarily mean any surface or other mining existed” 
in 1958, “such that any right to . . . mine was grandfathered.” Id. at 31. 

It also makes no difference what entity owned the Property in 1958 or 
whether that party had ties to the mining industry. The caselaw, including Hansen 
Brothers, is clear that what matters is whether the relevant nonconforming use was 
occurring on the vesting date. See Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 540 n.1; Hardesty, 219 
Cal.Rptr.3d at 42. US Copper did not—and cannot—provide evidence that mining was 
actually occurring on the Property in 1958. The County must deny the Petition on this 
basis alone. 
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III.  Even if a vested right had existed, it has since been abandoned. 

No owner of the Property has ever attained the vested right that US Copper 
is now asking the County to recognize. But even if they had, the right to carry out a legal 
nonconforming use is not permanent. Rather, a vested right is lost upon abandonment of 
the nonconforming use. See Hansen Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 569. That is exactly what 
would have occurred here, had a vested right existed.  

A. The vested right would have been abandoned by operation of law. 

Any vested right to mine precious metals on the Property would have been 
lost automatically for two separate reasons. First, section 61131(a) of the County’s 1958 
Ordinance Code stated that if a legal “non-conforming use is discontinued for a period of 
one year, any future use shall be in conformity with the provisions of this chapter, unless 
and until a use permit shall first have been secured.” Pet. 131 (Ex. 14).6 That is, once a 
property owner had halted a legal nonconforming use for long enough, they lost any 
vested right to continue that use by operation of law. 

Section 61131(a) and the undisputed historical record provide a 
straightforward basis to deny the Petition. Even if there were evidence that mining was 
occurring on the Property through July 8, 1958—and, to be clear, there is not—there is no 
evidence of mining activity of any kind from 1958 through at least 1961, a period of 
approximately three years.7 See Pet. 11–12 (citing no evidence of mining activity in this 

 
6 A virtually identical provision remains in the current County Code. See Plumas Cty. 
Planning & Zoning Code § 9-2.502(d)(3) (“The lawful nonconforming use of land . . . , if 
discontinued for a period of one year, may be resumed only upon the issuance of a 
special use permit.”).  
7 Even this “evidence” of limited mining activity in the early 1960s is dubious. The 
Petition asserts that “[a] few thousand tons of ore was mined from the Superior Mine by a 
lessee in the early 1960’s,” but cites no contemporary sources in support of this claim. 
See Pet. 13. Instead, it cites (1) a technical study prepared in 2014 for a different mining 
company, which does not itself cite any sources; and (2) a state geologist’s report from 
1966, which observes only that “[s]mall scale activity was noted in 1961 and 1962 at the 
Engels and Superior mines in Plumas County.” See id.; Pet. 47 (Ex. 2); Pet. 77 (Ex. 11). 
These sources also provide no information about the identity of the party that was 
carrying out the mining operations.  
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period). Thus, under the County’s own zoning code, any vested right was abandoned by 
the start of the 1960s. 

The California Supreme Court’s Hansen Brothers decision is entirely 
consistent with this analysis. There, the Court discussed a provision of the Nevada 
County Code that is materially identical to section 61131(a). See 12 Cal.4th at 568–71 
(discussing then-Nevada County Development Code section 29.2(B)). Because it 
ultimately concluded that the nonconforming “use” at issue had never been discontinued 
at all, the Court explicitly declined to rule on whether the Nevada County provision “is 
intended to automatically terminate all nonconforming uses whenever the use has ceased 
for” longer than the statutory period of one year. Id. at 571 n.30. However, the Court 
voiced no doubts about whether the code provision would terminate a nonconforming use 
automatically when—as here—all activities associated with the use had ceased for the 
statutory period.8 See id.; see also id. at 571 (“This is not to say that future inactivity at 
the mine may not result in termination of that vested right . . . .”). 

Other cases decided after Hansen Brothers indicate that the Board should 
give section 61131(a) its plain meaning and find that any vested right to mine gold has 
been automatically lost through discontinuance of the use. In Stokes, the court analyzed 
the effect of a municipal regulation that automatically voided any right to resume a 
nonconforming use after it had been discontinued for a three-year period. 52 Cal.App.4th 
at 1354 & n.4. After discussing the Hansen Brothers opinion at length, see id. at 1354–
56, the court determined that the case “d[id] not assist” the vested rights applicant, id. at 
1355. It emphasized that unlike in Hansen Brothers, all relevant uses of the subject 
property had stopped for a period of seven years, and thus any right to resume the 
previous nonconforming use had been lost. Id. at 1355–56. Significantly, the court went 
on to hold that although the municipal permitting board had also found “that the prior 
owners had intended to abandon the . . . nonconforming use,” this additional finding of 
intent was “not necessary,” given the code’s automatic termination provision. Id. at 1356.  

The County should follow Stokes and apply the express language of section 
61131(a). After mining became a nonconforming use in 1958, there was no evidence of 

 
8 The Court, noting the “seasonal[ity]” of the aggregate quarrying business, did express 
some skepticism that a property owner could automatically lose a vested right to quarry if 
it were to cease the literal activity of quarrying for longer than the statutory period—
provided, however, that the owner was still selling aggregate from its stockpiled stores 
throughout the time that quarrying was paused. See id. But in this case, once mining had 
ceased by 1930 and all equipment had been removed by 1938, all activities associated 
with copper, silver, and gold mining also ended. 
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any mining activity on the Property for another three years. As a result, section 61131(a) 
requires that the County deny the Petition. See Hansen Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 564 
(emphasizing the County lacks authority to consent to violations of its own zoning laws). 

Even putting aside the County’s own ordinances, the state’s flagship 
mining law—SMARA—would separately require the County to find that any vested right 
to mine the Property has now been abandoned. Similar to the County’s ordinance code, 
SMARA requires that all mines in the state comply with certain permitting and reporting 
rules. See, e.g., Pub. Res. Code § 2770 (setting forth requirements for operating permits 
and reclamation plans); see also id. § 2207 (providing, in a different chapter of the Public 
Resources Code, that all mine owners must submit an annual report to the state regarding 
their mine’s operations). SMARA also exempts from some of these requirements mines 
that are operating pursuant to a vested right—that is, mines that were already in operation 
when SMARA took effect in 1976. See id. § 2776.  

However, several of SMARA’s requirements and other provisions of the 
Public Resources Code apply to all mines, regardless of whether they are operating under 
a vested right. Among these universally applicable rules is a requirement that, within 90 
days of a mine becoming “idle,” the mine operator submit an “interim management plan” 
describing the measures the operator will take to maintain the mine site until production 
resumes. See Pub. Res. Code § 2770(h)(1). As relevant here, SMARA defines an “idle” 
mine as one that “has curtailed production at the surface mining operation, with the intent 
to resume the surface mining operation at a future date, for a period of one year or more.” 
Id. § 2727.1. If a mine remains “idle” for more than one year without an interim 
management plan having been approved, SMARA provides that the mine must “be 
considered abandoned” and the operator must commence reclamation of the mine site. Id. 
§ 2770(h)(5). 

As discussed below, we strongly dispute that the Property’s previous 
owners continuously “inten[ded] to resume” mining operations. However, even assuming 
that such an intent existed, it is obvious that all “production” of copper, silver, and gold 
on the Property has been “curtailed” since SMARA took effect in 1976. See Pet. 12–16 
(providing no evidence of metal extraction between 1962 and present). Accordingly, the 
Property’s mines have been “idle” within the meaning of SMARA for 47 years—all 
without any interim management plans ever having been prepared or adopted. Under 
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these circumstances, SMARA requires that the County consider the mines “abandoned.” 
Pub. Res. Code § 2770(h)(5).9 

Notably, the County of Nevada recently denied a similar vested rights 
petition on these very grounds.10 In that matter, a company petitioned for recognition of a 
vested right to redevelop the Idaho-Maryland Mine near Grass Valley, a long-closed gold 
mine that had last operated in the mid-1950s. See Att. C at 4–5. Nevada County staff 
ultimately recommended denying the petition on numerous bases. See id. at 25–44. One 
of the specific grounds for denial was that the property’s prior owners had failed to 
prepare an interim management plan once the mine became “idle,” and thus SMARA 
required that Nevada County find the mine “abandoned.” Id. at 16, 43–44. The County 
must deny US Copper’s Petition for the exact same reason. 

B. The historical record also shows that any vested right was abandoned. 

For the reasons explained above, the County need not and should not delve 
into the historical record to examine whether previous Property owners intended to 
abandon any vested right to mine. But if the County were to go down that path, there is 
more than sufficient evidence to demonstrate abandonment.11  

 
9 Plumas County serves as the “lead agency” for all mining operations in the County 
under SMARA. See Pub. Res. Code § 2728; Plumas Cty. Planning & Zoning Code § 9-
5.01 (explaining that Chapter 5 of the County’s Planning & Zoning Code implements 
SMARA); see also Plumas Cty. Planning & Zoning Code §§ 9-5.02, 9-5.11 (setting forth 
a definition of “idle” and requirements for interim management plans that are virtually 
identical to SMARA’s). 
10 See “Board of Supervisors Denies Rise Grass Valley’s Vested Rights Petition,” County 
of Nevada (Dec. 14, 2023), https://www.nevadacountyca.gov/CivicAlerts.aspx?
AID=7112; Katharine L. Elliott & Diane G. Kindermann, In Re: Idaho-Maryland Mine 
Vested Rights Petition (Nov. 28, 2023), https://www.nevadacountyca.gov/
DocumentCenter/View/51714/2-Staff-Report. The staff report prepared by Nevada 
County Counsel and an outside law firm is also included as Attachment C to this letter. 
11 Abandonment of a vested right requires both an “intention to abandon” and an 
accompanying “overt act, or failure to act.” Hansen Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 569. 
However, the caselaw is unequivocal that the intention to abandon a nonconforming use 
can be inferred entirely from a property owner’s conduct. See, e.g., id.; Gerhard v. 
Stephens (1968) 68 Cal.2d 864, 890 (holding a court is capable of “reasonably 
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First, both the fact that no metals have been mined on the Property in at 
least six decades and the fact that mining was discontinued for decades longer than the 
one-year deadline in section 61131(a) are strong evidence of abandonment. Virtually all 
cases recognize that long lapses in use are evidence of an intent to abandon. Stokes, 52 
Cal.App.4th at 1355–56; Hardesty, 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 45 (emphasizing property owner 
did not “actually mine for many, many years”); Hansen Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 569 
(“[T]he duration of nonuse may be a factor in determining whether the nonconforming 
use has been abandoned.”). Moreover, Hansen Brothers noted that in all jurisdictions, 
nonuse for longer than a statutory deadline provides additional proof of abandonment. 
See 12 Cal.4th at 569 (explaining different jurisdictions have viewed such nonuse as 
either (1) being sufficient to prove abandonment, regardless of intent; (2) creating a 
presumption of abandonment; or (3) providing evidence of abandonment). Put simply, 
when a site goes unmined entirely for well over half a century, it is clear evidence that the 
Property’s owners did not intend to continue mining. 

Second, the manner in which mining ceased provides clear evidence of an 
intent to abandon. Within eight years of the mines closing in 1930, all mining equipment 
had been removed and the underground workings flooded. Pet. 12; Pet. 63 (Ex. 5); Pet. 
65 (Ex. 6); see also Pet. 444 (Ex. 20) (“During the 1930s, the mining and milling 
plant . . . were dismantled and sold.”). Several of the directors of the mining company 
that owned the Property resigned. Pet. 42 (Ex. 1). All proposals to restart mining in the 
next decade failed. See Pet. 12.  

Although “fluctuating mineral prices may induce an operator to close a 
mine temporarily, . . . that does not mean all gold mines were closed because of low 
prices, with the intent to reopen when profitable.” Hardesty, 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 44. The 
closing of the Engels and Superior Mines was not the sort of temporary pause in 
operations to wait out a fluctuating market that can stave off abandonment. See Hansen 
Brothers, 12 Cal.4th at 569 (citing a North Carolina case in which “[t]here, as in [Hansen 
Brothers], the plant, equipment, inventory, and utilities were maintained throughout the 
[nonuse] period and the plant could be made operational within two hours”); id. at 570 
n.29 (providing an example of a dairy business that discontinues the butter making 
portion of its operations “for several months when the demand for butter was low” and 

 
infer[ring]” an intention to abandon from a property owner’s “conduct”); Pickens v. 
Johnson (1951) 107 Cal.App.2d 778, 788 (recognizing “abandonment is a matter of 
intent which may be proved by the acts and conduct of the party who is alleged to have 
abandoned” the interest). 

SH UTE M IH A LY 
~ w E I N B E R G E R LLP 



 

Tracey Ferguson, AICP 
March 20, 2024 
Page 11 
 
 
“stored butter was adequate to meet the need”). Rather, by the early 1940s, there simply 
were no mining facilities left to operate on the Property. 

Third, the historical record includes lengthy periods in which the owner of 
the Property plainly did not intend to continue mining. Especially notable is the over 
decade-long period from 1993 to 2006. In 1993, the mining company that had leased the 
Property for the previous three decades cancelled its lease. Pet. 5, 13, 15; Pet. 433 (Ex. 
18); Pet. 444 (Ex. 20). For the for the next 13 years, no activity even remotely associated 
with mining occurred on the Property.12 See Pet. 15–16. Indeed, the Property’s owners 
had decided to take their business in a completely different direction: By 1995, the 
California-Engels Mining Company (“CEMCO”) had reached an agreement to manage 
the entire Property for long-term timber harvesting—a use entirely incompatible with 
large-scale surface mining. See Pet. 444; CEMCO, Form 10-K – Annual Report Pursuant 
to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 for the Fiscal Year Ended 
December 31, 1995 (May 5, 1996) (included as Attachment D). This use of the Property 
for purposes inconsistent with mining is strong evidence of an intent to abandon any 
vested right to mine. See Stokes, 52 Cal.App.4th at 1356 (endorsing municipality’s 
finding that prior owners showed intent to abandon nonconforming bathhouse use when 
they filed an application to convert the building to a senior center/shelter).  

Fourth, as early as 1990, state agencies responsible for overseeing mines 
and mine safety considered the mines abandoned. In a 1990 report prepared by the 
California Department of Health Service’s Toxic Substances Control Program,13 the 
Engels Mine was expressly described as an “abandoned copper mine” that had “ceased 
operation in 1930.” Cal. Dep’t of Health Servs., Toxic Substances Control Program, 
Preliminary Assessment 3 (Apr. 16, 1990) (included as Attachment E); see also id. at 16 
(referencing a 1970 report from the state’s Division of Mines and Geology that found all 
production at the Engels and Superior Mines had halted in 1930). Reports from the 

 
12 Thus, the Petition is incorrect when it alleges that the Property was “continuously . . . 
leased to a series of mine operators and exploration companies, all of whom occupied the 
Mines with the intent to continue the vested mining operation.” Pet. 22. 
13 In 1991, the Toxic Substances Control Program was reorganized as the current 
Department of Toxic Substances Control (“DTSC”). See “Our History,” DTSC (2024), 
https://dtsc.ca.gov/about-dtsc/our-history/. DTSC remains responsible for the assessment 
and remediation of abandoned mines in California. See “Abandoned Mine Lands,” DTSC 
(2024), https://dtsc.ca.gov/abandoned-mine-lands/.  
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Department’s “Abandoned Site Program Information System” also characterized the 
mining operations as “inactive” based on a site visit conducted in October 1989. Id. at 6. 

Fifth, even apart from neglecting to develop an interim management plan, 
US Copper and the Property’s prior owners have failed to comply with other provisions 
of the Public Resources Code and the County’s Planning & Zoning Code. Each of these 
failures shows that the Property’s owners never genuinely intended to resume mining 
operations on the site: 

• SMARA required that all “person[s] with an existing surface mining 
operation who has vested rights” submit a reclamation plan to their 
local lead agency by 1988. Pub. Res. Code § 2770. There is no 
evidence that any Property owner ever did. Indeed, neither the 
Engels nor the Superior Mine appears in the state’s current database 
of SMARA mines.14 

• The Public Resources Code separately requires that all mine 
operators submit an annual report to the state describing, among 
other things, whether their mine is “active, idle, reclaimed, or the 
process of being reclaimed.” Pub. Res. Code § 2207(a); see also 
Plumas Cty. Planning & Zoning Code § 9-5.12 (imposing similar 
annual reporting requirements); Hardesty, 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 34 & 
n.6 (indicating property owners claiming a vested right to mine are 
also required to file these annual reports). There is no evidence that a 
Property owner has ever filed one of these annual reports. 

To counter this voluminous evidence of abandonment, US Copper has 
offered only scattered reports of exploratory drilling efforts in the 1960s and early 1970s, 
none of which resulted in the resumption of mining operations on the Property. See Pet. 
13–14. Then, after a thirty year gap, similarly scattered and fruitless exploration efforts 
resumed in the mid-2000s. See Pet. 16. These futile, sporadic activities do not come close 
to demonstrating a continuous intent to resume mining operations on the Property. See 
Hardesty, 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 35, 45 (emphasizing mere “hope[s]” and “dreams” of 
resuming mining cannot prevent abandonment of a vested mining right). Any vested right 
to mine has been abandoned.  

Notably, Nevada County recently found that a vested right to conduct gold 
mining operations had been abandoned based on very similar historical evidence of 

 
14 Available at https://maps.conservation.ca.gov/mol/index.html.  
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abandonment. See Att. C at 25–41 (citing (1) a multi-decade lapse in all gold mining 
operations on the property, (2) the fact that all mining equipment was removed when the 
mine ceased operations, (3) the fact that later owners used the property for business 
operations that did not involve mining, and (4) current and past property owners’ failure 
to comply with SMARA’s reporting and remediation requirements and the county’s own 
mining regulations). There is no basis for the County to reach a different conclusion here. 

IV. In any event, the County cannot grant US Copper’s defective Petition. 

For the reasons set forth above, there is no viable vested rights claim to be 
made in this case. A vested right to mine never arose in 1958 and, if it had, it has now 
been abandoned. But even putting aside these multiple fatal problems, the County still 
would need to deny the Petition. This is because US Copper has not actually offered any 
evidence to prove the specific elements of the vested right it is seeking.  

A. US Copper has not proven the geographic or operational scope of the 
vested right. 

Once again, it is necessary to start with some basic legal principles that the 
Petition conveniently omits. First, the vested rights applicant bears the burden of proof as 
to each element of its vested rights claim. See Calvert, 145 Cal.App.4th at 629; Hansen 
Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 564. In the mining context, these elements include, among other 
things, the geographic extent of the vested right, the specific materials to be mined, and 
the methods used to mine them. See Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 542–75 (examining each 
of these elements in turn). Second, even where a vested right exists, “[i]ntensification or 
expansion of the existing nonconforming use, or moving the operation to another location 
on the property,” is never allowed. Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 552. These core 
limitations on vested rights apply even in the mining context. Id. 

Starting with the geographic scope of the vested right, the Petition claims 
an entitlement to mine anywhere on the more than 700-acre Property. See Pet. 21, 25. In 
support, the Petition notes only that (1) mining operations on the Property were expansive 
until 1930, (2) mining operations “continued . . . through the 1940s and 1950s,”15 and (3) 
CEMCO owed the entire Property on the vesting date. Pet. 21. 

Hansen Brothers demands vastly more than this “evidence” the Petition 
provides. In that decision, the California Supreme Court made clear that the geographic 

 
15 To reiterate, this claim about mining operations in the 1940s and 1950s is unsupported 
and inaccurate for the reasons addressed at length above. 
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scope of any vested right to mine is limited to those areas either (1) where mining was 
actually occurring on the vesting date, or (2) where the property’s owner exhibited an 
objective intent to expand mining at the date of vesting. Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 542–
43; see also id. at 543 (emphasizing there must be “objective evidence of the owner’s 
intent to expand a mining operation” and “that intent [must have] existed at the time of 
the zoning change”); id. at 555–56 (explaining a vested right to mine “the entire . . . 
parcel on which the nonconforming use is recognized requires more than the use of a part 
of the property for that purpose” on the vesting date).  

As discussed above, the Petition here includes no information about what 
was happening on the Property in July 1958—no evidence about where mining was 
actually occurring (or even had occurred in previous decades), and certainly no evidence 
about what other portions of the Property the owners objectively intended to mine in the 
future. Therefore, like in Hansen Brothers itself, the record here does not allow the 
County to grant the vested right the applicant is seeking. See id. at 543 (refusing to 
endorse the applicant’s exact vested rights claim because the record did not include 
adequate evidence about “the extent of the area over which an intent to [mine] was 
objectively manifested” in the vesting year). 

There are similar problems with the operational scope of US Copper’s 
vested rights claim. Although the Petition is vague, it suggests that US Copper is seeking 
a vested right to mine copper, gold, silver, and aggregate in effectively unlimited 
quantities, via whatever mining methods—surface or subsurface—the operator might 
choose. See Pet. 22, 25. For support, the Petition observes only that the former mines on 
the Property employed diverse methods to extract “millions of tons” of these various 
materials. Pet. 22.  

Again, Hansen Brothers and other vested rights cases require much more. 
First, these cases are clear that a vested right attaches to the “particular material that is 
being excavated.” Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 557 (emphasis added); see also id. (citing 
County of Du-Page v. Elmhurst-Chicago Stone Co. (Ill. 1960) 165. N.E.2d 310, 313, 
which held a vested right is limited to “the particular asset” being mined); Paramount 
Rock Co. v. County of San Diego (1960) 180 Cal.App.2d 217, 228 (concluding a vested 
right to extract sand and premix concrete materials did not include a right to crush rocks 
for use in concrete premixing); Calvert, 145 Cal.App.4th at 625 (questioning how the 
“alleged vested right” to aggregate mining could have been “continuous,” since the 
subject site had historically hosted two distinct mining operations—“gold mining[,] and 
not simply aggregate mining”). Thus, it matters what, if any, specific materials were 
actually being mined on the Property in July 1958. But that information is missing from 
the Petition entirely. 
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Additionally, a vested right in the mining context is also limited to the 
methods of extraction. See Paramount Rock Co., 180 Cal.App.2d at 228. In Hardesty, for 
example, the court emphasized that a vested right to engage in subsurface mining would 
not encompass a right to engage in surface mining, even if the surface mining would seek 
the same materials. See 219 Cal.Rptr.3d at 43–44. And, in Hansen Brothers, the court 
contemplated that a shift from aggregate extraction to rock quarrying might amount to 
such a “substantial change” in mining operations that rock quarrying would fall outside 
of the scope of the vested right. See 12 Cal.4th at 575 n.32. In short, it is critical that the 
Petition disclose what mining methods were being employed on the Property in 1958, 
what methods US Copper is now planning to use, and whether those methods differ. Yet 
none of this information is provided in the Petition. 

Finally, US Copper must prove that it is not planning to extract so much 
material from the Property that it would amount to a substantial change from the previous 
mining operations. See Hansen Bros., 12 Cal.4th at 575. Even the Petition nominally 
recognizes this limitation. See Pet. 25 (referencing the “substantial change” rule). But the 
Petition does not provide nearly enough information about either the quantities of 
material that were being extracted in 1958 or the amounts that US Copper plans to extract 
in the future for the County to make such a “substantial change” determination. 

B. The County’s 2011 vested rights determination is irrelevant.  

The Petition also tries a different approach to establishing a vested right. It 
repeatedly references the fact that in 2011, the County found that Turner Excavating Inc. 
holds a vested right to quarry aggregate on a 2.88-acre portion of the Property. See, e.g., 
Pet. 6, 16, 23. And it then then contends that this determination somehow both “applies to 
the entire” 736-acre Property, and also grants US Copper a right to mine other materials 
in addition to aggregate. See Pet. 23. Every part of this argument is wrong.16 

 
16 We do not contest the validity of the County’s 2011 vested rights determination here. 
As discussed in-text, this limited right to quarry aggregate is irrelevant to the Petition. 
However, it bears emphasizing that the 2011 determination may well have been illegal. 
The law is clear that “if an entity claims a vested right pursuant to SMARA to conduct a 
surface mining operation that is subject to the diminishing asset doctrine, that claim must 
be determined in a public adjudicatory hearing that meets procedural due process 
requirements of reasonable notice and an opportunity to be heard.” Calvert v. County of 
Yuba (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 613, 617. There is no indication that the County ever 
provided the required notice and hearing before it issued the 2011 determination. Rather, 
 

SH UTE M IH A LY 
~ w E I N B E R G E R LLP 



 

Tracey Ferguson, AICP 
March 20, 2024 
Page 16 
 
 

Initially, it is obvious from the negative declaration and the related 
materials that the County prepared in conjunction with Turner’s proposal that the vested 
right the County recognized in 2011 was exceedingly narrow. These materials repeatedly 
emphasize that the geographic extent of the County’s determination was limited to 2.88 
acres, see Att. E at 1, 2; that the only material to which the determination applied was 
“aggregate,” id. at 1, 2; and that the volume of extraction would be limited to 100,000 
cubic yards of material, id. at 1, 9. See also id. at Ex. 3 (Turner’s vested rights request 
letter, in which it seeks a right to mine only “aggregate” and “rock”). Turner’s own 
reclamation plan for the quarrying activities recognized that additional County approvals 
would be needed to mine even aggregate beyond the 2.88-acre scope of the County’s 
2011 rights determination. See id. at Ex. 1, p. 13 (explaining, under a heading labeled 
“Future Mining of Site,” that the “area excavated under this reclamation plan is limited to 
the pile of tunnel overburden and no material will be left after mining concludes. Other 
existing piles of tunnel overburden at nearby areas, not associated with this plan may be 
mined under separate approvals” (emphasis added)). Plainly, the County’s 2011 rights 
determination was nowhere near as expansive as US Copper now claims, and neither the 
County nor Turner thought that it was. 

The law is also clear that the County’s 2011 determination could never 
authorize the vastly expanded right that US Copper now seeks. As noted above, Hansen 
Brothers emphasized that the scope of a vested right in the mining context is limited to 
“the particular material [that] is being excavated.” Id. at 557 (emphasis added); see also 
Paramount Rock Co., Cal.App.2d at 228; Calvert, 145 Cal.App.4th at 625. No matter 
what US Copper might claim, a vested right to quarry aggregate on 2.88 acres of land is 
not the same as a vested right to mine copper, gold, and silver on over 700 acres of land. 

In sum, the County simply cannot grant the Petition. A vested right to mine 
the Property never arose in July 1958 and, even if it had, it has now been abandoned for 
decades. But even if it were possible that US Copper could hold a vested right to resume 
copper, gold, and silver mining on the Property, the Petition includes none of the proof 
that would be necessary for the County to recognize that right. US Copper is effectively 

 
it appears that the County granted the vested right one day after the applicant sent a letter 
seeking the determination. See Pet. 60 (Ex. 4) (letter from County’s Planning Director, 
dated October 21, 2011, stating he “agree[s] with [applicant’s] arguments” in its “letter of 
October 20, 2011” that “this aggregate site is vested”); see also County of Plumas, 
Negative Declaration Number 661 for Permit to Mine/ Reclamation Plan at Ex. 3 (June 
27, 2012) (included as Attachment F) (providing Turner Excavating Inc.’s October 20, 
2011, vested rights determination request letter). 
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asking the County for a blank check to mine whatever it wants, however it wants. The 
law does not permit the County to give it one. 

    

Our client appreciates the opportunity to comment on this matter of grave 
concern for the residents of Plumas County. Restarting large-scale mining operations on 
the Property would have massive environmental, social, and economic consequences that 
will last for decades. These potential impacts demand careful planning and analysis. And 
US Copper now has the opportunity to work with the public, expert agencies, and local 
decisionmakers to ensure that the effects of any proposed activities are fully disclosed 
and addressed. But filing a frivolous application for vested rights is not a good start. The 
County must deny the defective Petition so that a real dialogue about the consequences 
and propriety of US Copper’s proposals can begin.  

 Very truly yours, 
 
SHUTE, MIHALY & WEINBERGER LLP 
 

 
 
Ryan K. Gallagher 
 

 
 
Ellison Folk 
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Synopsis
Background: Landowners filed petition for writ of
mandamus challenging State Mining and Geology Board
determination they lacked vested right to conduct surface
mining on their property. The Superior Court, Sacramento
County, No. 34-2010-80000594-CU-WM-GDS, Timothy
Frawley, J., affirmed, and landowners appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeal, Duarte, J., held that:

[1] federal mining patents, alone, did not establish that
landowners had vested right to surface mine;

[2] grandfather provision of Surface Mining and Reclamation
Act of 1975 (SMARA) did not apply; and

[3] any vested right to surface mining pursuant to grandfather
provision of SMARA had been abandoned.

Affirmed.

Procedural Posture(s): On Appeal; Review of
Administrative Decision.

West Headnotes (17)

[1] Mandamus Presumptions and burden of
proof

Mandamus Scope of inquiry and powers
of court

Mandamus Scope and extent in general

Mandamus Presumptions

The reviewing court, like the trial court
considering petition for writ of mandamus, may
not reweigh the evidence, and is bound to
consider the facts in the light most favorable
to the State Mining and Geology Board, giving
it every reasonable inference and resolving all
conflicts in its favor.

More cases on this issue

[2] Mandamus Record and assignments of
error

Landowners challenging trial court's mandamus
affirmance of State Mining and Geology Board
determination they lacked vested right to conduct
surface mining forfeited any intended dispute
regarding the facts, where landowners' briefing
consistently drew evidentiary inferences in
the light most favorable to themselves, and
landowners persistently refused to acknowledge
the facts supporting the Board's and the trial
court's conclusions.

[3] Mines and Minerals Right to patent in
general

Since the Civil War, after locating a claim and
performing certain work and other requirements,
the holder of a perfected mining claim may
secure a patent to the land by complying with the
requirements of the Mining Act and regulations
promulgated thereunder and, upon issuance of
the patent, legal title to the land passes to the
patentholder.

WESTLAW 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/Flag?transitionType=Document&originationContext=docHeaderFlag&Rank=0&ppcid=a4603694d93c4445b2e86274cb11421f&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0369299401&originatingDoc=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k168(2)/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k168(2)/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k172/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k172/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k187.9(1)/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k187.9(4)/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Search/MoreLikeThisResults.html?caseGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&title=Hardesty+v.+State+Mining+%26+Geology+Bd.&citation=11+Cal.App.5th+790&originationContext=DocumentHeadNote&ppcid=a4603694d93c4445b2e86274cb11421f&legalIssue=Writ of Mandamus or Prohibition > Scope&returnTo=%2fDocument%2fI2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47%2fView%2fFullText.html%3frank%3d0%26sessionScopeId%3d332149cec912ba70f6ceadd66beb199c31c76264b88f33e7fe2c048ea7fd6280%26originationContext%3dSearch%2bResult%26transitionType%3dSearchItem%26ppcid%3da4603694d93c4445b2e86274cb11421f%26contextData%3d(sc.Default)%23Athens_headnoteCell_headnoteRef&VR=3.0&RS=cblt1.0 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k187.7/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/250k187.7/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/260/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/260k39/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/260k39/View.html?docGuid=I2efb08403ad811e7b69fcb5ae0fb9a47&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Default) 


Hardesty v. State Mining & Geology Bd., 11 Cal.App.5th 790 (2017)
219 Cal.Rptr.3d 28, 17 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 4501, 2017 Daily Journal D.A.R. 4492

 © 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2

[4] Federal Preemption Property

The State is free to enforce its criminal and civil
laws on federal land so long as those laws do not
conflict with federal law.

[5] Federal Preemption Particular Subjects;
Preemption by Particular Laws

The Property Clause itself does not automatically
conflict with all state regulation of federal
land; rather, absent consent or cession, a State
undoubtedly retains jurisdiction over federal
lands within its territory, but Congress equally
surely retains the power to enact legislation
respecting those lands pursuant to the Property
Clause, and when Congress so acts, the federal
legislation necessarily overrides conflicting state
laws under the Supremacy Clause. U.S. Const.
art. 4, § 3, cl. 2; U.S. Const. art. 6, cl. 2.

[6] Environmental Law Regulation and
protection in general

Environmental concerns about mining and its
after-effects are legitimate matters for state
regulation.

[7] Mines and Minerals Federal Law and
Regulations

The general purpose of federal mining laws is to
delineate the real property interests of miners vis-
à-vis each other and the federal government.

[8] Federal Preemption Mines and minerals;
oil and gas drilling

Mines and Minerals State law and
regulations in general

The one area where federal mining law intends
to displace state law is with respect to laws
governing title; in other areas, state and local law
are granted free rein.

[9] Mines and Minerals State law and
regulations in general

Federal mining patents, alone, did not establish
that landowners had vested right to surface mine
under grandfather provision of Surface Mining
and Reclamation Act of 1975 (SMARA) absent
county mining permit; landowner was required
to comply with environmental regulations,
as well as show active surface mining was
occurring on the effective date of SMARA, or
at the very least show objective evidence that
the then-owner contemplated resumption of such
surface mining activities. Cal. Pub. Res. Code §
2776.

More cases on this issue

[10] Mines and Minerals State law and
regulations in general

Grandfather provision of the Surface Mining and
Reclamation Act of 1975 (SMARA) does not
extend to truly dormant mines. Cal. Pub. Res.
Code § 2776.

[11] Zoning and Planning Discontinuance or
Abandonment

Neither a dormant nor an abandoned use is a
nonconforming use.

[12] Zoning and Planning Purpose

Zoning and Planning Enlargement or
Extension of Use

The ultimate purpose of zoning is to reduce
all nonconforming uses within the zone to
conformity as speedily as is consistent with
proper safeguards for the interests of those
affected; given this purpose, courts should follow
a strict policy against extension or expansion of
those uses, and that policy necessarily applies to
attempts to continue nonconforming uses which
have ceased operation.
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[13] Mines and Minerals State law and
regulations in general

Evidence was sufficient to support State Mining
and Geology Board finding that surface mining
of property had not been in effect on or before
date of Surface Mining and Reclamation Act
of 1975 (SMARA), nor had surface mining
been a continuous use of the property since
that date, and thus SMARA's grandfather
provision did not apply to exempt landowners
from need to obtain county permit for surface
mining even if landowners had federal mining
patents; mine was originally used for hydraulic,
drift, and tunnel mining, rather than surface
mining, evidence established that no mining
had occurred for decades, and landowners'
predecessor purchased mine while in state of
disuse and had certified that mine was closed in
order to sell it. Cal. Pub. Res. Code § 2776.

More cases on this issue

[14] Zoning and Planning Continuance or
change of use in general

The continuance of a nonconforming use is a
continuance of the same use, and not some other
kind of use.

[15] Mines and Minerals State law and
regulations in general

Evidence was sufficient to support State Mining
and Geology Board finding that any vested
right to surface mining of landowners' property
without a county permit pursuant to grandfather
clause of Surface Mining and Reclamation
Act of 1975 (SMARA) had been abandoned;
landowners' predecessor, in an effort to sell the
property, had made certified statement to the
government that the mine had been closed with
no intent to reopen it, and neighbors stated that
there had been no signs of operational surface
mining of any kind for 50 years. Cal. Pub. Res.
Code § 2776.

More cases on this issue

[16] Zoning and Planning Discontinuance or
Abandonment

Abandonment of a nonconforming use ordinarily
depends upon a concurrence of two factors: (1)
an intention to abandon, and (2) an overt act, or
failure to act, which carries the implication the
owner does not claim or retain any interest in the
right to the nonconforming use.

[17] Zoning and Planning Cessation of use

Mere cessation of use does not of itself amount
to abandonment, although the duration of nonuse
may be a factor in determining whether the
nonconforming use has been abandoned.

See 12 Witkin, Summary of Cal. Law (10th ed.
2005) Real Property, § 888.
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Opinion

Duarte, J.

In this suit under the Surface Mining and Reclamation
Act of 1975 (SMARA) (Pub. Resources Code § 2710

et. seq.), 1 plaintiffs Joe and Yvette Hardesty (collectively,
Hardesty), attack findings by the State Mining and Geology
Board (Board). The Board's disputed findings conclude there
are no vested rights to surface mine at the Big Cut Mine in
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El Dorado County (County, not a party herein). The findings
in effect deny Hardesty a “grandfather” exemption from the
need to obtain a County mining permit. (See § 2776, subd.
(a).) The trial court denied Hardesty's mandamus petition, and
Hardesty timely appealed from the ensuing judgment.

On appeal, Hardesty raises both substantive and procedural
claims.

Substantively, in three somewhat interconnected claims,
Hardesty contends the Board and the trial court
misunderstood the legal force of his 19th century federal
mining patents. He asserts they establish a vested right to
surface mine after the passage of SMARA without the need
to prove he was surface mining on SMARA's operative
date of January 1, 1976. He argues that the Board and trial
court misapplied the law of nonconforming uses in finding
Hardesty had no vested right and separately misapplied the
law in finding that his predecessors abandoned any right
to mine. These contentions turn on legal disputes about the
SMARA grandfather clause and the force of federal mining
patents.

As we will explain, the facts, viewed in favor of the Board's
and trial court's decision, undermine Hardesty's claims. A
federal mining patent—a deed perfected after working a
mining claim—has no effect on the application of state
regulation of mining. This point was made emphatically in
a *31  recent California Supreme Court case, People v.
Rinehart (2016) 1 Cal.5th 652, 206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377
P.3d 818 (Rinehart ), about which we solicited supplemental
briefing. Simply put, the fact that mines were worked on the
property years ago does not necessarily mean any surface or
other mining existed when SMARA took effect, such that any
right to surface mine was grandfathered.

Procedurally, Hardesty alleges the Board's findings do
not “bridge the gap” between the raw evidence and the
administrative findings. Hardesty also challenges the fairness
of the administrative process itself, alleging that purported
ex parte communications by the Board's executive director,
Stephen Testa, tainted the proceedings. However, we agree
with the trial court's conclusions that, on this record, neither
of these procedural claims proves persuasive.

Accordingly, we shall affirm the judgment denying the
mandamus petition.

BACKGROUND

Preliminary Observations
[1] We first note that Hardesty's briefing consistently draws

evidentiary inferences in the light most favorable to himself,
contrary to the appropriate standard of review, which requires
us to draw inferences in favor of the judgment. (See Fukuda
v. City of Angels (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 824, 85 Cal.Rptr.2d
696, 977 P.2d 693 [“Even when...the trial court is required
to review an administrative decision under the independent
judgment standard of review, the standard of review on
appeal...is the substantial evidence test”].) “The reviewing
court, like the trial court, may not reweigh the evidence, and
is ‘bound to consider the facts in the light most favorable to
the Board, giving it every reasonable inference and resolving
all conflicts in its favor.’ ” (Jaramillo v. State Bd. for
Geologists & Geophysicists (2006) 136 Cal.App.4th 880,
889, 39 Cal.Rptr.3d 170.) Hardesty also presumes that any
evidence that was not directly contradicted—including expert
evidence—must be accepted as true, contrary to applicable
standards. (See Hicks v. Reis (1943) 21 Cal.2d 654, 659-660,
134 P.2d 788 [“Provided the trier of the facts does not act
arbitrarily, he may reject in toto the testimony of a witness,
even though the witness is uncontradicted”]; Foreman &
Clark Corp. v. Fallon (1971) 3 Cal.3d 875, 890, 92 Cal.Rptr.
162, 479 P.2d 362 [rule applies to expert witnesses] (Foreman
& Clark ).)

[2] Hardesty's contentions are unnecessarily muddled by his
persistent refusal to acknowledge the facts supporting the
Board's and the trial court's conclusions. “[Hardesty] has
not waived the legal issues [he] raises. But in addressing
[his] issues we will not be drawn onto inaccurate factual
ground.” (Western Aggregates, Inc. v. County of Yuba
(2002) 101 Cal.App.4th 278, 291, 130 Cal.Rptr.2d 436
(Western Aggregates ).) Because Hardesty does not portray
the evidence fairly, any intended factual disputes are

forfeited. 2 (See Foreman & Clark, supra, 3 Cal.3d at p. 881,
92 Cal.Rptr. 162, 479 P.2d 362; Western Aggregates, supra,
101 Cal.App.4th at pp. 290-291, 130 Cal.Rptr.2d 436.)

In 2009, Hardesty filed a Request for Determination (RFD)
of his vested rights—later augmented by a 2010 supplement
—outlining his legal and factual positions. The RFD includes
a declaration of counsel that purports to affirm the truth of
*32  the facts contained in hundreds of pages of attachments.

The attachments include an unpublished decision of this court
in a tangentially related case, Tankersley v. State Mining &
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Geology Bd. (Jan. 31, 2006, C049372) 2006 WL 225528,
2006 Cal.App.Unpub.Lexis 835 (nonpub. opn.) (Tankersley
), and extracts of private and apparently unsworn interviews

of witnesses by Hardesty's counsel. 3  Hardesty also presented
extracts of depositions taken in separate litigation between
a non-party herein and his predecessors (Legacy Land Co.
v. Donovan, El Dorado Super. Ct. No. PC20020116(Legacy
Land)), with no indication that the opposing side in that
case had the same motivation to cross-examine as would an
opponent of Hardesty's RFD. Some of these weaknesses in
Hardesty's evidentiary submissions were pointed out at the
Board hearing.

At the hearing itself, Hardesty bore the burden of proof.

(Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 3950.) 4 A Board regulation
provides that “[r]elevant evidence in a proceeding for
determination of a claim of vested rights shall be written
or oral evidentiary statements or material demonstrating or
delimiting the existence, nature and scope of the claimed
vested right[s].” (Regs., § 3963, italics added.) The Board
evidently interprets this regulation to mean that “[t]estimony
and comments presented at hearings need not conform to the
technical rules of evidence provided that the testimony and
comments are reasonably relevant to the issues before the
[Board].” But the fact the Board may accept as true “material”
which would not qualify as evidence in a court of law does not
mean it was compelled to accept as true all material contained
in Hardesty's documents. Instead, the flaws we have noted
above, and others, gave the Board ample, rational grounds
to reject much of Hardesty's evidence. (SeeHicks v. Reis,
supra, 21 Cal.2d at pp. 659-660, 134 P.2d 788.) Further,
the Board also considered contrary evidence, principally
contained in detailed written proposed findings drafted by
Testa. These findings were based on Testa's investigation, as
well as statements by members of the public at the hearing
—statements not mentioned in Hardesty's briefs. Thus to the
(great) extent that Hardesty's briefing is based on the implicit
view that the Board and trial court were somehow compelled
to accept his evidentiary submissions as true, the foundation
of his briefing is undermined.

On the other hand, facts asserted by Hardesty in the trial court
or on appeal may be deemed as admissions, and we may also
accept as true facts agreed by the parties in their briefing on
appeal. (SeeFremont Comp. Ins. Co. v. Sierra Pine (2004) 121
Cal.App.4th 389, 394, 17 Cal.Rptr.3d 80;County of El Dorado
v. Misura (1995) 33 Cal.App.4th 73, 77, 38 Cal.Rptr.2d 908.)

We make these observations at the outset, to explain our
upcoming rejection of Hardesty's many factual assertions that
*33  are supported only by references to material that the

Board and trial court were free to find was either inaccurate
or simply unpersuasive as to the particular subject addressed.

The Basic Facts and Findings
Hardesty owns about 150 acres near Placerville, now known
as the Big Cut Mine, but once known—if perhaps only in
part—as the Landecker mine. For purposes of appeal, we
accept that his property was formed from 19th century federal
mining patents.

The land was mined for gold until the 1940's. During World
War II, gold mining was restricted by the federal government
to shift mining resources to minerals necessary for military
purposes. (SeeUnited States v. Central Eureka Mining Co.
(1958) 357 U.S. 155, 157-161, 166-169, 78 S.Ct. 1097, 1098–
1101, 1103–1105, 2 L.Ed.2d 1228, 1230-1232.) A property
history contained in Hardesty's RFD supplement concedes
“There are no records presently available...to show what
kind of mining business [Stanley Triplett, the owner from
1921 to 1988] conducted on the property after the war.” The
trial court found that through the 1970's, the property “was
essentially ‘dormant.’ At most, there was sporadic, limited
mining involving only a very small portion of the property
during this period, and there is virtually no evidence that those
mining activities ‘continued’ to exist at the time SMARA was
enacted [effective January 1, 1976].” However, Hardesty's
RFD sought to establish a vested right to mine the property
for gold, sand, and gravel (as well as diamonds and platinum).

Although the wartime mining order was lifted in 1945,
Hardesty contends that the purported loss of mining
equipment during the war “and low gold prices, made it
largely infeasible to resume mining”—a point we address in
more detail, post, in our Discussion. The record contains a
document showing the ounce price for gold was about $36 in
1970, rose to about $160 by 1975, shot up in 1980, and then
fell significantly.

Clinton and Kathleen Donovan (Donovan) bought the land in
1988 from Stanley Triplett, who we accept had owned it since
1921. Donovan contracted to sell to Legacy Land, but the deal
did not go through—leading to litigation—and he sold the

property to Hardesty in 2006. 5
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The part of Hardesty's RFD outlining the history of the
property consolidates the broad Triplett period of ownership,
1921-1988, but fails to describe what, if anything was
happening on the property on or immediately before January
1, 1976.

The trial court found that in the 1990's, unpermitted surface
(open-pit) aggregate and gold mining began, different in
nature from the “hydraulic, drift, and tunnel” mining that
historically had been conducted on the land. The RFD alleged
the new proposed open-pit mining was safer and better for
the environment. Donovan had allowed Barney's Sand and
Gravel (Barney's) to mine on the property beginning about
1992, Legacy Land bought out Barney's around 1994, and
also attempted to buy the property itself from Donovan, but,
as indicated, that deal was not consummated and instead led
to litigation.

Our Tankersley decision involved what was described as
the Donovan Ranch Property, but which the RFD treats as
the same property at issue herein. According to Tankersley,
“In 1998, [the County], the *34  SMARA lead agency at
the time, declared the mining site closed and reclaimed.
[¶] By 2002, the Board had assumed authority over surface
mining operations at the Property. On November 12, 2002,
the State Office of Mining and Reclamation (OMR) and the
County inspected the Property and determined that 20 to 25
acres had been disturbed by surface mining operations. The
Board notified the Donovans of the results of the inspection
and instructed them to cease all mining operations until
they obtain a reclamation plan, financial assurances, and
any necessary County permit.” (Italics added.) During those
proceedings, the Hardestys and Churches declared that they
accepted full financial responsibility for reclamation of the
land; Tankersley also claimed to be a partner in the mining
operations, and all those parties (the Hardestys, the Churches,
and Tankersley) were appellants.

As an alternative to the finding of no vested right, based
on the lack of mining as of the date SMARA took effect,
which we discuss in more detail, post, the Board and the trial
court found that any right to mine had been abandoned. On a
required state reporting form in 1998, Donovan checked a box
to indicate the mine was “Closed with no intent to resume.”
This document stated reclamation was in progress. On the
1999 reporting form, Donovan checked a box to indicate the
mine was “Closed-reclamation certified complete by Lead
Agency.” But in prior years, Donovan had checked a box
stating the mine was “Active.” This change in reporting shows

Donovan knew the difference between an “Active” mine, a
“Closed” mine, and a mine that was both closed and for which

reclamation had been completed. 6

A letter submitted by the County to Testa in 2010 explained
that Donovan “always asserted that he was not mining, but
was only searching for gold as a hobby and used the gravel
for on-site road work” and Donovan had not provided any
records showing “continuous mining having occurred since
the 1940s to the present time.”

The trial court upheld the Board's finding that any right to
mine had been abandoned, finding “a clear manifestation
of intent to discontinue mine operations during the period
from the 1940s until the early 1990s, and again when Mr.
Donovan intentionally ‘closed’ the mine to facilitate a sale of
the property.”

There is no evidence that Triplett regularly mined the property
after World War II, only vague and disconnected items
showing sporadic activity. For example, some 1960's batteries
and various dated tunnel markers were found, but there was no
direct evidence why they were there or who put them there. In
May 1971, Triplett wrote to a potential buyer, describing the
property as not in a saleable condition, and *35  describing
some of its history. This included his belief in the possible
location thereon of part of the “deep blue lead” that had
proven rich in other places. Although he stated whether “the
deep channel can be worked profitably or not, is speculation,”
he believed it had possibilities, and his intent would be to find
a rich investor so that “if expectations failed, losses could be
written off.” Nothing in the letter hints at any active mining,
and as the Board contends, it at best expresses Triplett's hope
that mining—but not necessarily surface mining—would
resume. Triplett's nephew, a geological engineer named Jim
Brune, declared Triplett spoke with him about his belief in
the deep blue lead, as well as where on the property Triplett
“speculated the vein ran” and Triplett's purported intent to
mine the property. Aerial photographs beginning in 1952
show some roads that were later expanded, but there was no
hard evidence of what they were used for before 1976, and
by Hardesty's own interpretation, they covered but a fraction
of the property.

Significantly, at the Board hearing, Hardesty's counsel
conceded the mine was dormant until at least the late 1980's,
although counsel attributed this to market forces. Hardesty
submitted other evidence, but the Board and the trial court
could rationally reject it. There was no hard evidence, such as
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production records, employment records, equipment records,
and so forth, showing any significant mining after World War
II.

SMARA and Hardesty's Legal Attacks
As indicated, the key date for SMARA purposes is January 1,
1976, when the law became operative. SMARA requires that
all surface mining operations have an approved reclamation
plan and approved financial assurances to implement the
plan. (§ 2770, subd. (a).) At the time of the hearing, the
Board served as the lead agency for SMARA purposes in the
County, although the County retained permitting authority.
(See § 2774.4, subd. (a).) Persons with existing surface
mining operations were required to submit reclamation
plans by March 31, 1988. (§ 2770, subd. (b).) Absent an
approved reclamation plan and proper financial assurances
(with exceptions not applicable herein) surface mining is

prohibited. (§ 2770, subd. (d).) 7

SMARA was enacted with the knowledge that many miners
had extant private property rights, and the Legislature
wanted to avoid paying compensation therefor. (See §
2713; Surface Mining Operations—Vested Rights—Permit,
Reclamation Requirements, 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 641,
644-645 (1976)(Surface Mining).) Accordingly, SMARA
included the following grandfather provision, to avoid any
property “takings” claims:

“No person who has obtained a vested right to conduct
surface mining operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall
be required to secure a permit pursuant to the provisions
of this chapter as long as such vested right continues;
provided, however, that no substantial changes may be
made in any such operation except in accordance with the
provisions of this chapter. A person shall be deemed to
have such vested rights if, prior to January 1, 1976, he
has, in good faith and in reliance upon a permit or other
authorization, if such permit or other authorization was
required, diligently commenced surface mining operations
and incurred substantial liabilities for work and materials
necessary therefor....

*36  “A person who has obtained a vested right to
conduct surface mining operations prior to January 1,
1976, shall submit to the lead agency and receive, within a
reasonable period of time, approval of a reclamation plan
for operations to be conducted after January 1, 1976, unless
a reclamation plan was approved by the lead agency prior
to January 1, 1976....

“Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as requiring the
filing of a reclamation plan for, or the reclamation of, mined
lands on which surface mining operations were conducted
prior to January 1, 1976.” (Former § 2776, Stats. 1975, ch.

1131, § 11, italics added.) 8

The first paragraph of section 2776 forms the core of
Hardesty's legal attacks on the Board's decision, because he is
of the view that he established a vested right to mine through
his 19th century mining patents and uncontested pre-World
War II mining activity, in addition to his contested claims
—impliedly rejected by the Board and trial court—of post-
World War II mining activity. However, the italicized portion
of the statute speaks of vested rights to surface mining, not
any mining. “Surface mining involves stripping off the top of
an area to reach minerals, in contrast to boring down through
tunnels or shafts to extract them.” (Rinehart, supra, 1 Cal.5th
at p. 671, fn. 10, 206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377 P.3d 818.)

Hardesty's mandamus petition alleged his predecessors-in-
interest acquired vested rights to mine via federal mining
patents, and he alleged “completion of a valid mining
‘location’ vests equitable title in the locator, authorizes the
locator to hold and mine the claim indefinitely, and creates a
transferrable property interest.” (Italics added.) His position
is that this “vesting” under federal law equates to a “vested”
right under SMARA, regardless of whether mining was still
being conducted when SMARA took effect, or of the nature
or scope of such mining.

After a public hearing, the Board adopted proposed findings
prepared by Testa, and found the evidence did not support
Hardesty's claim. On June 10, 2010, after receipt of objections
from Hardesty's counsel as to several findings, the Board
formally denied Hardesty's claim.

On July 9, 2010, Hardesty filed a mandamus petition to set
aside the Board's action, and on January 6, 2015, filed the
instant amended petition.

The trial court denied the petition after a hearing on March
27, 2015, and Hardesty timely appealed from the ensuing
judgment.

The Board's Findings in Detail
As stated, the Board adopted proposed findings prepared by
Testa, some of which reference documents submitted within
*37  Hardesty's RFD. These findings included the following.
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The property is located in an area within the County now
zoned so as to generally prohibit surface mining within 10,000
feet of any residence absent a finding that the project would
not have any adverse impact on the environment and would
not discourage residential use. No evidence of post-World
War II mining “other than recreational, was presented.” No
production records (such as drill logs, evidence of amount
of material extracted, or “historic or current sales records”)
were produced by Hardesty. “A 1966 date appears written
on a tunnel wall; however, there is no evidence correlating
the existence of that mark with any mining activity.” “Access
roads are evident in various aerial photographs; however,
there is no adequate evidence to demonstrate that such roads
were haul roads used for mining purposes.” Unpermitted
surface mining by Barney's beginning around 1991 was
halted by the County and the Board, and “[r]eclamation
was completed to the County's satisfaction in 1998.” Further
unpermitted mining occurred in 2002-2003, until halted by
the County. The County never made a finding of vested
rights. No reclamation plan had been submitted by the
SMARA deadline of March 31, 1988. Donovan “did not
demonstrate an objective manifestation of intent to mine all”
the property and “No documents or evidence were presented
to support the overall scale of historic production conducted

by” Donovan. 9

The Board made several “Conclusions of Law,” in part as
follows: Hardesty had the burden of proof by a preponderance
of the evidence to show vested rights to surface mine. For
planned expansion, Hardesty had to produce evidence of clear
intent to expand “ ‘measured by objective manifestations,
and not subjective intent at the time of passage of the law,
or laws, affecting [his] right to continue surface mining
operations without a permit.’ ” (Partly quoting Regs., § 3963,
italics omitted.) “No evidence demonstrating authorization to
mine was granted from the mid-1940s to January 1, 1976,

or to the present date as well.” 10 “The cessation of mining
activities subsequent to World War II, lasting through the
1990s and, even then, commencing for a brief period without
authorization from [the] County and without submission and
approval of reclamation plans and financial assurances as
required by SMARA, coupled with a succession of land
owners who did not conduct commercial mining operations
during that period, precludes reliance on the pre-World War
II historic gold mining operations as a basis for establishing
a current vested right to mine” the property. “The historical
record regarding gold mining prior to World War II, and
the subsequent conduct of owners of the subject property
demonstrates clear and knowing intent...to waive, abandon,

*38  or otherwise forego any vested right that may have
pertained to those pre-World War II mining efforts.”

A formal resolution recites the Board accepted Testa's
findings “and determined that a preponderance of evidence
did not exist that demonstrated Big Cut Mine has vested
rights” and the “Board denies the claim of vested right of Big
Cut Mine's proposed surface mining operation located in the
County.”

The Trial Court's Ruling in Detail
The trial court found the Board's decision adequately linked
the evidence with the findings. The trial court agreed with
Hardesty that the party asserting abandonment had the burden
of proof, but rejected Hardesty's claim that the Board shifted
the burden of proof on this issue to Hardesty, as nothing
in the Board's findings addressed the point one way or
another, and “it is presumed that the Board acted properly.”
The trial court granted a motion to augment the record
with declarations from Testa, Will Arcand, and Richard
Thalhammer, described, post, and found no improper ex parte
communications occurred.

The trial court also rejected Hardesty's view that the federal
patents vest in him a right to mine the property regardless of
what was happening on the effective date of SMARA, finding
a lawful nonconforming use must be extant on such date.

Separately, the trial court found that even if Hardesty's legal
view were correct, “the evidence shows there were substantial
changes in the use of the property” in that “there is virtually no
evidence of mining activities during the period from the 1940s
through the 1980s” and even if there were, “aerial photos
suggest any mining was limited to at most about six-tenths
of an acre. For the vested right to include the remainder of
the...property, [Hardesty] would have to produce objective
evidence demonstrating that the owners clearly intended, on
the effective date of [SMARA], to expand mining in to the
remainder of the property. There is no such evidence in
the record.” Further, the nature of the mining had shifted
from hydraulic, drift, and tunnel mining, to open-pit (that is,
surface) mining, reflecting a substantial change in use.

Finally, the trial court found any vested right that may have
existed had been abandoned: “There is a clear manifestation
of intent to discontinue mine operations during the period
from the 1940s to until the early 1990s, and again when Mr.
Donovan intentionally ‘closed’ the mine to facilitate a sale of
the property.”
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Accordingly, the trial court denied Hardesty's administrative
mandamus petition.

DISCUSSION

I

Vested Rights Claims

Hardesty contends that the existence of federal mining patents
confers vested mining rights forever, and that the Board and
trial court erred by adding additional requirements, namely,
continued mining operations, to find a vested right under
SMARA. He further contends the trial court misapplied the
“nonconforming use” zoning doctrine and thereby reached an
erroneous conclusion. He adds that the Board and trial court
misapplied the doctrine of abandonment. Because these three
contentions of legal error overlap, we address them together.

Hardesty principally relies on the first paragraph of section
2776, arguing that he has a vested right to mine the property
at issue. In his view, his federal mining patents, which would
have been issued only upon proof of actual mining operations
—though *39  not necessarily surface mining operations—
not only conveyed title to the property, they conveyed a vested
right to mine. He contends that because those patents predate
1976, he is covered by section 2776's grandfather provision.

As we will explain, we agree the patents conferred on
Hardesty vested rights as a property owner, but that is not the
same as a vested right to mine the property absent compliance
with state environmental laws. The Board and the trial court
correctly concluded Hardesty had to show active surface
mining was occurring on the effective date of SMARA, or at
the very least show objective evidence that the then-owner
contemplated resumption of such activities. Under the facts,
viewed in the appropriate light, Hardesty did not carry his
burden to show that any mining was occurring or any intent
to mine existed on the relevant date. Further, the Board and
trial court correctly applied the “nonconforming use” and
abandonment doctrines to the facts herein.

A. Legal Effect of a Federal Mining Patent
[3] Early federal policy had been to reserve federal lands,

but this shifted after the Civil War due to the need to pay

off the ensuing national debt, and the West—then almost
entirely owned by the federal government—was opened to
mineral exploration. (See Western Aggregates, supra, 101
Cal.App.4th at pp. 293-294, 130 Cal.Rptr.2d 436.) Since that
time, after locating a claim and performing certain work
and other requirements, the “holder of a perfected mining
claim may secure a patent to the land by complying with the
requirements of the Mining Act and regulations promulgated
thereunder...and, upon issuance of the patent, legal title to
the land passes to the patentholder.” (California Coastal
Comm'n v. Granite Rock (1987) 480 U.S. 572, 575-576, 107
S.Ct. 1419, 1422, 94 L.Ed.2d 577, 588(Granite Rock ); see
Pathfinder Mines Corporation v. Hodel (9th Cir. 1987) 811

F.2d 1288, 1291.) 11

[4]  [5]  [6] But “ ‘the State is free to enforce its criminal
and civil laws’ on federal land so long as those laws do
not conflict with federal law. [Citation.] The Property Clause
itself does not automatically conflict with all state regulation
of federal land. Rather,...‘[a]bsent consent or cession a State
undoubtedly retains jurisdiction over federal lands within
its territory, but Congress equally surely retains the power
to enact legislation respecting those lands pursuant to the
Property Clause. And when Congress so acts, the federal
legislation necessarily overrides conflicting state laws under
the Supremacy Clause.’ ” (Granite Rock, supra, 480 U.S.
at pp. 580-581, 107 S.Ct. at p. 1425, 94 L.Ed.2d at p. 591,
italics added; see State Regulation of Mining in Death Valley
National Monument, 60 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 162, 163 (1977)
[“California can regulate all mining within the Death Valley
National Monument...regardless of land ownership status,
pursuant to [SMARA], subject to preemption in particular
instances of conflict with federal law”].) It is well settled
that environmental concerns about mining and its after-
effects are legitimate matters for state regulation. (See Death
Valley,supra, 60 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 162;State ex rel. Andrus
v. Click (1976) 97 Idaho 791, 798-799, 554 P.2d 969, 976-977
(Andrus ).)

Indeed, in a case involving a different open-pit mine also
operated by Hardesty, *40  we rejected his view that a
“vested right” to mine under SMARA obviates the need to
comply with state environmental laws: “Hardesty has cited
no authority standing for the proposition that the holder
of a vested mining right is exempt from complying with
California's air pollution laws.” (Hardesty v. Sacramento
Metropolitan Air Quality Management Dist. (2011) 202
Cal.App.4th 404, 427, 136 Cal.Rptr.3d 132.)
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The United States Supreme Court has acknowledged that
some state laws, although purportedly passed to regulate
mining, could have the effect of halting all productive
use of federally patented mining areas. “The line between
environmental regulation and land use planning will not
always be bright; for example, one may hypothesize a state
environmental regulation so severe that a particular land use
would become commercially impracticable.” (Granite Rock,
supra, 480 U.S. at p. 587, 107 S.Ct. at p. 1428, 94 L.Ed.2d
at p. 595.) But the high court went on to hold that this result
was generally permissible, and only precluded where a direct
conflict between a state and a federal law was presented. (Id.
at pp. 587-588, 107 S.Ct. at pp. 1428–1429, 94 L.Ed.2d at pp.
595-596.)

[7]  [8] In a recent case involving a state prohibition (a
moratorium) on dredge mining, our Supreme Court rejected
the view that state laws that impact or even halt mining
necessarily conflict with federal mining laws. Instead, the
general purpose of federal mining laws is to delineate “the
real property interests of miners vis-à-vis each other and the
federal government.” (Rinehart, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 663,
206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377 P.3d 818.) “[T]he one area where
the law does intend to displace state law is with respect to
laws governing title. In other areas, state and local law are
granted free rein.” (Ibid.) “The mining laws were neither a
guarantee that mining would prove feasible nor a grant of
immunity against local regulation, but simply an assurance
that the ultimate original landowner, the United States, would
not interfere by asserting its own property rights.” (Id. at
p. 666, 206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377 P.3d 818.) “[I]f Congress
intended to do more, we can reasonably infer it would have
said so. It did not; indeed, quite to the contrary, it specifically
noted the continuing obligation of miners with possessory
interests, such as Rinehart, to obey state law. [Citations.]
Collectively, the text and legislative history reveal no intent
to displace state law.” (Id. at p. 667, 206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377
P.3d 818.)

Most of the cases relied on by Hardesty which address vested
mining rights involve disputes between competing private
claimants, not between miners and government entities
seeking to regulate them, and most predateGranite Rock.
(See, e.g., Watterson v. Cruse (1918) 179 Cal. 379, 176 P.
870 [competing claim locators sought injunction]; Ames v.
Empire Star Mines Co., Ltd. (1941) 17 Cal.2d 213, 110 P.2d
13 [injunction and accounting]; Favot v. Kingsbury (1929) 98
Cal.App. 284, 287-289, 276 P. 1083 [suit to restrain issuance
of state patent to competing claimants]; Brown v. Luddy

(1932) 121 Cal.App. 494, 503-504, 9 P.2d 326 [quiet title];
Montgomery v. Gerlinger (1956) 146 Cal.App.2d 650, 304
P.2d 93 [quiet title].)

In his reply brief, Hardesty “does not dispute that a state may
impose permit requirements that qualify as ‘environmental
regulation.’ ” He then cites cases holding that regulations
were found preempted by federal mining law. His evident
view is that if he cannot comply with a state law regarding
vesting of nonconforming use (i.e., SMARA), that state law
necessarily impairs his right to mine contrary to federal law.
But, as just explained, Rinehart rejects this view of the law.

*41  For example, Hardesty relies heavily onSouth Dakota
Mining Ass'n, Inc. v. Lawrence County (8th Cir. 1998) 155
F.3d 1005, where a local ordinance prohibited new permits
for surface mining, and companies that had mined for many
years sued to enjoin the ordinance. (Id. at p. 1007.) Lawrence
County held the ordinance was preempted because “The
ordinance's de facto ban on mining on federal land acts as
a clear obstacle to the accomplishment of the Congressional
purposes and objectives embodied in the Mining Act.” (Id. at
p. 1011.) However, our Supreme Court summarized Lawrence
County and rejected its analysis as follows:

“We do not disagree that Congress adopted a real property
regime in the Mining Law of 1872 with the larger purpose
in mind of encouraging ongoing mineral exploration across
the West. Where we part company is with the conclusion
that such general, overarching goals would be frustrated
by state and local determinations that the use of particular
methods, in particular areas of the country, would disserve
other compelling interests. Congress could have made
express that it viewed mining as the highest and best use
of federal land wherever minerals were found, or could
have delegated to federal agencies exclusive authority to
issue permits and make accommodations between mining
and other purposes. It did neither, instead committing
miners to continued compliance with state and local laws
(30 U.S.C. § 26) and endorsing limits on destructive
mining techniques imposed under such laws [citation].
These actions cannot be reconciled with the view that
Congress intended preemption of such state and local
determinations.” (Rinehart, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 672, 206
Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377 P.3d 818.)

Thus, Rinehartr ejected the view that state laws that make
mining more difficult or even impracticable necessarily
conflict with Congressional intent, and we are bound to do the
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same. (See Auto Equity Sales, Inc. v. Superior Court (1962)
57 Cal.2d 450, 455, 20 Cal.Rptr. 321, 369 P.2d 937.)

Hardesty also relies on Brubaker v. Bd. of County Commrs.,
El Paso County (Colo.1982) 652 P.2d 1050, where holders
of unpatented mining claims unsuccessfully sought local
permits for test drilling approved by the federal government
to see if they had located “valuable mineral deposits under
federal mining law.” (Id. at p. 1052.) Brubaker held the local
entity sought “to prohibit the very activities contemplated
and authorized by federal law” and therefore presented
an obstacle to federal policy. (Id. at pp. 1056-1057.)
However, as explained by our Supreme Court, Brubaker was
decided beforeGranite Rock, and therefore is not persuasive.
(Rinehart, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 671, 206 Cal.Rptr.3d 571, 377
P.3d 818.) Further, other cases have recognized the legitimacy
of applying environmental laws, even if they increase the
costs of mining. (See Andrus, supra, 97 Idaho at p. 797,
554 P.2d at p. 975 [“Neither the requirement of obtaining a
permit or of restoring the land render it impossible to exercise
[mining] rights specifically granted by the federal legislation,
although they may make it more difficult”].)

SMARA itself does not preclude Hardesty from mining.
SMARA was enacted with respect for extant mining
operations and merely requires assurances that surface mining
operations develop adequate reclamation plans, a neutral
state environmental rule. It also allowed then-active surface
mines to bypass the need to obtain a local permit. The fact
that application of SMARA's requirements to a particular
operation might make it more expensive to *42  mine,
perhaps to the point where mining is infeasible, is not
precluded under Rinehart. (See also Andrus, supra, 97 Idaho
at p. 797, 554 P.2d at p. 975.)

[9] To the extent Hardesty contends he has a vested right to
surface mine under section 2776, he simply failed to carry
his burden to prove any substantial surface mining on the
property had been conducted by that date. As the trial court
found, substantial evidence shows that prior mining had been
hydraulic, tunnel, and drift mining, not surface mining, which
began in the 1990's, and which represented a substantial
change, contrary to former section 2776's requirement “that
no substantial changes may be made in any such operation
except” according to SMARA's terms. The evidence before
the Board supports this finding.

Accordingly, federal mining patents, alone, do not satisfy

section 2776. 12

B. Proof of a Nonconforming Use
[10] To show he had a vested right to engage in mining on the

property, Hardesty's briefing emphasizes evidence of mining
on the property before 1976. However, Hardesty failed to
prove any mining was occurring on or even reasonably before
the date SMARA took effect. SMARA was designed to allow
existing, operating surface mines to continue operating after
its effective date without the need to obtain local permits.
SMARA's grandfather provision does not extend to truly
dormant mines.

[11]  [12] Hansen Brothers Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of
Supervisors (1996) 12 Cal.4th 533, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907
P.2d 1324 (Hansen Brothers )—consistent with a long line of
zoning cases—holds that a use must be present at the time
a new law takes effect, to be considered a nonconforming
use. (Id. at pp. 540-568, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d
1324; see Communities for a Better Environment v. South
Coast Air Quality Management Dist. (2010) 48 Cal. 4th
310, 323, fn. 8, 106 Cal.Rptr.3d 502, 226 P.3d 985 [“the
traditional protection for nonconforming uses established
at the time zoning restrictions become effective”], italics
added; McCaslin v. City of Monterey Park (1958) 163
Cal.App.2d 339, 346, 329 P.2d 522 [“A nonconforming use
is a lawful use existing on the effective date of the zoning
restriction and continuing since that time in nonconformance
to the ordinance”], italics added.) Neither a dormant nor an
abandoned use is a nonconforming use. (Hansen Brothers,
at p. 552, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d 1324 [“Nonuse
is not a nonconforming use”].) As stated by our Supreme
Court, “ ‘The ultimate purpose of zoning is...to reduce
all nonconforming uses within the zone to conformity as
speedily as is consistent with proper safeguards for the
interests of those affected.’ [Citation.] We have recognized
that, given this purpose, courts should follow a strict policy
against extension or expansion of those uses. [Citation.]
*43  That policy necessarily applies to attempts to continue

nonconforming uses which have ceased operation.” (Hansen
Brothers, at p. 568, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d 1324, italics
added.)

[13] It was Hardesty's burden to prove he was conducting a
nonconforming use at the time the law changed. (See Hansen
Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 564, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907
P.2d 1324; Calvert v. County of Yuba (2006) 145 Cal.App.4th
613, 629, 51 Cal.Rptr.3d 797 (Calvert ); Melton v. City of
San Pablo (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 794, 804, 61 Cal.Rptr. 29
[“The burden of proof is on the party asserting a right to
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a nonconforming use to establish the lawful and continuing
existence of the use at the time of the enactment of the
ordinance”], second italics added.) Here, the relevant date is
January 1, 1976, when SMARA took effect. The evidence,
construed in the light most favorable to the Board's and
the trial court's decisions, shows that no mining had been
occurring for decades. Because, as explained, ante, Hardesty
has forfeited any evidentiary contentions by portraying the
evidence in the light most favorable to himself, we are not
obliged to respond point-by-point to his many misstatements
of the facts on this issue.

In Stokes v. Board of Permit Appeals (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th
1348, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d 181, Stokes bought a vacant property
in 1993 that had been used as a bathhouse, but not for at
least seven years. In 1985, new zoning rules took effect.
(Id. at p. 1351, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d 181.) Local laws allowed
legal, nonconforming uses to continue unless, inter alia, they
had been discontinued or abandoned, and deemed a three-
year period of disuse to reflect an intent to abandon. (Id. at
pp. 1351-1352, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d 181.) Stokes obtained permits
and began work, but was stopped on the ground the long
vacancy meant he had to obtain a conditional use permit.
(Id. at p. 1352, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d 181.) A local board upheld
the stop order in part because the bathhouse had been closed
for at least three years. (Id. at pp. 1352-1353, 61 Cal.Rptr.2d
181.) Acknowledging that mere discontinuance of use does
not necessarily reflect an intent to abandon, though it is a
factor that may help show abandonment, Stokes explained that
“Stokes's predecessors had completely vacated the building
for seven years and the building had not been used for any
purpose at the time [Stokes] took possession. There are no
facts to which Stokes can point as evidence the prior owners
intended to and in fact did continue to operate the property as
a bathhouse or for a related use.” (Id. at pp. 1355-1356, 61
Cal.Rptr.2d 181.)

Here, the evidence shows Donovan bought a mine already
in a state of disuse, much as Stokes bought a long-closed
bathhouse. (See also Walnut Properties, Inc. v. City Council
(1980) 100 Cal.App.3d 1018, 1024, 161 Cal.Rptr. 411 [party
bought a closed movie theater, “In other words, the property
was not being put to a lawful use which use continued
up to and after the time the use became unlawful or
nonconforming”].) Donovan then certified to the government
that the mine was closed in order to sell it. In the Legacy Land
depositions, Donovan testified his intent in trying to sell the
property “was to let them buy the property and [then] move
on”; his wife in turn testified “everything was going to be

closed so we could move and have our life together.” This
vitiates the claim he did not know what he was doing, or that
he retained some subjective intention to mine, or have his
successors mine the property, as Hardesty contends.

[14] Further, the record shows a proposed significant
change in use since pre-1976 times. “The continuance of
a nonconforming use ‘is a continuance of the same *44
use and not some other kind of use.’ ” (County of San
Diego v. McClurken (1951) 37 Cal.2d 683, 688, 234 P.2d
972; see Edmonds v. County of Los Angeles (1953) 40
Cal.2d 642, 651, 255 P.2d 772 [“enlargement of plaintiffs’
trailer court to accommodate 30 more trailers is clearly a
different use”]; County of Orange v. Goldring (1953) 121
Cal.App.2d 442, 446-447, 263 P.2d 321.) Surface mining is
a changed use on Hardesty's property, when contrasted with
the pre-SMARA use. Nor can Hardesty persuasively rely on
post-1976 unpermitted surface mining—twice halted by the
government—to show that surface mining was an extant use
before 1976.

C. Abandonment
[15] As an alternate basis for decision, the Board and the trial

court found any right to mine was abandoned.

Preliminarily, we agree with Hardesty that extractive
industries like mining often exist at the mercy of market
forces. If the price dips, an operator may scale back or
cease active operations, while retaining the intention to
resume operations when prices recover. As an illustration
of this, Hansen Brothers described a sister-state case where
“the failure to operate a concrete mixing facility for six
months during a business slowdown, while the operator filled
orders from another plant, was not a cessation of operation.
There...the plant, equipment, inventory, and utilities were
maintained throughout the period and the plant could be made
operational within two hours.” (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12
Cal.4th at p. 569, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d 1324, italics
added.) The question in such cases is whether there is an
intent to abandon or permanently cease operations, or instead
a business judgment that a temporary—even if prolonged—
hiatus should be made. Otherwise, as Hardesty suggests, an
operator might be forced to continue operations at a loss—
perhaps for decades—in order to await market recovery at
some unknowable future point.

But this does not mean that every operator who closes a mine
because of economic reasons retains an intention to reopen the
mine one day, although we accept Hardesty's theoretical point
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that fluctuating mineral prices may induce an operator to close
a mine temporarily while retaining the intention to reopen, to
ride out the market. (See Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th
at pp. 545-546, 569, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d 1324)
[demand for mined aggregates fluctuates with the market;
temporary closure during a business slowdown does not of
itself constitute abandonment]; accord, Pardee Construction
Co. v. California Coastal Com. (1979) 95 Cal.App.3d
471, 475, 481-482, 157 Cal.Rptr. 184 [after building most
planned units, developer allowed permits to lapse during a
recession, but intended to complete remaining units when
“sales warranted their construction”; held, no abandonment of
vested right]; cf. (Miscovich v. Tryck (Alaska 1994) 875 P.2d
1293, 1296 [“Because government control held gold prices
at $35 per ounce...mining was not economically feasible”].)
But that does not mean all gold mines were closed because
of low prices, with the intent to reopen when profitable. In
other words, the fact national gold prices were low until
shortly before SMARA took effect (January 1, 1976) does
not compel a finding that future mining was intended by
Hardesty's predecessors.

[16]  [17] As stated byHansen Brothers, in the zoning
context, “ ‘[A]bandonment of a nonconforming use ordinarily
depends upon a concurrence of two factors: (1) An intention
to abandon; and (2) an overt act, or failure to act, which
carries the implication the owner does not claim or retain
any interest in the right to the nonconforming use [citation].
Mere cessation of use does *45  not of itself amount to
abandonment although the duration of nonuse may be a
factor in determining whether the nonconforming use has
been abandoned [citation].’ ” (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12
Cal.4th at p. 569, 48 Cal.Rptr.2d 778, 907 P.2d 1324,
italics added.) Apart from adding his view that precedent
states abandonment must be shown by clear and convincing
evidence by the party relying on abandonment, Hardesty does
not dispute the Hansen Brothers test as to abandonment.

Hardesty relies on cases such as Gerhard v. Stephens (1968)
68 Cal.2d 864, 69 Cal.Rptr. 612, 442 P.2d 692, which held
“abandonment hinges upon the intent of the owner to forego
all future conforming uses of his property and the trier of fact
must find the conduct demonstrating the intent ‘so decisive
and conclusive as to indicate a clear intent to abandon.’
” (Id. at p. 889, 69 Cal.Rptr. 612, 442 P.2d 692.) Assuming
that equates to “clear and convincing” evidence, we find
it difficult to conceive of clearer evidence of an intent to
abandon than a certified statement by the owner to the
government that the mine has been closed with no intent to

reopen it, and the Board and the trial court could rationally
find Donovan's statement meant what it said. Indeed, at
the hearing one Board member gave his opinion that “the
statements signed by the operator that the site is abandoned
and reclamation is complete really [are] dispositive at this
point and that bell cannot be un-rung by creative discussion
later.” Although the statement of one Board member does not
necessarily reflect the views of the entire Board, here it would

be rational for the whole Board to adopt that view. 13

As for Hardesty's view that the Board misapplied both the
standard of proof and burden of proof, the Board found “clear
and knowing intent” by Hardesty's predecessors to abandon.
In our view, that was an adequate finding under a “clear
and convincing” standard, particularly because, like the trial
court did, we must presume the Board applied the correct
law. (Evid. Code, § 664 [presumption that official duty has
been performed]; see Milligan v. Hearing Aid Dispensers
Examining Com. (1983) 142 Cal.App.3d 1002, 1008, 191
Cal.Rptr. 490.) Further, the clear tenor of the factual findings,
given the evidence, renders irrelevant any error about who
bore the burden of proof.

Here, the evidence of abandonment was overwhelming.
Although possibly Triplett had dreams of someone finding
the elusive deep blue lead, he did not actually mine for
many, many years. Further, a person's subjective “hope”
is not enough to preserve rights; a desire to mine when
a land-use law takes effect is “measured by objective
manifestations and not by subjective intent.” (Calvert, supra,
145 Cal.App.4th at p. 623, 51 Cal.Rptr.3d 797.) Critically,
Donovan certified to the government that all mining had
ceased, with no intent to resume, which was uniquely
persuasive evidence of abandonment. Indeed, it is difficult to
conceive of clearer evidence that the mine was permanently
closed than Donavan's certification, which is direct evidence
of Donovan's intent to classify the mine as closed with no
intent to reopen. Hardesty contends Donovan was illiterate,
and that Donovan had been directed how to fill out the
forms by a County employee and therefore the forms do
not accurately reflect his true intentions, which purportedly
*46  were that the property should always be mined. These

points were discussed at the Board hearing, and the Board and
the trial court were free to weigh the evidence and find the
documents Donovan filed meant what they said.

Moreover, two public commentators gave significant
statements relevant to abandonment, not rebutted at the
hearing and not mentioned in Hardesty's briefs. First, Mary
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Harris-Nugent, whose family has owned the Harris Ranch
bordering the Big Cut Mine property since “the mid-1800's”
and who had personally lived on the family ranch for 52
years, stated “to my knowledge, there has been no operational
surface mining of any kind...during my lifetime. [¶] The
property has remained dormant and abandoned until Mr.
Donovan purchased it. He built his home and a road to his
ranch and that is about all the activity we [have] seen as the
closest neighbors to him.” Second, a neighbor of hers, Gail
Taxera, has lived on Harris Road, a mile from the proposed
mine, for over 50 years and had “never heard or seen signs
of active mining with the exception of the activities during
the time the Donovans occupied the property.” (Recall that
the Donovans did not buy the property until 1988, well after
SMARA took effect.) The Board could rationally accept these
public statements, corroborated by other information before
the Board. They dovetail with Donovan's own documentation

showing he ceased mining with no intention to resume. 14

Thus, viewed through the appropriate lens, overwhelming
evidence supports the Board's and the trial court's findings of
abandonment.

Even if the Board erred in assignment of the burden of proof,
the trial court did not, and Hardesty has failed to show the
outcome at the Board would have differed.

II–III **

DISPOSITION

The judgment is affirmed. Hardesty shall pay the Board's
costs of this appeal. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.278(a).)

We concur:

Nicholson, Acting P.J.

Butz, J.

All Citations

219 Cal.Rptr.3d 28, 17 Cal. Daily Op. Serv. 4501, 2017 Daily
Journal D.A.R. 4492

Footnotes

* Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 8.1105 and 8.1110, this opinion is certified for publication with
the exception of parts II and III of the Discussion.

1 Further undesignated statutory references are to the Public Resources Code.

2 Hardesty's trial court papers reflected the same flaw, which the Board pointed out to the trial court.

3 Under Board regulations, “All information submitted pursuant to this section shall be accompanied by a
declaration or affidavit attesting to the true and accurate nature of the materials provided.” (Regs., § 3952.)
Hardesty's lengthy 2010 RFD supplement does not appear to have been accompanied by a declaration.
However, the parties treat the supplement with the same dignity as the material contained in the RFD. We
will do the same.

Because it was part of Hardesty's evidentiary submission, the Board could credit the facts stated in the
unpublished Tankersley opinion, although the case is not citable by a California court. (See Cal. Rules of
Court, rule 8.1115.) We reference it only insofar as it was part of the evidence before the Board; we do not
treat it as a legal precedent.

4 Further references to “Regs.” are to title 14 of the California Code of Regulations.

5 The Board agrees Triplett took control of the property in 1921 and accepts Hardesty's present ownership
for purposes of this case.
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6 Each form was signed under the following statement: “I certify that the information submitted herein is
complete and accurate (failure to submit complete and accurate requisite information may result in an
administrative penalty as provided for inPublic Resources Code Section 2774.1).” The yearly report is
required by section 2207, which has always required a mine owner or operator to specify “[t]he mining
operation's status as active, idle, reclaimed, or in the process of being reclaimed.” (§ 2207, subd. (a)(6); see
Stats. 1990, ch. 1097, § 2, p. 4575.) Under the law in effect at the time of Donovan's reports, “ ‘Idle’ means to
curtail for a period of one year or more surface mining operations by more than 90 percent of the operation's
previous maximum annual mineral production, with the intent to resume those surface mining operations
at a future date.” (Former § 2727.1, italics added, see Stats. 1990, ch. 1097, § 3, p. 4578.) Therefore, had
Donovan retained an intention to resume operations at a later date, he could have so declared on the annual
forms, which contained a box to indicate the mine was idle, rather than closed.

7 Section 2770 and some other sections were recently amended. (See Stats. 2016, ch. 7, § 5.) We cite to the
provisions in effect during the trial court litigation, as do the parties.

8 Some of this language incorporates the general definition of “vesting” as used in building development cases.
(See Avco Community Developers, Inc. v. South Coast Regional Com. (1976) 17 Cal.3d 785, 791, 132
Cal.Rptr. 386, 553 P.2d 546 [“if a property owner has performed substantial work and incurred substantial
liabilities in good faith reliance upon a permit issued by the government, he acquires a vested right to complete
construction in accordance with the terms of the permit”], italics added.) It is also consistent with language
from the then-recently adopted California Coastal Zone Conservation Act. (Former § 27404; see Ballot Pamp.,
Gen. Elec. (Nov. 7, 1972), text of Prop. 20, p. 32 [generally, a permit holder who “diligently commenced
construction and performed substantial work...and incurred substantial liabilities” before act adopted was
not required to obtain a regional coastal commission permit, if no substantial changes were made to the
development]; seeUrban Renewal Agency v. California Coastal Zone Conservation Com. (1975) 15 Cal.3d
577, 582-584, 125 Cal.Rptr. 485, 542 P.2d 645.)

9 There is a claim that at some point Donovan gave Legacy Land a box of documents detailing mining activities
on the property, in aid of negotiating a sale of the property, but that those documents were lost to him,
evidently after Legacy Land declared bankruptcy. This claim did not have to be believed.

10 This finding may be overbroad, as it is not clear any entity required “authorization” for surface mining before
a County ordinance was adopted in 1979, as Hardesty insists. But this does not change the lack of proof
his predecessors “commenced surface mining operations” (§ 2776, italics added) before SMARA took effect
in 1976. Contrary to Hardesty's reading, the Attorney General did not opine that the lack of need of further
approvals precludes a finding of substantial changes in the nature of the mining, but opined that each case
turned on its particular facts—i.e., whether changes were substantial—and that needing further approvals
would “certainly constitute” a substantial change. (Surface Mining, supra, 59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. at pp. 643,
655-656.)

11 We accept for purposes of this appeal that Hardesty's predecessors performed the work then required by
the federal government. (See Rogers v. De Cambra (1901) 132 Cal. 502, 505-506, 64 P. 894 [federal land
officials presumed to have followed proper procedures].)

12 Because Hardesty has not yet applied for a permit, it would be premature to hold that the permit process
directly conflicts with some specific federal law. (See Granite Rock, supra, 480 U.S. at pp. 588-589, 107 S.Ct.
at pp. 1428–1429, 94 L.Ed.2d at pp. 596-597[party sought injunctive and declaratory relief, did not know
what permit requirements would actually be imposed, and therefore was limited to arguing that no permit
could be required under any circumstances].) References in the record and briefs to a 1979 County permit
ordinance are unnecessary to address, because this appeal does not turn on it, nor were the Board's or trial
court's findings hinged on noncompliance therewith, although an extraneous portion of the trial court's ruling
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references it and Testa's report mentioned it to explain that two separate periods of post-SMARA surface
mining (by Barney's and by Donovan) were “unpermitted.”

13 A leading treatise states that “[a]n abandonment may be effected by an instrument of relinquishment filed
in the land office.” (2 Lindley on Mines (3d ed. 1914) Abandonment and Forfeiture, § 644, p. 1601.) Here,
Donovan filed with the government an instrument stating with exquisite clarity his intent to discontinue mining,
consistent with the treatise.

14 Hardesty suggests Donovan's declarations applied to only a very small part of the entire property. Even if
true, that point would not account for decades of nonuse and lack of hard evidence of mining on the rest
of the property.

** See footnote *, ante.

End of Document © 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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Opinion

Jenkins, J.

*1  In 1972, the County of Mendocino amended its zoning
ordinance to require landowners to secure a use permit
to operate a commercial quarry and aggregate business on
their property. Thereafter, in 2013, Northern Aggregates, Inc.
(NAI) sought an exemption from the use permit requirement
for its commercial quarry and aggregate business known as
the Harris Quarry (quarry). The county granted NAI's request,
finding that NAI had a vested right to operate its commercial
quarry and aggregate business as a nonconforming use under
the amended ordinance. Keep The Code, Inc. (KTC), a

nonprofit organization, petitioned the trial court for a writ
of mandate directing the county to set aside its vested right
determination. After reviewing the administrative record and
exercising its independent judgment, the court found NAI had
no vested right to operate its business as a nonconforming use
and set aside the county's contrary determination. We affirm.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On March 21, 2013, NAI filed an application with the
county seeking a determination that it had a “vested right to
conduct aggregate operations, including mining, conveying,
screening, crushing, sorting, blasting, stockpiling, storing,
transporting and selling aggregate on [its] 91-acre site” as
a nonconforming use under the county's zoning ordinance.
Following an investigation by county staff and a public
hearing, the county's board of supervisors issued Resolution
No. 14-068, on May 20, 2014, in which it was determined that
NAI had a vested right to operate its commercial quarry and
aggregate business as a nonconforming use.

KTC 1  filed a petition for a writ of mandate (Code Civ. Proc.,
§ 1094.5) seeking to set aside Resolution No. 14-068. NAI
and the county opposed the petition. Following argument
by counsel, the trial court granted the petition and entered
judgment in favor of KTC. A peremptory writ issued directing
the county to set aside Resolution No. 14-068. NAI and the
county filed timely notices of appeal.

DISCUSSION

A. Applicable Law

1. Common Law Concerning Vested
Rights for Nonconforming Uses

As both the county and the trial court recognized, in Hansen
Brothers Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors (1996) 12
Cal.4th 533 (Hansen ), our Supreme Court set forth the well-
settled law in California governing nonconforming uses.

“A zoning ordinance or land-use regulation which operates
prospectively, and denies the owner the opportunity to
exploit an interest in the property that the owner believed
would be available for future development, or diminishes
the value of the property, is not invalid and does not
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bring about a compensable taking unless all beneficial
use of the property is denied. [Citations.] However, if the
law effects an unreasonable, oppressive, or unwarranted
interference with an existing use, or a planned use for which
a substantial investment in development costs has been made,
the ordinance may be invalid as applied to that property
unless compensation is paid. [Citations.] Zoning ordinances
and other land-use regulations customarily exempt existing
uses to avoid questions as to the constitutionality of their
application to those uses. ‘The rights of users of property
as those rights existed at the time of the adoption of a
zoning ordinance are well recognized and have always been
protected.’ [Citation.]

*2  “Accordingly, a provision which exempts existing
nonconforming uses ‘is ordinarily included in zoning
ordinances because of the hardship and doubtful
constitutionality of compelling the immediate discontinuance
of nonconforming uses.’ [Citations.] The exemption may
either exempt an existing use altogether or allow
a limited period of continued operation adequate for
amortization of the owners' investment in the particular use.
[Citations.]” (Hansen, supra, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 551-552.)

Nonetheless, “pre-existing nonconforming uses” are not
meant to be “perpetual.” (City of Los Angeles v. Gage (1954)
127 Cal.App.2d 442, 459.) The policy of the law is for the
elimination of any nonconforming use because its presence
“endangers the benefits to be derived from a comprehensive
zoning plan.” (Ibid.) Accordingly, and consistent with this
policy, it has been held that “ ‘land which has not been used ...
would not create a nonconforming use’ ” (Hill v. City of
Manhattan Beach (1971) 6 Cal.3d 279, 285-286 (Hill ) ), and
attempts to continue nonconforming uses are barred when
nonconforming uses have ceased operation (Hansen, supra,
12 Cal.4th at p. 568).

The Hansen court acknowledged that the principles
applicable to nonconforming uses “[do] not apply neatly
to surface mining operations.” (Calvert v. County of Yuba
(2006) 145 Cal.App.4th 613, 623, citing Hansen, supra, 12
Cal.4th at pp. 553-556.) “Unlike other nonconforming uses
of property which operate within an existing structure or
boundary, mining uses anticipate extension of mining into
areas of the property that were not being exploited at the time
a zoning change caused the use to be nonconforming. The
question thus arises whether this extension is a prohibited
expansion of a nonconforming use into another area of
the property .... [T]he answer is a qualified ‘no’ under the

‘diminishing asset’ doctrine, an exception to the rule banning
expansion of a nonconforming use that is specific to mining
enterprises.” (Hansen, supra, at p. 553.) The qualification to
the application of the diminishing asset doctrine is that “[a]
vested right to quarry or excavate the entire area of a parcel
on which the nonconforming use is recognized requires more
than the use of a part of the property for that purpose when
the zoning law becomes effective .... In addition there must be
evidence that the owner or operator at the time the use became
nonconforming had exhibited an intent to extend the use to
the entire property owned at that time.” (Id. at pp. 555-556,
fn. omitted.)

2. Relevant Statutory Law Concerning Vested Rights
for Surface Mining Operations in Mendocino County

Before mid-July 1972, no use permit was required for the
operation of a commercial quarry and aggregate business on
property in the county. Effective on July 20, 1972, the county's
board of supervisors amended the county code to require a use
permit to operate a commercial quarry and aggregate business
on property in the county, including the Harris Quarry.
(Mendocino County Ordinance No. 963, amending former ch.
20, art. II of Mendocino County Code.) Thereafter, in 1975,
the state adopted the Surface Mining and Reclamation Act
of 1975 (see Pub. Resources Code, § 2710 et seq., added
by Stats. 1975, ch. 1131, § 11, pp. 2793-2803) (hereinafter

SMARA). 2  Effective January 1, 1976, SMARA required
a person to secure a use permit to conduct certain surface
mining operations, which included a commercial quarry and
aggregate business on property in the county. (Former §
2770, added by Stats. 1975, ch. 1131, § 11, p. 2799; see §§
2729 [mined lands defined], 2735 [surface mining operations
defined].) Of significance here, SMARA excepted from the
use permit requirement surface mining operations for which
a person had a “vested right” to conduct such operations
before January 1, 1976. (Former § 2776, added by Stats.
1975, ch. 1131, § 11, p. 2801.) SMARA also designated the
county to act as the “lead agency” to enact local legislation
establishing procedures for the approval of use permits to
conduct surface mining operations in the county in accord
with state policy. (Former §§ 2728, 2774, added by Stats.
1975, ch. 1131, § 11, pp. 2795, 2800; see § 2734 [“ ‘[s]tate
policy’ means the regulations adopted by the [State Mining
and Geology Board] pursuant to Section 2755”].) Thereafter,
in 1979, the county's board of supervisors amended the county
code to implement regulations relative to surface mining
operations in the county. (Mendocino County Code, former §
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22.16.060.) Consistent with the state law, Mendocino County
Code former section 22.16.060 excepted from the use permit
requirement surface mining operations in the county for

which a person had a “vested right” before January 1, 1976. 3

B. Trial Court's Decision
*3  The court found that when the county amended its code

on July 20, 1972, making a commercial quarry and aggregate
business a nonconforming use, the property on which the
quarry was situated was owned by Christ's Church of the
Golden Rule (Church). The Church had acquired the property
in 1963, and continued to own it until 1983. The court further
found that for the entirety of the Church's ownership of
the property (spanning the 1972 and 1979 amendments to
the county code and the 1976 enactment of SMARA), the
record was “absolutely devoid” of any credible or reliable
evidence demonstrating that the Church operated the quarry
as a commercial venture, had expended “any money in
connection with quarrying activities and/or rock crushing or
screening,” or had incurred “any liabilities ‘for work and
materials necessary’ ” for surface mining operations. In so
ruling, the court relied, in pertinent part, on written statements
submitted by Tracy Livingston and Richard Tyrrell, who were
members of the Church during its ownership of the property.
The court found the Church members had “declared credibly
and with sufficient personal knowledge” that the Church did
not operate the quarry on a commercial basis and did not
intend to expand quarry operations during its ownership.
The court further found that the statements of Livingston
and Tyrrell were more reliable than other declarations and
statements of Frank Dutra, Bud Garman, and Wayne Waters,
who described some rock removal activities that occurred on
the site at various times preceding and shortly following July
20, 1972.

Additionally, the court found that assuming a vested right
to operate a commercial quarry and aggregate business as
a nonconforming use existed on July 20, 1972, there was
no evidence that would allow for the substantial expansion
of the quarry “without a use permit ... as a ‘diminishing
asset’ operation” under Hansen, supra, 12 Cal.3d 540. In so
finding, the court was mindful “that the quarry and aggregate
business is seasonal and cyclical and that the court should
assess the continuity of the operation in the light of the
historical pattern. ( [Mendocino County Code, former §]
22.16.060).” But, the court again relied on the statements
of Livingston and Tyrrell, which demonstrated that during
its ownership the Church had not operated the quarry on

a commercial basis and did not intend to expand quarry
operations. The court further found that even if it accepted
the evidence offered by Dutra, Waters, and Garman, there
were still substantial periods of approximately three years and
four years of inactivity at the quarry site, which could not
be attributed to the seasonal nature of the business, use of
stockpiled material, or the use of other onsite resources. The
court also rejected appellants' contention that a comparison of
aerial photographs taken before and after July 1972 indicated
a substantial increase in quarry activity from which the
court could arguably determine the Church's intent to expand
quarry operations. The court stated that, “[a]part from the
fallacy of that argument, a comparison [of] the outline of the
quarry boundaries as actually delineated on the photographs
[record citations to “1965” aerial photograph and “1974 or
1981” aerial photograph] does not support that argument.
Measuring each outlined area in cross-sectional directions
at the widest points indicates that the outlined site on the
1974/81 aerial is no larger tha[n] the outlined site on the 1965

photo.” 4

C. Appellants' Contentions

1. Trial Court's Legal Determinations

Appellants make various arguments challenging the trial
court's legal determinations, none of which requires reversal.

Appellants, throughout their briefs, complain about isolated
statements made by the trial court relative to the
law governing nonconforming uses. However, appellants'
overarching claim of error is that NAI's right to operate its
business as a legal nonconforming use was governed solely
by the court's evaluation of how the property was used at
the time it first became nonconforming on July 20, 1972,
during the Church's ownership. According to appellants, the
county's interpretation of its code allowed NAI to operate
its business as a nonconforming use based on the use of
the property for that purpose by any predecessor owner who
incurred substantial liabilities at any time. As we now explain,
we see no merit to appellants' arguments.

*4  First, as noted above, “[a] legal nonconforming use is
one that existed lawfully before a zoning restriction became
effective and that is not in conformity with the ordinance
when it continues thereafter.” (Hansen, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p.
540, fn. 1.) Thus, whether a landowner can claim a right to a
nonconforming use is to be determined by the use of the land
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at the time the use became nonconforming under the zoning
ordinance restricting such use. (Ibid.) Accordingly, the trial
court's finding, with which we concur, that July 20, 1972, was
the appropriate date to determine the existence of a right to
a nonconforming use, is consistent with the law. (Id. at p.
560.) In addition, the law of nonconforming uses provides
that once a landowner acquires a right to use the property
as a nonconforming use, the established (vested) right to
continue the nonconforming use is a property right that can
be transferred to a successor owner. (59 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen.
641, 656-658 (1976).) Conversely, if at the time a zoning
ordinance creates a nonconforming use the landowner is not
using the land for that purpose, no vested right is created that
can be transferred to a successor owner. (See Hansen, supra,
at p. 568; Hill, supra, 6 Cal.3d at pp. 285-286 [“ ‘land which
has not been used ... would not create a nonconforming use’
”].) Because the trial court here found that the Church was
not using the property as a commercial quarry and aggregate
business on July 20, 1972, a nonconforming use did not exist
that could be transferred to NAI as a successor owner.

We also conclude that appellants' arguments are “clearly at
variance with” the pertinent language in the county code,
as well as SMARA. Both the state law and the county
code provisions under review provide, in pertinent part,
“A person shall be deemed to have vested rights [in a
nonconforming use] if ... the person has” (§ 2776, subd.
(a), italics added) or “he has” (Mendocino County Code,
§ 22.16.150, subd. (A), italics added; see id., former §
22.16.060) “diligently commenced surface mining operations
and incurred substantial liabilities for work and materials
necessary for the surface mining operations” before the
effective dates of the law. (§ 2776, subd. (a); Mendocino
County Code, § 22.16.150, subd. (A); see id., former
§ 22.16.060.) As a codification of the common law
of nonconforming uses, the pertinent statutory language
“suggests that the [law] extends [a vested right] only to those
persons whose reliance upon existing permits or authorization
induced them to initiate substantial performance of their
projects and to incur substantial liabilities in connection
therewith” at the time the use became nonconforming
because of the change in the law. (Urban Renewal Agency
v. California Coastal Zone Conservation Com. (1975) 15
Cal.3d 577, 586 [interpreting statutory language in former
§ 27404, a vested rights exemption provision essentially
like § 2776].) Here, as we have noted, the Church had
not diligently commenced and incurred substantial liabilities
for work and material necessary for the operation of a
commercial quarrying and aggregate business at the time the

use became nonconforming. Consequently, the Church had
not acquired a vested right that could be transferred to NAI
as a successor owner. Moreover, appellants' expansive view
of the statutory language is in contravention of the basic
tenets of statutory construction. As our Supreme Court has
cautioned, we do not presume that legislatures intend, when
enacting statutes, “ ‘to overthrow long-established principles
of law unless such intention is clearly expressed or necessarily
implied.’ [Citations.]” (Brodie v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.
(2007) 40 Cal.4th 1313, 1325.) Instead, “ ‘ “[a] statute will
be construed in light of common law decisions, unless its
language ‘ “clearly and unequivocally discloses an intention
to depart from, alter, or abrogate the common-law rule
concerning the particular subject matter ....” ’ ” ’ ” (California
Assn. of Health Facilities v. Department of Health Services
(1997) 16 Cal.4th 284, 297.) Appellants here have failed to
cite to any statutory language or other relevant authority that
the state or county intended, when enacting SMARA and
the county code provisions, to depart from the common law
governing nonconforming uses. To accept appellants' broad
construction of the statutory language would require us to
abrogate those common law rules governing nonconforming
uses, which we decline to do.

2. Trial Court's Burden of Proof and Factual Findings

*5  Appellants also make various arguments challenging the
burden of proof imposed on the parties and the trial court's
factual findings.

We first address appellants' assertion that the court misapplied
the burden of proof in determining whether appellants
acquired vested rights in the operation of the quarry.
Appellants' legal argument, asserting that the court shifted the
burden of proof to them, is based on a single sentence plucked
from the court's decision which states: “Even allowing for
the 1976-78 purchases [of aggregate] reported ..., there
is no evidence of the operation of a commercial quarry
and aggregate business during the periods of 1963-75 and
1979-82.” Appellants argue this language supports their
contention that the court required appellants, rather than
KTC, to present “evidence” establishing the operation of a
commercial quarry during the years referred to by the court.

However, our review of the record establishes that the trial
court did not err in its application of the required burden of
proof. In resolving the parties' dispute, the court stated that
NAI, as the party asserting a right to a nonconforming use, had
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the burden of proving before the county board of supervisors
that, on July 20, 1972, when quarry operations first became
a nonconforming use, “(1) [the] quarry operations had been
diligently commenced ...; and (2) ... the owner/operator
had incurred substantial liabilities in reliance on the non-
conforming use status.” The court also indicated that KTC,
as the petitioner in the trial court, had the burden of proving
that the county's finding in favor of NAI was not supported
by the weight of the evidence, in order to establish an
abuse of discretion justifying the issuance of the requested
writ. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1094.5, subd. (c).) The court then
turned to evaluate whether KTC had met its burden. In
doing so, the court accorded the county's findings “a strong
preference of correctness” but found that KTC had overcome
any “presumption of correctness,” which enabled the court
to “substitute its own judgment to reject the findings” of the
county board of supervisors once the court had “examined
those findings under the appropriate standards.” Given this
record, we soundly reject appellants' argument that the court
improperly shifted the burden of proof to them.

We further conclude that appellants' challenge to the trial
court's factual findings fares no better than their legal
challenge, discussed above. The law governing our review of
the court's factual findings is well established. “In exercising
its independent judgment,” as in this case, “a trial court
must afford a strong presumption of correctness concerning
the administrative findings, and the party challenging the
administrative decision bears the burden of convincing the
court that the administrative findings are contrary to the
weight of the evidence.” (Fukuda v. City of Angels (1999) 20
Cal.4th 805, 817 (Fukuda ).) Nonetheless, “the presumption
provides the trial court with a starting point for review—but it
is only a presumption, and may be overcome. Because the trial
court ultimately must exercise its own independent judgment,
that court is free to substitute its own findings after first
giving due respect to the agency's findings.” (Id. at p. 818.)
“[I]in exercising its independent judgment ‘the trial court has
the power and responsibility to weigh the evidence at the
administrative hearing and to make its own determination
of the credibility of witnesses.’ [Citation.]” (Barber v. Long
Beach Civil Service Com. (1996) 45 Cal.App.4th 652, 658.)
On appeal, when an administrative adjudication is subject to
the independent judgment test of review, “ ‘California fixes
responsibility for factual determination[s] at the trial court
rather than the administrative agency tier of the pyramid as a
matter of public policy.’ ” (Id. at p. 659.) Consequently, “our
review of the record is limited to a determination whether
substantial evidence supports the trial court's conclusions and,

in making that determination, we must resolve all conflicts
and indulge all reasonable inferences in favor of the party
who prevailed in the trial court. [Citations.]” (Id. at pp.
659-660, italics added; see Fukuda, supra, 20 Cal.4th at p.
824.)

*6  Appellants first contend there was “ample evidence” in
the record to support the county's findings that “a person
[had] ‘diligently commenced surface mining operations
and incurred substantial liabilities for work and materials
necessary for the surface mining operations’ ” at the time
the use became nonconforming in 1972, during the Church's
ownership. Appellants fail, however, to acknowledge the
standard of review we employ in reviewing the court's
factual findings. Under the governing standard, we review
the record to determine whether there is substantial
evidence that supports the court's findings, not those of the
county. Applying the correct standard, we have no trouble
concluding that evidence exists to support the court's findings.
Specifically, the court reasonably relied on the statements
of church members Livingston and Tyrrell, who credibly
asserted that the Church had not used the property as a
commercial quarry and aggregate business at any time during
the entirety of its ownership, which included when the
use became nonconforming in 1972. While there was other
evidence in the record that might have supported a contrary
finding, as the court acknowledged, it was free to conclude
such evidence was not sufficient to substantiate NAI's claim
of a vested right to operate a commercial quarry and aggregate
business as a nonconforming use.

Additionally, we see no merit to appellants' argument
that the trial court erred by relying on the statements
submitted by Livingston and Tyrrell, while discounting the
declarations of Dutra and Waters, the statement of Bud
Garman, and statements made by members of the county
board of supervisors. “It is not our role as a reviewing
court to reweigh the evidence or to assess witness credibility.
[Citation.]” (Thompson v. Asimos (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 970,
981 (Thompson ).) Moreover, appellants' reliance on San
Diego Unified School Dist. v. Commission on Professional
Competence (2013) 214 Cal.App.4th 1120, 1146, does not
assist them here. Unlike the trial court in San Diego Unified
School Dist., the trial court here explained its reasons for
accepting the statements of the Church members and the basis
for its rejection of the declarations and statements of other
witnesses. Nor does the fact that the court did not mention
certain evidence, as appellants assert, require reversal. It
was the court's role to review the administrative record,
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and “we presume the court performed its duty.” (Christian
Research Institute v. Alnor (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1315,
1324; Evid. Code, § 664.) Implicit in its ruling, the court
found the evidence cited by appellants did not demonstrate
that the Church was using or intended to use the property
as a commercial quarry and aggregate business at the time
the use became nonconforming. Appellants insist that “[a]
composite aerial photo, comparing 1974 activity with prior
quarry boundaries, shows the significant expansion of the
quarry floor during the Church's ownership.” However,
whether there was a “significant” expansion of the quarry
floor, from which a reasonable inference could be drawn
that the property was being used as a commercial quarry
and aggregate business during the Church's ownership, was
a question of fact for the court as the trier of fact. The
individual aerial photographs of the quarry site are fuzzy and
do not delineate to the naked eye either structures, equipment,
or stockpiles on the property, or, more significantly, that
the property was being used as a commercial quarry and
aggregate business. The photographs are annotated with
circled areas, purportedly showing “the quarry;” arrows
pointed at certain areas, purportedly showing, “structure;”
and “apparent stockpile or equipment.” The court was not
required to accept appellants' descriptions of what was
visible in the aerial photographs or what was visible in
the consultants' composite photograph, which was created
by overlaying the consultants' interpretation of individual

aerial photographs. 5  “ ‘[A]s a general rule, “[p]rovided
the trier of fact does not act arbitrarily, he may reject in
toto the testimony of a witness, even though the witness is
uncontradicted. [Citations.]” [Citation.] This rule is applied
equally to expert witnesses.’ [Citation.] The exceptional
principle requiring a fact finder to accept uncontradicted
expert testimony as conclusive applies only in professional
negligence cases where the standard of care must be
established by expert testimony.” (Howard v. Owens Corning
(1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 621, 632.) Nor are we persuaded
by appellants' argument that the court made two prejudicial
errors in its analysis of the evidence relative to various dates

and differing scales on the individual aerial photographs.
If appellants believed the court's decision was improperly
influenced by the various dates or differing scales on the
photographs, they could have brought the purported error to
the court's attention by an appropriate objection under Code of
Civil Procedure section 657 (motion for a new trial) or section
663 (motion to vacate judgment). (See Thompson, supra, 6
Cal.App.5th at pp. 981-982.) Their failure to do so indicates
they did not deem the purported errors to be prejudicial, and
we too find no prejudice.

*7  We conclude our discussion by noting that appellants'
“elaborate factual presentation” in their briefs, simply put,
is an attempt to reargue on appeal factual issues that were
decided adversely to them at the trial, which is “contrary to
established precepts of appellate review,” and “[a]s such, it
is doomed to fail.” (Hasson v. Ford Motor Co. (1982) 32
Cal.3d 388, 398-399.) Having determined the trial court did
not err in making its factual findings or in applying the parties'
respective burdens of proof, we see no merit to appellants'

claims of error on these grounds. 6

DISPOSITION

The judgment is affirmed. Respondent Keep The Code, Inc.
is awarded costs on appeal.

We concur:

Pollak, Acting P. J. *

Ross, J. †

All Citations

Not Reported in Cal.Rptr., 2018 WL 6259477

Footnotes

1 In its petition, KTC describes itself as “a California non-profit corporation whose members include persons
and entities who object to the unlimited expansion of and lack of sufficient environmental protection for mining
activities at the Harris Quarry. Keep The Code's mission is to preserve and protect for the general public the
natural environment, agriculture, and rural character of Mendocino County.”

WESTLAW 

https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2016741076&pubNum=0004041&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4041_1324&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4041_1324 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2016741076&pubNum=0004041&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4041_1324&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4041_1324 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2016741076&pubNum=0004041&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4041_1324&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4041_1324 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000207&cite=CAEVS664&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999129377&pubNum=0004041&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4041_632&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4041_632 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1999129377&pubNum=0004041&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_4041_632&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_4041_632 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000201&cite=CACPS657&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000201&cite=CACPS657&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2040537101&pubNum=0007053&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_7053_981&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_7053_981 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2040537101&pubNum=0007053&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_7053_981&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_7053_981 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1982140634&pubNum=0000233&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_233_398&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_233_398 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1982140634&pubNum=0000233&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_233_398&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search)#co_pp_sp_233_398 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0224460601&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search) 
https://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0288414701&originatingDoc=I4df6d020f53611e8a174b18b713fc6d4&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.History*oc.Search) 


Keep the Code, Inc. v. County of Mendocino, Not Reported in Cal.Rptr. (2018)

 © 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 7

2 All further unspecified statutory references are to the Public Resources Code. While SMARA has been
amended since this litigation, the amendments are not relevant to our resolution of this appeal.

3 Section 2776, subdivision (a) currently reads: “(a) No person who has obtained a vested right to conduct
surface mining operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall be required to secure a permit pursuant to this
chapter as long as the vested right continues and as long as no substantial changes are made in the operation
except in accordance with this chapter. A person shall be deemed to have vested rights if, prior to January
1, 1976, the person has, in good faith and in reliance upon a permit or other authorization, if the permit or
other authorization was required, diligently commenced surface mining operations and incurred substantial
liabilities for work and materials necessary for the surface mining operations. Expenses incurred in obtaining
the enactment of an ordinance in relation to a particular operation or the issuance of a permit shall not be
deemed liabilities for work or materials.” (Amended by Stats. 2006, ch. 538, § 560, pp. 4429-4430.)

Similarly, and using almost identical language to that used in SMARA, and as originally enacted in 1979, the
vested rights ordinance in Mendocino County Code former section 22.16.060 provided, in pertinent part, as
follows: “No person who has obtained a vested right to conduct surface mining operations prior to January 1,
1976, shall be required to secure a permit pursuant to the provisions of this chapter as long as such vested
right continues; provided, however, that no substantial changes may be made in any such operation except
in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. A person shall be deemed to have such vested rights if,
prior to January 1, 1976, he has, in good faith, and in reliance upon a permit or other authorization if such
permit or other authorization was required, diligently commenced surface mining operations and incurred
substantial liabilities for work and materials necessary therefor. Expenses incurred in obtaining the enactment
of an ordinance in relation to a particular operation or the issuance of a permit shall not be deemed liabilities
for work or materials.”

Mendocino County Code section 22.16.150, subdivision (A), adopted in 1999, currently provides: “No person
who has obtained [a] vested right to conduct surface mining operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall be
required to secure a permit pursuant to the provisions of this Chapter as long as such vested right continues
and no substantial change is made in that operation. Any substantial change in a vested surface mining
operation subsequent to January 1, 1976, shall require the granting of a permit pursuant to this Chapter. A
person shall be deemed to have such vested rights if, prior to January 1, 1976, he has, in good faith, and
in reliance upon a permit or other authorization if such permit or other authorization was required, diligently
commenced surface mining operations and incurred substantial liabilities for work and materials necessary
therefor. Expenses incurred in obtaining the issuance of a permit related to the surface mining operation shall
not be deemed liabilities for work and materials.”

4 The trial court found that, “[b]ased on the scales provided on each phot[o], the area outlined in the 1965 photo
is approximately 335' x 240[']. That outlined in the 1974/81 photo is approximately 225' x 125'.”

5 To the extent appellants assert that the trial court engaged in an “unauthorized private investigation” regarding
the photographs and composite drawings of the quarry, we reject the assertion. The court was at liberty both
to review the evidence and to determine the weight to assign to it. Thus, we conclude the court's review
of the photographic evidence and its determination of the weight to assign the disparities in the composite
overlaying the photographs was well within the ambit of the court's function as the trier of fact.

6 Considering our determination, the parties' remaining contentions do not need to be addressed.

* On Monday, November 26, 2018, the Commission on Judicial Appointments confirmed the Governor's
appointment of Justice Pollak as the Presiding Justice of Division Four of this court.

WESTLAW 
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† Judge of the San Francisco Superior Court, assigned by the Chief Justice pursuant to article VI, section 6
of the California Constitution.

End of Document © 2024 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works.
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MEETING DATE: December 13, 2023  
 
TO: Board of Supervisors 
 
FROM: Katharine Elliott, County Counsel 

 
Brian Foss, Planning Director 
Diane Kindermann, Abbott and Kindermann, Inc.  

 
SUBJECT: Public Hearing to Consider the Idaho-Maryland Mine Vested Right 

Petition dated September 1, 2023 prepared by Braiden Chadwick and 
Ryan W. Thomason of Mitchell Chadwick, LLP, on Behalf of Joseph 
Mullin, Rise Grass Valley, Inc. (“Petitioner”) for a Formal 
Determination by the County of Nevada (“County”) Concerning the 
Existence and Scope of Vested Mining Rights to Mine the 175.64-acre 
“Idaho Maryland Mine”(“Petition”) Comprised of the 119-acre 
Brunswick Industrial Site Assessor’s Parcel Numbers (APNs): 006-441-
003, 006-441-004, 006-441-005, 006-441-034, 009-630-037, 009-630-
039 (“Brunswick”); and the Centennial Industrial Site APNs: 009-550-
032, 009-550-037, 009-550-038, 009-550-039, and 009-560-036 
(“Centennial”) (collectively, the “Subject Property”) 

 
PETITIONER:  Rise Grass Valley, Inc.  
 
REPRESENTATIVE: Braiden Chadwick, Mitchell Chadwick LLP 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  

I. Environmental Action:  Find the action statutorily exempt pursuant to Section 15378 of the 
California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) Guidelines from the requirement to 
prepare an Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) or a Negative Declaration, for the 
approval of a Resolution finding that the Applicant does not have a vested right to mine 
due to abandonment of the mining uses at the Subject Property (“Resolution”).  The 
County’s action to adopt the Resolution does not constitute a project that is subject to 
CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines. 

 
II. Action:  Adopt the Resolution finding that neither the Petitioner nor any other party has a 

vested right to mine at the Subject Property, as the mining use was abandoned  
(Attachment 1). 

 
FUNDING:  

No budget amendments are required. 
 



NEVADA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Board Agenda Memorandum 
Page 2 of 46 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 

1. Resolution  
 
2. Idaho-Maryland Mine Vested Right Petition 
 
3. County’s Responses to Petitioner’s Facts and Evidence in Vested Rights Petition; 

including County Exhibits 1001-1027 
 

 
 
STAFF COMMENT:  

This Board Agenda Memorandum shall be read in conjunction with the County’s Responses to 
Petitioner’s Facts and Evidence in the Vested Rights Petition including County Exhibits 1001 to 
1027 (“County’s Responses”), Attachment 3 hereto, which is incorporated herein by reference.  
The County’s Responses chronologically respond to the facts raised in the Petition in the order in 
which those facts are set forth. 
 
SITE DESCRIPTION 

The Subject Property is located within unincorporated western Nevada County on approximately 
175.64 acres, consisting of the Brunswick and Centennial Sites.  
 

 

 
Figure 1: Location Map 
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Both Brunswick and Centennial are located within unincorporated western Nevada County and 
are owned by the Petitioner.  The approximately 119-acre Brunswick Site is located southwest of 
the intersection of East Bennett and Brunswick Roads and is comprised of Assessor’s Parcel 
Numbers (APNs): 006-441-003 (12503 Brunswick Road), 006-441-004 (12625 Brunswick Road), 
006-441-005 (12791 Brunswick Road), 006-441-034 (12381 Brunswick Road), 009-630-037 
(12369 East Bennett Road), and 009-630- 039 (12301 Millsite Road).  
 

 

 
The approximately 56.41-acre Centennial Site is located southwest of the intersection of Idaho 
Maryland Road and Centennial Drive and is comprised of APNs: 009-550-032, 009-550-037 
(10344 Centennial Drive), 009-550-038 (10350 Centennial Drive), 009-550-039 (10344 
Centennial Drive), 009-550-040, and 009-560-036 (10350 Centennial Drive). 
 
Petitioner alleges the overall mineral rights boundary encompasses approximately 2,585 acres and 
generally contains properties surrounding the Subject Property (Brunswick and Centennial), with 
the majority of additional surface land area located north of the Brunswick Site and east of the 
Centennial Site.  This generally includes most of the Nevada County Airport and surrounding Air 
Park, as well as property along both sides of Brunswick Road, Greenhorn Road, and Idaho 
Maryland Road. 
 
The Idaho-Maryland Mine encompasses an extensive system of approximately seventy-three (73) 
miles of underground tunnels, many raises, four (4) inclined shafts, and two (2) vertical shafts.  
The surface mining infrastructure at the Subject Property (Brunswick), was dismantled, and 
removed from the Subject Property and sold off entirely in 1956 and 1957.   
 

Figure 2: Subject Property (Centennial) 
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Historically, underground gold mining occurred below the Subject Property, while aboveground 
portions of the Subject Property were used for various gold mining and processing activities.  
Several shaft entrances are located on the Brunswick Site.  The shafts are covered to prevent access 
as the operations are abandoned.  Other portions of the Subject Property (Brunswick) site include 
graveled or paved areas from previous land uses.  
 
Current use of the Subject Property (Brunswick) includes the Gold Country Senior Services’ 
community operation, which seeks to cut, store, and distribute firewood to seniors.  Recent 
activities have also included use of the Subject Property (Brunswick) by a contractor performing 
vegetation trimming for PG&E.  After the abandonment of mining in 1956 at the Subject Property 
(Brunswick), subsequent Subject Property owners obtained use permits for lumber operations or 
obtained tentative maps for residential uses.  After abandonment of mining at the Subject Property 
(Centennial), one subsequent Subject Property owner obtained a short-term use permit for the 
harvesting, crushing, screening, and sale of waste rock left from the Idaho-Maryland Mine.  The 
removal of that material was completed within approximately one (1) year.  That use permit was 
then amended to allow importation of materials from an off-site development property for on-site 
rock processing while the equipment installed for the prior rock removal was still on the site.   
 
The Subject Property (Brunswick) consists primarily of open space, with remnants of the previous 
sawmill operations still located on site from lumber and sawmill uses approved by the County with 
separate use permits between 1958 and 1994.  The terrain of the open space portion of the 
Brunswick Site is typical of the lower Sierra Nevada foothills, varying from flat ridges and valleys 
to gently and moderately sloping hillsides.  The Subject Property (Brunswick) is located adjacent 
to South Fork Wolf Creek with a portion of the creek running through the site and is dominated 
by mixed hardwood-conifer forests and developed areas, with smaller areas of wetlands and annual 
grassland. 
 
The Subject Property (Centennial) consists of an existing approximately 5.6-acre engineered fill 
pad along its eastern boundary; up to approximately 28 acres of graded, revegetated areas; and the 
remainder consisting of natural habitats, such as montane hardwood-conifer, chapparal, montane-
riparian, and annual grassland. 
 
BACKGROUND:  

Abandoned Mining Operations: 
 
The Subject Property is a portion of the historic Idaho-Maryland Mine, which is an underground 
gold mine.  The Idaho-Maryland Mine represents the ownership interest of a number of early-day 
producing mines, including the Eureka, Idaho, Maryland, and Brunswick mines.  The mines date 
back to the mid- to late-19th Century.  The Eureka, Idaho, and Maryland Mines were all located 
on the same vein, which is referred to as the Idaho #1 Vein.  Mineralization was first discovered 
at an outcrop on the Eureka claim in 1851 and the Eureka Mine was a significant gold producer 
from 1863-1877.  Mining at the adjacent Idaho Mine took place from 1867-1893.  In the late 1800s, 
Maryland Gold Quartz Mining Co., which was formed to mine Maryland Mine, purchased the 
Idaho Quartz Mining Co. and its Idaho Mine.  The name of the mine was changed to Idaho-
Maryland Mine.  In the early 1900s, the Idaho-Maryland Mines Company was formed.  In the 
1920s, Errol MacBoyle and associates formed a holding company, Idaho Maryland Consolidated 
Mines, Inc., which purchased the Idaho-Maryland Mine.  Subsequently, in the early 1930s, Idaho 
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Maryland Consolidated Mines, Inc. acquired the Brunswick Mine from Brunswick Consolidated 
Gold Mining Company.  As terminology can be confusing, it is important to note that “Idaho-
Maryland Mine” referred to the entire ownership of several separate mines.   
 
Some historical summaries from myriad sources indicate that the Idaho Maryland Mine produced 
up to 2,414,000 ounces of gold between 1866 and 1956.  In 1941, the Idaho-Maryland Mine 
employed approximately one thousand (1,000) workers and was one of the largest lode gold mines 
in California and the United States, based on annual production.  The Idaho Maryland Mine has 
been inactive since abandonment in 1956.  
 
After its final closure in 1956, the Subject Properties and other portions of the Idaho-Maryland 
Mine tunnels were abandoned and allowed to naturally flood. 
 
Zoning Designation History:  
 
In 1954, the Nevada County Board of Supervisors (“Board of Supervisors”) adopted Ordinance 
No. 196, which was the first ordinance regulating land use in the County.  All unincorporated areas 
of the County, including the Brunswick and Centennial Sites, were zoned "A1", a holding zone 
requiring a Use Permit for most land uses including mining.  In 1967, the Board of Supervisors 
adopted Ordinance No. 379 to amend Ordinance No. 196, which changed the zoning of those 
parcels previously zoned “A1” to "U" or Unclassified, another holding district.  Both Sites were 
rezoned to “U” at this time.  In 1970, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance 500 to establish 
new zoning regulations and repeal Ordinances 196, 379, and all other ordinances in conflict.  Both 
sites remained zoned “U” or (Unclassified) at that time. 
 
In 1973, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance 643 establishing the “M1” zoning 
designation generally on the Brunswick Site.  In 1994, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance 
1853 to rezone the Subject Property (Brunswick) as “M1-SP” by establishing a Site Performance 
Combining District designation.  The Site Performance Combining District designation includes a 
Master Plan establishing infrastructure improvement, design themes, and permitted land uses, 
Moving and Storage Facilities, RV Repair and Storage Lots, Contractors Equipment and Storage 
Yards, Lumber Yards, Recycling Centers, and other similar type uses for the Nevada County 
Business and Industrial Center.  Sub-surface mining was not included in the permitted uses of the 
Site Performance Combining District.  The Subject Property (Brunswick) is currently zoned “M1-
SP.”   
 
In 1973, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance 629 establishing the “M1” zoning 
designation generally on the Subject Property (Centennial).  In 1993, the Board of Supervisors 
adopted Ordinance 1822 to rezone the Subject Property (Centennial) to “M1-ME” by establishing 
the Mineral Extraction Combining District designation as required as a Condition of Approval for 
Use Permit File Number U92-37 to allow for on-site rock harvesting as described in the Subject 
Property (Centennial) Permit History discussion below.  In 1996, the Board of Supervisors adopted 
Ordinance 1923, which was subsequently superseded by Ordinance 1930 and Ordinance 1959 that 
rezoned the Subject Property (Centennial) to the “BP” or Business Park zoning designation.  In 
2016, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance 2407 to rezone the Subject Property 
(Centennial) to “M1” or Light Industrial as the Base Zoning District with no additional Combining 
Districts.  The Centennial Site currently remains zoned “M1.”   
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Subject Property (Brunswick) Permit History:  
 

1956 Mining ceased, all mining and processing equipment sold.  Subject Property 
also sold in segments for non-mining activity through 1959.  Last segment 
sold in 1963. 

 
1958 County Planning Commission (“PC”) granted Use Permit to new owner for 

lumber uses. 
 
1964   PC approved a Use Permit for a lumber yard and planing mill. 
 
1977 County Planning Department (“Planning”) approved Site Plan to add one 

(1) sawdust drier.  
 
1986 PC approved Tentative Map, subdividing Subject Property into five (5) 

residential and three (3) industrial parcels.   
 
1986 Planning approved a Ministerial Site Plan to install one (1) lumber sorter. 
 
1987 Planning approved Ministerial Site Plan to add 896 square feet to existing 

mill structure. 
 
1990  Planning approved Ministerial Site Plan to replace a structure at mill.  
 
1994  Sierra Pacific Industries ceased all sawmill operations. 

 
By October 1957, all mining had ceased at the Subject Property, and all mining and processing 
equipment was sold.  The Subject Property was also sold over the next few years.  All subsequent 
legal uses of the Subject Property after the abandonment were authorized with Use Permits.  In 
1958, the Nevada County Planning Commission (“Planning Commission”) approved a Use 
Permit for a sawmill and drying yard on the Brunswick Site (File Number U58-15).  In 1964, the 
Planning Commission initially denied a Use Permit for a lumber yard and subsequently approved 
a Use Permit for a lumber yard and planing mill on the Subject Property (Brunswick) (File Number 
U64-31).  In 1977, the Nevada County Planning Department (“Planning Department”) approved 
a Site Plan to add a sawdust drier to the operation (File Number SP77-020).  In 1986, the Planning 
Commission approved a Tentative Map, which was subsequently recorded in 1987 subdividing 
the Subject Property (Brunswick) into eight (8) parcels: five (5) for residential uses, and the other 
three (3) — which comprise the Subject Property (Brunswick) — for industrial uses (File Number 
FM 85-7).  Also in 1986, the Planning Department approved a Ministerial Site Plan to install one 
(1) lumber sorter at the mill operation (File Number MSP86-016).  In 1987, the Planning 
Department approved a Ministerial Site Plan to add 896 square feet to an existing structure 
at the mill operation (File Number MSP87-005).  In 1990, the Planning Department 
approved a Ministerial Site Plan to replace a structure at the mill operation (File Number 
MSP90-002).   
 
In 1994, Sierra Pacific Industries ceased sawmill operations.  The Board of Supervisors then 
approved a Rezone through adopted Ordinance 1853 to establish a Site Performance Combining 
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District Zoning Designation on the Subject Property (Brunswick) to define development standards 
for a future industrial park to support light industrial uses including Office and Professional uses, 
Administrative and Research uses, Employment Center Support uses, Sales Office/Showroom 
uses, Conference Facilities, and other similar type uses (File Number Z93-004).  As evidenced by 
Figure 4, below, which depicts aerial imagery of the site in 2005, all buildings related to the 
sawmill were removed prior to June 2005.  A clay-lined pond, constructed for the sawmill circa 
1988, and significant paved areas, remain from the sawmill operation. 
 

 

 
Subject Property (Centennial Industrial Site) Permit History:  
 

1956 Mining ceased, all mining and processing equipment sold.  The Subject 
Property also sold in segments for non-mining activity through 1959.  Last 
segment sold in 1963. 

 
1980 PC approved short-term Use Permit and Surface Mining Reclamation Plan 

for a four-year surface operation harvesting, crushing, screening, and sale 
of waste rock. 

 
1985  PC approved amendment to existing Use Permit to allow importation of 

materials from off-site development property for on-site rock processing. 
 
1985 PC approved amendment to existing Use Permit to expand surface 

operation to allow borrow pit and relocate processing plant.   
 

Figure 3: Brunswick Industrial Site 2005 Imagery 
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1992  PC approved Use Permit and Surface Mining Reclamation Plan to expand 
existing rock harvesting operations on Subject Property (Centennial) (File 
Number U92-037).   

 
2003 All operations concluded.  Buildings and equipment removed. 
 
2004 Site reclamation complete.  Remaining buildings removed.  
 
2006   Reclamation completed and financial assurances released.   

 
By October 1957, all mining had ceased at the Subject Property, and all mining and processing 
equipment was sold.  The Subject Property was also sold over the next few years.  All subsequent 
legal uses of the Subject Property after the abandonment were authorized with Use Permits.  In 
1980, the Planning Commission approved a short-term Use Permit and Surface Mining 
Reclamation Plan for a four-(4)-year surface operation on the Subject Property (Centennial) 
including harvesting, crushing, screening, and sale of waste rock left from the Idaho-Maryland 
Mine (File Number U79-41).  The County understands that operation concluded in one (1) year.  
In 1985, the Planning Commission approved an amendment to the existing Use Permit to allow 
importation of materials from an off-site development property for on-site rock processing (File 
Number U85-025).  In 1985, the Planning Commission approved an amendment to the approved 
Use Permit to expand the surface operation to allow for a six-(6)-acre on-site borrow pit for 
material to be processed in the rock crushing operation, to relocate the rock crushing and 
processing plant approximately three-hundred (300) feet, and to reclaim the borrow pit area with 
a six (6)-acre building pad on the Subject Property (Centennial) (File Number U86-045).  In 1992, 
the Planning Commission approved a Use Permit and Surface Mining Reclamation Plan to expand 
existing rock harvesting operations on or around the Subject Property (Centennial) (File Number 
U92-037).  In 2003, the operator concluded rock harvesting operations, removed all buildings, and 
removed all rolling equipment.  On April 4, 2004, the operator completed the site reclamation.  All 
buildings related to the rock harvesting and crushing operation were removed.  In 2005, the 
Planning Department provided notice to the Department of Conservation’s Office of Mine 
Reclamation that reclamation was completed, and in 2006 the County of Nevada and the 
Department of Conservation released their interest on financial assurance for the operation.   
 
As evidenced by Figure 4 below, which depicts aerial imagery of the Subject Property (Centennial) 
in 2006, all buildings and rolling stock related to the rock crushing operation were removed prior 
to June 2006. 
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In or around 2005, the parcel containing the majority of the rock harvesting operation permitted 
on or around the Subject Property (Centennial) (Assessor Parcel Number 009-550-042) was sold 
to the current property owner, and the parcel was annexed into the City of Grass Valley in 2006 
via City of Grass Valley Resolution 06-15 (County of Nevada LAFCo File Number 06-07).  In 
2006, the City of Grass Valley permitted the existing commercial structure (City of Grass Valley 
File Number 06BLD-0419), which received final inspections in 2008. 
 
Recent Mining Application History: 
 
(Centennial) 
 
In 1996, in an effort to reopen the abandoned Idaho-Maryland Mine, Emperor Gold “Emgold” 
Mining Corporation was granted a Use Permit by the Planning Commission to dewater specific 
underground mine tunnels at the Idaho-Maryland Mine (File Number U94-017).  Emgold allowed 
this permit to expire, and work on the dewatering project never occurred.  In 2005, Emgold 
submitted an application to the City of Grass Valley to annex the Subject Property to the City and 
for a Use Permit to dewater specific areas of the Idaho-Maryland Mine and commence mining 
operations.  Between 2005 and 2011, the City of Grass Valley initiated an environmental review 

Figure 4: Subject Property (Centennial Site) 2006 Imagery 
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of the application consistent with CEQA.  No environmental review document was certified and 
Emgold subsequently withdrew the annexation and Use Permit application.   

Subject Property (Brunswick and Centennial) 
 
Since 2018, the Petitioner has conducted exploration drilling at the Subject Property.  In November 
2019, the Petitioner submitted a Use Permit application to the Nevada County Planning 
Department to dewater specified subsurface areas and to extract and process gold from a specified 
subsurface area of the Idaho-Maryland Mine over an eighty (80)-year permit period.  The gold 
mineralization processing and underground exploration and mining proposed to operate twenty-
four (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week during full operations.  On May 11, 2023, the County 
Planning Commission recommended the County Board of Supervisors deny the project 
application.  Petitioner then filed the Petition on September 1, 2023. 
 
DISCUSSION OF SMARA, COUNTY ORDINANCES, AND ABANDONMENT 
EVIDENCE: 

A. SMARA 

The State Mining and Geology Board (“SMGB”) is the lead agency pursuant to the Surface Mining 
and Reclamation Act of 1975 (Public Resources Code § 2710 et seq. and California Code of 
Regulations § 3500 et. seq.) (“SMARA”) for the County.  SMGB’s authority includes review and 
approval of reclamation plans, and review and approval of financial assurance cost estimates and 
mechanisms.  The County, however, retains its authority to approve, amend, or deny use permits 
for surface mining operations, and also to review and determine the existence and scope of vested 
mining rights.  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 3950 [“Where the board exercises or assumes some or 
all of the lead agency’s powers pursuant to [SMARA], the board shall not conduct vested rights 
determinations”].) Accordingly, the Petitioner’s request for a vested rights determination is 
properly submitted to and heard by the County. 
 
A vesting date for a use would be the first date on which local zoning laws would otherwise require 
a Use Permit, or the backup vesting date as set forth in SMARA, whichever date occurs earlier.  
(See generally City of Los Angeles v. Gage (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 442, 453–54.) 
 
No single evidentiary test exists to determine the existence of active surface mining on a vesting 
date.  A petitioner bears the burden of establishing active mining operations on a vesting date.  
(Melton v. City of San Pablo (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 794, 804.)  There is a variety of evidence to 
consider in determining whether or not a petitioner has met its burden to demonstrate an active 
mining operation on a vesting date.  Such evidence may include, but is not limited to: 
 

• historical photographs of mining operations or of actual surface disturbances, and 
photographs of haul roads; 

• percipient witnesses, e.g., property owners, mining operators, and neighbors of the 
Subject Property; 

• business records such as production records, invoices for mining products, mineral 
leases for the property, historical mineral production records prepared by the State 
(dating back to the 1880s) to establish prior mining operations; and 



NEVADA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Board Agenda Memorandum 
Page 11 of 46 
 

• County files, e.g., environmental reports, planning records, assessor and tax 
records, old newspaper articles, and old maps. 
 

The County has considered the Petition and evidence from these categories in making its 
determination on this Petition. 
 

B. Nevada County Ordinance No. 196 (1954) 
 
In 1954, the Board of Supervisors adopted Ordinance No. 196, which set forth a comprehensive 
(for the time period) zoning plan for the unincorporated areas of the County.  Section 7 of the 
Ordinance created an A-1 District, which provided that “any use not otherwise prohibited by law 
is permitted, except that for [specific enumerated uses] a use permit” was required.  Among the 
enumerated uses requiring a use permit was “commercial excavation of natural materials within a 
distance of one thousand (1,000) feet from any public street, road, or highway.”  (Ibid.)  
Accordingly, it appears that mining was occurring on the Subject Property in 1954, following the 
passage of Ordinance No. 196.   
 

C. Evidence Establishing Abandonment  
 
The County (“County”) serves as the Lead Agency in land use jurisdiction and is responsible for 
implementing the requirements of the County Land Use and Development Code (“Development 
Code”) and SMARA. 
 
This analysis is organized as follows:  
 

I. Introduction and Overview 
II. Questions Presented 
III. Vested Mining Rights Defined 
IV. County and State Mining Regulation  
V. Abandonment of the Mining Use 
VI. The Subject Property’s History, Ownership and Use  
VII. Analysis 
VIII. Conclusion 

 
I. INTRODUCTION AND OVERVIEW 
 
The Petitioner states that it owns the Idaho-Maryland Mine allegedly consisting of 175 acres of 
surface land and a 2,560-acre mineral estate in the County which we are referring to as the Subject 
Property.  On September 1, 2023, the County received the Petition which includes the Petitioner’s 
background facts, legal arguments, requests for determinations, and four hundred twenty-nine 
(429) exhibits thereto (Attachment 2).  The Petitioner requests that the County make the following 
determinations regarding its rights to mine the Subject Property:   
  

1. That mining operations commenced at the Subject Property as early 
as 1851; 
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2. That pursuant to the Hansen Brothers decision, the range of mining 
operations included tunneling, underground mining, exploration 
core drilling, blasting, crushing, sorting, stockpiling, waste rock 
placement, screening, distribution, transportation, and sales of gold 
for commercial uses, buildings headframes, hoists, production 
plants, crushing plants, stamp mills, tailings impoundment dams, 
sawmills, silos, offices, assaying and engineering, dry storage, 
compressors, machine and engineering shops, service garages, 
parking garages, storage buildings, and power lines, along with 
equipment including conveyor belts, compressors, pumps, boilers, 
ore bins, power drills, arrastras, skips, locomotives, trams, and 
trucks and other vehicles, and uses incidental and auxiliary to 
mining operations; 

 
3. That the scope and intensity of the mining operations expanded over 

time, including a peak production rate of 410,411 tons of ore per 
year, in response to market demand. 

 
4. That the County first required a permit to conduct mining operations 

on October 10, 1954 (Ordinance No. 196) which represents the 
“vesting date;” 

5. That as of the vesting date, the Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation 
had manifested its intent to conduct underground mining throughout 
its then-existing mine holdings, including the Subject Property 
(which includes the entire 2,560-acre reserved subsurface estate), 
that surface mining operations at the Mine were occurring on at least 
175 surface acres, that all 175 acres now comprising the Subject 
Property were held under single ownership, and that owner at the 
time of vesting, a mining company, objectively intended to devote 
the entirety of the Subject Property and 2,560 acres of mineral rights 
to support subsurface mining operations; 

6. That the vested right has not been abandoned; and 

7. That the Subject Property has a vested right to produce at least 
410,411 tons of ore per year and a greater amount if justified by 
market conditions. 

The facts relating to the history and operation of the Mine are extensive.  Staff’s conclusions rely 
on: a) information set forth in the Petition; b) the County’s Responses (Attachment 3); and c) 
California law, notably Nevada County ordinances and SMARA, and legal principles expounded 
in court decisions and legal treatises as applied to the facts (collectively, the “Evidence”).   

Staff has reviewed and analyzed all pertinent Evidence and concludes that whatever right to mine 
existed as of 1954, if any, has been abandoned commencing in 1956.  
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II. QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

A. Did Rise’s Predecessor Acquire a Vested Right to Mine? 
 
In 1954, Nevada County adopted Ordinance No. 196, which required a use permit for excavation 
or smelting within one thousand (1000) feet of a public road.  The evidence demonstrates that 
mining activity occurred at the Idaho Maryland Mine beginning in the 1800’s.  However, the 
specifics of what activity was occurring in 1954 are unknown.  The evidence provided by the 
Petitioner does not confirm that the activities regulated by Ordinance No. 196 actually occurring 
at the time the ordinance was passed, or if they occurred within one thousand (1000) feet of a 
public road.  
 
Accordingly, the Petition lacks sufficient evidence to support an affirmative conclusion regarding 
the existence or scope of Petitioner’s alleged vested right which the Petition claims may have 
accrued upon the adoption of Ordinance No. 196.  An affirmative conclusion regarding the 
existence or scope of a vested right is unnecessary, however, because the evidence and applicable 
legal standards demonstrate that any right to mine the Subject Property was abandoned. 
 

B. If There Was a Vested Right, Has it Been Abandoned? 
 
The purpose of vested rights is to protect economic investment by ensuring that the government 
does not demand an immediate cessation of existing uses of property. However, the factual history 
confirms that the owners of the Subject Property terminated their mining investment by ceasing 
operations and liquidating all assets.  Over the years of approximately 1956-1959, the Idaho 
Maryland Mining Company completely divested itself of the gold mining business by liquidating 
all of its mining equipment through sales and auctions, dividing the formerly mined lands into 
separate parcels and selling them to various entities for non-mining uses, changing their name to 
remove “mining,” and reinvesting their assets into non-mining business ventures.  

Accordingly, Staff has concluded that any right to mine which may have been vested upon adoption 
of the 1954 zoning ordinance has since been abandoned.  Further, each use of the Subject Property 
since that period of abandonment was either non-mining related or conducted under the various 
permits required of non-vested rights holders. 

III. VESTED MINING RIGHTS DEFINED 
 
In Hansen Brothers Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors of Nevada County (1996) 12 Cal.4th 
533 (Hansen Brothers), the Supreme Court explained the rationale and legal standard for vested 
rights as follows: 
 

A zoning ordinance or land-use regulation which operates prospectively and 
denies the owner the opportunity to exploit an interest in the property that 
the owner believed would be available for future development, or 
diminishes the value of the property, is not invalid and does not bring about 
a compensable taking unless all beneficial use of the property is denied.  
However, if the law effects an unreasonable, oppressive, or unwarranted 
interference with an existing use, or a planned use for which a substantial 
investment in development costs has been made, the ordinance may be 
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invalid as applied to that property unless compensation is paid.  Zoning 
ordinances and other land-use regulations customarily exempt existing uses 
to avoid questions as to the constitutionality of their application to those 
uses.  “The rights of users of property as those rights existed at the time of 
the adoption of a zoning ordinance are well recognized and have always 
been protected.”   
 
Accordingly, a provision which exempts existing nonconforming uses “is 
ordinarily included in zoning ordinances because of the hardship and 
doubtful constitutionality of compelling the immediate discontinuance of 
nonconforming uses.”  The exemption may either exempt an existing use 
altogether or allow a limited period of continued operation adequate for 
amortization of the owners’ investment in the particular use.  
 
When continuance of an existing use is permitted by a zoning ordinance, 
the continued nonconforming use must be similar to the use existing at the 
time the zoning ordinance became effective.  [Citation.]  Intensification or 
expansion of the existing nonconforming use or moving the operation to 
another location on the property is not permitted.  [Citation.]  “[I]n 
determining whether the nonconforming use was the same before and after 
the passage of a zoning ordinance, each case must stand on its own facts.” 
[Citations.]  [Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at pp. 551-552.] 

 
The Hansen Brothers court further instructed that, “the burden of proof is on the party asserting a 
right to a nonconforming use to establish the lawful and continuing existence of the use at the time 
of the enactment of the ordinance.”  (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 564 (quoting Melton 
v. City of San Pablo (1967) 252 Cal.App.2d 794, 804).) 
 
IV. COUNTY AND STATE MINING REGULATION  

A. Nevada County Ordinance No. 196 (1954) 
 
In 1954, the County Board adopted Ordinance No. 196, which Ordinance set forth a 
comprehensive zoning plan for the unincorporated areas of the County.  Section 7 of the Ordinance 
created an A-1 District, which provided that “any use not otherwise prohibited by law is permitted, 
except that for [specific enumerated uses] a use permit” was required.  Among the enumerated 
uses requiring a use permit was “commercial excavation of natural materials within a distance of 
one thousand (1,000) feet from any public street, road, or highway.”  (Ibid.)   
 
Consequently, the County first required a permit to mine in 1954; therefore, any person who seeks 
a vested right to mine without a permit must show that their operation was a legal nonconforming 
use since 1954.  
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B. California Surface Mining and Reclamation Act of 1975 (“SMARA”), Public 
Resources Code §§ 2710, et seq.   

 
In 1975, California enacted SMARA whose purpose is to encourage “[t]he production and 
conservation of minerals” while ensuring that “[a]dverse environmental effects are prevented or 
minimized and that mined lands are reclaimed to a usable condition which is readily adaptable for 
alternative land uses.”  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2712.)  “At the heart of SMARA is the general 
requirement that every surface mining operation have a permit, a reclamation plan, and financial 
assurances to implement the planned reclamation.”  (Calvert v. County of Yuba (2006) 145 
Cal.App.4th 617; citing Pub. Resources Code, § 2770, subd. (a).)  Pursuant to section 2770 of 
SMARA, “a person shall not conduct surface mining operations unless a permit is obtained from, 
a reclamation plan has been submitted to and approved by, and financial assurances for reclamation 
have been approved by the lead agency.” 
 
Mine owners or operators are also required to submit annual reports to the Supervisor of 
Reclamation.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2207, subd. (a).)  For mines operated under a reclamation 
plan, the lead agency must inspect the mine at least once per year.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2774, 
subd. (b)).  If the lead agency’s inspection reveals that the mine is not in compliance with SMARA, 
the agency may issue an order requiring the operator to comply with SMARA, or “if the operator 
does not have an approved reclamation plan or financial assurances, cease all further activities.”  
(Id. § 2774.1, subd. (a).) 
 
Each mine operating under a SMARA permit must have only one approved reclamation plan which 
the operator must update and have approved before implementing any “change or expansion . . . 
that substantially affects the completion of the previously approved reclamation plan,” i.e., a 
“substantial deviation.”  (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 3502, subd. (d).)  Where the operator expands 
into an area not covered by the approved reclamation plan, the operator must submit an amended 
plan that “ensures adequate reclamation for the [expanded] . . . operation.”  (Id. § 3502, subd. (g).)  
In addition, the lead agency must require financial assurances from the operator to ensure that 
reclamation is performed as required by SMARA and must adjust the amount of financial 
assurances annually to account for any additional land disturbances.  [Pub. Resources Code, § 
2773.1, subd. (a).] 

However, those operating under vested rights are exempt from the permit requirement. 
Specifically: 
 

No person who has obtained a vested right to conduct surface mining 
operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall be required to secure a permit 
pursuant to this chapter as long as the vested right continues and as long as 
no substantial changes are made in the operation except in accordance with 
this chapter. A person shall be deemed to have vested rights if, prior to 
January 1, 1976, the person has, in good faith and in reliance upon a permit 
or other authorization, if the permit or other authorization was required, 
diligently commenced surface mining operations and incurred substantial 
liabilities for work and materials necessary for the surface mining 
operations. Expenses incurred in obtaining the enactment of an ordinance 
in relation to a particular operation or the issuance of a permit shall not be 
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deemed liabilities for work or materials.  [Pub. Resources Code, § 2776, 
subd. (a).] 

 
Stated succinctly, if a person has, in good faith and with the requisite authorizations (that is, 
legally), diligently commenced surface mining operations and incurred substantial liabilities for 
surface mining work and materials before 1976, that person has a vested right to conduct surface 
mining operations and need not secure the permit otherwise required by SMARA, provided those 
vested rights have continued and no substantial changes to the operation have occurred.  However, 
although vested rights holders are not required to obtain a use permit for their mining activities, 
SMARA still requires a reclamation plan be approved for surface mining “operations conducted 
after January 1, 1976” and surface mining operations which are, “to be conducted.”  (Pub. 
Resources Code, § 2776, subd. (b).) Section 2770 of SMARA required that vested rights holders 
submit a reclamation plan for their mining operation by March 31, 1988, or such operation would 
be prohibited.  (Id. at § 2770.) 
 
SMARA’s reclamation plan requirements further extend to idle mines.  The legislature determined 
that mines are considered “idle” when they meet the following criteria: 
 

“Idle” means that an operator of a surface mining operation has curtailed 
production at the surface mining operation, with the intent to resume the 
surface mining operation at a future date, for a period of one year or more 
by more than 90 percent of its maximum annual mineral production within 
any of the last five years during which an interim management plan has not 
been approved.  [Pub. Resources Code, § 2727.1.] 

 
Within ninety (90) days of a mining operation becoming idle, mine operators are required to submit 
an interim management plan to the lead agency. (Pub. Resources Code, § 2770.)  “The approved 
interim management plan shall be considered an amendment to the surface mining operation’s 
approved reclamation plan for purposes of this chapter.  The interim management plan shall only 
provide for necessary measures the operator will implement during its idle status, to maintain the 
site in compliance with this chapter, including, but not limited to, all permit conditions.”  (Ibid.)  
The legislature further determined that the consequence of a mine operator failing to comply with 
this requirement is that the mine must be considered “abandoned:” 
 
Unless review of an interim management plan is pending before the lead agency or an appeal is 
pending before the lead agency’s governing body, a surface mining operation that remains idle for 
over one (1) year after becoming idle, as defined in Section 2727.1, without obtaining approval of 
an interim management plan shall be considered abandoned and the operator shall commence and 
complete reclamation in accordance with the approved reclamation plan. (Pub. Resources Code, § 
2770, subd. (h)(6), emphasis added.) 
 

C. County’s Post-SMARA Mining Requirements  
 
In 1978, after the adoption of SMARA, the County adopted Ordinance No. 835, enacted in April 
1978.  This Ordinance amended the County’s Development Code by adding a section entitled 
“Surface Mining Permit and Reclamation Plan.”  Most relevant here is Subsection L-II 31B.4.D.E, 
which provides: 
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A person who has obtained a vested right to conduct surface mining 
operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall submit to the Planning Department 
and receive, within a period of 12 months, approval of a reclamation plan 
for operations to be conducted after January 1, 1976, unless a reclamation 
plan was approved by the County of Nevada prior to January 1, 1976, and 
the person submitting that plan has accepted responsibility for reclaiming 
the mined lands in accordance with that plan.  Nothing in this ordinance 
shall be construed as requiring the filing of a reclamation plan for, or the 
reclamation of, mined land on which surface mining operations were 
conducted to, but not after, January 1, 1976. 

The current version of that Development Code provides, in part, as follows: 
 

Sec. L-II 3.22 Surface Mining Permits and Reclamation Plans 
 

E. Vested Rights.  No person who obtained a vested right to conduct 
surface mining operations prior to January 1, 1976, shall be required to 
secure a permit to mine, so long as the vested right continues and as long as 
no substantial changes have been made in the operation except in 
accordance with SMARA, State regulations, and this Section. Where a 
person with vested rights has continued surface mining in the same area 
subsequent to January 1, 1976, he/she shall obtain County approval of a 
Reclamation Plan covering the mined lands disturbed by such subsequent 
surface mining. In those cases where an overlap exists (in the horizontal 
and/or vertical sense) between pre- and post-Act mining, the Reclamation 
Plan shall call for reclamation proportional to that disturbance caused by the 
mining after the effective date of the Act (January 1, 1976). 
 
All other requirements of State law and this Section shall apply to vested 
mining operations. 
 
K. Financial Assurances. 

 
1. To ensure that reclamation will proceed in accordance with the 
approved Reclamation Plan, the County shall require as a condition of 
approval Security that will be released upon satisfactory performance. The 
applicant may pose Security in the form of a surety bond, trust fund, 
irrevocable letter of credit from an accredited financial institution, or other 
method acceptable to the County and the State Mining and Geology Board 
as specified in State regulations, and which the County reasonably 
determines are adequate to perform reclamation in accordance with the 
surface mining operation’s approved Plan.  
 
2. Financial assurances will be required to ensure compliance with 
elements of the Reclamation Plan…. [¶] 
 
3. Cost estimates for the financial assurance shall be submitted to the 
Planning Department with the Use Permit and/or Reclamation Plan 
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application.  The Planning Director shall forward a copy of the cost 
estimates, together with any documentation received supporting the amount 
of the cost estimates, to the State Department of Conservation for review. 
[¶]….[¶] 

 
L. Interim Management Plans. 

 
1. Within ninety (90) days of a surface mining operation becoming 
idle, the operator shall submit to the Planning Department a proposed 
Interim Management Plan (IMP). The proposed IMP shall fully comply 
with the requirements of SMARA, including but not limited to all Use 
Permit conditions, and shall provide measures the operator will implement 
to maintain the site in a stable condition, taking into consideration public 
health and safety.  The proposed IMP shall be submitted on forms provided 
by the Planning Department and shall be processed as an amendment to the 
Reclamation Plan.  IMPs shall not be considered a project for the purposes 
of environmental review. 
 
2. Financial assurances for idle operations shall be maintained as 
though the operation were active, or as otherwise approved through the idle 
mine’s IMP [¶]….[¶] 
 
5. The IMP may remain in effect for a period not to exceed 5 years, at which 
time the Planning Commission may renew the IMP for another period not to exceed 
5 years or require the surface mining operator to commence reclamation in 
accordance with its approved Reclamation Plan. 
 
M. Annual Report Requirements. Surface mining operators shall forward an 
annual surface mining report to the State Department of Conservation and to the 
County Planning Department on a date established by the State Department of 
Conservation, upon forms furnished by the State Mining and Geology Board.  

 
N. Inspections.  The Planning Department shall arrange for inspection of a 
surface mining operation within 6 months of receipt of the Annual Report required 
in subsection M, to determine whether the surface mining operation is in 
compliance with the approved Use Permit and/or Reclamation Plan, approved 
financial assurances, and State regulations. In no event shall less than one 
inspection be conducted in any calendar year. …All inspections shall be conducted 
using a form approved and provided by the State Mining and Geology Board. 

 
D. County’s Regulation of Nonconforming Uses 

 
Generally, a nonconforming use is one which was valid when brought into existence, and due to a 
subsequent regulation, it is no longer conforming. (City of Los Angeles v. Gage (1954) 127 
Cal.App.2d 442, 453; 43 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 144, 147 (1964); and Hill v. City of Manhattan Beach 
(1971) 6 Cal.3d 279, 285.)  The underpinnings of the nonconforming use concept were to develop 
a strategy for addressing pre-existing uses of land when a new zoning ordinance was introduced 
or modified.   
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Since the introduction of the nonconforming use concept in the 1950’s, the trend has been 
unmistakably to impose increasing restrictions on such uses in order to prevent their becoming 
further entrenched and to encourage their conversion to conforming uses.  (1 Longtin, Cal. Land 
Use (2nd ed. 1987) Nonconforming Uses and Structures, § 3.82[1], p. 377-378.) 

The Development Code provides in part:   
 

Sec. L-II 5.19 Legal Nonconforming Uses and Structures 
 

A. Purpose.  Within the zoning districts established by this Chapter, 
there may be uses and structures which were lawful before the effective date 
of the applicable terms of the regulations, but which are prohibited, 
regulated or restricted under the terms of the regulations currently in effect 
or by future amendments. Relative to such uses and structures, it is the 
purpose of this Section to: 

 
1. Reduce them to conformity or to eliminate them through 
abandonment, obsolescence, or destruction due to strict provisions against 
changes that could perpetuate them. 
 
2. Provide for their regulation and to specify the circumstances and 
conditions under which they may continue to exist until brought into 
conformity, removed, or terminated. 

 
B. Legal Nonconforming Uses.  A legal nonconforming use is any use 
lawfully in existence at the time this Chapter or amendments thereto takes 
effect, although such use does not conform to the provisions of this Chapter. 
Such use may continue subject to the following: 

 
1. No use shall be: 

a. Enlarged or intensified, 
 
b. Extended to occupy a greater area of land or a portion 

of a structure than that occupied at the time this 
Chapter, or any amendment thereto takes effect, or 

 
c. Moved in whole or in part to any other portion of the 

parcel of land occupied at the time this Chapter or 
any amendment thereto takes effect. 
[¶]….[¶] 

 
4. If the use is discontinued for a period of one year or more, any 
subsequent use shall be in conformity with all applicable requirements of 
this Chapter, except as follows: a) uses clearly seasonal in nature (i.e., ski 
facilities) shall have a time period of 365 days or more, b) surface mining 
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operations shall comply with the provisions of Section 3.22.L providing for 
interim management plans. 
 

SMARA does not preempt or usurp traditional city and county regulatory powers.  SMARA’s 
author added language to make clear that it did not restrict: 

 
The power of any city or county to regulate the use of buildings, structures 
and land as between industry, business, residences open space (including 
agriculture, recreation, the enjoyment of scenic beauty, and the use of 
natural resources), and other purposes.  [Id. Section 2715(f).] 
 

The Development Code and SMARA require that all individuals and operators contemplating 
surface mining acquire (1) a permit from the County and obtain (2) an approved plan and (3) 
financial assurances for reclamation prior to commencement.  SMARA further requires that all 
existing or “vested” surface mining operations have an approved reclamation plan and financial 
assurances to insure implementation of the plan. Otherwise, after April 1979, twelve (12) months 
after adoption of Ordinance 835, continuance of mining without an approved reclamation plan and 
financial assurances was impermissible, even if there were mining operations. 
 
V. ABANDONMENT OF THE MINING USE 
 

A. Establishing the Abandonment of The Mining Use 
 
Courts have routinely acknowledged and found that nonconforming uses are not intended to be 
perpetual.  “It was not and is not contemplated that pre-existing nonconforming uses are to be 
perpetual.  The presence of any nonconforming use endangers the benefits to be derived from a 
comprehensive zoning plan.”  (Los Angeles v. Gage (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 442, 459.)  “The 
ultimate purpose of zoning is . . . to reduce all nonconforming uses within the zone to conformity 
as speedily as is consistent with proper safeguards for the interests of those affected. [citation] We 
have recognized that, given this purpose, courts should follow a strict policy against extension or 
expansion of those uses. [Citation] That policy necessarily applies to attempts to continue 
nonconforming uses which have ceased operation.”  (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 
568.) Similarly, to determining the scope a vested right, in analyzing whether a vested right has 
been maintained, or was abandoned, courts look to the objective manifestations of intent by the 
owner or owners of the property.  (Ibid .) 
 
Specifically, in Hansen Brothers, the Supreme Court described the legal requirements for 
abandonment of a vested right as follows:"[A]bandonment of a nonconforming use ordinarily 
depends upon a concurrence of two factors: (1) An intention to abandon; and (2) an overt act, or 
failure to act, which carries the implication the owner does not claim or retain any interest in the 
right to the nonconforming use (8A McQuillin, [Municipal Corporations (3d ed. 1994)], § 25.192; 
1 Anderson, American Law of Zoning, § 6.58).  The Supreme Court’s discussion in Hansen 
Brothers regarding the factual elements which are demonstrative of the factors of abandonment 
was not exhaustive and, instead, offered minimal legal standards for abandonment beyond the two-
factor test of (1) intent to abandon and, (2) an overt act or failure to act.  However, the analysis by 
the court in Hansen Brothers, Hansen Brothers’s progeny, and other relevant sources have further 
developed the factual elements that give rise to abandonment. 
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1. Length of Time the Nonconforming Use Has Been Suspended 
 
Hansen Brothers made clear that cessation of the nonconforming use, alone, would be insufficient 
to constitute abandonment. (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 569.) However, the court 
went on to confirm that the duration for which the nonconforming use has been discontinued is a 
relevant factual consideration "in determining whether the nonconforming use has been abandoned 
[citation].”  (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 569 [quoting Union Quarries, Inc. v. Board 
of County Com'rs (1970) 206 Kan. 268 [478 P.2d 181, 186-187]; see also Dusdal v. Warren 
(Mich.1971) 196 N.W.2d 778, 781 [“Abandonment in the contemplation of the law is something 
more than mere nonuser. It is rather a nonuser combined with an intention to abandon the right to 
the nonconforming use.”].)  In discussing the Hansen Brothers test for abandonment, Derek P. 
Cole, in his legal treatise California Surface Mining Law, states: 
 

“The critical prong of this test is the first, dealing with intention. While 
closing a mine for a prolonged period might constitute an overt act of 
cessation, the closure itself does not necessarily indicate that an owner 
intended abandonment of rights. 
 
… 
 
The longer the cessation of activities, however, the more likely an owner 
will be found to have abandoned the nonconforming use. As the California 
Supreme Court noted in Hansen Bros., “the duration of nonuse may be a 
factor in determining whether the nonconforming use has been abandoned.”  
12 Cal.4th 569.  In two cases, nonuse for periods of seven and ten years, 
coupled with the absence of other preservative activity, reflected an intent 
to abandon nonconforming mining operations. See, Lane County v. Bessett 
(Or. Ct. App. 1980) 612 P. 2d 297, 301; Holloway Ready Mix Co. v. Monfort 
(Ky. Ct. App. 1971) 474 S.W. 2d 80, 83.” (Derek P. Cole, California Surface 
Mining Law (2007) (“Cole”), p. 151-152.) 

 
Similar to the Lane County and Holloway Ready Mix Co. cases cited by Cole, the court in Stokes 
v. Board of Permit Appeals held that a seven (7)-year period of cessation of a property’s 
nonconforming use as a bathhouse was sufficient to constitute abandonment of the vested right to 
operate the building as a bathhouse despite zoning changes effecting that use.  (Stokes v. Bd. of 
Permit Appeals (1997) 52 Cal.App.4th 1348, 1354.)  
 
The plaintiff in Stokes argued that, under Hansen Brothers, cessation of the property’s 
nonconforming use was insufficient to show the property had been abandoned because the 
“discontinuance of use is not synonymous with abandonment.”  (Id. at 1354-1355.) However, the 
Stokes court focused on the facts that the nonconforming use had been discontinued for seven (7) 
years and, during that time, the property was not put to any lawful use, concluding, “[t]hese facts 
establish more than a temporary vacancy, but rather an intentional decision to abandon the 
premises.”  (Id. at 1354.)  The Stokes court compared these facts to Hansen Brothers, where the 
Hansens had only discontinued their nonconforming mining, “for periods of 180 days and up to 3 
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years, because stockpiles were sufficient to meet demand.” (Id. at 1355.) Based on these 
differences between the periods of cessation, the Stokes court concluded: 
 

“In Hansen, plaintiffs were continuously operating some portion of their 
aggregate production business on the property. Here, by contrast, 
Stokes's predecessors had completely vacated the building for seven years 
and the building had not been used for any purpose at the time plaintiff took 
possession. There are no facts to which Stokes can point as evidence the 
prior owners intended to and in fact did continue to operate the property as 
a bathhouse or for a related use.” (Id. at 1355-1356.) 

 
Read together, Hansen Brothers and Stokes establish that, while cessation of a nonconforming use 
alone is not determinative of abandonment, the period of time the nonconforming use was 
discontinued is relevant to abandonment and the likelihood of abandonment increases the longer 
the nonconforming use was ceased.  Hansen Brothers and Stokes further confirm that, in order to 
avoid a finding of abandonment, the property owner must be able to identify evidence of their 
objective manifestations of intent to resume the nonconforming use throughout the period the 
nonconforming use was discontinued. 
 

2. Preparation for Resumption of Nonconforming Property Use 
 
In addition to the length of time a nonconforming use was discontinued, courts place significant 
emphasis on the objective manifestations of the owner’s intention to resume the nonconforming 
use in determining whether or not the use has been abandoned.  (Cole, supra, at pp. 151, 152.)  
Cole’s treatise on California mining law again provides relevant guidance on this element of 
abandonment: 
 

“Yet, even in an economic downturn, an owner cannot maintain the right to 
continue a nonconforming use simply by shutting the gates and doing 
nothing during closure.  To reflect an intent to continue, the owner must 
instead sell, or attempt to sell, stored and stockpiled material. See, Union 
Quarries, Inc. v. Bd. Of County Commr’s (Kan. 1970) 478 P. 2d 181, 187 
(although mine had ceased extraction, owner indicated intent to continue 
operations by selling from stockpiles); Bither v. Baker Rock Crushing Co. 
(Or. 1968) 438 P2d 988, 993 (despite cessation of mining, mine preserved 
right to continue by selling materials from stockpiles). The operator must 
also keep the plants and equipment in good order for prompt resumption of 
activity.  See S. Equip. Co., Inc. v. Winstead (N.C. Ct. App. 1986) 342 S.E. 
2d 524, 527.  But see County of DuPage v. K-Five Constr. Corp.  (Ill. App. 
Ct. 1994) 642 N.E. 2d 164, 165, 168 (dismantling plant in absence of asphalt 
production for ten years reflected intent to abandon such production).  The 
operator must also continue making royalty or lease payments as it may be 
required to pay others See Union Quarries, 478 P. 2d 187.” (Cole, supra, at 
151.) 

 
Cole highlights that an operator must demonstrate their intention to continue a nonconforming use 
by maintaining the operation in such a way that they are prepared to resume the nonconforming 
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activities.  The Southern Equipment Co. case cited by Cole was also relied upon by the Hansen 
Brothers court who, in finding that the vested right had not been abandoned, noted: 
 

In Southern Equipment Co. v. Winstead (1986) 80 N.C.App. 526 [342 
S.E.2d 524], the court held that under the applicable ordinance the failure 
to operate a concrete mixing facility for six months during a business 
slowdown, while the operator filled orders from another plant, was not a 
cessation of operation. There, as in this case, the plant, equipment, 
inventory, and utilities were maintained throughout the period and the plant 
could be made operational within two hours. (Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 
Cal.4th at p. 569.) 

 
The court in Hansen Brothers further explained that, despite episodic cessations of the 
nonconforming mining activities during economic downturns, the Hansen Brothers continued to 
operate their business by selling from stockpiles and maintaining their operations in working order 
to resume mining activities when the market became economically viable again. (Id. at 570-571.)  
So, while Hansen Brothers does not require that nonconforming mining activities have been 
continuously performed in order to avoid abandonment of the vested right, it does require that the 
intent to resume said activities be demonstrated throughout the period of cessation. 
 

3. Intent to Resume Nonconforming Use Must Have Been Maintained by 
Previous Owners of the Property 

 
Pertinent to Rise’s instant petition is the effect of parcels changing hands after the initial zoning 
changes which made the then-existing uses nonconforming.  As explained in more detail below, it 
has been nearly seventy (70) years since the County’s 1954 zoning ordinance and, in that time, the 
historic Subject Property has been separated into various parcels and sold to multiple separate 
owners.  California law establishes that, in order for the vested right to have survived to the present, 
the vested right must have persisted through each of the interim owners from the time the initial 
use became nonconforming. 
 
The court in Hansen Brothers states that, where an owner is seeking to assert a vested right to a 
nonconforming use over multiple parcels that were acquired after the zoning change, the previous 
owners must have themselves maintained a vested right to that nonconforming use.  (Id. at 557-
558.)  The abandonment of a vested right by a previous owner was demonstrated in the Stokes 
case.  In Stokes, after ceasing the nonconforming use, as a bathhouse, the previous owner filed an 
application to permit converting their property into a senior center, which was a permitted use.  
(Stokes, supra, 52 Cal.App.4th at p. 1356.) The Board of Permit Appeals found that the application 
demonstrated an intent to abandon the nonconforming use, which had been ceased, and the Court 
of Appeal states that this intent to abandon, “is a separate ground for defeating a nonconforming 
use.” 
 
Accordingly, for a nonconforming use to persist through changes in ownership across the various 
parcels, the vested right must have been maintained by each of the interim owners.  This means 
that, to the extent these interim owners did not put the properties to the nonconforming use, they 
must have performed objective acts evidencing their intent to do so in the future. Otherwise, any 
vested right to that nonconforming use would be abandoned.  
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B. The Burden of Proof for Abandonment  
 
In Hansen Brothers, the Supreme Court does not explicitly state which party has the burden of 
proving abandonment of a vested right.  In Palico Enterprises, Inc. v. Beam (2005) 132 
Cal.App.4th 1482, 1497-1498, the Court of Appeal also does not state which party has the burden 
of proving abandonment of a nonconforming use.  Nevertheless, the court’s explanation as to why 
the party that advocated for abandonment failed to persuade the court appears to be an implicit 
recognition that such party had the burden of proof on that issue. 
 
Courts in other states, however, that rely on the same secondary authority cited in Hansen Brothers 
have held that the burden of proving abandonment of a vested right is on the party asserting 
abandonment, which normally is the local governmental agency.  For example, the Washington 
Court of Appeal held: 
 

However, once the landowner establishes that a legal nonconforming use 
existed, the burden shifts to the municipality asserting that the 
nonconforming use was abandoned to show that the landowner abandoned 
or discontinued the use after the enactment of the relevant zoning 
ordinance.  [McMilian v. King County (Wash.Ct.App. 2011) 255 P.3d 739, 
745 (citing Van Sant v. City of Everett, 69 Wn. App. 641, 648, 849 P.2d 
1276 (1993), which quotes 8A Eugene McQuillin, The Law of Municipal 
Corporations § 25.191 (3d ed. 1986 rev.)).] 

 
The Washington court went on to explain: 
 

King County attempts to misplace the burden on the landowner, McMilian, 
to establish that the alleged legal nonconforming use was not abandoned 
after 1958. However, once a landowner has proved that a valid 
nonconforming use was lawfully established at the time the relevant zoning 
code was enacted, the burden of proving that a nonconforming use was 
subsequently abandoned, such that it should no longer be recognized, is 
properly placed on the party asserting abandonment, here King County.  [Id. 
at p. 745, fn. 4.] 

 
(See Dusdal v. Warren, supra, 196 N.W.2d at p. 781 [“The burden of proving abandonment was on 
the city.”]) 
 
Additionally, California courts have held in other circumstances that the party asserting 
abandonment has the burden of proving abandonment.  (See, e.g., Group Property, Inc. v. Bruce 
(1952) 113 Cal.App.2d 549, 559 [where defendant argued the plaintiff abandoned an option to 
purchase leased property, “[a]bandonment is never presumed, but must be made to appear 
affirmatively by the party relying thereon”]; Weideman v. Staheli (1948) 88 Cal.App.2d 613, 616 
[where plaintiffs contended that an easement had been abandoned, “the burden rests upon the party 
alleging abandonment to prove the same by satisfactory and competent evidence”].) 
 
Furthermore, the general rule is that a party making a claim must provide the evidence to support 
that claim.  (See Washington v. Washington (1949) 91 Cal.App.2d 811, 813 [“Each party must 
prove his own affirmative allegations.  Evidence need not be given in support of a negative 
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allegation (Code Civ. Proc., § 1869), but the party holding the affirmative of the issue must produce 
evidence to support it, and if such evidence is not produced the finding must be against such party. 
(Code Civ. Proc., § 1981).  See, e.g., La Prade v. Dept. of Water & Power (1945) 27 Cal.2d 47, 
51.) 
Regardless, as explained in full, below, Staff believes that, under any standard of review, the 
evidence supports a finding that if a vested right to mine ever existed it has since been abandoned. 
 
VI. THE SUBJECT PROPERTY’S HISTORY, OWNERSHIP AND USE  
 
This Staff Report provides a thorough discussion of the history, ownership and use of the Subject 
Property in the Site Description and Background, the Analysis section entitled “Evidence 
Establishing Abandonment,” and in the County’s Responses in Attachment 3. 
 
VII. ANALYSIS 
 

A. Whatever Mining Activities Were Occurring At The Subject Property When 
The County Ordinance Was Adopted In 1954 Were Abandoned by 1956 

In 1956, the owners of the Subject Property ceased operations, sold all mining equipment by 1957, 
and then sold all of the Subject Property over the next couple of years.  The owners of the Subject 
Property purposefully eliminated the mining uses to which the Subject Property had previously 
been put.  The record before the County demonstrates that there has been no continuity of mining 
on the Subject Property for over sixty-five (65) years.  The area of mining operations contracted 
in the early 1950s, ceased in 1956, and then the Subject Property was sold off for non-mining 
purposes.  Contrary to what the Petitioner states, there has been no continuity of intent to mine, 
nor have there been continuous overt acts demonstrating that intent to mine for over sixty-five (65) 
years.  Therefore, the mining use was abandoned.  
  

B. Mining Activities at the Subject Property Were Abandoned as of 1956 

1. Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation began selling off portions of the Subject 
Properties in 1954 

Beginning in 1954, the owner of the Subject Property began to sell off portions of the Subject 
Property.  Even as to those portions of the Subject Property that were sold off by Idaho Maryland 
Mines Corporation in 1954 with a reservation of the subsurface mineral rights (Response to Facts, 
No. 5), that reservation did not indicate an intent to resume mining in the future.  “The history of 
mineral development in the United States is marked by speculative practices to reserve ‘rights’ that 
may in the future be sold, and which may or may not be bona fide.  Not all historical actors who 
have reserved such ‘‘rights, moreover, have possessed a viable future plan for exploitation of those 
‘rights’.” (S. Miltenberger, Ph.D., Principal & H. Norby, M.A., Senior Historian, Peer Review 
Comments, Idaho-Maryland Mine Vested Right Petition (“Historian”), Comment No. 75.)  Thus, 
Petitioner’s statement that “[t]he only plausible reason for requiring these exclusions in the deeds 
is that the company intended to resume underground mining operations at these properties in the 
future” is incorrect and is sheer speculation. 
 
Also, contrary to the assertions in the Petition, half of the properties sold off in 1954 that are 
discussed by Petitioner did not include a reservation of the mineral rights.  (Response To Facts, 
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No. 5; Pet. Exhibits 181, 183.)  Such sales of the Subject Property without any reservation of 
mineral rights certainly demonstrated an intent to abandon mining operations. 
 

2. Mining Activities Stopped in 1956, and Additional Properties are Sold Off, 
Which Evidence an Intent to Abandon the Mining 

In February 1955, dozens of employees are terminated, and development is limited solely to 
tungsten exploration.  (Jack Clark, Gold In Quartz (“Clark”) pp. 242-243.)  In July 1955, a local 
newspaper reported that the President of Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation stated that the firm 
was “in ‘critical’ condition” and may have to “discontinue operations.”  (County’s Response, No. 
7, Attachment 3.)   
 
During 1955, additional portions of the Subject Property are sold off for non-mining uses.  
Contrary to Petitioner’s assertions, the deeds to nearly all of the properties sold in 1955 did not 
include any reservation of mineral rights (Response to Facts, No. 8; Pet. Exhibits 189, 190, 191, 
192.)  Again, that demonstrated an intent to abandon mining operations.  As to the single deed that 
did include such a reservation of mineral rights, that is not an indication of an intent to resume 
underground mining in the future.  (Historian, Comment No. 75.) 
 
Then on December 27, 1955, all gold mining activities ceased at the Idaho Maryland Mine.  (Clark, 
p. 252; Pet. Exhibit 216; Response to Facts, No. 9.)  Even Petitioner concedes that there was a 
“Cessation of Gold Mining Activities.”  (Petition, p. 4.) “A small crew of men began removing all 
trolley motors, ore cars, mucking machines, drills, hoses, slushers, etc., from all levels below the 
2000-foot level, including the 3280-foot level.”  “Now that gold mining had ceased, the future of 
the mine focused entirely on the production of tungsten.”  (Ibid. (emphasis and underline added).)  
But then, as Petitioner explains, “the Board of Directors of the Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation 
orders on September 25th [1956] the cessation of nearly all tungsten production, the unoccupancy 
of the Idaho shaft, and that the mines be allowed to flood to the 1,450-foot level of the Mine.”  
(Petition, p. 37.) 
 
In 1956, Idaho Maryland Mine Corporation sells off even more properties.  Contrary to Petitioner’s 
assertions, the fee title to all of the properties cited by Petitioner, are sold off in their entirety, with 
no reservation of mineral rights.  (Response to Facts, No. 11; Pet. Exhibits 200, 201, 202, 203, 
206, 208.)  That even includes the Brunswick sawmill site.  (Response to Facts, No. 11; Pet. Exhibit 
205.)  
 
Thus, all mining activities at the Idaho Maryland Mine ceased in 1956.  This case is completely 
different from Hansen Bros. Enterprises v. Board of Supervisors, supra, 12 Cal.4th 533, where 
there was an “aggregate production business, of which mining for the component is an aspect” and 
“mining uses of the Hansen Brothers’ property are incidental aspects of the aggregate production 
business,” where the quarry was inactive but there was a “continuing aggregate business,” and 
where “the aggregate business has not been discontinued” and “the aggregate business itself has 
not been discontinued.”  (Id. at pp. 565, 566, 569-570).  (Emphasis added.)  Petitioner’s 
representations to the Board that the “operations had been ceased for years” in the Hansen Brothers 
case.  (Chadwick letters to Board, November 14, 2023, p. 12), is patently false.  Here, by contrast, 
all mining completely stopped in 1956, and all “‘uses normally incidental and auxiliary to the 
nonconforming uses’” (id. at p. 565) had ceased.  Thus, unlike the aggregate business in Hansen 
Brothers, the mining operations at the Idaho-Maryland Mine were abandoned. 
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3. All Of The Mining Equipment Was Sold Off In 1957, and the Mine 
Buildings Were Eventually Removed, Which Evidence an Intent and Overt 
Actions to Abandon the Mine 

Page 252 of the Clark book describes the complete liquidation of mining equipment at the Idaho 
Maryland Mine in 1957.  Petitioner omits any reference to that page, and intentionally omits that 
page in its Appendix.  The relevant portion of page 252 states the following: 
 

A Successful Auction-1957 
 
After the mine closed, the salvage crew continued removing equipment 
from underground.  On March 15, 1957, the last cage of items was hoisted 
to the surface in the New Brunswick shaft. The electric power to the mine 
then was disconnected at the Brunswick substation.  These two great gold 
producers became a casualty of the low price of gold and an inflated 
economy that left gold mining in its wake. 

On April 30, 1957, Nevada County Tax Collector Alma Hecker and 
Auditor/Controller John T. “Tom” Trauner jointly announced the good news 
that the county of Nevada and two school districts had received a check for 
$102,291.98 from the Idaho Maryland Mines Corp. for payment of local 
taxes.  That amount included $34,930.33 for the current fiscal year, and 
$67,361.56 for delinquent taxes and late penalties. Payment of these taxes 
was made possible by the sale of mining equipment owned by the mine.  
The Milton J. Wershow and David Weisz companies of Los Angeles had 
been employed to auction off all saleable equipment and buildings. 
Beginning on May 21, 1957, a two-day auction was held at the New 
Brunswick mine to liquidate over 1400 lots of equipment and structures.  
These involved everything from the Old Brunswick, New Brunswick, and 
what remained of the Idaho Maryland mines.  Buyers representing mining 
companies from many parts of the world, cities, counties, lumber mills, and 
interested people came to participate.  Over 1,000 reviewed the items that 
were neatly arranged throughout the mine yard and in buildings. 
 
The auction was a huge success, with the bidding brisk at times. 
Management was quite satisfied with the outcome, especially for the prices 
received for items such as the Marcy 86 ball mills, hoists, headframes and 
compressors.  President Bert C. Austin announced that the money received 
would satisfy all outstanding debts and leave the corporation with a surplus 
of cash.  [Clark, p. 252.] 

 
Petitioner also omits any reference to (and excludes from its Appendix) the pages of the Clark 
book that contain a photograph of the Brunswick site with this statement: “For many years after 
most of the buildings had been removed, this was all that was visible of the New Brunswick mine.  
Finally only the silo remained.”  That removal of buildings is also depicted in the photographs on 
page 251 of Clark, which photographs from the Clark book are also omitted in Petitioner’s 
Appendix. 



NEVADA COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Board Agenda Memorandum 
Page 28 of 46 
 
 
The removal of all mining equipment and all buildings (except the silo) from the Subject Property 
materially distinguishes this case from Hansen Bros.  There, the Court noted: “[I]n this case, the 
plant, equipment, inventory, and utilities were maintained throughout the period and the plant 
could be made operational within two hours.”  (Id. at p. 569 (emphasis added).)  But here, the “use 
of all structures necessary or incidental thereto” (Id. at p. 566) came to an end at the Idaho 
Maryland Mine.  Thus, the fact that all mining equipment and all buildings (except the silo) were 
removed from the Subject Property in March 1957 is conclusive evidence of both an intention to 
abandon the mine, and an overt act that carries the implication the owner of the remaining Subject 
Properties and operator of the mine does not claim or retain any interest in the right to whatever 
nonconforming use existed in October 1954. 
 
A July 1957 news article cited by Petitioner states that “[l]arge-scale mining at the Idaho-Maryland 
[mine] ended when the company filed its stockpile quote of tungsten for the government,” that 
“[t]he removal of pumps, compressors, hoists, mine rails and other salvage jobs is going ahead,” 
that “[m]ine officials, questioned concerning the future, are hopeful but not optimistic,” that “[t]he 
cessation of active gold mining in the underground workings of the Idaho Maryland Mines Co. … 
marks the end of an era,” and that “the once great gold mining industry at Grass Valley, Calif. has 
rolled to a halt, perhaps permanently.”   (Pet. Exhibit 209 (emphasis added); Response To Facts, 
No. 12.)  “[A] veteran miner gazed at the rusting equipment of a deserted shaft and shook his head 
sadly. ‘Something better happen,’ he said, ‘and it had better be quick.  Otherwise, we may as well 
leave all this gold to the ages.’”  (Pet. Exhibit 416.) 
 

4. The Subject Property Was Divided Up, Which Evidences an Intent and 
Overt Actions to Abandon Mining on the Subject Property. 

Additional portions of the Subject Property are sold off in 1957.  (Petitioner omits from its 
Appendix page 249 from the Clark book, which includes a photograph with the statement: “A 
salvage crew prepares the Subject Property for sale.”  (Emphasis added.))  Contrary to 
Petitioner’s assertions, the properties are not “always” sold in 1957 “with a reservation of the 
mineral estate and the continuing right to explore and develop the Mine in the future.”  (Response 
To Facts, No. 13; Pet. Exhibit 212.)  The County’s Response to Facts, No. 13, demonstrates that 
Petitioner is simply wrong when it argues that: “In every instance, the Company expressly reserved 
both the mineral estate and mining rights. . .. (Letter to Clerk of Board of Supervisors from G. 
Braiden Chadwick, dated November 15, 2023.)  Even the reservations of the mineral estate in the 
Quitclaim Deeds to Sierra Nevada Memorial Hospital, which are highlighted by Petitioner, were 
“subject to the express limitation that the foregoing reservation shall not include any right of entry 
upon the surface of said land.”  (Pet. Exhibits 213, 214; Response To Facts, No. 13.)  Those 
continuing sales of portions of the Subject Property evidence an intention to abandon the Idaho 
Maryland Mine.  Again, even deeds that contain reservation of the mineral rights do not necessarily 
indicate an intent to resume mining in the future, contrary to Petitioner’s assertions.  (Historian, 
Comment No. 75.) 
 
Then in 1959 and 1960, the Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation transferred additional portions of 
the Subject Properties.  Petitioner asserts that an August 1959 transfer to Oliver Investment 
Company, and immediate transfer to Sum-Gold Corporation Inc., reserved mineral rights.  
(Petition, pp. 38-39, 70; Pet. Exhibit 218; Response to Facts, No. 15.)  However, the minutes of 
the “one meeting of the Board of Directors of Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation (Exhibit 216) 
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are “not produced in their entirety, however - in fact it does not appear that any of the corporate 
minutes proffered as evidence in the petition are - which makes it making it difficult to evaluate if 
all relevant information is presented.”  (Historian, Comment No. 37.)  Furthermore, Petitioner 
simply avoids any discussion of the fact that only a few months later, in January 1960, the Board 
of Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation authorized the sale to “Sum-Gold Corporation 
approximately 2,500 acres of mineral rights, which have heretofore been abandoned by non-
payment of taxes.”  (Pet. Exhibit 217, p. 127; Response to Facts, No. 15.)  Petitioner similarly 
omits whatever deeds were used to effectuate such transfer of mineral rights to Sum-Gold 
Corporation in early 1960. 
 

C. No Mining Activity Occurred in the 1960s or 1970s, Thereby Evidencing an 
Intent to Abandon The Mine. 

1. The Corporation Eliminates The Word “Mines” From its Name 

Idaho Maryland Mines Corporation changed its name to Idaho Maryland Industries Inc. in 1960, 
thereby eliminating the word “Mines” from its name (Petition, p. 39), while at the same time the 
Corporation’s Board discussed “the advisability of selling certain mineral rights belonging to the 
Corporation.”  (Pet. Exhibit 217, p. 168; Historian, Comment No. 39.)  Then, when the Corporation 
files for bankruptcy in 1962 (Petition, p. 40) there is no mention in the news article cited by 
Petitioner of anything relating to mining activities.  (Pet. Exhibit 223; Response to Facts, No. 18.)  
Those facts are further evidence that the Corporation had abandoned its mining operations at the 
Idaho Maryland Mine.   
 

2. The Ghidottis Did Not Undertake Any Efforts to Resume Mining at Any 
Time in the 1960s 

Idaho Maryland Industries Inc. auctioned 2,630 acres of mineral rights and 78.531 acres of surface 
rights of the Subject Property in 1963 and sold them to William and Marian Ghidotti.  (Petition, p. 
40; Pet. Exhibits 224, 225.)  The Ghidottis purchased the property as an investment.  The fact that 
William Ghidotti bought those rights with “no immediate plans” (Pet. Exhibit 226), along with the 
fact that the Ghidottis never took any actions throughout the 1960s to resume mining on the Subject 
Property demonstrates that the Idaho Maryland Mine had been abandoned that entire decade.  
 
Many of the Petitioner’s arguments rely upon the statements in a Declaration of Lee Johnson.  
(Petition, pp. 40, 70-71; Pet. Exhibit 227.)  Petitioner repeatedly relies upon Mr. Johnson’s 
“understanding” of what the Ghidottis “believed,” even though Mr. Johnson’s statements lack 
foundation, and there is no evidence that they are based on his personal knowledge.  (Responses 
to Facts, Nos. 19, 20, 25, 29, 30.)  Additionally, 
 

As a historical source, a declaration such as Lee Johnson’s (Exhibit 227) is 
problematic, particularly for the factual assertions made here.  Both 
historical study and scientific research have revealed the unreliability (and 
even instability) of human memory.  Historical interpretation is based upon 
a critical examination of documentation made at or near the occurrence of 
an event.  Memoirs and reminiscences often drafted years after an event 
are consulted as sources but treated with caution. Corroboration from 
sources closer or contemporaneous in time with the events described are 
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frequently sought.  Relying on this declaration to ascertain William and 
Marian Ghidotti’s thoughts or intentions - in the absence of independent 
supporting documentation - is methodologically suspect for a historian.  
[Historian, Comment No. 44.] 

 
Thus, the Declaration of Lee Johnson cannot be used to support a conclusion about the “intent” of 
William and Marian Ghidotti not to abandon Idaho Maryland Mine. 
 
Also, Petitioner’s assertions about William Ghidotti purportedly being an owner of stock in mining 
companies, a “gold investor,” “gold enthusiast” and collector of “gold and quartz specimens” 
(Petition, pp. 40, 41, 70-71) do not indicate an intent by Mr. Ghidotti to resume mining on the 
Subject Properties.  (Response To Facts, Nos. 19.)  Indeed, the fact that “William Ghidotti 
“reportedly was open to offers to purchase ‘the mineral rights’ raises a historical question as to his 
motivations. Was his interest mostly or exclusively speculative? If so, how much intent to mine or 
revive mining operations can be fairly ascribed to Ghidotti?”  (Historian, Comment No. 41.) 
 

3. Whatever Removal of Waste Rock Occurred in The 1960s, That Activity 
Did Not Evidence an Intent to Resume Mining 

Even if some waste rock was removed from the surface of the Subject Property in the 1960s, that 
did not constitute a continuation of the mining activities that were nonconforming as of 1954.  
Indeed, even Petitioner does not allege that the mere removal of rock constitutes “mining.”  
(Petition, p. 71.)  That is in accord with Hansen Bros.  After concluding that the nonconforming 
use in that case was “aggregate production,” the Court explains: 
 

Hansen Brothers has a vested tight to continue all aspects of its aggregate 
business at the Bear’s Elbow Mine.  This is not to say that future inactivity 
at the mine may not result in termination of that vested right or that the 
county might not conclude that the property is no longer being used for 
aggregate production and is currently in use only as a yard for storage and 
sales of stockpiled material.  [12 Cal.4th at p. 571.] 

Here, there were no mining activities that occurred on the Subject Property after 1956 when mining 
ceased.  At most, the Subject Property constituted a place for storage and sales of stockpiled mine 
tailings, where for a period of a few months in 1964 or 1965 a third party came on to the site to 
crush and haul off waste rock for the construction of the local freeway. (Petition, pp. 40, 71; Pet. 
Exhibit 231; F.D. Calhoun, California Gold And The Highgraders: True Stories of the Mines and 
the Miners (“Calhoun”) (Pet. Appendix F]).)  That waste rock was “already broken, hard rock 
[that] lay in great heaps in the waste dump at the Brunswick Mine.”  (Calhoun (Pet. Appendix F), 
p. 352-353.)  Nothing in Ms. Ghidotti’s discussion about that event indicated an intent to resume 
mining on the Subject Property.  (Response To Facts, No. 40.)  “[T]he activity described at the site 
is not focused on any revival of mining under the Ghidottis’ ownership but rather on the sale ‘of 
crushed rock left over from past mining operations’.”  (Historian, Comment No. 41.)  “It is not 
clear from the sources provided that the Ghidottis intended to use what this petition refers to as the 
‘Centennial Industrial Site’ for any activities outside of crushing and selling waste rock.”  
(Historian, Comment No. 77.)  “During this nine (9)- [year] period the only evidence of activity at 
the historical Idaho-Maryland Mine presented is of the operation of a rock crusher and the removal 
of ‘mine rock wastes and mill sand.’  It is unclear of how indicative this was of an intent to resume 
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gold mining operations.”  (Historian, Comment No. 42.)  The fact that the County in 1980 found 
that rock crushing activities on the Subject Properties constituted an “expansion” of an existing 
nonconforming use, coupled with the fact that North Star Rock Company applied for a conditional 
use permit to engage in such rock crushing on the property owned by Marian Ghidotti, also 
demonstrate that the mining activities as a vested right had been abandoned on the Subject 
Properties as of the 1960s.    

Petitioner also alleges that crushing the rock constituted “mining.”  Petitioner asserts: “As a result 
of a shortage in financing, active material sales were reduced, and the Mine was held in a state of 
suspension with intent to resume mining operations when possible until the resumption of mining, 
crushing and material sales activities in the 1960’s and 1970’s.”  However, “[c]omponent parts of 
Idaho-Maryland Mine were sold to various entities after the gold mine closed. There does not 
appear to have been a single entity holding the historical mine ‘in suspension’ as claimed by 
Petitioner for future gold mining development. The waste rock crushing, removal, and sales that 
began in 1964 was not described contemporaneously as a resumption of historical gold mining 
operations.” (Historian, Comment No. 81.)  Such rock crushing activities were not a mining 
activity that prevented the abandonment of the Idaho-Maryland Mine. 
  

4. Any Sawmill Activities That Occurred on Any of The Subject Property 
Since 1956 Was Not Connected in Any Way With The Mining Activities at 
The Subject Property. 

Petitioner alleges that the “mining operations” that are still visible at the Brunswick Industrial Site 
include “tree clearing to fuel the Brunswick sawmill,” and that “the sawmill was originally 
constructed for the exclusive use and benefit of mining operations and continued to operate during 
the 1960’s and 1970’s pursuant to Use Permits U58-15, U64-30, and U64-31.”  (Petition, p. 60-
61.)  Petitioner also alleges that “the sawmill was, at the time of its construction, an auxiliary use 
of the Subject Property, with the purpose of facilitating the mining operation.”  (Petition, p. 63.)  
However, “[t]he presented history of this sawmill is not complete and does not follow the 
operations or longevity of this sawmill. It is unclear how long the initial sawmill was operational, 
and to what degree, if any, it was supporting mining after the 1940s.”  (Historian, Comment No. 
71.)  “Exhibits 159, 162, and 386 cited in Footnote 631 [of the Petition] and Exhibit 387 cited in 
Footnote 632 [of the Petition] date to the 1940s and do not give any indication as to whether or not 
the Brunswick sawmill supported mining activities in the 1950s.  The only cited source that dates 
to the 1950s is Exhibit 380 in Footnote 631 and it is a ‘Flowsheet of the Brunswick Mill,’ with no 
apparent reference to a sawmill.”  (Historian, Comment No. 72.)  Also, the Brunswick sawmill site 
was completely severed, both surface and subsurface mining rights, from the rest of the Subject 
Property by Idaho Maryland Mine Corporation in 1956.  (Pet. Exhibit 206.)  Furthermore, the fact 
that use permits were requested, and then issued by the County in 1958 and 1965 demonstrates 
that the operation of a sawmill on the site was not considered by either the property owner or the 
County to be a use conducted pursuant to a vested right.  In addition, “[t]here is evidence (Exhibit 
167) that by the 1940s, the Idaho-Maryland sawmill was operating in part to produce commercial 
lumber.  Exhibit 215 is suggestive that a new sawmill was constructed after Summit Valley Pine 
Mill, Inc. was issued a use permit by Nevada County.”  (Historian, Comment No. 68.) 
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5. Even When The Prices of Gold Shot Up in the 1970s, and the Market 
Conditions Were Therefore Favorable to Resume Mining, the Owners of the 
Subject Property Nevertheless Made No Efforts to Resume Mining 

Petitioner asserts that, “[a]s all authorities on the subject make clear, a fundamental component of 
any mining operation is monitoring market conditions, like those outlined above, and holding 
properties in reserve as inventory until extraction and production operations are financially 
sensible and can recommence.”  (Petition, p. 72.)  Therefore, Petitioner argues that “due to market 
conditions which stagnated the price of gold, extraction and production operations were idled until 
the market conditions altered such that resuming such operations would be financially sensible – 
i.e., when the price of gold increased.”  (Petition, p. 72.)  However, when the price of gold did 
increase, dramatically, in the 1970s (way higher than Petitioner’s evidence concedes is the 
threshold for resuming mining activities (Petition, p. 41; Pet. Exhibits 58, 269, 276)), neither the 
owners of the subsurface mineral rights nor the owners of the surface estate on the Subject Property 
engaged in activities to resume mining activities on the Subject Property.  (Response To Facts, No. 
26.)  If, as Petitioner asserts, that the management of the Idaho Manyland Mines Corporation 
believed that gold prices increasing in the future “would justify reopening the Mine” (Petition, p. 
72, citing Exhibits 418, 419, 420, 421, 422), then the fact that the owners of the Subject Properties 
did not resume gold mining in the 1970s despite the high gold prices demonstrates that such owners 
did not have any intent to resume mining at the Idaho Maryland Mine.  In short, mining activities 
were abandoned because no effort to resume mining occurred during favorable market conditions 
in the 1970s. 
 
Marian Ghidotti did not pursue any of the activities that Petitioner states constitute “a 
manifestation of intent to utilize the entirety of the surface to support subsurface gold mining 
operations.”  (Petition, p. 59.)  Ms. Ghidotti did not use the surface for mining use, for stockpiling 
material from the mine, for using roads for mining, for maintaining infrastructure for mining, or 
for site preparation or exploration for mining.  The Petitioner’s implied excuses for Ms. Ghidotti 
not engaging in mining activities are unavailing.  Petitioner has failed to cite any case where the 
court has recognized resistance from environmental groups, ‘anti-mining sentiments’ from 
neighboring residents, or ‘political opposition’ to mining (Petition. p. 41) as valid excuses to delay 
mining activities so as to prevent abandonment when “the price of gold is now rising.”  (Petition, 
p. 41.)  Even if those may be valid considerations, Petitioner’s own evidence demonstrates such 
resistance to mining operations can be overcome, if the owner truly had an intention to resume 
mining.  (Pet. Exhibits 243, 262; Response to Facts, No. 26.)   
 
Furthermore, the fact that Ms. Ghidotti “acquires several mining claims which she subsequently 
sells throughout the 1970’s” (Petition, p. 41 (citing Pet. Exhibits 236, 237, 238, 239, 240, 241, 
242)(emphasis added))), and the fact that she only purchased “surface lands … contiguous to the 
Centennial Industrial Site” rather than the fee simple or the mineral rights  (Petition, p. 4; Pet. 
Exhibit 248; Response To Facts, No. 29), are evidence that Ms. Ghidotti had no intention to resume 
mining on the Subject Properties. 
 

6. Marian Ghidotti’s Purported Insuring of “The Mine” Fails to Evidence Any 
Intent for Mining 

Ms. Ghidotti allegedly “insured the Mine as a mining asset in 1977.”  (Petition, p. 42.) However, 
the purported evidence provided by Petitioner (a) fails to indicate what was “the Mine” that was 
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insured; (b) fails to indicate what “the Mine” was insured for; (c) fails to indicate that the purported 
insurance policy covered the mine as an asset, or whether the policy solely protected Ms. Ghidotti 
from liability for uses on the surface; and (d) fails to explain why Ms. Ghidotti would insure “the 
Mine” for only one year, over fifteen (15) years after she acquired ownership of the Subject 
Properties.  Petitioner does not even produce a copy of any insurance policy with the Petition to 
back up any of the statements about that insurance event in 1977.  Indeed, the statement about 
“insur[ing] the Mine as a mining asset” is vague and ambiguous; how and why would an insurance 
policy even do that if there are no mining operations going on?  Thus, the alleged insurance policy 
in 1977 does not establish Ms. Ghidotti’s intent to resume mining on the Subject Property. 
 

7. The Long Cessation of Mining Activity on the Subject Properties Evidences 
an Intent to Abandon The Idaho Maryland Mine 

 
Petitioner argues that “[i]t has long been recognized that mining property rights are not abandoned 
by a lapse of time,” and that “the California Supreme Court found that suspension of mining 
activity alone does not constitute abandonment of the vested use.”  (Petition, p. 54 & fn. 554, citing 
Hansen Brothers, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 570, fn. 28).)  In fact, what the Court actually stated in 
Hansen Brothers. is that “[m]ere cessation of use does not of itself amount to abandonment 
although the duration of nonuse may be a factor in determining whether the nonconforming use 
has been abandoned.”  (12 Cal.4th at p. 569.)  Here, the nearly seventy (70)-year cessation of 
mining activities on the Subject Property demonstrates abandonment.  Petitioner fails to cite any 
case where a court has held that a nonconforming use was not abandoned after such a lengthy 
period when the nonconforming use had ceased.  The position taken by Petitioner in this case 
would thwart the public policy recognized in Hansen Brothers to reduce nonconforming uses:  
 

“The ultimate purpose of zoning is … to reduce all nonconforming uses 
within the zone to conformity as speedily as is consistent with proper 
safeguards for the interest of those affected.”  We have recognized that, 
given this purpose, courts should follow a strict policy against extension or 
expansion of those uses.  That policy necessarily applies to attempts to 
continue nonconforming uses which have ceased operation.  [Id. at p. 568, 
citations omitted.] 

 
Petitioner does not deny that mining activities ceased at the Idaho Maryland Mine for a very long 
period of time.  That fact, in addition to the fact that no mining equipment or buildings to conduct 
mining operations existing on the site during that entire time since 1957, warrants the conclusion 
that mining at the Idaho Maryland Mine was abandoned. 
 

D. When it Occasionally Issued Conditional Use Permits, The County Did Not 
Recognize Any Vested Rights for The Subject Property 

 
In 1958, the County issued a use permit (U58-15) that authorized the construction and operation 
of a sawmill on the Brunswick site.  (Response to Facts, No. 14; Pet. Exhibit 215.)  The issuance 
of that use permit demonstrates the applicant Summit Valley Pine Mill, Inc.’s and the County’s 
understanding that there was no vested right for such use, because a vested right would have 
precluded the need for such a permit. 
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The fact that North Star Rock Products applied in 1979 for a conditional use permit for a rock 
crushing operation (Petition, p. 42; Pet. Exhibits 251) demonstrates the understanding by the owner 
(Ms. Ghidotti) and the North Star Rock Products that vested rights did not exist on the site for such 
rock crushing operation.  That application provided that “Aggregate only; no precious metal 
extraction” (Pet. Exhibit 251) further evidencing an understanding that mining operations to 
extract gold were not allowed.  The consultant for the applicant stated:  
 

Existing Uses 
The project site is unused except for the occasional removal of rock and sand waste 
by the owner of the property.  Lumber is also stored on the property. 
 
Existing Structures 
The only remaining structures on the site are two concrete towers which were used 
as the mill sand pond overflows and a small rock bridge abutment  [Environmental 
Information Form: Idaho-Maryland Mine Rock Crushing Project, p. 10 (Exhibit 
251).]   

 
Thus, the consultant for the applicant recognized that the rock crushing operations, if any, had long 
since stopped and the equipment for such rock crushing, if any existed, was no longer on the 
property.  The consultant’s statements evidence abandonment of rock crushing operations on the 
property, even if they had existed fourteen (14) years earlier in the mid-1960s. 
 
When the County granted conditional use permit U79-41 for such rock crushing operation in 1980 
for a maximum period of four (4) years (Petition, pp. 42, 68; Pet. Exhibit 251, p. 26; Pet. Exhibit 
254, p. 10; Response to Facts, Nos. 31, 32), neither the Board of Supervisors nor the Planning 
Commission ever made a formal determination of vested rights. (Exhibit 252.)  Indeed, “the 
intended activities to be covered by the use permit do not appear consistent with historical gold 
mining activity.” (Historian, Comment No. 47.) 
 
Petitioner’s argument that the County’s permit “recognized the rock crushing activities as a vested 
right” (Petition, p. 71) is simply false.  County staff wrote in a Memorandum that “[t]his permit is 
being processed as an alteration of an existing, non-conforming use.” (Pet. Exhibit 251) (emphasis 
added).)  The County Staff report (Pet. Exhibit 252) similarly states that the rock crushing was an 
“expansion” of the existing non-conforming use.  The Staff report explains: “It is noted that the 
provisions of the ‘M1’ Light Industrial District in which the subject property is located do not 
allow gravel harvesting and processing as permitted or conditionally permitted uses.  However, 
the property owner has indicated that mine rock has been sold and taken from the property 
continuously since the mine closed, and so this use permit application is for expansion of an 
existing, non-conforming use by the addition of a crusher and screening plant.”  (Pet. Exhibit 252 
(emphasis and underline added).)  Thus, rock crushing was an “alteration” or “expansion” of the 
“existing, non-conforming use” that was described by the consultant for the applicant as the 
“occasional removal of rock and sand wastes by the owner of the property.”  County Staff never 
recognized the rock crushing activities as the “existing, non-conforming use.” 
 
The fact that the Minutes of the Planning Commission hearing for Permit U79-41 states that “[t]he 
Hansen operation is predicated to last 200 years, and the Abbott operation is predicted to last 4 
years” (Pet. Exhibit 254, pp. 10-11), demonstrates that the County unequivocally distinguished the 
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rock crushing activity here from the aggregate production operations described in the Hansen 
Brothers case.   
 
Furthermore, the comment at that hearing that “Mrs. Ghidotti who owns the property intends to 
put it to some use other than a horse ranch in the future, because it is zoned Industrial, and there 
has been some consideration of re-opening the mine because of the price of gold” (Pet. Exhibit 
254, p. 11) is not any recognition of any vested rights to resume mining on the Subject Property.  
That statement implicitly recognizes that “Re-opening the mine” could potentially be 
accomplished with a conditional use permit.  Also, that statement indicates “that Marion Ghidotti 
(the owner, ca. 1980) was using the property as ‘horse ranch’ and was ‘consider[ing]… re-opening 
the mine because of the price of the gold.’ This implies that the historical Idaho-Maryland Mine 
was closed, and no mining operations were occurring.”  (Historian, Comment No. 7.) 
 
Petitioner argues that “the County has already approved and acknowledged the vested right to 
continue mining operations at the Subject Property as of 1980.” (Petition, p. 67.)  Not so.  The 
Planning Department’s “Notice Of Conditional Approval: Use Permit Application, for Use Permit 
No. U79-41 (Pet. Exhibit 252) explicitly states: “The use permit covers only removal of mine 
waste and processing to restore the site to its original contours.  Earth excavation for a borrow pit 
is not included.”  Also, the Notice states: “No material beyond the depth of rock waste material 
shall be removed from the site.”  At no time did the Planning Commission make any findings or 
determination either in the Notice (Pet. Exhibit 252) or at the public hearing (Pet. Exhibit 254) of 
the scope of the vested rights of the Idaho Maryland Mine.  (Response To Facts, No. 32.)  In short, 
Petitioner’s allegation that “the County vested the right to mine for the entire Vested Subject 
Property” (Petition, p. 67) is simply wrong.   
 

E. Other Actions and Omissions by the Owners of The Subject Property in the 
1970s and 1980s Demonstrate an Intent to Abandon The Mining Use 

1. There is No Credible Evidence that Marian Ghidotti Left The Subject 
Property to the BET Group Because of Her Expectation that the BET Group 
Would Resume Mining 

Petitioner argues that Marian Ghidotti left the “Subject Property to the BET Group” because “she 
believed the group would be capable of resurrecting the Mine,” because she “knew that each of 
these individuals wished for the Mine to resume operations, and believed they could make this 
happen using their professional skills and training,” and “because of her belief that they had the 
wherewithal and skillset to facilitate the development of the Subject Property back into 
production.”  (Petition, pp. 5, 42-43.)  There is no credible evidence to support those assertions.  
Petitioner cites the Declaration of Lee Johnson, which lacks foundation and personal knowledge 
of these matters.  (Responses To Facts, No. 33.)  That statement about what another person other 
than the declarant (i.e., Ms. Ghidotti) thought or believed or knew is sheer speculation without any 
substantial evidence in support. (See People v. Perez (1992) 2 Cal.4th 1117, 1133 [“To be 
sufficient, evidence must of course be substantial.  It is such only if it “reasonably inspires 
confidence and is of ‘solid value.’ By definition, ‘substantial evidence’ requires evidence and not 
mere speculation.”])  That statement about what another person other than the declarant (i.e., Ms. 
Ghidotti) “knew,” and about what yet three other persons who comprised the BET Group 
“wanted,” constitutes multiple layers speculation without any substantial evidence in support.  
(Ibid.)  Furthermore, “[t]he source(s) of Ghidotti’s belief - both why she possessed this stated 
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conviction and the recordation of her conviction - are unstated here. Individual beliefs, without 
attribution to documentation, cannot be evaluated historically.”  (Historian, Comment No. 8.)   
 
Also, “[a]s a historical source, a declaration such as Lee Johnson’s (Exhibit 227) is problematic, 
particularly for the factual assertions made here. Both historical study and scientific research have 
revealed the unreliability (and even instability) of human memory.  Historical interpretation is 
based upon a critical examination of documentation made at or near the occurrence of an event.  
Memoirs and reminiscences often drafted years after an event are consulted as sources but treated 
with caution. Corroboration from sources closer or contemporaneous in time with the events 
described are frequently sought.  Relying on this declaration to ascertain William and Marian 
Ghidotti’s thoughts or intentions - in the absence of independent supporting documentation - is 
methodologically suspect for a historian.”  (Historian, Comment No. 44.) 
 
For example, the statement in the Declaration of Lee Johnson that “[t]he entire time Marian 
Ghidotti and Bill Ghidotti owned the Mine … neither thought the Property would be used for 
anything except for mining and were convinced that the Mine would be operational again in the 
future” (Pet. Exhibit 227) is sheer speculation without any substantial evidence in support. (See 
People v. Perez, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 1133.)  Nowhere does Mr. Johnson state where he obtained 
his knowledge of what Marian Ghidotti and Bill Ghidotti “thought.” 
 
Similarly, there is no evidence whatsoever presented by Petitioner supporting the assertion that, 
“[Marian Ghidotti and Bill Ghidotti] thought they could potentially reopen the Mine themselves.”  
(Petition, p. 43.)  No evidence in the Declaration of Lee Johnson (Pet. Exhibit 227) supports or 
even mentions that assertion.  Nor is there any evidence presented by Petitioner that demonstrates 
any efforts actually taken by either Marian Ghidotti or Bill Ghidotti to “reopen the Mine 
themselves.”  Such allegations are simply made up by the Petitioner. 
 

2. The Owners of The Subject Property Did Not File a Notice of Intent to 
Preserve an Interest in The Subsurface Mineral Rights Until 1989, Many 
Years After the Marketing Title Act was Enacted 

Petitioner points out that the BET Group in 1989 “records a Notice of Intent to Preserve Interest 
in all mineral rights and interests in minerals.”  (Petition, p. 45.)  However, that action by the BET 
Group does not refute the conclusion that mining at the Idaho Maryland Mine was abandoned.  
The “Notice of Intent to Preserve Interest” was recorded on December 8, 1989, “pursuant to Title 
5 (commencing with Section 880.020) of Part 2 of Division 2 of the Civil Code (Marketable 
Record Title).”  (Pet. Exhibit 275.)  That recordation took place over seven (7) years after the 
enactment of the Marketable Record Title, Civ. Code 880.020, et. seq., by Stats. 1982 ch. 1268 § 
1.  Civil Code section 880.310 provides: 
 

(a) If the time within which an interest in real property expires 
pursuant to this title depends upon recordation of a notice of 
intent to preserve the interest, a person may preserve the 
person’s interest from expiration by recording a notice of 
intent to preserve the interest before the interest expires 
pursuant to this title.  Recordation of a notice of intent to 
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preserve an interest in real property after the interest has 
expired pursuant to this title does not preserve the interest. 

 
(b)  Recordation of a notice of intent to preserve an interest in 

real property does not preclude a court from determining that 
an interest has been abandoned or is otherwise unenforceable 
pursuant to other law, whether before or after the notice of 
intent to preserve the interest is recorded and does not 
validate or make enforceable a claim or interest that is 
otherwise invalid or unenforceable. Recordation of a notice 
of intent to preserve an interest in real property creates a 
presumption affecting the burden of proof that the person 
who claims the interest has not abandoned and does not 
intend to abandon the interest. [Emphasis added.] 

 
The Petitioner does not explain why the BET Group waited over six (6) years after the enactment 
of Civil Code section 880.301 to record the Notice of Intent.  Furthermore, the BET Group’s 
recording of the Notice of Intent did not validate any interest that was otherwise invalid or 
unenforceable as of the time the Notice was recorded.  (Civ Code, § 880.310, subd. (b); 5 Miller 
& Starr, Cal. Real Estate (3d. ed. 2000) § 11.62, p. 168.)  Indeed, the filing of a Notice of Intent to 
Preserve Interest (Pet. Exhibit 275) appears to be affirmative evidence of an intent to retain 
whatever mineral rights may have been held by Bouma, Erickson, and Toms. However, no 
explanation is offered as to why Bouma, et al., made this filing in 1989.  From a reading of the 
historical evidence presented thus far in the petition, the filing would appear to reflect concern that 
a question surrounded the purported efficacy of the rights, that a threat of extinguishment existed. 
(Historian, Comment No. 58.) 
 
In short, the recordation of the Notice of Intent does not avoid the conclusion, and actually supports 
the conclusion, that any vested mining rights that existed in 1954 for the Idaho Maryland Mine 
were abandoned.    
 

3. The Successors to Marian Ghidotti, and the Predecessors to Rise Gold, Sold 
Off a Portion of The Subject Property for Residential Purposes 

In the 1980s, the successors of the Ghidottis, the BET Group, sold off a portion of the surface area 
of the Subject Properties for residential development.  (Petition, pp. 5, 44, 73; Pet. Exhibit 263.)  
That evidenced their intent to abandon the mine as to those sold-off properties because (1) the gold 
prices were very high during that time (Pet. Exhibit 58); (2) creating neighboring residential homes 
would actually create the very “anti-mining” residential environment that Petitioner infers prevents 
gold mining activities in the 1970s and 1980s (Petition, pp. 41, 43); and (3) the real estate broker 
for the BET Group has stated:  “At no time during my representation of the BET Group did they 
ever consider reopening or operating any mining activity.  They were well aware of the toxic 
contamination on site and had limited resources to deal with soil contamination, let alone 
reopening and operating a gold mine.”  (Declaration of Charles W. Brock, ¶5.)  Furthermore, the 
fact that the residential lots were sold off with a reservation of the mineral rights (Petition, pp. 44-
45; Pet. Exhibits 265, 266, 267, 270, 271, 272, 273.)  does not indicate an intent to resume mining 
at the Idaho Maryland Mine.  “Reservation of mineral and other subsurface rights with the creation 
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of residential subdivisions is fairly typical, and in the absence of other evidence of an intent by 
BET Group to mine this alone does not support such a claim.”  (Historian, Comment No. 56.)   
 

4. The Use Permits Sought in the 1980s And 1990s do Not Evidence a Vested 
Right to Mine   

The “multiple applications for permits consistent with the intent to reopen the Mine and resume 
mining activities” in the late 1980s and early 1990s (Petition, pp. 71 -74) is evidence that the 
owners of the Subject Property understood that such “permits” were needed for such activities, 
and that such activities could not be conducted pursuant to any vested rights.  Furthermore, at no 
time during the issuance of those permits did the County recognize any vested rights for mining.  
For example, “[i]nto 1985, no evidence is presented as to an effort to revive mining at the historical 
Idaho-Maryland Mine.  North Star Rock Company instead continues its operations under an 
amended use permit.”  (Historian, Comment No. 53.)  Use Permit U85-025, is then granted at 
North Star Rock Company’s request in 1985 (Petition, p. 43; Pet. Exhibits 259, 260) because the 
company had “processed mine tailings from these historic mines until 1985 when the tailings were 
exhausted.”  (Pet. Exhibit 278).)  County Staff explained: 
 

[T]his application is a proposed amendment to one issued in 1979 by the 
Nevada County Planning Commission (U79-41).  That permit was issued to 
this applicant for the purposes of processing existing mine rock left on-site 
from earlier quartz mining activities.  The purpose of processing this 
material was to crush it to produce road base rock material. These on-site 
deposits are currently exhausted.  The primary purpose of this application 
is to receive the graded material to be taken from the proposed (and not yet 
approved) Wolf Creek Plaza site adjacent and to the south-west and also to 
process rock material extracted through that grading process. The graded 
material taken from the Wolf Creek Plaza site will be placed in an 
engineered fill on this site as part of this application.  [Pet. Exhibit 259, 
emphasis added.)] 

 
The use permit was similar to that issued earlier in 1980.  Specifically, the “Notice Of Conditional 
Approval Use Permit Application,” for Use Permit No. U85-25, includes condition number 11, 
which states that “[t]he use permit covers only removal of mine waste and processing to restore 
the site to its original contours,” and condition number 12, which states that “[t]his permit covers 
the processing of rock material from off-site locations for a maximum of five years.”  (Pet. Exhibit 
260.)  The Notice also provides that “No material beyond the depth of rock waste material shall be 
removed from the site.”  (Pet. Exhibit 260.)  In short, under Use Permit U85-025 the County still 
did not recognize any vested right for mining activities at the Idaho-Maryland Mine. 
 
Furthermore, the actions and studies performed for the BET Group or lessees of the BET Group 
demonstrated that any vested rights for mining at the Idaho Maryland Mine had been abandoned.  
For example, in 1989 the “Proposal: Permitting Feasibility Study, Reactivation Project for the 
Idaho-Maryland-Brunswick Mine” (Pet. Exhibit 262) states: “Last production from the complex 
occurred in 1956 and the mine has been idle for the last 32 years.”  (Emphasis added.)  
 
Also, the additional use permit obtained by North Star Rock Products, Inc. in 1992 (Petition, pp. 
45-46, 73), demonstrates that the company still understands that its operations at the Idaho 
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Maryland Mine site required a use permit, and could not be conducted pursuant to any vested 
rights.  (Responses To Facts, No. 43.)  Also, the issuance of such use permit again did not represent 
the County’s recognition of any vested rights, as the permits were limited in duration and use.  
(Responses To Facts, No. 43.  See Pet. Exhibit 278 [10-year limit; “No expansion of current mining 
methods or product sales is proposed”].) 
 
In addition, there is no indication by any of the companies that leased the Subject Properties from 
the BET Group that they understood there were existing vested rights to mine at the Idaho-
Maryland Mine.  For example, Mother Lode Gold Mines “options the Subject Property” and enters 
a “mining lease” with BET Group, but then relinquished its interest after only three (3) years.  
(Petition, 44-45; Pet. Exhibit 276.)  “No explanation is given why Mother Lode Gold Mines 
‘relinquishes and returns the Subject Property’ to BET Group only 3 years after acquiring its 
option.  This once again raises questions as to the state of knowledge regarding the historical Idaho-
Maryland Mine’s viability.”  (Historian, Comment No. 59.)  Then Consolidated Del Norte Ventures 
leases the Subject Properties from the BET Group (Petition, pp. 45-46; Pet. Exhibit 276), but “[n]o 
explanation is given for why Consolidated Del Norte Ventures relinquished its lease 2 years later.”  
(Historian, Comment No. 60.)  Those companies never indicated that there were vested rights to 
mine at the Idaho-Maryland Mine.  
 
Then Emperor Gold Corporation (later Emgold Mining Corporation) leases the Subject Properties 
from the BET Group, holds an option to purchase the properties, obtains a permit to dewater the 
mine, and conducts exploration surface drilling.  (Petition, pp. 46-48.)  Emgold states the following 
in an announcement on June 17, 2003, which recognized the necessity to obtain a conditional use 
permit to reopen the mine, and not do so via vested rights: 
 

Emgold, through its wholly owned subsidiary, Idaho-Maryland Mining 
Corporation (formerly Emperor Gold (U.S.) Corp.) is also preparing the 
necessary documentation to submit applications to acquire a Use Permit to 
construct a decline and surface facilities to continue with the underground 
exploration and development of the Idaho-Maryland and ultimately put the 
mine back into production. It is anticipated that permitting will cost 
approximately US$500,000 and is expected to take fifteen to twenty-four 
months to complete.  Emgold is confident that it will be able to obtain a Use 
Permit for the Idaho-Maryland.  Since the early 1960’s, 37 gold mines have 
applied for permits in California and all have been approved and allowed 
to go into operation.  Since 2002 three gold mines have received Use 
Permits to operate in California.  [Pet. Exhibit 294, emphasis added.] 

 
An Emgold Press Release similarly stated: “The City of Grass Valley, California (the ‘City’) is 
nearing completion of the Draft Environmental Impact Report (‘DEIR’) for the Idaho-Maryland 
Gold Mine Project (the ‘Project’) which is expected to be published in late September or early 
October of 2008.”  (Pet. Exhibit 303.)  “It is expected that the FEIR will be certified near the end 
of 2008.  Upon approval of the Project by the Planning Commission and City’s Council a 
Conditional Mine Use Permit will be issued for the Project.”  (Pet. Exhibit 303, emphasis added.)  
Again, Emgold announced: “The Planning Commission [for the City of Grass Valley] will be asked 
to review the entitlements for the Project which include a Conditional Mine Use Permit (CMUP). 
(Pet. Exhibit 304.)  “These are additional applications that were included as submissions to the 
City that also require formal approval to allow the Project to move forward.”  (Pet. Exhibit 304, 
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emphasis added.)  “Assuming the FEIR is certified and entitlements approved by City Council, 
final operating permits would be obtained for the Project.”  (Pet. Exhibit 304, emphasis added.)  
“Emgold is permitting the operation of a 2,400 ton per day gold mine and gold processing facility 
as part of the Idaho-Maryland Project.  Upon successful completion of mine permits, Emgold’s 
plan is to become a mid-tier producing gold company within the next 5 years.”  (Pet. Exhibit 304, 
emphasis added.)  After Emgold allows the lease and purchase agreement to expire, the 
advertisement to purchase the Subject Properties form the BET Group states: “From 2002 to 2012, 
Idaho Maryland Mining Corporation, a subsidiary of Emgold Mining Corp., under agreement with 
the mine owners, conducted studies, investigations, sampling, testing, etc. at the Idaho Maryland 
Mine and applied to California and local regulating agencies for permission to reopen the mine.  
(Pet. Exhibit 307, emphasis added.) 
 
Thus, the companies that sought to resume mining on the Subject Property understood that a use 
permit would be needed to mine because there is no vested right.  None of their efforts to resume 
mining support the Petitioner’s position that there presently are vested rights to mine the Subject 
Property. 
 

5. Sierra Pacific’s Application to Rezone the Property in December 1993, 
Demonstrates an Intent Not To Engage in Mining 

Petitioner mentioned that in 1993 “Nevada County rezones the sawmill property, including ET 
Acres Lot 8, to M1-SP to allow for ‘service maintenance and repair, manufacturing and processing, 
warehousing and distribution facilities … office, professional and conference facilities.”  (Petition, 
p. 46 (citing Pet. Exhibits 281, 282).)  Petitioner highlights the statement in the Minutes of the 
Board of Supervisors Meeting on December 14, 1993, that a representative of Sierra Pacific 
explained the Company’s intent to use the site for “industrial purposes.”  (Id., p. 46 (citing Exhibit 
282).)  However, Petitioner omits the Staff analysis that explains: “As a result, [the rezone] would 
also show that the County prefers some type of mixed industrial/business park uses.”  (Pet. Exhibit 
282, p. 425.)  Indeed, the rezone imposes “more restrictive site development standards than would 
otherwise apply.”  (Exhibit 282, p. 426.)  The “examples” of “industrial” uses in the Ordinance 
under those development standards does not include mining at all.  (Pet. Exhibit 281 (Ordinance 
No. 1853) pp. 17-18.)  Thus, contrary to Petitioner’s argument, mining was not intended by Sierra 
Pacific for that “sawmill property, including BET Acres Lot 8.” 
 

6. The BET Group Did Not Sell Off The Subject Property they Still Owned to 
Rise Gold as a Mine, and Even Rise Gold Recognized the Need to Obtain a 
Conditional Use Permit 

The real estate broker even commented to the newspaper: “We are not selling a mine.”  
(Declaration of Charles W. Brock, ¶ 7).  Indeed, the asking price was not based on comparable 
sales of existing mining assets or properties, or potential gold reserves on the Subject Property, but 
on “comparable sales of similarly zoned light industrial and residential properties.”  (Declaration 
of Charles W. Brock, ¶ 7.) 
 
After Petitioner purchased the Subject Property, and after it conducted an exploration drilling 
program, Petitioner “applie[d] to the County of Nevada for a use permit to re-open the Idaho-
Maryland Mine and is fully financed to complete the permitting process.”  (Petition, p. 49 
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(emphasis added).)  Thus, even Petitioner recognized that a conditional use permit would be 
needed, because there is no vested right to mine.  
 
Petitioner argues that “courts have determined that applying for and/or acquiring a use permit does 
not abandon or otherwise extinguish a vested right,” citing Goat Hill Tavern v. city of Costa Mesa 
(1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1519, 1529, in support of that premise.  (Petition, p. 55.)  However, Goat 
Hill Tavern never discusses that premise, and never makes such a rule.  In that case, “Goat Hill 
Tavern ha[d] been in operation for over 35 years as a legal nonconforming use.  Ziemer invested 
over $1.75 million in its refurbishment, including substantial exterior facade improvements 
undertaken at the city's behest.  He then sought a conditional use permit to allow the addition of a 
game room, which was granted on a temporary basis.”  (Ibid.)  Not only are those facts 
distinguishable from the abandonment of a “legal nonconforming use,” the court in that case never 
considered or decided the rule of law suggested by Petitioner.  “It is axiomatic that cases are not 
authority for propositions not considered.” (People v. Ault (2004) 33 Cal.4th 1250, 1268, fn. 10.)  
Thus, the case law cited by Petitioner does not support Petitioner’s position; and the fact that 
Petitioner, Emgold and others have sought use permits to conduct activities on the Subject 
Properties indicates a consistent and unbroken understanding (until 2023) that a conditional use 
permit, and not vested rights, was needed in order to resume mining activities at the Idaho 
Maryland Mine. 
 

F. Petitioner Has Failed to Comply With State Law and the County Development 
Code for Reclamation Plans and Annual Reporting and Such Failure Means 
The Mine is Considered Abandoned According to State Law 

In Petitioner’s letter dated November 16, 2023, it alleges that Public Resources Code section 2776, 
subdivision (c), should be interpreted as stating that the owners of the Subject Properties were 
never required to submit a reclamation plan and are not required to submit annual reports. 
(Chadwick Letter to the Board, November 16, 2023, p. 11.)  This interpretation is inconsistent with 
the plain reading of the statute and would render portions of SMARA meaningless.  
 

1. SMARA’s Reclamation Plan Requirements Apply to Mine Owners Even If 
They Possess Vested Rights 

Public Resources Code section 2776, subdivision (c), states, “nothing in this chapter shall be 
construed as requiring the filing of a reclamation plan for, or the reclamation of, mined lands on 
which surface mining operations were conducted prior to January 1, 1976.” (See also Nevada 
County Development Code Section L-II 31B.4.D.E.) Notably, reclamation is a term defined in the 
statute as follows: 

“Reclamation” means the combined process of land treatment that 
minimizes water degradation, air pollution, damage to aquatic or wildlife 
habitat, flooding, erosion, and other adverse effects from surface mining 
operations, including adverse surface effects incidental to underground 
mines, so that mined lands are reclaimed to a usable condition that is readily 
adaptable for alternate land uses and create no danger to public health or 
safety. The process may extend to affected lands surrounding mined lands, 
and may require backfilling, grading, resoiling, revegetation, soil 
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compaction, slope stabilization, or other measures. (Pub. Resources Code, 
§ 2733.) 

 
Read with this definition in mind, Public Resources Code section 2776, subdivision (c) means that, 
SMARA does not require the retroactive submission of a reclamation plan for the mining activity 
previously conducted.  Put another way, SMARA looks forward, not backward. In that regard, 
SMARA requires a reclamation plan for all mining activity conducted or to be conducted after 
January 1, 1976.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2776, subd. (b).) A contrary interpretation would render 
Public Resources Code section 2770, subdivision (b) meaningless – “A person with an existing 
surface mining operation who has vested rights pursuant to Section 2776 and who does not have 
an approved reclamation plan shall submit a reclamation plan to the lead agency not later than 
March 31, 1988.”  This is also supported by the current version of the County’s Development 
Code, which provides in pertinent part: 
 

Where a person with vested rights has continued surface mining in the same 
area subsequent to January 1, 1976, he/she shall obtain County approval of 
a Reclamation Plan covering the mined lands disturbed by such subsequent 
surface mining. In those cases where an overlap exists (in the horizontal 
and/or vertical sense) between pre- and post-Act mining, the Reclamation 
Plan shall call for reclamation proportional to that disturbance caused by the 
mining after the effective date of the Act (January 1, 1976). (Nevada County 
Development Code Section L-II 3.22(E).) 

 
Accordingly, SMARA and the County’s reclamation plan requirements do apply to vested rights 
holders.  The Petitioner’s failure to comply constitutes additional evidence of their lack of intent 
to mine. 
 

2. Contrary to Petitioner’s Assertions, Pub. Resources Code Section 2776(C) 
Does Not Negate the Annual Reporting Requirements of Section 2207 

Petitioner’s November 16, 2023 letter further asserts that the annual reporting obligations of mine 
owners codified in Public Resources Code section 2207 are negated by Public Resources Code 
section 2776, subdivision (c).  However, the language of section 2776, subdivision (c) is limited 
to Chapter 9, SMARA, of Division 2, Geology, Mines, and Mining, of the Public Resources Code, 
and is further limited to not requiring the reclamation of pre-1976 surface mining. (Pub. Resources 
Code, § 2776, subd. (c), [“Nothing in this chapter shall be construed as requiring the filing of a 
reclamation plan for, or the reclamation of, mined lands on which surface mining operations were 
conducted prior to January 1, 1976.”].)  Annual reporting is a requirement applicable to either 
owners or operators of mines within California which is separate from SMARA’s reclamation plan 
provisions.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2207.) Rather, the annual reporting requirements are part of 
Chapter 2, the California Geological Survey, and require mine owners to report, in part, “the 
mining operation’s status as active, idle, reclaimed, or in the process of being reclaimed.” (Pub. 
Resources Code, § 2207.)  
 
Accordingly, the owner or operator of the Subject Property was required to submit an annual report 
pursuant to Public Resources Code section 2207.  However, the County is unaware of, and the 
Petitioner has failed to provide, any documents indicating this has occurred.  This failure further 
demonstrates the lack of intent to mine. 
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3. The Actions of Petitioner’s Predecessors in Interest in Permitting Rock 
Processing and Submitting a Reclamation Plan for The Idaho-Maryland 
Mine Demonstrate The Petitioner Understands The Mine Must Comply 
With SMARA 

In 1980, the then owners of the Subject Property obtained Use Permit U79-41 for the “harvesting, 
crushing, screening, and sale of existing mine rock and tailings at the Centennial Industrial site.”  
(Petition, p. 42.)  The Petitioner asserts that these surface activities of harvesting and processing 
waste rock are inextricably linked to the regular operations of the gold mine.  (November 16, 2023 
Letter to the Board, p. 11.) If Petitioner is correct that the two activities are inherently part of the 
same operation, then the use permit received in 1980 would not have been necessary if they 
possessed a vested right for those activities.  
 
With that in mind, Use Permit U79-41 was obtained and a Surface Mining Reclamation Plan for 
the Idaho-Mayland Mine Rock Crushing Project (the “Reclamation Plan”) was required:  
 

This use permit application involves only about 40 acres out of the 110 
acres, and this 40 acres [sic] is covered with mill sand and rock left from 
the historic hard rock mining operation.  The application and reclamation 
plan indicates that approximately 400,000 to 500,000 tons of rock (270,000 
cubic yards) and 10,000 tons of mill sand will be removed from the site.  It 
is intended that the site will then be restored to its original contours and 
form, reclamation plan and ARC memo are attached for a complete 
understanding of the project which will also include a crusher and screening 
plant to process the waste rock and sand.  (Petition, Exhibit 251, 1980 Use 
Permit No. 79-41.)  

 
The Reclamation Plan required that the 40 acres involved in the 1980’s rock crushing operations 
be reclaimed and restored to a condition that was either (1) graded to the contours of the land 
before it was covered with waste rock, or (2) leveled with a culvert drainage pipe installed to 
prepare the land for an “easy transition” to alternate uses.  (Petition, Exhibit 251, Reclamation 
Plan, ¶ 23(a).) It was further required that reclamation of the site, “will end surface mining and 
storage of the waste rock.” 
 

4. When Petitioner’s Mine Went Idle, They Were Required to Comply With 
SMARA and the County Development Code to Avoid Abandonment  

As explained in Section D(IV)(B), above, SMARA defines a mine as “idle” when its production 
has been curtailed for at least one year and there is an intention to resume mining activities in the 
future.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 2727.1.)  Within ninety (90) days of a mining operation becoming 
idle, mine operators are required to submit an interim management plan to the lead agency.  (Pub. 
Resources Code, § 2770 and Nevada County Development Code Section L-II 3.22(L).)  The 
County is unaware of, and Petitioner has failed to provide, any evidence of any interim 
management plan for the Centennial Site when surface processing operations ceased.  Accordingly, 
if the mining activities have stopped and there is no interim management plan, then state law 
dictates that the cessation cannot be considered an “idle mine” under Cal. Pub. Resources Code 
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section 2727.1 (i.e., cessation with an intent to resume mining).  Instead, the mine is considered 
abandoned.  
 
This is consistent with California case law and policy concerning zoning changes and the 
temporary nature of nonconforming property uses.  (See Los Angeles v. Gage (1954) 127 
Cal.App.2d 442, 459 [“It was not and is not contemplated that pre-existing nonconforming uses 
are to be perpetual”].)  Further, SMARA’s statutory provision defining an “idle” mine as, in part, 
a mine in which the operator intends to resume mining activities in the future and its provision 
establishing abandonment of the mining operation as the consequence of failure to comply with 
SMARA’s interim management plan requirements during the mine’s period of idleness are 
referential to one another.  (See Pub. Resources Code, §§ 2727.1 and 2770(h)(6).)  Read together, 
these portions of the statute reflect a policy determination by the California Legislature that mining 
operators who have curtailed production of their mine cannot be considered to have the intent to 
resume mining operations in the future, and therefore maintain the status of “idle,” if they do not 
comply with SMARA. Failure to have a reclamation plan in place, and submit an interim 
management plan for idle mines, means the operator has chosen to abandon their mine, pursuant 
to state law. 
 
Nevada County’s Development Code further supports the interim management plan requirement: 
 

If the [nonconforming] use is discontinued for a period of one year or more, 
any subsequent use shall be in conformity with all applicable requirements 
of this Chapter, except as follows: a) uses clearly seasonal in nature (i.e., ski 
facilities) shall have a time period of 365 days or more, b) surface mining 
operations shall comply with the provisions of Section 3.22.L providing for 
interim management plans. (Nevada County Development Code Section L-
II 5.19(B)(4).) 

 
Therefore, as Petitioner has failed to submit an interim management plan following the cessation 
of mining activity on the Subject Property, whether gold mining or otherwise, state and local law 
compel a determination that the mining use of the Subject Property has been abandoned. 
 
VIII. CONCLUSION 
 
Pursuant to the Petitioner’s requests, the County makes the following determinations with regard 
to the Subject Property:    
 

1. Mining operations were abandoned at the Subject Property commencing as 
early as 1956; 

 
2. Neither the Petitioner nor any other party has a vested right to mine at the 

Subject Property. 
  
PUBLIC TESTIMONY RECEIVED REGARDING VESTED RIGHTS:  

The County of Nevada received testimony from multiple residents, property owners, or other 
individuals with knowledge of historical activities on the Subject Property.  No testimony was 
received that provided evidence of subsurface mining operations since 1957.  
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ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW: 

The County’s action to approve the Resolution finding that neither Petitioner nor any other party 
has a vested right to mine at the Subject Property as the mining use was abandoned does not 
constitute a discretionary action subject to CEQA.  The CEQA Guidelines define a “discretionary 
project” as a “project which requires the exercise of judgment or deliberation when the public 
agency or body decides to approve or disapprove a particular activity, as distinguished from 
situations where the public agency or body merely has to determine whether there has been 
conformity with applicable statutes, ordinances, or regulations, or other fixed standards.  The key 
question is whether the public agency can use its subjective judgment to decide whether and how 
to carry out or approve a project.” (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, § 15357, emphasis added).   
 
In this case, the County is functioning in a quasi-judicial capacity to make findings of fact based 
on a review of evidentiary materials supplemented by the Petitioners to support its claim of vested 
mining rights (i.e., a property right).  The County’s findings of fact are based on other evidentiary 
materials in the record including the County’s own investigation of the facts, evidence received 
from the community and evidence received from federal, state or local regulatory agencies.  
County staff note that future actions to approve a Reclamation Plan or other land use entitlement 
may be subject to environmental review pursuant to CEQA and Guidelines. 
 
SUMMARY: 

In conclusion, staff recommend that the Board of Supervisors make a finding that the Petitioner 
has abandoned the mining use on the Subject Property.  If the Board of Supervisors makes this 
finding, and if the Petitioner intends to pursue mining operations at the Subject Parcel, the 
Petitioner would be required to obtain a Use Permit.  Therefore, this determination regarding 
vested rights is exempt from CEQA because it is not a project as defined by CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15378.   
  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  

Nevada County staff recommend that the Board of Supervisors take the following actions: 
 
I. Environmental Action:  Find the action statutorily exempt pursuant to section 15378 of the 

CEQA Guidelines from the requirement to prepare an EIR or a Negative Declaration for 
the approval of a Resolution finding that the Petitioner does not have a vested right to mine 
due to abandonment of the mining uses at the Subject Property (“Resolution”).  The 
County’s action to adopt the Resolution does not constitute a project that is subject to 
CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines. 

II. Action:  Adopt the Resolution finding that neither the Petitioner nor any other party has a 
vested right to mine at the Subject Property, as the mining use was abandoned  
(Attachment 1), and make the following findings, pursuant to Chapter 9 of the California 
Public Resources Code, Sections 2710, et seq., known as the “Surface Mining and 
Reclamation Act of 1975,” and Nevada County Land Use and Development Code Section 
L-II 3.21:  
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A. That the proposed action is consistent with SMARA statutes and regulations; and 
 

B. That the County has regulatory authority and responsibility as the SMARA lead 
agency pursuant to Section L-II 3.22.D.1 of the Nevada County Land Use and 
Development Code and Public Resources Code Section 2728; and 
 

C. That the proposed action is deemed necessary to protect the public health, safety, 
and general welfare. 

  
 
Item Initiated by: Katharine Elliott, County Counsel 
 
Approved by: Brian Foss, Planning Director 
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PART 1

ITEM 1.  BUSINESS

   Registrant was incorporated under the laws of the State of
California on July 12, 1922, under the name of California Copper
Corporation, as a holding company for the shares of Engels Copper
Mining Company which was incorporated under the laws of the State
of California on June 19, 1901.  Engels Copper Mining Company was
merged into California Copper Corporation on March 3, 1936, and the
name of the merged company was changed to California-Engels Mining
Company.  Exploration and development commenced at the Engels Mine,
Lights Creek Mining District, Plumas County, California, upon
organization of Engels Copper Mining Company; but it was not until
1914 that milling facilities were available and actual production
of copper started.  From 1914 until operations were suspended due
to the low price of copper in July, 1930, approximately 4,700,000
tons of ore were mined from the Engels and Superior mines and
milled producing 160,170,000 pounds of copper and substantial
values in gold and silver.  Out of profits of this operation, the
Registrant retired a bond issue of $500,000 and paid out more than
$1,285,000 in dividends.  During the 1930's the mining and milling
plant, Engelmine townsite and the Indian Valley Railroad subsidiary
were dismantled and sold.

   Registrant's mining properties have been continuously leased
from September, 1947, to March, 1951; from March, 1951, to
December, 1959; from November, 1960, to October, 1979; from August,
1980, to August, 1990; and from November, 1990, to April 1993.  The
lessee from 1964 to 1993 was Placer Dome U.S. Inc., San Francisco,
the U.S. Subsidiary of Placer Dome Inc., Vancouver, B.C., Canada. 
The Mining Lease With Option to Purchase dated November 1, 1990,
between the Registrant (Lessor) and Placer Dome U.S. Inc. (Lessee)
was terminated by Placer Dome U.S. Inc. effective April 20, 1993. 
Registrant has received a substantial amount of technical data on
its mining properties.  Thousands of feet of drill core from the
Superior Mine, Sulphide Ridge and the Engels Mine are stored at
Crescent Mills, California.

   During the 1960's and 1970's Placer Dome U.S. Inc. conducted an
exploration and development program on Registrant's Superior Mine,
Sulphide Ridge property and Engels Mine.  They identified two large
porphyry-type copper bearing zones and estimated that the Superior
Mine contains 72 million tons of 0.384 percent copper at a 0.2
percent cutoff, plus some silver credit; and the Sulphide Ridge
area contains an undetermined large tonnage of low-grade material
estimated to grade approximately 0.25 percent copper. The Engels
Mine is estimated to contain 6.6 million tons of 0.781 percent
copper amenable to bulk mining methods.  Other exploration targets
remain to be tested including an intensely sheared area in the
quartz monzonite southeast of the Superior Mine and north of
Superior Ridge, the Quigley Prospect; the area between the Superior
and Engels mines in the quartz monzonite near its contact with the
coarse grained granite; along the main fault zone and the
metavolcanic, quartz diorite, gabbro contact northeast of the
Engels Mine; and an indicated quartz monzonite intrusive beneath
the Engels Mine where a deep ore system could be found.  These
deposits and prospects are not deemed economically attractive under
current conditions for the mining industry in California and the
United States.

   Registrant is subject to a State of California General
Industrial Activities Storm Water Permit.  During the year,
pursuant to the Registrant's Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan,
silt fences, catch and evaporation basins and storm records were
maintained.

   Effective February 14, 1995, Registrant reached an agreement
with Shasta Land Management Consultants, Redding California, to
prepare a Non-Industrial Timber Management Plan to allow for future
timber harvests and a Forest Management Plan to qualify for
landowner assistance programs for forest improvement programs on
Registrant's 938.12 acres on Lights Creek and 204.75 acres in
Genesee Valley.  The archaeological survey required by the plan
began in August 1994, proceeded during 1995 and will continue in
1996 by two contract archaeologists.

  Application was made to the Plumas County Planning Department
during the year for a General Plan Zone Change of 162.12 acres
along Lights Creek to Important Timber and Prime Mining.  The
change became effective February 13, 1996.

ITEM 2.  PROPERTIES



   (a)  Registrant is the fee owner of 36 patented lode mining
claims totaling 736 acres, plus 162.12 acres of other patented land
and holds eight unpatented lode mining claims totaling
approximately 160 acres by right of location.  All claims and
patented land are located at Engelmine, Lights Creek Mining
District, Plumas County, California. On August 31, 1995, Registrant
completed the purchase of 40 acres of patented land at 6000 Diamond
Mountain Road, on Lights Creek within two miles of the above
property. None of the claims or patented lands are subject to any
encumbrance.  Pursuant to the provisions of Section 314 of Public
Law 94-579 of the Federal Land Policy of 1976, all unpatented
mining claims owned by the Registrant are recorded with the Bureau
of Land Management.  A Certification of Waiver of payment of the
1995 Maintenance Fee for unpatented mining claims was filed with
the Bureau of Land Management for the assessment year ending August
31, 1995.

   (b)  The Registrant is the fee owner of 11 patented lode mining
claims totaling 204.75 acres and 184.20 acres of deeded mineral
rights in the Genesee Mining District, Plumas County, California. 
None of the patented claims and mineral rights are subject to any
encumberance.

ITEM 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

   None

ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

   None

ITEM 5.  MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S CAPITAL STOCK AND RELATED
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS

   (a)  Principal Markets.

   Registrant's shares of Capital Stock are traded in the over-the-
counter market and quoted in the "pink sheets" which are published
daily by the National Quotation Bureau, Inc.

<TABLE>
   The following table shows the high and low bid prices of
Registrant's Capital Shares in the Over-the-Counter Market for the
past two years:

<CAPTION>
                                High Bid           Low Bid
<S>                             <C>                <C>
1995 Market Price               $ .75              $ .50

1994 Market Price               $ .75              $ .25
</TABLE>

   (b)  Approximate number of holders of capital stock.

   The approximate numbers of holders of record of Registrant's
Capital Stock as of March 8, 1996, is 959. 

   (c)  The Registrant has never paid a dividend on its Capital
Stock because it has had an accumulated operating deficit since the
merger in 1936.  The Board of Directors of the Registrant is
endeavoring to maintain a strong liquid position so that funds are
available for the maintenance of its mining properties and
development of its timber resource.  It is not the intention of the
Registrant to pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
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ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

<TABLE>
Year Ended December 31
<CAPTION>
Selected Financial Data  1995     1994     1993     1992    1991

- -----------------------  ----     ----     ----     ----    ----
<S>                      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>     <C>
Operating Revenues        25,202   22,935   23,835   43,876  21,828
Net Income (Loss)         (2,719)  (9,024)  54,455   19,534  11,149
Income (loss) from
 continuing operations
 per capital share        (.004)  (.0118)    .0715    .0257   .0147
Total Assets             355,732  338,175  354,647  301,478  78,008
Working Capital           22,830   12,032   59,876   59,081  78,395
Shareholder's Equity     355,682  329,325  336,174  281,718 262,187
</TABLE>

ITEM 7.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL



CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS             

   (a)  Financial condition, changes in financial condition and
results of operations.

   (1)  Liquidity and capital resources.
       
   During seventeen years, the Board of Directors of the Registrant
has endeavored to increase working capital, total assets and
shareholder's equity in the event that its lessee, Placer Dome,
U.S. Inc., terminated its Mining Lease With Option to Purchase
agreement and return the mining properties to the Registrant.  This
event occurred effective April 20, 1993.  Changes in working
capital, total assets and shareholder's equity for the past five
years are summarized as follows:
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
Changes               1995     1994     1993     1992     1991
- -------------         ----     ----     ----     ----     ----
<S>                   <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>      <C>
Working
Capital ($)            22,830   12,032   59,876   59,081   78,395
Total Assets          355,732  338,175  354,647  301,478  278,008
Shareholders Equity   355,682  329,325  336,174  281,718  262,187
</TABLE>

   The objective of the Board of Directors of the Registrant is to
maintain a strong financial position so that funds are available
for the maintenance of its mining properties and development of its
timber resource.
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  (2)  Results of operations.

  Registrant's principal sources of income are from interest,
dividends, capital gains, sale of rock and the sale of timber.   
there is no assurance that any of the sources of income will
continue at current rates into the future.  The termination of the
Mining Lease with Option to Purchase agreement substantially
increased Registrant's property maintenance expenses.

ITEM 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

   Financial statements relying on Rule 3-11 of Regulation S-X
which allows the filing of unaudited statements of inactive
registrants are listed in the index to financial statements and
schedules, and are included under PART IV, Item 14, of this report.

ITEM 9.  DISAGREEMENTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

   There were no disagreements on accounting and financial
disclosure matters required to be disclosed in this item.

PART III

ITEM 10.  DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
<TABLE>
   (a)  Identification of Directors.

<CAPTION>
Directors Name        Positions            Year First   Principal
and Age               and Offices          Elected      Occupation
- -------------         -----------          ----------   ---------
<S>                   <C>                  <C>          <C>
Norman A. Lamb        President            1978         Mining
(59)                  & Director                        Executive
Greenville, CA

Thomas J. Reardon     Vice President       1975         Retired
(74)                  & Director
Daly City, CA

James E. Brousseau    Secretary-Treasurer  1987         Mining
(64)                  & Director                        Executive
Vallejo, CA

Richard C. Poulton    Director             1993         Senior
(52)                                                    Account
San Mateo, CA                                           Executive
                                                        FIserv,Inc.
</TABLE>
   There are no arrangements or understandings between any of the
foregoing persons and any other person or persons pursuant to which



any of the foregoing persons were named as directors.

<TABLE>
   (b)  Identification of Executive Officers.
<CAPTION>
Name of Officer           Age          Office Held

- ---------------           ----         -----------

<S>                       <C>          <C>
Norman A. Lamb            59           President

James E. Brousseau        64           Secretary-Treasurer
</TABLE>
   There are no arrangements or understandings between any of the
foregoing persons and any other person or persons pursuant to which
any of the foregoing persons were named as executive officers.

   (c)  Identification of certain significant employees.

   None

   (d)  No family relationships exist between any of the above
named directors and executive officers of the Registrant.

   (e)  Business experience.

     (1)  Norman A. Lamb is a Mining Executive and an officer and
director of several public mineral companies.  He serves the
Registrant as President, was Secretary-Treasurer until November 16,
1987, and has been a Director since 1978.

     (2)  Thomas J. Reardon is retired and formerly was a
Department Manager for Foremost Dairies.  He serves the Registrant
as Vice-president and has been a director since 1975.

     (3)  James E. Brousseau is a Mining Executive and an officer
and director of several public mineral companies.  He was elected
Secretary-Treasurer and a Director on November 16, 1987.

     (4)  Richard C. Poulton is a Senior Account Executive,
Electronic Banking Services Division, FIserv Inc.  He was elected
a Director of the Registrant on March 27, 1993.

     (5)  Leola M. Schwarz passed away on October 28, 1993, at the
age of 95.  She had served as a Director since 1976, was the mother
of Thomas J. Reardon, an officer and director of the Registrant,
and the widow of Paul W. Schwarz, an officer and director of the
Registrant from 1954 to 1978.

   (f)  Involvement in certain legal proceedings.

   There have been no events under any bankruptcy act, no criminal
proceedings and no judgments or injunctions material to the
evaluation of the ability and integrity of any director or
executive officer during the past five years.

   (g)  Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

   Registrant is not aware of any person who at any time during the
year 1995 was a director, officer or beneficial owner of more than
10 percent of Registrant's capital stock who failed to file on a
timely basis reports required by Section 16(a) during 1995 or prior
years.

ITEM 11.  Executive Compensation

<TABLE>
   (a)  Cash Compensation.

<CAPTION>
Name of individual or        Capacity      Cash Compensation
number in group
- ---------------------        ---------     -------------------
<S>                          <C>           <C>

Norman A. Lamb               President     $0.00

Officers and Directors
 as a group - Four persons
 including those named above.              $0.00
</TABLE>

   (b)  Compensation pursuant to plans.



   During the fiscal year, Norman A. Lamb was reimbursed for out-
of-pocket expenses and mileage.

   (c)  Other compensation.

     None

   (d)  Compensation of directors.

   During the fiscal year, directors waived a fee of $500 each for
their services as directors.

   (e)  Termination of employment and change of control
arrangement.

     None
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ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and
Management

   (a)  Security ownership of certain beneficial owners.

<TABLE>
   The following table shows, as of March 8, 1996, the number of
shares of Capital Stock held by every person owning of record or
known by the Registrant as owning beneficially more than five
percent of the outstanding stock:

<CAPTION>
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners

Title of Class     Name and Address    Amount and Nature   Percent
                   of Owner            of Ownership        of Class
- --------------     ---------------     -----------------   -------
<S>                <C>                 <C>                 <C>
Capital Stock      Norman A. Lamb      164,113 shares      21.6%
 Par Value         P. O. Box 778       owned of record and
 $0.25/share       Greenville, CA      beneficially*
                   95947

                   Poulton Trust       50,253 shares       6.6%
                   551 West 30th Ave   owned of record
                   San Mateo, CA
                   94403

                   Thomas J. Reardon   81,620 shares       10.7%
                   162 E Market St     owned of record
                   Daly City, CA       and beneficially**
                   94403

                   State Controller    97,657.4 shares     12.8%
                   State of CA         owned of record
                   Div. of Unclaimed
                   Property
                   P.O. Box 942850
                   Sacramento, CA
                   94250  
</TABLE>

*  Includes 85,595 shares owned by Nevex Corporation, a Nevada
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Jenex Gold Corporation,
a Washington Corporation, of which Mr. Lamb is President, a
Director and majority shareholder.

**  Includes 74,508 shares owned by Thomas J. Reardon, Edward P.
Reardon, Michael T. Reardon and Frank J. Reardon, as joint tenants
with right of survivorship.
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   (b)  Security ownership of management.
<TABLE>
   The following table shows as of March 8, 1996, all shares of
Capital Stock beneficially owned by all directors and all directors
and officers of Registrant as a group:
<CAPTION>
Capital Stock Beneficially Owned
<S>             <C>                 <C>                   <C>
Title
of Class        Name of Beneficial  Amount and Nature of  Percent
                Owner               Beneficial Ownership  of Class
- --------------  ------------------  --------------------  --------
Capital Stock   James E. Brousseau  86,595 shares owned   11.4%
Par Value                           of record and
$0.25 per share                     beneficially*

                Norman A. Lamb      164,143 shares owned  21.6%



                                     of record and
                                     beneficially**

                Richard C. Poulton  50,253 shares owned   6.6%
                                     beneficially***

                Thomas J. Reardon   81,620 shares owned   10.7%
                                    of record and
                                    beneficially****

                All directors and   297,016 shares        39.0%
                officers as a group
                (four persons)
</TABLE>
*  Includes 85,595 shares owned by Nevex Corporation, a Nevada
Corporation, and wholly owned subsidiary of Jenex Gold Corporation,
a Washington corporation, of which Mr. Brousseau is Secretary-
Treasurer, a Director and substantial shareholder.  Mr. Brousseau
may be deemed to have shared voting and investment power with
respect to such shares.
**  Includes 85,595 shares owned by Nevex Corporation, a Nevada
corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of Jenex Gold Corporation,
a Washington corporation, of which Mr. Lamb is President, a
Director and majority shareholder.  Mr. Lamb may be deemed to have
shared voting and investment power with respect to such shares. 
***  Includes 50,253 shares owned by the Poulton Trust, of which
Mr. Poulton is co-trustee.  Mr. Poulton may be deemed to have
shared voting and investment power with respect to such shares.
****  Includes 74,508 shares owned by Thomas J. Reardon, Edward P.
Reardon, Michael T. Reardon and Frank J. Reardon, as joint tenants
with right of survivorship.  Mr. Thomas J. Reardon may be deemed to
have shared voting and investment power with respect to such
shares.
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   (c)  Changes in control.

   Mr. Lamb may be deemed the "parent" or a "control person" of
Registrant, as those terms are defined under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  The re are no arrangements known
to Registrant the operation of which may at a subsequent date
result in a change of control of Registrant.

ITEM 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

   None

PART IV

ITEM 14.  Exhibits, Financial Statements, Schedules and Reports on
Form 8-K

   (a)  Financial Statements:                             Page

   Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1995                 F 2-3
     and December 31, 1994.
                                                  
   Statements of Operations and Accumulated 
     Deficit for the Years Ended December 31, 1995,
     December 31, 1994, and December 31, 1993.            F 4-5

   Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
     December 31, 1995, December 31, 1994, and
     December 31, 1993.                                   F 6-7

   (b)  Notes to Financial Statements                     F 8-12

   (c)  Exhibits

     EX-27 Financial Data Schedule.

   (d)  No reports on Form 8-K were filed during the last
             quarter of 1995.
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SIGNATURES

       Pursuant to the requirements of section 13 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused



this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.

CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
   Registrant

By   Norman A. Lamb
   Norman A. Lamb, President and
   Chief Executive Officer

Date:  March 31, 1996

   Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

By    Norman A. Lamb
   Norman A. Lamb 
   President and Director 
   March 31, 1996

By    Thomas J. Reardon            
   Thomas J. Reardon
   Vice-President and Director
   March 31, 1996

By    James E. Brousseau             
   James E. Brousseau
   Secretary-Treasurer 
   Chief Financial and Accounting
   Officer, March 31, 1996

By    Richard C. Poulton            
   Richard C. Poulton
   Director, March 31, 1996
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
(A California Corporation)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 1995
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994
(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
ASSETS
<CAPTION>
                                   1995               1994
                                   ---------          ---------
<S>                                <C>                <C>
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents          $   22,830         $   12,032
  Current portion of deeds of
  trust - Note 5                   $    7,241         $    6,051

  Total Current Assets             $   30,071         $   18,083

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
   Furniture and equipment         $   33,775         $    6,017
   Land                               116,696             78,696
   Timber Management Development   $   33,571         $        -
   Less:  Accumulated depreciation $   (9,025)        $   (5,866)

     Total Property and Equipment  $  175,017         $   78,847

OTHER ASSETS
   Marketable securities - Note 6  $   95,205         $  178,079
   Deeds of trust - Note 5             55,439             63,166

      Total Other Assets           $  150,644         $  241,245

      Total Assets                 $  355,732         $  338,175
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
BALANCE SHEETS
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994
(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
ASSETS
<CAPTION>
                                   1995               1994
                                   ---------          --------
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
<S>                                <C>                <C>
LIABILITIES
   Accrued expenses                $       50         $    8,050
   Income tax payable                       -                800
   Total Liabilities               $       50         $    8,850

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
   Common stock, par value $.25:



   California-Engels Mining Company, 
    761,257.6 shares
    issued and outstanding
    in 1995 and 1994               $  190,315         $  190,315

   Unrealized gain
   on investments - Note 6             31,251              2,175
   Reduction surplus               $2,801,249         $2,801,249
   Accumulated deficit             (2,667,133)        (2,664,414)
       Total Stockholders' Equity  $  355,682         $   329,325

   Total Liabilities and
    Stockholders' Equity           $  355,732         $  338,175
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995, 1994 AND 1993
(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                             1995         1994         1993
                             -----        -----        -----
<S>                          <C>          <C>          <C>
REVENUE
  Timber revenue             $   2,125   $      175    $     575
  Dividend income                7,095       11,786       10,837
  Interest income                9,796       10,660       12,273
  Miscellaneous income           6,186          314          150

    Total revenue               25,202       22,935       23,835 

OPERATING AND GENERAL EXPENSES
   Depreciation                  3,159          124          149
   Reclamation plan expense       4,000        3,233            -
   Insurance                      4,430        3,500            -
   Management fees                    -        8,000        8,000
   Interest                         262           58            1
   Office and storage rents       4,110        3,983        3,600
   Office expenses                1,695          521        1,075
   Professional fees              1,275          850        1,270
   Taxes and licenses             6,487        4,615       11,254
   Travel and per diem            1,084        3,925        3,100
   Miscellaneous                    343          409          383
   Repairs and maintenance        4,260        2,339            -
   Total operating and
   general expenses            $ 31,105   $   31,557    $  28,832

   Net income (loss) from
   operations                  $ (5,903)  $   (8,622)   $  (4,997)

OTHER INCOME
   Gain on sale of securities  $  1,443   $      246    $  73,217
   Tax benefit - federal
   carryback                      2,541            -            -
   Total other income (expense)$  3,984   $     (246)   $  73,217

   Federal and California
    income taxes               $   (800)  $    (648)    $ (13,765)

   Net income (loss)           $ (2,719)  $  (9,024)    $  54,455
</TABLE>
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND ACCUMULATED DEFICIT
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995, 1994 AND 1993



(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                            1995        1994         1993
                            -----       -----        -----
<S>                         <C>         <C>          <C>
                           
ACCUMULATED DEFICIT,
   Beginning of year        $(2,664,414) $(2,655,390) $(2,709,845)

ACCUMULATED DEFICIT,
   End of year              $(2,667,133) $(2,664,414) $(2,655,390)

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE   $    (0.004) $    (.0118) $    0.0715
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995, 1994 AND 1993
(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
                              1995         1994        1993
                              ------       ------      -----
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
<S>                           <C>          <C>         <C>
   Net Income (loss)          $  (2,719)   $ (9,024)   $ 54,455

   Adjustments to reconcile net income
   (loss) to net cash provided by
   operating activities:
   Depreciation                   3,159         124         149
   Amortization of GNMA discount   (499)       (495)     (1,058)

   Gain on sale of securities    (1,443)       (246)    (72,323)
   (Increase) decrease in:
    Dividends receivable              -         523         523
    Increase (decrease) in:
    Taxes payable                  (800)     (9,327)      7,880
    Accrued expenses             (8,000)       (296)      1,346

  Net cash provided (used)
    by operating activities    $(10,302)    $(18,741)  $(10,074)

<CAPTION>
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
<S>                               <C>         <C>         <C>
Additions to notes receivable           -          -      (36,784)
Payments received on
  notes receivable                   6,537      5,407       2,912
Purchases of securities
   and investments                    (285)   (60,627)    (76,688)



Proceeds from sale
   of securities                   113,511     25,246     127,453
Deposit to principal GNMA              666        871       4,489
Capital Expenditures               (99,329)         -           -
   Net cash provided (used)
   by investing activities          21,100    (29,103)     21,382
</TABLE>
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 1995, 1994 AND 1993
(Unaudited)
<TABLE>
<CAPTION>
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
<S>                               <C>         <C>        <C>
Payments on loan                      -          -       (10,513)

   Net cash provided (used)
     by financing activities          -           -      (10,513)

   Net increase (decrease) in
    cash and cash equivalents     $ 10,798    $ (47,844) $    795
<CAPTION>
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
<S>                               <C>         <C>        <C>
 Beginning of Year                $  12,032   $  59,876  $  59,081
 <CAPTION>
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
<S>                               <C>         <C>        <C>
  End of Year                     $  22,830   $  12,032  $  59,876

<CAPTION>
                                  1995        1994       1993
                                  ------      ------     -----
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
<S>                               <C>         <C>        <C>
Cash paid during the year for:

    Income taxes                  $    800    $   9,975  $  2,454

    Interest                      $    262    $      58  $      1

<CAPTION>
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON CASH INVESTING ACTIVITIES
<S>                               <C>        <C>         <C>

   Dividends Reinvested           $      -   $    563    $    271

   Increase in unrealized
     gain on marketable
     securities                    $  29,076  $   2,715  $      -
</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial
statements.

page F-7
<PAGE>
CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

   The Company's books are maintained on the accrual method of
accounting.

Estimates

   The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts
and disclosures.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from
those estimates.

Mineral and Timber Lands

   Mineral lands and depreciable property are stated at book value
less accumulated depletion and depreciation.  Depreciation is
calculated using the declining balance method over five to seven
year lives.  Timber depletion is calculated based on units of



production.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

   For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company
considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a
maturity of three months of less to be cash equivalents.

NOTE 2 - MINING CLAIMS AND FEE LAND OWNED

   At December 31, 1995, the Company was the owner of 36 patented
lode mining claims and eight unpatented lode mining claims
comprising the Engels and Superior Mines and 162.12 acres of
patented lands at Engelmine, Lights Creek Mining District, Plumas
County, California.  The unpatented mining claims are contiguous to
the patented mining claims.  In addition, the Company purchased
during the year 40 acres of patented land at 6,000 Diamond Mountain
Road within two miles of the above property.

   At December 31, 1995, the Company was the owner of 11 patented
lode mining claims and 184.20 acres of deeded mineral rights on
Ward Creek in the Genesee Mining District, Plumas County,
California.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

NOTE 3 - VALUATION OF MINERAL LANDS - DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

   The Mineral lands carried on the books at a value of $10,000
less depletion have a historical cost basis from June 19, 1901 of
$1,000,000.  Beginning in 1913, different valuations were placed on
these lands by the Commissioner of Internal Revenue.  Under
instructions by the Commissioner the values of the land were
written up on the books to a high of $4,500,000 on February 23,
1928.

   In 1934, because of depressed conditions, the mineral lands were
written down to $10,000 without any tax benefit.  In the event of
a sale of these lands the recognized gain for tax purposes will be
substantially reduced or eliminated.  Consequently a deferred tax
asset of approximately $340,000 has been offset by a
corresponding valuation allowance of approximately $340,000 due to
the unlikelihood of the sale of the property in the near future.

   Current generally accepted accounting principles dictate
carrying properties such as these lands at historical cost or the
lower of cost or market value.  It is estimated that the current
market value of the properties meets or exceeds the $1,000,000
historical cost basis; however, due to the length of time the
Company has reported the land values at the written down value of
$10,000, a change to the cost method has not been deemed
appropriate for reporting purposes.

NOTE 4 - GENERAL

   Pursuant to the provisions of Section 314 of Public Law
94-579 of the Federal Land Policy of 1976, all unpatented mining
claims owned by the Company are recorded with the Bureau of Land
Management.  A Certification of Waiver of payment of the 1996
maintenance fee for unpatented mining claims for assessment year
ended August 31, 1995, was filed with the Bureau of Land Management
on August 14, 1995.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

NOTE 5 - DEEDS OF TRUST
<TABLE>
   Trust deed notes receivable at December 31, 1995 and 1994
consist of the following: 
<CAPTION>
                     1995                                1994
                     ---------------------------------   ------
                     Due within   Due after   Total      Total
                     ----------   ----------  --------   -------
<S>                  <C>          <C>         <C>        <C>
 Douglas R.
Friedrich
  9% Note secured by



  Plumas County,
  California
  real property      $  2,556     $ 36,859    $ 39,415   $ 41,752
Less unamortized
  discount               (677)      (3,505)     (4,182)    (4,852)
Total                $  1,879     $ 33,354    $ 35,233   $ 36,900

Robert F. Carmody
 10% Note secured by
 Plumas County,
 California
 real property       $  3,490     $  8,867     $ 12,357  $ 15,516

John and Tina Tucker 
 9% Note secured by
 Plumas County,
 California
 real property       $  1,872     $ 13,218     $ 15,090  $ 16,801

                     --------     --------     --------  --------
Total                $  7,241     $ 55,439     $ 62,680  $ 69,217
</TABLE> 

NOTE 6 - MARKETABLE SECURITIES

   The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in
Debt and Equity Securities, and has applied the provisions of the
Statement as of January 1, 1994.  The effect of the change in the
method of accounting for certain investments as of January 1, 1994
is reported as a separate component of stockholders' equity.
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CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

   The investment securities portfolio was comprised of items
classified as available for sale and held to maturity, and in
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 115 they are recorded on
the balance sheet at their estimated market
value and amortized cost respectively.

   At December 31, 1995, the securities held as available for sale
had an aggregate market value of $90,542 and an original cost of
$59,147.  The held to maturity security's cost of $4,663
approximates market.

      At December 31, 1994, the securities held as available for
sale had an aggregate market value of $173,246 and an original cost
of $171,071.  The held to maturity security's cost of $4,833
approximates market.

      The net unrealized gain in the portfolio is reported as a
separate component of stockholders' equity.

NOTE 7 - RECLASSIFICATION

      For comparability, the 1994 financial statements reflect
reclassification where appropriate to conform to the financial
statement presentation used in 1995.

NOTE 8 - CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

      The Company places its temporary cash investments with
financial institutions and limits the amount of credit exposure to
any one financial institution.  
 
NOTE 9 - FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

      The carrying amounts reflected in the balance sheets for cash
and deeds of trust their respective fair values.  The Company
estimates that the fair value of all financial instruments at
December 31, 1995, does not differ materially from the aggregate
carrying values of its financial instruments recorded in the
accompanying balance sheet.  The company does not currently hold
any financial instruments for trading purposes.

page F-11
<PAGE>
CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 1995 AND 1994

      The estimated fair value amounts have been determined by the



Company using available market information and appropriate
valuation methodologies.  Considerable judgement is necessarily
required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of
fair value, and, accordingly, the estimates are not necessarily
indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a
current market exchange.

NOTE 10 - CONCENTRATION OF ACTIVITY

      The Company's principal line of business is development of
mineral and timber properties.  The principal revenue sources
currently consist of timber sales and investment income.  The
Company's properties are located in the western United States.

NOTE 11 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

      The Company is not a defendant in any legal proceeding nor is
there any litigation in progress, pending or threatened against the
Company.
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</DOCUMENT>
<DOCUMENT>
<TYPE>EX-27
<SEQUENCE>2
<DESCRIPTION>EXHIBIT 27 FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULE FOR 1995
              CALIFORNIA-ENGELS MINING COMPANY FORM 10-K
<TEXT>

<TABLE> <S> <C>

<ARTICLE> 5
<MULTIPLIER> 1
<CURRENCY> U.S. Dollars
<FISCAL-YEAR-END>  DEC-31-1995
<PERIOD-START>  JAN-01-1995
<PERIOD-END>                                        DEC-31-1995
<PERIOD-TYPE>                                       YEAR
<EXCHANGE-RATE>                                     1
       
<S>                                                 <C>
<CASH>                                                 22,830
<SECURITIES>                                           95,205
<RECEIVABLES>                                          62,680
<ALLOWANCES>                                                0
<INVENTORY>                                                 0
<CURRENT-ASSETS>                                       30,071
<PP&E>                                                184,042
<DEPRECIATION>                                          9,025
<TOTAL-ASSETS>                                        355,732
<CURRENT-LIABILITIES>                                      50
<BONDS>                                                     0
<COMMON>                                              190,315
<PREFERRED-MANDATORY>                                       0
<PREFERRED>                                                 0
<OTHER-SE>                                            165,367
<TOTAL-LIABILITY-AND-EQUITY>                          355,732
<SALES>                                                 2,125
<TOTAL-REVENUES>                                       29,186
<CGS>                                                       0
<TOTAL-COSTS>                                          31,105
<OTHER-EXPENSES>                                            0
<LOSS-PROVISION>                                            0
<INTEREST-EXPENSE>                                        262
<INCOME-PRETAX>                                        (1,919)
<INCOME-TAX>                                              800
<INCOME-CONTINUING>                                    (2,719)
<DISCONTINUED>                                              0
<EXTRAORDINARY>                                             0
<CHANGES>                                                   0
<NET-INCOME>                                           (2,719)
<EPS-PRIMARY>                                          (0.004)
<EPS-DILUTED>                                          (0.004)
        

</TABLE>
</TEXT>
</DOCUMENT>
</SEC-DOCUMENT>
-----END PRIVACY-ENHANCED MESSAGE-----
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(01/12/90) ABANDONED SITE PROGRAM INFORMATION SYSTEM 
FACILITY PROFILE REPORT 

COU TY: PLUMAS 

FILE U BER FACILITY 

32-10-0003 E GLE MINE 
DIAMO D MOUNTAIN ROAD 
TAYLORSVILLE, CA 96020 

REGION: NORTHERN CALIFORNIA 

OPERATOR LAND OWNER 

916-258-2111 000-000-0000

FU D SOURCE: SITE SURVEY PROGRAM 
ACTIO STATUS: PA REQ. (HIGH) DATE: 02-07-89 

DATE ACTIO COMMENT 
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12-15-88 2101 FACILITY IDENTIFIED
01-05-89 1020 ALIAS ADDRESS

2401 SITE SCREENING DONE 

CO ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH - HAZ WASTE PLAN 
SE 1/4 SECT 4, T27N, RllE, MBDM 
UNDERGROUND SILVER AND COPPER MINE, NEED 

2 MORE INFO. RECOMMEND PAH 
3 MINE IS SIMILAR TO OTHER SUPERFUND SITES 

N 

N 
N 

N 
N 

N 



Site: 

County: 

ASPIS: 

EPA ID Number: 

Prepared By: 

Date: 

Recommendation: 

Supervisor: 

Supervisor's 
Signature: 

Date : 

PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT 
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH SERVICES 

TOXIC SUBSTANCES CONTROL PROGRAM 

Engel Mine 
Diamond Mountain Road 
Taylorsville , CA 96020 

Plumas 

32 - 10- 0003 

None 

Karl Palmer 
Site Mitigation Unit 
Rural County Survey Program 
(916) 322- 2879 

April 6, 1990 

No Further Action 

Don Plain 

,,__ :l I I 

·//(p o/..> 



SITE DESCRIPTION AND HISTORY 

The Engel Mine, an abandoned copper mine, is located in the 
northeastern corner of Plumas County, about nine miles north of 
Taylorsville (T 27N, R llE, Sec. 17) off of Diamond Mountain Road 
(See Figure 1) (Reference #1) . The site is currently owned by the 
California Engels Mine Company (Plumas County Assessor ' s Parcel 
numbers 007-090-01 and 007 - 090- 02) (Reference #2). 

The Engel Mine is the northernmost mine in the Plumas Copper 
Belt . The California Division of Mines and Geology describes the 
Plumas Copper Belt as 11California 1 s most significant zone of 
copper- iron sulfide mineralized rock that is either wholly within 
or closely associated with granitic intrusions (Reference #3) ." 
The Engel Mine location was discovered by Harry and Bill Engel of 
the Pacific Brass and Lock Foundry in 1878 . The Engel Copper 
Mining Company was incorporated in 1906 and plans were made to 
build a 500 ton blast furnace to process the copper. However, 
the U. S . Forest Service would not allow the Engels to build the 
blast furnace on the grounds that it would cause degradation of 
Lights Creek and the surrounding forests (Reference #4) . 

Copper ore was mined from shafts cut into the steep hillsides. 
The ore was then sent to the top story of the mill where a ball 
mill pulverized the ore into a powder (A ball mill is a giant 
cylinder containing hundreds of steel balls which is filled with 
the ore and rotated). The powdered ore was then gravity fed to 
the next lower level of the mill where it was mixed with pine oil 
and agitated in floatation cells . Copper metal has an affinity 
to pine oil, thus the metal would float to the surface where it 
was skimmed off and the waste rock removed . The concentrated 
ores were then sent, with the aid of gravity, down the mill to 
railcars for shipment (Reference #4) . 

Engel Mine operated from 1916 to 1930 and produced in excess of 
two million tons of ore . The mine ceased operations in early 
1930 when the price of copper fell (Reference #3) . 

APPARENT PROBLEM 

The primary concern at the Engel Mine is the potential 
contamination of Light's Creek and ground water by metals, 
particularly copper. File checks and interviews were 
conducted at the Central Valley Regional Water Quality 
Control Board (CVRWQCB), the Department of Health Services ' 
Toxic Substances Control Program (TSCP), the Department of 
Fish and Game, U.S . Forest Service, and the Plumas County 
Environmental Health Department. No information indicating 
that any problem existed at the Engel Mine site was found 
(References F5, =6, and #7). 



The CVRWQCB conducted site inspections in March of 1985 and 
May of 1986. Samples were analyzed for copper and electrical 
conductivity. Sample results showed that EC was less than 200 
and that copper was not at highly elevated levels (Reference #6) . 
Specific sample results were not located . The CVRWQCB did at one 
time have a waste discharge requirement for the site, but no 
longer feels the site is a problem (Reference #6). Furthermore, 
the geology of the Engel Mine site does not have notable 
quantities of pyrite (8). This is significant since the primary 
source of acid mine drainage (AMD) is the oxidation of pyrite to 
form sulferic acid. AMO thus results in the the leaching of 
metals into ground and surface waters . The low potential for the 
generation of AMO at the Engel mine makes metal contamination 
problems less probable . 

HRS FACTORS 

HRS factors were not evaluated at this site due to the lack of 
any apparent problem. 

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Conclusion: 

Based on file searches and interviews with the various health and 
environmental agencies, the Engel Mine, which operated as a 
copper mine between 1916 and 1930, does not currently appear to 
pose a threat to human health or the environment. Sampling of 
Light's Creek conducted by the CVRWQCB indicated that copper 
contamination was not a problem. Although other trace metals 
were not sampled for, there is no evidence that they pose any 
problems. 

Recommendation: 

It is recommended that no further action be pursued at the 
Engel Mine site at this time. 
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< 12 / l 3/ (j•()) ABANDONED SITE PROGRAM INFORMA"fION SYSTEM 
FACILITY PROFILE REPORT 

COUNTY: PLUMAS 

FILE NUMBER FACILr·ry 

32-10-0003 ENGLE MINE 

REGION: NORTHERN CALI~ORNIA 

DIAMOND MOUNTAIN ROAD 
TAYLORSVILLE, CA 

OPERATOR LAND OWNER 

000-000-0000 

CALIFORNIA ENGLES MINING CO, 
PO BOX 471 
I,) Ft L. L. E J 0 
()00·-·000·-·0000 

FUND SOURCE: SITE SURVEY PROGRAM 
ACTION STATUS: NO FURTHER ACTION 

CHARACTERIZATION ITEM 

102 FACILITY SJ"ATUS 002 
103 CURRENT OWNERSHIP 006 
104 OPERATOR 006 
106 SURROUNDING LANO USE 004 
111 RWQCB REGION 005 
306 ACCESS 002 

DAlE ACTION 
------

INACTIVE 
PRIVA"TE 
PRIVA""f E 
FOREST U)ND 

DATE: 04·-·06·- 90 

W:iL.UE 

CENTJ.:AL 1.,'ALLE Y 
UNCONTROLLED 

COMMENT 
-·--·-·-·--· 

12-15-88 2101 FACILITY IDENTIFIED 1 CO ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH - HAZ WASTE PLAN 
SE 1/4 SECT 4, T27N, R11E, MBOM 
UNDERGROUND SIL.VER AND COPPER MINE, NEED 
MORE INFO. RECOMMEND PAH 

01-05-89 1020 ALIAS ADDRESS 
2401 SITE SCREENING DONE 

09-08-89 2115 RECORDS SEARCH 
09-26-89 2115 RECORDS SEAl~CH 
09-27-89 2115 RECORDS SEARCH 
10-03-89 2115 RECORDS SEARCH 

10-25-89 2102 FACILITY DRIVE-BY 

04--05-90 2115 RECORDS SEARCH 
04-06-90 2402 PRE.LIM ASSESS DONE 

1 
1 
2 
3 
1 
1 
1 
1 
2 
:L 
2 
1 
1 
..... 
..:: 

MINE rs SIMILAR TD OTHER SUPERFUNO SI"f[S 
TSCP FILE SEARCH: NO F"ILES ON SITE. 
CVRWQCB REDOING BRANCH:NO FILES FOUND. 
FISH ANO GAME HAO NO INFO ON PROBLEMS. 
CVRWQCB CONTACT DID INSPECTION OF SITE, 
NO INFO ON PROBLEMS. 
DRIVEBY SHOWED OLD FOUNDATION ANO ENTRAN 
CE TO MINE. APPEARED INACTIVE. PHOTOS. 
US FOREST SERVICE: NO KNOWN PROBLEMS 
NO FURfHER ACTION AT SITE DUE TO NO 
EVIDENCE OF ANY PROBLEMS . 
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TRACE ELEMENTS IN 
THE PLUMAS COPPER BELT, 
PLUMAS COUNTY, CALIFORNIA 

By Arthur R. Smith 
Geologist, California D1vis1on of M ines and Geology. 
San Francisco. Cal1forn1a 

Photo 1 Superior mine area and mill site foundation. The area. In Sec 17. T 2 7 N. R 11 E. Is underlain by the quartz 
monzon,te of L ghts Creek The photo was taken from the level of the creek. which flows north-northeast through the pluton. 
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APPENDIX 
Analytical Methods 

SAMPLING 

Composite samples ( I 31) of granitic rocks were col­
lected for analysis. Spectrographic analyses were 
made on the heavy mineral fraction of each sample; in 
addition, the light mineral fraction in some samples, 
and/or the total sample, were analyzed for compari­
son. Each sample consisted of about 11 individual 
specimens, each specimen weighin~ 250 to 400 grams 
collected from different outcrops within a 500 to 1,200 
square foot area. This composite sample approach was 
used to reduce the effects of variation in metal content 
between outcrops. After removing weathered sur­
faces, most samples then weighed about 2.3 kilograms. 

The samples were reduced in a Braun jaw crusher 
with semi-steel jaws and Braun pulverizer with 
ceramic plates. The crushed material was split to 
about a 90-gram sample, pulverized to -80 mesh, and 
the -80 to+ 325 mesh fraction, or a split thereof, was 
separated in bromoform (S.G. 2.82) usmg a centrifuge. 
The heavy ponion (S.G. > 2.82) included: magnetite, 
hornblende, biotitc, pyroxene, chlorite, epidote, tour­
maline, sphcnc and sulfide minerals. This separation 
removed more than 95 percent of the heavy minerals. 

The heavy mineral separate represented between 6 
and 16 percent of the total rock by weight and 
weighed from two to seven grams. About one gram of 
this was split out and ground to - 200 mesh for spec­
trographic analysis. 

SPECTROGRAPHIC PROCEDURE 

A 70-milligram ponion of the -200-mesh heavy 
mineral fraction for each sample was weighed on a 
semi-micro balance and mixed with 30 milligrams of 
buffer•. This mixture was pelletized by compressing 
in a die at 6,000-8,000 pounds per square inch for 
about one minute. 

Analyses for IO clements were made by d-c arc emis­
sion spectroscopy, using a Jarrell-Ash 3.4 meter Eben 
spectrograph. The compressed pellets were mounted 
in I /4 inch diameter electrodes (Graf-Gard Spec­
trodes, type 23), and burned in pure argon at 5 liters/­
minute using a Stallwood jct. Exposures were made at 
2,3~3,000 A for 45 seconds with an arc gap of 
3 I /2 to 4 millimeters and a current of 20 amperes. A 
12-micron slit and a 4-stcp sector were used which 
permitted 12 samples to be run on each Kodak SA-I 
plate. The plates were developed in D- I 9 Kodak deve­
loper for 4 1/2 minutes and read with a Jarrell-Ash 
Model 21-000 Com~rator Microphotometer using a 
prepared set of anificial standards for comparison. 

Detailed analytical results for each sample are con­
tained in an open-file rcpon of the same title at the 
California Division of Mines and Geology, in the 
Ferry Building, San Francisco, California. 

•Bufkr mi.matt comisled ol l put KzS04 mixed with internal standards Be0 
and CdO. which - ~ground.ind added to ooe put of GazOi and three 
pans by weipt of pelletin1-typc eraphite. 
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Description of the Engels. Superior. and 
Walker Mines 

The Superior and Engels mines were active be­
tween 1916 and 1929. After the fall in the price of 
copper in early 1930, orerations were suspended. Pub­
lished figures for tota production from both the En­
gels and Superior mines indicate that two million tons 
of ore was produced in the Superior mine. Old mine 
records, which include data from some exploratory 
holes, indicate that some low-grade ore remains. 

Table 7 in the appendix presents production statis­
tics available from the Annual Reports of the State 
Mineralogist, the Mines Register and from company 
annual reports. About 161.5 million pounds of copper 
was recovered from 4.5 million tons of ore at the En­
gels and Superior mines between 1915 and 1930. The 
main years of mining at the Walker mine were from 
1918 to 1931 and from 1935 to 1941. A tabulation of 
available production figures for the Walker mine is 
included m the appendix (table 8). 

ENGELS MINE 

The ore body of the Engels mine is tabular, plunges 
steeply northward, and trends N. 60° E. and extends 
from the main shaft in Sec 4 into Sec 9, T 27 N, R 11 
E toward the Superior mine, about two miles distant. 
Although the ore body occurs in an intrusive rock of 
different composition than that of the quartz monzo­
nite of Lights Creek, it is only 1,500 to 2,500 feet from 
the eastern border of the Lights Creek stock (fig. I) 
and ranges from 500 to 800 feet higher in elevation. 

The ore consisted of about equal proportions of dis­
seminated chalcopyrite and bornite within sheared 
quanz diorite and diorite. An intrusive relationship 
with a hornblende gabbro pluton was reported in the 
underground workings. The surface extent of the 
hornblende gabbro was not determined because of its 
poor exposure. 

The ore minerals were in sheet-like forms roughly 
parallel to the strike of the ore body, thus imparting 
a streaked appearance to the ore. The shearing is 
thought to have resulted from flow cleavage developed 
during final magmatic emplacement. In the main ore 
body, the layers may be scattered throughout the 
shear zone that ranges from 40 to 50 feet in width. 
There were numerous concentrations of the ore into 
one or two layers, each one to three feet wide. Magne­
tite, ilmenite, biotite, hornblende, orthoclase, tourma­
line, and quanz are gangue minerals. Workings in 
1928 totalled about 12 miles of drifts, cross-cuts, and 
raises on 15 levels; ore was mined by shrinkage stop­
ing, with stope dimensions as large as 600 feet long, 40 
feet wide, and over 1,000 feet high (Averill, 1928). 

By 1930, the mine had been developed by a series of 
IO adit levels, of which No. IO adit with a length of 
8,357 feet was the main haulage level; a winze sunk 
from this adit opened up Levels 11 to 15. The Engels 
ore body has been mined to a depth of 1,300 feet. In 
its longest pan, on the seventh level, it extends 800 feet 
with a maximum width of 100 feet. 
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On Feb. 18, 1939, the Golden Gate International Expos~ion opened for a two-year run on Treasure Island on San Francisco Bay. In 
honor of the 50th anniversary of the fair, a story on the steam engines that were featured in the Cavalcade productions.is in this issue of Steam 
Forever. Pictured are Nevada Central Engines 5 and 6 as the Jupiter and Union Pacific 119, recreating the historic Gold Spike ceremony 
at Promontory, Utah in 1869. 
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A Short Line 
on Short Line #8 

Betty J. Boynton 

The dictionary states that "restoration" is the act of making something 
old like new again, But to Jim Boynton and the "mighty few" who tackled 
the complete restoration of Engine 8 in July, 1984, the statement was all 
too simple. Restoration was far from spraying on paint, a shot of oil and 
hopping aboard to take a ride. It meant many long hours of work to remove 
and find replacements of old parts, grinding off grime and countless layers 
of paint right down to bare metal and days in the firebox replacing fire­
bricks. There were ruined clothes, sore muscles and restless nights 
wondering how to solve a problem. Such an undertaking separated the men 
from the boys and the dedicated from the dreamers. Engine 8 is now 90% 
restored and special thanks is given to those who gave of their time and 
knowledge, even if for an hour or two, to Jim and the faithful volunteers, 

Special Thanks ... 
To Road Foreman of Engines Errol Spangler for cleaning and adjusting 

the brushes on the turbo generator (let there be light). He also worked as 
passenger brakeman during our steam days and is a member of the 
illustrious "Santa Fe Caboose Boys", very special friends of #8 who are 
always ready to lend a hand. We thank them all. 

Chief Electrician Mike Attama for welding and applying builder's plate 
attachment bolts to the engine smokebox. 

Director John Marvin for his dedicated all-around restoration work that 
has added up to many hours. He is the senior steam fireman and noted 
buddyof#8. 

Engineer Steve Jackson for his relief firing duties on our steam days. 
He also donated two classification lights which are now proudly displayed 
on #B's front end on running days. Two green flags above the lights making 
an impressive shot for photographers, Steve was also in on the "dirty work" 
of restoration. 

Supt. of Pipes, Valves and Fittings Gordon Wollesen for helping with 
the engine air brake system and tender draft gear. He has been a conductor 
on our steam days. 

Road Foreman of Engines Iver Gregory for the excellent job he did 
cutting and assembling the small windows for above the boiler head and 
the doors for access to the engine running boards. Jim Boynton painted and 
finished them to match the cab interior roof and they will be installed by 
John Marvin. 

Supt. Hank Stiles for assisting with air brake problems and on the tender 
draft gear. He also is a conductor on the steam days and in training as 
fireman on #8. 

V.P. Robert Rohwer, Jr. and Trainmaster John Rohwer for traveling 
many miles to help in the operation of#8. They are always glad to handle 
the paint brushes and the "dirty work". 

Engineer Norman Holmes for his assistance on the_ tender draft gear. 
Museum Asst. Gen. Mgr. Hap Manit for acquiring materials and tools 

for our work. He is.known as a professional "conniver" and A-1."Go-Fer". 
The ladies of the project will now take a bow ... V.P. Charlene Marvin and 
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It's Done 

Kevin Bunker, shown here at work, has now 
completed the lettering and logo on Engine B's 
tender and cab. The work was started last 
year, but due to heavy work schedules, Kevin 
was not able to return until this June 16 to 
finish the outstanding job. Kevin was long 
associated with the Sacramento State Rail­
road Museum as a researcher on authentic 
lettering and painting of historical railroad 
equipment. We are very appreciative of the 
effort and time he donated to our little rail­
road. Our engine now carries authentic Bald­
win-type lettering and a colorful green and 
gold logo. 

Kevin is a Feather River Short Line V.P., 
Director of Research and Art and is a locomo­
tive fireman trainee on #8. 

Kevin's talents are also displayed on T­
shirts he designs and the authentic detailing 
and painting of model engines. We appreciate 
his sharing of talents with us. 

Thank you, Kevin, for a job well done! 

Short Line, continued 
Director-Sec. Tres. Betty Boynton. Charlene has sacrificed many fingernails while scraping paint on the 
caboose in preparation for the big make-over, and is responsible for the comfortable cushion on the engineer's 
seat of#8, Your author is mastering the technique of engine washing and wiping and the art of transferring 
the grease and grime from the running gear to her clothes and bringing it home. All for the love of#B! 

The thrills and rewards of five years oflabor were realized in the three running week-ends of the Feather 
River Short Line 8. The engine is beautiful and really knows how to "strut her stufl". On May 13, 1989, in 
spite of bad weather, she was out in all her glory. When the storm cleared, it presented impressive lighting 
for the cameras ofNils Huxtable of"Steam Scenes" in Vancouver, B.C. The steam hung in the cool air and 
Jim Boynton made many impressive steam runs, pulling freight cars of the FRRS. There is a possibility that 
#8 will be in one of the "Steam Scenes" calendars in 1990! The Short Line also operated on May 14. 

With improved weather, the June 10-11 and July 8-10 week-ends attracted many steam lovers. Engine 
8 did not let them down, she performed in the Hi-Class manner she is known for. The years ofrestoration were 
hard on the little "puffer" too, but she is now enjoying the reward of Ratience along with her good friends who 
cared. 

Feather River Short Line's Gen. Mg. Jim Boynton has been selected to be Grand Marshall of the Feather 
River Railroad Days Parade in Portola on Aug. 26, 1989. Parade Committee member Romayne Miller stated 
the honor was long overdue for Jim's lifetime of devotion to railroading as a career and for the preservation 
of steam railroading history in print and photographs since 1932. His labor oflove in restoring and operating 
his beloved Engine 8 represents a true "train lover". Ask #8, she knows! 
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Railroading at the Fair 
By Ted Wurm 

Both San Francisco and New York City featured 
great World Fairs just before the start of what the 
British refer to as the "1939-45 War" (WW 2). San 
Francisco's fair was to celebrate completion of the . 
Bay Area's two great bridges. The affair in New York 
had tremendous national publicity and major rail­
road participation. Our fair was on man-made Treas­
ure Island in the middle of San Francisco Bay; it was 
a disappointment to local railroad enthusiasts. 

Railroad and other transportation displays (the 
largest, a new Greyhound bus) were in the Vaca­
tionland Building and consisted mainly of films, 
photos, dioramas, and posters. Three featured oper­
ating model railroads: Union Pacific, Southern Pa­
cific, and the California-Nevada Railroad Historical 
Society. Static displays were offered by WP, Santa Fe, 
D&RGW, C&NW, PRR, and the Pullman Company. 
The only real railroad operation at the Golden Gate 
International Exposition, as it turned out, was nar­
row gauge-two trains running on the 400-foot stage 
of "Cavalcade of the Golden West." This was a 75-
minute presentation of four centuries of western U.S. 
history (written by Art Linkletter). 

,--~---------
A major part of "Cavalcade" showed completion of 

the First Transcontinental Railroad. Locomotives 
representing Central Pacific 4-4-0 Jupiter and Union 
Pacific No. 119 actually steamed onto center stage 
three times a day, whistles blowing, steam billowing 
overhead, audience (it sometimes filled the 7,000 
seats) jumping up and cheering. Entering from the 
left was a beautiful 4-4-0 playing the role of Central 
Pacific Jupiter. From the right wings softly emerged 
a polished 2-6-0 in the role of UP 119. Both were 
actually three-foot-gauge engines in their 60's, that 
only two years earlier had been stuck away in a dusty 
engine shed in central Nevada-relics of the aban­
doned Nevada Central Railroad. 

Southern Pacific had approached the Virginia & 
Truckee Railroad in 1938 inquiring about the availa­
bility of engines 11 and 18 for use at the forthcoming 
fair on Treasure Island. They were quoted $1,750 
each and nothing further was mentioned, probably 
because Gilbert Kneiss of the Railway & Locomotive 
Historical Society had acquired the two Nevada 
Central locos for the Society and presumably offered 
them to the Fair officials in return for restoration to 
good operating condition. The relatively small Ne­
vada locos, accompanied by two ancient coaches, 
arrived at Oakland in gondola cars and were soon 

Engineer Dan McKellips stts proudly on Jupiter, portrayed by Nevada Central engine 5 on the huge 400-foot stage of the Caval~ade 
production. Dan liked to "lay on the whistle" when the engines were fired up to let everyone know all over Treasure Island that the engines 
were ready to go. 

Dan McKellips-,J.E. Boynton collection 
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barged over to Treasure Island to be made ready for 
the Fair's opening day on February 18, 1939. Both lo­
comotives had interesting historical backgrounds and 
were destined for iron horse immortality. 

Nevada Central No. 5, built by Baldwin in 1976 
had started life as Sonoma No. 12 of North Pacifi~ 
Coast (NPC) Railway, running from Sausalito to the 
redwood-lumbering area of Duncan's Mills in Califor­
nia, Only three years later, in one ofNPC's financial 

depressions, Sonoma was sold to the Nevada Central 
(NC) and spent the next half century on the 87-mile 
semi-desert run between Battle Mountain and Austin. 
Acting for UP 119 at the Fair was former Nevada 

Shown in a publicity photo for the Fair in 1938 is Virginia and 
Truckee R.R. 21 (J. W. Bowket'). Pictured left to right are Dan 
McKellips, engineer; Marie Powell, theme girl; and Gilbert Kneiss, 
who became V.P.-Public Relations for the Western Pacific R.R. 
Gilbert was a well-known railroad expert and Dan was the first #1 
engineer on the Western Pacific as well as a vice-president of the 
Short Line. The unfinished Tower of the Sun is in the background. 

James E. Boynton collection 
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Central No. 6, an 1879 Baldwin, which had a "boomer'' 
career before joining NC in 1924. It started life as 
Utah & Northern 13, was soon sold to Nevada's 
Golconda & Adelaide. In 1914 the little Mogul was 
sold again, this time to nearby Nevada Short Line 
where it worked for six years as No. 1 before goin~ 
over to NC. 

The two old desert veterans, being products of the 
appropriate era, fittingly portrayed their"First Trans­
continental" roles and had earned accolades for their 
steamingperformances on the massive stage at Treas­
ure Island. The following decades certainly detracted 
from the World's Fair glory however, as the engines 
were shunted about the Eastbay area from one tem­
porary storage place to another. In view of the fact 
however, that any place for ancient steam locomo'. 
tives was extremely difficult to find for the next. 30 
years, we are fortunate that these two .were kept 
through the hard work of Gilbert Kneiss and fellow 
members of the Pacific Coast Chapter, R&LHS. 

During the war years and up to about 194 7 Jupiter 
and 119 were placed with their old coaches and two 
former Virginia & Truckee engines (J. W. Bowker and 
Empire) on temporary tracks behind eight-foot-high 
ooru:dfencingon a vacant lot across from SP's Berkeley 
station. There was no roof, but at least vandals were 
kept out and wild blackberry vines almost covered 
the old Baldwin beauties. Gilmore Steel Co. on the ·· 
Oakland Estuary offered a sanctuary for a couple of 
years that were notable for heavy vandalism. When 
Gil Kneiss came into the hierarchy at Western Pa­
cific, the World's Fair engines and cars were placed on 
WP flatcars and stored inside WP's Oakland round­
house. In October, 1964, they had to be moved again 
this time to the Bay Bridge maintenance buildin~ 
(former Bridge Railway maintenance) near the bridge 
toll booths. There they were secure and sheltered on 
a temporary center track, between the pits, until the 
welcome call came to move them in 1977 to the 
budding California State Railroad Museum at Sacra­
mento, which opened in May 1981. Former NC No. 5 
as NPC Sonoma is lavishly displayed on the museum's 
main floor with a passenger train of 1880's sty le while 
No. 6, the 2-o-0, is displayed up above with its nar­
row-gauge freight train on Nevada Short Line rails. 

This article would not have been complete 
without assistance from Fred A. Stindt, Presi­
dent Emeritus, Railway & Locomotive His­
torical Society. 
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SHORT LINE CINDERELLA 

S.L 
THE SAGA of ENGINE 8 and the FEATHER RIVER SHORT LINE 

By Betty Boynton 
S.L PART3 

Engine 8 ... The Star 
On December 24, 1958, the Rails received a Christ­

mas present, complete with a gold seal and the 
signature of the Secretary of State Frank M. Jordan. 
The Feather River Short Line was now officially 
registered with the State of California as a non-profit 
organization. The Rails were really "on a roll" and 
many ambitious plans kept the energetic group in 
high gear. Richard Reynolds of the Western Pacific 
Passenger Department (an official of the Bay Area 
Electric R.R. Association) was interested in the 
mountain setup and held a meeting at the W.P. 
Building in San Francisco. Members of leading rail­
road clubs were there, and it was discussed that a 
"friendly merger" might be arranged with the Short 
Line. This would enable the bay area groups to bring 
up some of their equipment and operate along with 
the Short Line steam engine. A committee was formed 
to visit Quincy and many plans surfaced. Among 
them was to get the Quincy Junction depot (which 
was up for grabs) and bring it into town for a steam 
museum. •On January 24, 1959, Mr. Reynolds and 
eleven representatives of the governing boards of 
active rail clubs in the bayarea arrived at Quincy 
Junction on the W.P. Budd car. After looking things 
over, an•afternoon of riding• the Quincy R.R. across 
the American Valley was planned. But the compres­
sor of the engine developed a crack and a hasty 
replacement from Engine 8 failed to work. Nothing 
was left but the diesel to entertain the visitors. At a 
meeting that night, it was decided that perhaps the 
long distances involved in bringing up the bay area 
equipment would present too many problems as well 
as expense. The plans were "put on a siding" for 
future consideration that never came about. Un­
daunted, the Rails moved on ... Engine 8 was going to 
make a movie! 

For many months the R;nls had been in contact 
with Warner Bros. and a satisfactory contract was 
signed with Production Manager John Veitch for 
filming in late April and early May. The picture was 
Guns of the Timberland and was the classic saga of 
the wars between the early loggers and the ranchers. 
It would star Alan Ladd (the logger) and Jeanne 
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Crane ( the lovely lady rancher). Alan Ladd, however, 
was very dissatisfied with the script and insisted that 
a young radio-TV writer from Texas named Aaron 
Spelling be brought in for consultation. Although the 
two had never met, Aaron Spelling was making a 
name for himself for his excellent writing. Upon 
meeting, they became fast friends, a bond that lasted 
all of Alan Ladd's lifetime. Aaron Spelling had never 
considered being a producer, but Alan Ladd per­
suaded him to produce this picture, thus launching 
him on a career as one of Hollywood's most successful 
producers. The script was written by Aaron Spelling 
and Joseph Petracca and directed by Robert D. Webb. 
Plumas County was chosen because it could provide 
every location required, the beautiful ranch country 
of Sierra Valley, mountains thickly covered with 
timber and most important, a genuine logging engine 
ready to go. The contract stipulated that the equip­
ment be repainted, turned around at Keddie and the 
services of Solon Luzzadder be available for the 
duration of the contract. Solon became the typical 
stage mother and rounded up all available Rails to 
help prepare #8 for her big screen debut. 

On a glistening April day, with the American 
Valley wall-to-wall green with lush new grass and the 
surrounding snow-capped mountains looking down 
like inquisitive white-haired grandmothers, Solon 
put an eager and willing Engine 8 through her paces. 
Short Line members, W.P. engineers Jim Boynton 
and Robert Larson were along to make sure all was in 
good order before the arrival of the film crew. Befit­
ting the period, loads of wood were stacked on the 
tender and new lettering was on the tender side. Jim - . 

is now General Manager and project foreman of the 
Short Line and Robert is a U.P. engineer. They re­
main the only two engineers qualified by Solon Luz­
zadder to operate #8. Solon made many more "fun 
runs"-before he was satisfied that #8 was A-1. 

On April 26, 1959, the advance crew of 145 people . . 

arrived in Quincy in trucks and vans loaded with film 
making paraphernalia. The crew was lodged in every 
motel, hotel and private room in town. Alan Ladd 
stayed at the Ranchi to Motel and Jeanne Crane was 
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at the Quincy Hotel. Aaron Spelling and his actress 
wife, Caroline Jones, visited briefly. An extra tele­
phone operator was put on to handle the increase of 
calls flooding the Quincy switchboard. The cast in­
cluded: Noah Beery, Jr., Gilbert Roland, Lyle Bettger, 
Regis Toomey, and was the film debut of Alan Ladd's 
daughter Alana, and teen-age singing idol, Frankie 
Avalon as the young lovers. On one occasion, a group 
of Quincy school girls chased Frankie Avalon down 
Main St. until he finally found refuge in the Ayoob 
Department Store. 

On May 1, bad weather kept the filming indoors, so 
the Quincy Grange Hall was converted into a sheriffs 
office and no production time was lost. On May 2, 
shooting took place at the Capitol club on Main St., 
one of the oldest bars in the county. It had a massive 
backbar that had been brought around the Horn, pre­
senting the perfect setting for the lusty loggers to live 
it up and even enjoy a brawl or two. A large black 
curtain had been draped over the building front and 
many a curious resident who peeked inside was 

invited in to enjoy the free lunch. On May 4, filming 
resumed at Blairsden where the depot was renamed 
"Deepwell". The logging and fire scenes were filmed 
in this area. Costumed extras were on hand from 
Quincy and Engine 8 was very much in evidence. 
While resting in a tent between scenes, Alan Ladd 
became ill and a doctor and ambulance were dis­
patched from Portola. Although the star was able to 
resume work, the illness was never publicly dis­
cussed. The balance of the work was done at Little 
Last Chance Canyon and the Guidici Ranch in Sierra 
Valley, some of the most beautiful country in eastern 
Plumas County. It was a reluctant crew that had to 
leave when their work was done and many compli­
ments were expressed about the area and the hospi­
tality. A parting "gift" from Quincy doctors for the 
crew was a flu shot for everyone to ward off any 
"mountain spring flu". 

Engine 8 did the Feather River Short Line proud 
with her stellar performance. She opened the picture 
racing through the picturesque Plumas County tim-

Short Line Engineer Jim Boynton runs Engine 8 across the American Valley in April, 1959 making test runs before the movie crew arrived 
on April 26. The wood stacked on the tender was merely for effect. #8 was originally a wood burner but was later converted to burn oil fuel. 

Robert R. Larson photo 
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her country on Western Pacific tracks hauling two 
open cars full of happy loggers lustily singing "Cry 
Timber". The song was written by Sy Miller. What a 
sight to see #8 steaming across the awesome Clio 
Bridge, smoke drifting into the brilliant blue May 
sky, every part working to perfection. Under these 
circumstances, no wonder the jolly loggers kept sing­
ing! Engine 8 closed the picture slowly pulling out of 
"Deepwell" with Alan Ladd and Jeanne Crane, their 
differences on hold, embracing in one of the open cars. 
Pretending not to notice, the faithful caboose fol­
lowed as the little train faded down the track. The 
movie was distributed in 1960 under the Jaguar 
label. 

Although the picture never won any awards (ex­
cept one for longevity), it can still be seen on televi­
sion. Much good will and financial benefits were 
realized by the community and the Short Line. Many 
of the movie crew returned later with their families 
on vacation and four bought property in the area. 
Aaron Spelling and Alan Ladd requested member­
ships in the Short Line and became vice-presidents 
on May 4, 1959. 

,. 

The bill to Warner Bros. from the Short Line read: 

Minimum Charge 

Painting Equip. 

Turning engine at Keddie 

$750.00 

115.00 

127.50 

Wages to Solon Luzzadder 140.00 
(40 hrs. at $3.50 per hour) 

Total $1,132.50 

The production crew also left a full tender of oil for 
the engine. Payment of this bill allowed the Rails to 
pay a bill for $594.31 to the Feather River Lumber Co. 
for parts and various items they had purchased ... and 
still put money in the treasury. 

If#8 felt wistful when the excitement of"stardom" 
was over, the Rails did not let her sit idle for long. 
There was a big Bay Area excursion scheduled for 
Memorial Day and many more plans were on the 
burner. And the Rails moved on! 

"Into the Financial World" next. 

On May 4, 1959, the Guns of the Timberland film crew and Engine 8 headed for the Blairsden area to film outdoor scenes for the 
production. 

FRSLphoto 
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Mainline to Valhalla - Part 1 
By James E. Boynton 

Valhalla. Indian Valley. What do these mythical names have in com­
mon? Simply stated, Valhalla was thegreatmeetingplacewhere Norseman 
Odin feasted the souls of heroes who bravely fell in battle. Indian Valley is 
the last resting place for railroaders who braved the trials and tribulations of 
the steel rails. Their last resting place was described in a romantic ode of 
yore-Indian Valley. 

This fabulous valley was situated high in the mountains surrounded by 
peaks of rock candy topped with whipped cream. The verdant valley floor 
was dotted with soda pop springs, so goes the story! This mystic landscape 
was a fitting environment for 
the "great roundhouse in the 
sky". Albeit, Indian Valley 
originally existed in song and 
myth-a real honest-to-good­
ness Indian Valley was trav­
ersed by a gone-foreversteel­
trussed Indian Valley R.R. 

The railroad existed in 
Plumas County of California 
and it ran between copper 
mines at Engles to an inter­
change connection with main­
line Western Pacific R.R. at 
Paxton. It all started in the 
1850's when gold fever 
reached epidemic proportions 
in California, spawned by 
John Marshall's surprisingly 
colorful millrace at Coloma. 
Fanning out from the Sierra 
foothills, prospectors sur­
mised that they would dis­
coverthe elusive Mother Lode 
by ascending to the high 
mountain valleys. Prospec­
tors reconnoitering In the 
Lights' Creek area near Tay­
lorsville were dismayed at the 
meager gold discoveries 
found in the region (only about 
$500,000) and knew that the 
elusive Lode was elsewhere. 
Unlike Midas, not everything 
was to tum to gold at the min­
ers' touch. As if the gods were 
to mitigate their abysmal pros­
pects, reward from heaven 
arrived with the discovery of 
richcopperore known as Bor­
nite' in the mid-1870's. 

1878, the boys hit their desired prospect in the North Arm of Indian Valley 
in the Lights Creek Canyon. An elated Henry Sr. was now unshackled from 
the terrible expense of purchasing copper from the Lake Superior mines. 
The location was named Engles' and the first ore mined was so rich assay­
ists predicted thatthe gold and silver associated with the copper would pay 
all operating costs. Transporting the ore to smelters became a management 
headache because of the rough terrain of this remote area. The ore was 
originally handled in rudimentary wagons towed by primitive caterpillar trac­
tors built by Holt Manufacturing Co. The sacked ores were transferred to 
Mack trucks at a favorable intermediate point and then taken for transfer to 
the Western Pacific at Keddie. In an obvious attempt to simplify the logis­
tics the company decided in 1911 to build a500 ton blastfurnace at Engles. 

U.S. Forest Service and 
other interested government 
agencies prudently refused 
to grant permission to oper­
ate the smelter because of 
the terrible damage such an 
operation would ha_ve on the 
environment. Memories of 
devastated forests and cu­
priferous poisoned streams 
were hard to forget. Bad Im­
ages were burned into the 
brains of those who had vis­
ited Kennett, California and 
other smelter operations. 
The poisonous gasses had 
completely denuded the local 
mountains and the streams 
ran green with lifeless slop. 

Realizing a lost battle, 
Engles Copper Mining Co. 
reorganized in 1914 and 
opted for the floatation cell 
method of concentrating their 
ores. This brilliant burst of 
• technology paved the way 
for a more effective means 
of transport by railroad. 

The spectre of a Euro­
pean war was on the horizon 
and management was in a 
most propjtious position to 
capitalize on war's insatiable 
appetite for copper and 
brass. The copper hauling 
railroad was to become a 
total necessity and not by 
any stretch of the Imagina­
tion a luxury. 

The tunnels and a_dits of 

Henry Engles of the Pa­
cific Brass & Lock Foundry in 
San Francisco had sent his 
two young sons, Henry Jr, 
and Bill looking forcopper. In 

Wnteroverviewfrom Western Pacific mainline showing Indian Valley R.R. open deck double span 
Howe Truss bridge just east of Paxton. View looks down stream (E. Branch-No. Fk. Feather River) and 
Paxton water tank can be seen on W.P. at upper lelt of photo. Indian Valley facility is just around the 
curve at the top of the grade in this photo taken in Jan. 1916. 

the mine at Engles were lo­
cated high on the side of Lights 
Canyon. Thisplacedthewhole 
operation in a most advanta­
geous position; able to utilize 
the forces of gravity in the Photo--J.E. Boyntoo coll. 
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movement of the heavy ores. The mining buildings were fastened to the 
steep rocky side of Lights Canyon with heavy steel reinforced foundations 
that still exist today. Basically the processing of the ore started in the upper 
elevation at a ball mill where ore was rolled in huge metal cylinders with 
countless steel balls aboutfour inches in diameter. This method eliminated 

( 

the antidated process of pulverizing ores in a stamp mill. The ball mill 
effectively powdered the ore and gravity fed it into a lower level where it was 
mixed with pine oil and agitated in floatation cells. The metals in the slurry 
had an affinity for the pine oil and floated to the surtace where it was 
skimmed off. The worthless waste rock was removed from the cell as the 

deposit accumulated. The concentrated ore was then 
separated from the oil and sacked. Gravity aided in 
sending the heavy concentrates to a warehouse at the 
bottom of the canyon. This sophisticated operation was 
so efficient that it out produced their present method of 
transport, so in late September 1915 the copper com­
pany ran it's preliminary survey for a railroad. 

In conversations with Indian Valley R.R. Engineer 
Solon Luzzadder, I was told that he happened to be 
having lunch at Engles when Gen. Manager Elmer E. 
Paxton of the copper company entered the cook house. 
He was in the company of several high ranking W.P. 
officers and they immediately became involved in seri­
ous discussion concerning the intended railroad. Em­
barrassed, Solon decided to quietly retreat but was 
asked by the planners to stay and listen to their contem­
plations. Little did he know that he was getting in on the 
"ground floor"of a planned railroad that would eventually 
employ him as one of their locomotive engineers. 

The original plan was to build the Indian Valley R.R. 
along the east side of Indian Creek on the present route 
of Western Pacific's Northern California Extension (high­
line) to Keddie. The prospect of drilling five tunnels would 
prove too costly so this plan was immediately dismissed. 
The consortium then talked over a plan to meet Western 
Pacific tracks at Twain, about eight miles west of Paxton. 
This connection would have involved a switch-back and 
a grade of about 3% to climb the canyon wall up to W.P. 
tracks. 

After many sessions, the planners decided to make 
the interchange at Paxton, high on the canyon side west 
of Keddie. This plan would involve a huge bridge over 
the East Branch of the North Fork, Feather River just 
west of the confluence of Spanish and Indian Creeks. A 
very steep grade of about 6% would be necessary to 
carry the rails up into Paxton. Undaunted, even in the 
face of such difficult terrain, engineers reluctantly de­
cided on this route. 

Indian Valley R.R. owned hotel at Paxton, CA about 1920. Once called Rainbow's End because of 
multicolored rock formation in background. Near tracks are Western Pacific and track crossed by walkway 
is Indian Valley R.R. track climbing the hillside to interchange just west of W.P. depot. Corner of 
enginehouse can be seen at lower right of photo and present highway 70 was cut into base of cliff in 
background on other side of river. The lodge still exists today although somewhat altered by fire damage 

The planned bridge would be a double span, open 
deck Howe Truss built on a curve of wooden beam 
construction. Much trestle work was necessary to 
complete the north end of the span to a point near the 
first passing track known as Long Siding. Emmett Gil­
more, a Western Pacific locomotive fireman who was 
firing for me on an Oakland yard "goat", told me how his 
father C.P. Gilmore built the bridge. The project was 
indeed awesome. Huge supplies of timbers and mate­
rials came via Western Pacific and were lowered down 
the 6% to the precipitous edge of the canyon high above 
the river. Here the concrete abutment for the tremen­
dous bridge was established to anchor the south end of 
the structure. The massive concrete footings supporting 
the center portions of the Howe Truss are still visible to in late(years. • 

Guy L. Dunscomb coll!fClion. this day standing forlornly among the bleached boul-
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ders. 
Gilmore's work as Supervisor of Bridges and Buildings forW.P. certainly 

qualified him for this demanding project and the bridge survived with 
minimum maintenance until the end of the railroad. Engineer Luzzadder 
• off en told me that in the last years of operation the little 2-8-0 locomotives 
set up a rolling motion on the bridge and it made a normally uninteresting 
trip very exciting. Timidness was certainly not a requirement in this opera­
tional procedure that called for a "run like hell" trip over the bridge attacking 
the 6% and the sharp curve just oft the south abutment. Long Siding was 
established just north of the Howe Truss so that trains originating at Engles 
could be broken into cuts short enough to pull up the heavy grade without 
stalling. Doubling the hill was a planned operation and it sometimes worked 
into a triple. 

Someone, completely disregarding the principles of good railroad prac­
tice, suggested that the Indian Valley R.R. be built to narrow gauge. Willis 
J. Walker of the lumber empire at Westwood had planned to connect with 
the Indian Valley at Forgay Point, a few miles north of Crescent Mills. His 
standard gauge Northern California railroad was to roughly follow the 
course of the present Western Pacific "Highline" from Westwood to Forgay 

Point. The ludicrous narrow gauge plan was dispensed of immediately be­
cause any sane railroad plannercoufd see the absurdity in building a narrow 
gauge railroad with standard gauge interchange at two points. The reload­
ing of the extremely heavy commodities into standard gauge cars was 
based upon faulty judgement and the operation of the newly planned rail­
road would become and exercise in futility. 

The Forgay Point connection would give the Walkers the long dreamed 
of interchange with Western Pacific via the Indian Valley R.R. The freight 
rates imposed on their finished lumber traffic were becoming oppressive 
and Southern Pacific's connection via Susanville amounted to a transpor­
tation monopoly. Western Pacific's building of the N.C.E. resulted in the 
death of the Northern California R.R. and new life into moderating rate 
structures. Walker could now interchange dlrectlywith the new W.P. line at 
Red River Jct. and Westwood proper. 

1 Ephraim Light, pioneer settler 
2 Bornite CU5 Fe S4 
3 Engles Copper Mining Company, incorporated in 1906 

Engle mine in Lights Creek Canyon located in the North Arm of Indian Valley. Railroad depot is seen in the foreground as train from Paxton 
arrives at lower right. Employees working the upper reaches of the mill must have felt they did a days work just climbing the hundreds of 
steps on the stairway to the plant. The pipe on the falsework crossing the railroad carried water to the company dormitory built on the west 
side of the canyon. The only remains left of this once busy enterprise are concrete foundations and twisted steel beams of the headworks. 
Photo ca. 1920. J.E. Boynton collection. 
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Special Notice 
In answer to many inquiries, the donation box for the Short Line, located in the cab of Engine 8, is the 
only receptacl,e available to us at the museum. The restoration work is made possible by donations in 
the box, by mail and from our membership fees. Starting in the next issue of STEAM FOREVER, we 
will acknowledge the members whose generosity is helping to preserve our little railroad. 

Roundhouse in the Sky 
We sadly report the passing of Short Line member, Treasurer 'Ibm Lilley. He was also a member of the 

"Santa Fe Caboose Boys" group and his assistance and friendship will be greatly missed. 

Other Information 
• We recommend the special tours of the coal mine railroads now being conducted under the direction of 

Traci Parent at the Black Diamond Museum located near Pittsburg and Antioch. Rare photographs of the 
operations from Short Line V.P. Dan McKellips-Gen. Mgr. Jim Boynton's collection are featured. The 
photos were enlarged by Jim. 

• Executive V.P. Don McBride and Mrs. McBride have presented the Short Line with many rare and 
valuable works of railroad art for the proposed museum in our future plans. They have made many cash 
donations that have helped our work. They are the owners of the Eilley-Orum Antique Shop and The 
Bucket of Blood Saloon in Virginia City, NV. Thankyou. 

• Jim Boynton and Guy Dunscomb have been close friends for over fifty years. It is with much pride we 
announce that Guy's son Don, his partner in Guy L. Dunscomb & Son, Railroad Publications, has now 
joined the staff of STEAM FOREVER. With his expert assistance, we will continue to publish a high­
quality, informative newsletter for our valued members. Don is now working with Guy on a new 
publication, "Southern Pacific Steam Pictorial", featuring 11 x 17 photographs. The Dunscomb name is 
held in the highest esteem in the railroad world, so we will certainly keep you posted on the progress of 
the publication. 
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I NAME--------------------
1 
I ADDRESS-------------------
1 I CITY,STATE&zrp ________________ _ 

l TITLEREQUESTED ________________ _ 

I YOURPRESENTEMPLOYMENr ____________ _ 

J Lifetime membership $15.00. Please mail to: 

L _ ~etty J. Boynton~e_: Treasurer, Feather River Short Line R.R.~484 Chandl~Road, Quincy, CA ~597~ _ _J 
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.J 

CHROMITE. 
uincy District tlm'o pro11pt•l'ts wcro uot<•d which hod not 
1rnd11ctio11 up to t1, .. eud of July, l!HS. 1 

butt.el 1111d ThomM Hughs of (~uiucy had two locu.tioua iu 
~il1ll' l'1tit011 ur ~l iddl11 t,'ork ut l<"'l'nthcr l<ivcr. 

HiO 11F (Jui11c•y hud IIIW 11111h•vdo11cu pl'Oltl)COt tht•oo tnUc, 

1111tch Prulc Sawmil l. 

1 of Mendow Vnllry had two locat ions which wore under 
H Yo1111g nncl A. L. Smith of Qniocy. Two men had 

i1wctin~ late in July, J!)J8, and hoped to produce a carload 

hrome Mine.1 Owners, :'lfcCnrly and Jlughs, Quincy, 
L Vt>l'.V i11Hl'C:t'M,iblc port of tho (~ui11cy DiRtr ict on the 011st 

ltlll• l•'nrk of l•\•11tl1e1· Bivcr, in SCl'. 14, 1.'. 23 N., R. 9 E., 
011tlnn•1,t of C~11incy. '!'hr group comprises two clailll8 
operated u11dcr len11e by the Union Chrome Company. 
ip11l orehody was n lens of solid chromite 6' wide in the 
i~O' long; tho southern 20' of the orebody had been offset 
,f !i' by a fuult. 'J'his Jens had a northerly str ike and 
W. It was suid to carry 46% Cr,O1 . 

·v1•lopccl by an open cut. At the end of J uly, 1918, 
I lwcu rniued and there was said to be no more in sight . 
fl'Om this property raisC's abou t 3000' in ascending the 
the end of n road wh ic•h, in turn, drops 3000' to Quincy 

• of about six miks. 

nv~ chrome property is n<'n r Greenville. It is owned by 
(• 11 und F red KO('nig of Greenville and was leased on 
,. K Vandercook of Oakland, who is n•por tC'd to have 
his lease to the Western O1·cs Company. 
hat one ca1· of ore was shipped in 1916 and two cars in 

1111,{ 32% Cr~Oa. T he property was idle in July, 1917. 

COPPER. 

'\lining Company. (Sec under Gold.) 

See u11dcr Gold.) 

ng and Copper Queen Mines. Owners, Wm. H. Bacon, 
c·on, Eureka, Utah. 

S.:c. 21, T. 26 N .. R. 16 E., 13 miles northweftl o r Doyle (W. P. Ry,) 
,ylc and Squaw Valley Road. Elevation 6300'. 

irty contains four claims- the Copper Kin g, Copper 
r, and P ioneer-a total area of 80 acres covering 3000' 
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aloitl( the lmk It 111 11itunfrcl on the ridJe1• 11orthcu11t of Ltuit Chance 
f'r 1,k nnd t lwrt• 111 n gootl st111HI of piuo t i111lwr ou tho property . 

The 1•ln1mlf ure proHpcel1', locull'tl in Hill, untl only a limitt>d a111ount 
of prospecting 11111; bc1N1 <lmw. 

I)('volopmr11t "ork nt t imc ot \'i1tit in J !ll3 l.'0111111tccl of a lWlnel, 
~0' Joug 0 11 tho ( 'up1wr {-ltll'f.'H 011tl II Hl'l'i1•i. of shuftH 10' to 20' in dopth. 

1'lw d11po111t 1•u1111i1,t11 or 11 1111111•1,: n•i11 c•11p1wd with iron goHuu 
~cLWl'l'II wnllH u l' di111·11t-. II 11v,•ral(P11 2' 111 wullh witlt u 11111ximum ot 
4'; stt·ikt•s 11orlh \\'C'!ll 1 d11>11 ,ert1cnlly uud has II provPu length on tho 

8urfn('O of :3000'. 'J'he orr eou taios chaleopyrile and bornite. 
The Golclcn llo 1"1;1.' 8hoe group adjoins on the H0Uthwest. 

Oosmopolitan. (~1•c 1111d<1r Oold. ) 

El Dorado Group. Owons, Paul !-;onoguiui uuu L. Duby, Chilcoot. 
1..oc:.1llon: Sec ~6. '1' ~ I i-: . n u E .. S mllu north or C'hllcoo1 {W. P Ry ) 

t,y rol\d. F.t,·,·Rtlon 6100' 

'l'Ji is property co1111i11l:-i of five cluiuu;: the El Do1·ado No. 1 aud 
No. 2, Benr, \\'il<l Cut und Nupoleon, situated on the timbered ridge 
east of Last Ch1111ce Creek. It ('ovrrs n length along the lode of 3000', 
8ocl is 70 a(•res in area. 

The propel'ty was cliseo1 erl'd i11 1!)09 and has been wo1·ked off and 
on sine(• thttt date. Ont' e111· of ore, ussaying 56% copper, was 
Jtippc<l. 

Do\'clopment work c:om,i1,ts of a crosscut tunnel GO' to the vein, 
rutting it 50' b(•low the 011trrop, and a d rift easterly for 155'. 

Tho deposit rousists of n sl'ril·s of quartz fissu re veins in grn.nite. 
The ore is lmsic, tOnloi11ing rh11lco1write, bornite, malachite, and 

11zurite. 'l'he 11111in n•in hus II rnuxi 111uu1 wicltl1 of 5' with an average 
of 3', strikes eust, and dips 55° N., with a p1·o vcu leugth on the sur­
face of 3000'. Then· is nn E.-'\\'. Ycin 500' south of the main vein 
with n twmd ou it 2:>' long, whith shows the ,·ciu to be 5' wide, 
and the ore to averugc 5% to 6% copper. 

Equippl•cl with a whim only. 
Mohawk mitws adjoin on t he north. 

Engels Mine. Owneri,, Engels Coppt:r )fining CoJJ1pany, 393 Mills 
Building, Ban l•'rnm•ii;co; U cm y Engels, president; E. E. Paxton, 
genernl manager. 

Locnllon: Llght11 Cn1)on Mining District, S~c. ◄ (and olhor11). •r. 27 N .. R. 11 
Jo:, on lnJlan \'Rlky Rallway, ~~ mile• from Paxton, the Junction with 
tho \Ve11lcrn P,1cHlc R.dlwa). l::lc,ullon ~263'. 

BlblloHntPhf: U. S. Gt•UI. Surve,, Dull. 260 and :!G3. C1•I. Slnlo Min. Bur. 
nupt. XII, pug1•11 68 69. Mining n.n<I !';c,lentlllc Pre11s, July 31. 1915. 
11. \\'. Turnl"r an<I ,\ F. HoHcrs. A G{"r,luglc an<I Microscopic Study or a 
lllogmallc Copp1:r Sulphhlt• DcpoHlt In Plumas County, E conomic Ueology, 
Vol. JX, No. ◄• 1911. I,. C. Craton ttml 0. H. M cLaughlin: Ore Deposition 
and Enrl,·hm1·11l :,( Enl(~III. Cu.lHornla. 1,:cunomlc Geolog)', Vol. XII, No. I. 
January, 1917. lltlnl'l:l Hand Book, 1918. 



1.IINF.."J A.NO MlN&I\Af, ru,;sounoKS. 

• '!'he property contlline Hi4 claiu11s, of which 23 aru palcutcd. There 
are two groups, known 1\8 Engels and Superior mines, the latter being 
two and one-half milcii south of tho Engels ruiuc. The lode is covered 
for about three miles; there arc good outcrops on mnny of tho claims, 
and the entire area iH bl'liovcd to bo well mineralized. In 1917 the 
l'0mpany claimed 1tn oro rcarnrvo ot not leHs thuo 3,000,000 tons of oro 
111,ovo thl• tu11ol'I h•v,1IK1 1111d tolul Jll'OlJRulo 1·,•11orvt•11 or not Jou tl11m 
10,000,000 tou11 of :!!ii <•oppcr ore. 

Diller mapped the country rock in the vicinity as granodiorite. 
Rogers describes tho rock in which the ore occurs as norito-diorite. 
Ho notes granodiorite, sowe of it rich in biotite, as a differentiation 
product of the diorito. Graton and .McLnughli11 des<•ribc it as'' uoritic 
in character, being composed of plagioclase and slightly subordinate 
amounts of orthorhombic and monoclinic pyroxl'nes, and biolito. " 
'fhcy observe that it is "probably a bnsie diffol'cntiutc of the groat 
Ricrra Nevada batholith of gruuodiorite." 

'furncr and Rogers dcscribrcl the Engolll mine cleposit us a mag. 
matic segregation. Accordiug to Turner, the ore occurs disseminated 
through the fresh diorite, in which 11101;t of the fractures aro post 
mineral. The metallic oxides ,md Hulphides, as described in their 
article, appear to have cryst.allized out from the magma in the same 
wuy as the feldspar hornblende, pyroxene and biotite. Quoting 
'l'urner, '' tbc ore mincrnls are lurgely i11tcrstitial bctwcl'n tlll' silicate 
mincru.lii, and thus later in crystallizing out." J n the Superior deposit, 
on the other hand, the ore minerals are largely deposited along joint 
planes, and are clearly of secondary origin. 1'hese writers, particu­
larly Profe&ior Rogers, came to the conclusion that the development 
<if cbalcocite and some cov11 llite by replacement of bornito is the work 
of ascending, heated alkaline waters. 

Oraton and McLaughliu, as the result of later studies of the deposit 
and of many thin sections of the ores, took issue with the above 
findings. They concluded that: 

"1. The ores, iustead of being magmatic in the 8CIINe thut they were 
initial constituents of the dioritic rock in which they occur, were 
introduced after the rock had solidified and had suffered notable 
dynamic and chemical changes, and constitute replacements formed 
under pneumatolytic und hydrothermal conditions • • •. 

"2. Although the possibility of formation of a small amount of 
chnlcocitc from asceuding solutions can not be absolutely excluded, 
no satisfactory evidenre of chalcocite of replacement origin formed 
in this way, i. e., by upwurd secondary enrichment, has come under 
our observation. Most of the chalcocite and nil of the covellite at 
Engels unquestionably result from replacement of cal'lier sulphides 
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through tlh: agency ot des1•1•11di11g wetcoric wl!.lcn1 and a competent 
cxplnoation for all of tht• chal1•ocite ill to ho touud iu normal down­
ward enrichment." Tho qm•11tio11 of the origin of tho rich chnlcocite 
ore is of tho utmo11t irnportiweo, 1111 wJ1cn once d<ltt'rmined, it will 
throw much light on thl• future of tho mine. 

1'ho dopo&lt was di11rovn,1cl in f ho middle '80 '11 1,y I h•11ry F.ngel11. 
At thut timo it wa11 110 rt•uwto trow tho ruilroud thut prodlH·tiou wus 
uoarly out of the quc11t1ou. Ncvcrtholess, some high grade ore is said 
to have been shipped from tho Superior group to Swansea. Assess­
ment work Wllll intt>lligcutly do11e, so that known ore reserves grew 
larger each year. In 1894 the Engels group, accordiug to the Stall• 
Mineralogist's Report, ,·omprised three claims, developed by three 
tunnels, the longest then reported 426' long. In 1912 the same group 
was proven to a depth of 250', and tho copper belt was described as 
1,riog 1800' wide with a go1111an outcrop 300' wide and 2000' long. 
Over 4000' of development work had been don1• in five yelti'S past ou 
the Engels group, but 011ly ahout 500' on the Superior group. 

In 1911 a 500-ton blai.t furnace was built, but was never operated 
ou account of govl'rnment objPction to fumes. Early in 1914 the 
company was reorganized and a minerals sepa1·ation flotation plant 
capable of treating a maximum of 225 tons daily, was built at a cost 
of $50,000. This plant was put iu operation in February, 1915, and 
gave the mine the distinrtion of being the first to depend entirely on 
oil flotation for the recovery of copper sulphides. This process gives 
a much higher grade concentrate than ordinary water concentration, 
because of the presence of iron oxides iu the ore. An extraction of 
77.6% ,vas obtained from au ore said to average 3.8% copper. The 
concentrate that year averaged 33.82% copper. In ten months, 
8,724,494 pound11 dry concentrate were made. Development cost 67¢ 
a ton, mining 40r, treatment $1.20, marketing $1.14 and general 
expense 78¢. The capacity of the mill was doubled lute in 1915. 

An electric plant with a maximum capacity of 400 horsepower was 
I.milt and electricity was brought in over a line two miles long. This 
proved inadequate and bad to be supplemented at once by distillate 
engines. The property at thi8 time was twenty-six miles from the 
railroad and there was a grade of 1800' in the last two and one-half 
miles to the mine. The concentrate, carrying 5% to 6% moisture, 
had to be sacked and lowered on the tramway to the lower terminal 
where it was picked up by trailers drawn by a Holt caterpilla; 
tractor. This delivered it OVl'r the worst of the 1·oad to trucks which 
hauled it to Keddie for shipment to the Garfield smelter. 

During 1916 the Indian Valley Railway (broad guage) was built 
twenty-two miles from Paxton to the mine at a cost of $500,000. 

n 
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'J'bis roud i11 ow1wcl priucipully by the l•:ug1•l, Copper Mining Com. 
puny. 'l'ho M1unu yl'ur tlw Orent Wc~ll•ru l'ow1•r l.:m11p1my built llt a 
cost or $1GO,OOO nn electric truui1111i1111io11 lim• thirty-e ight milt•a lona 
from its Butte Volley plant to tho mitw. 

Over 14,000' of tle\'OlopmcnL work hn<l hceu Jone lo tbo end ot 
191G i11 t.ho J•~11g1•lt1 group, nllll 1\11l'ing ll111t .Vl'lll' tho Hu1)11rior "roup 
wnH nhm uponl'd with v<•ry unuunrnl(illl( r1·11ultH. 'l'ho oro bodh•• havo 
hccn opt•ucJ by t1111u«' l11 oud wi11Zl'8, Ollll further f>t'u\111 to a dc1,t.b of 
600' below the lowest working level hy ditunoud drillmg. The 
oxidized zone is covo1·cd in roost places by G' of soil, but whore bare 
it shows a leached rock stained by mnlnchitc, limonite and chryso. 
colla. 'l'hc oxidized zone is irregular io its lower limits, merging 
into mixed chalcocito and carbonates, tho richer parts of which have 
hem mined but are now inaccessible. lll'low thi!,, is the zone of 
1111lphide enrichment which has yielded <·01111idernulo chalcocito carry. 
ing 16% to 201/c, copper. This zono wa11 25' thick 1.mJ dipped gonUy 
1:1outhwct1t. 'fhis ore gives place to bol'Uito 11t J cpth11 of 100' lo 130', 
with some stringers of cbalcocite extcudin~ <leepcr. 1'ho ore body 
has an average width of 4-0' and 11u1.xin111m of 150'. lt strikea N. 
80° E. and dips 8° SW. Six tuoool }pvcls have bt'cn opened. No. 1, 
the highest, was run 30' with a 50' rais<'; No. 2, 810' with 320' ol 
crosscuts and a 75' rttise; No. 3, 180' with 110' of crosscuts; No. 4, 
1600' with 970' of c1·osse.11ts nud 260' or rui1:1cs an<l wiuzee, with a 
stope 400' Jong, 40' wide and 10' high in 19J 6; No. 5, driit 1110' with 
t.:50' of crosscuts, 200' of raises au<l n slope 300' by .JO' by 70'; and 
~o. 6 the lowest level. Recent work has bl'Cn on levels 4, 5 and 6, but 
the extent to which these have been cart'ie<l to dato is not known. 
The ore body bas been provl'u on the surfuce aud in the upper levels 
for 1500' oo the strike, and had been opcne<l to a vertical depth of 
700' at the beginniug of 1919. 

In thA Superior group, developments have been equally gratifying. 
A main tunnel and shaft are being drivc11, and 'it is plUllned to sink 
the latter to a depth of 1000'. A stope 500' long was started early in 
1919. The ore in the Superior occurs chiefly along joint planes and 
there are occasional small bodies of high grade. 

Pyrite is notably absent from the E11gl'ls ore and has been men­
tioned as occurring at only one place in thl• l-;uperior. This accounts 
in large measure for the high g1·ade of copper concc11trate obtained_ 
'rhe ore is now chiefly bomite averaging 2.3% copper as milled, 
giving a concentrnte carrying about 25% copper. The total mill 
capacity of the two plants was said to be 1500 tool:! a day in April, 
1919, and subsequently it was planned to iuereusl' the capitalization 
of the company 1111d bring the mill rapacity to WOO tuns a day. The 
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production in l!Hd wn.a 11hout !1, 100,000 vou11t18 o! copper, c·o ting 
16,6- a pouud to pt·oducc. 'l'hiH output mnclu the Eu,.cJ11 tho l"r t 
• J d • .. .. ~es 

11ng o copper pro ucmg property i11 tho s tnto for tho J cot·. 

lord.ham Oo~per _Property. Owu"r, Or. LC'onie II. Por<lham, Hotel 
Stowart, Sau F ranc·tRC'O. 

IAnllon l 11111,, 1111,111, ,INI of 011 ... ,111\·llk .,1, """' lo II, 1,~ltln11, 

1.'ho ~ropcrly li1•t1 bl'tw1•1·11 11_,o ddl{u whit•lt dividcH PJ11111us Couiity 
from Sierra C'o~mty, aud the J~1gh bedrock ridge which divides Slate 
Crcok °:om Cauon Creek. It 1s the bedrock of the gra vi•l which was 
hydraulicked of? CJravcl Ilill years ago. The length of lb • 

t p' • 3000' d . . e copper 
ou oro . 1s . ~n 1ts width GOO'. The country rock ie describec 
aB amphtbohte schist. 

The following a,1>Says or sttmples from this property were made in 
June, 1917, by "ulter I~. Gibson (successor to Falkcnau Assayin 
Company), Oakland, California: . g 

'()ildlaed' -··-······-•·-
•()l)•lcopyrlto' • • • ------- ····· - · · · --·--···-·--·1 
•Oovtlllto' __ ... ::::::::: . .... .. .... ::: • ··------·-----· ··--··---·· 
'OWorll~ adlJH' ·-·-······- -•-······ ··· 
'CbJorfU Kbia~' _ -···· · · · --....... ····:===··-·-·····, 

Ou.oca 
II0(4 

No work has hcl.'n dorw to develop tho prospect. 

0u,,_ 
111 .. 

.80 

.!8 
IU 
.lJ 
.10 

P•meuta•• 
CO,,l)tt 

8.211 
Ii.BO 

11.83 
.St 
.80 

Folsom wu:i Hunter Group. Owuers w F' F' I 
II Ind . , • . o so1t1 and Robt. L. untcr, 1an Valley. 

Locution: Ll11hts Cui\ou Mining DI I I 
~8 mll<•11 southerly to ICi••llllo (~,' f,1• 1~ m> llr-s from Enicds mine, llrnnc,, 

Bibliography · Ulller J S 1J S ' • y. • 
Topo. •h~t•la, lndlun ·v .. 11,:y ·u

0cn":?!: ,.801•,·v"y Bull. 2G3. u. s . 0('01. Sun•6•· • ,=·•·• oney l..1kt,. , 

_This deposit o~ coppt!r ore was lot·ated early in 191G about thrcl! 
1111lee from the J,,11gcls miue by 1'' o1Rom and II t 'I'l • d uo er. 10 vcm ha1:1 
be?n t,af%,0 at a ,~eph of :.lO' ~>Y n tu1111cl au<l shows a width of fron: 
16d t~l • Assn.} :s nm as high as 14 % copper, with a little gold 
an s1 ver. 

Golden Horseshoe Copper Mine. ( Novak Copper l\fine.) 
Jas. B. Novak, Eureka, Utah. Owner, 

Location : Sft·s. 21 a nd •s 'r ''6 N R , 
(W. P . Hy ) on Doyi<'' 11n1J ·Squa~· \'1111l a ER •• ·Jd3 ml.lJ.s norl11w1•1<t or Doyle 

ey oa . Elen\llon 0150'. 

Th.is property embraces thl• c:oJdcu Horseshoe Poto • M 
I c k D • , s1, ormon, 

Frenc I oo , csp~1r, Incubus 11.nd Nightmare claims. There is an 
area of 140 acres, w1_th a lcugtb along the lode of 3G00'. It is situated 
on the slope of the ridge northeast of Last Chance Creek d t · 

d . an con ams 
a goo supply of tnnber, mostly sugar pine, fir an<l spruce. 
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California Environmental Protection Agency 
Depart:ment of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory (Inorganic Section) 
2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley CA. 94704 

Phone: (510) 540-3003 or (ATSS) 571- 3003 

LABORATORY REPORT 

Collector's Name:Daniel Ziarkowski 
Address: Engle mine & Bunker Hill mine 

Diamond Bar. Taylor Ville 

HML#: 980121 
t o: 980127 

Date Collected: 08/12/98 
Date Received:08/14/98 

Collector's#:ENGLE- 1 
to:EVERT-2 

Authorization #:HM03649 

Analytical 
Procedure: 

pH determined using Accumet 925MP pH meter calibrated with 
known pH buffers. 

Reference: EPA Method 

Analysis Results: 

HML COLLECTOR'S 
NO. SAMPLE NO. 

980121 ENGLE-1 
980122 ENGLE-2 
980123 ENGLE- 3 
980124 ENGLE-4 
980125 ENGLE-5 
980126 EVERT-1 
980127 EVERT-2 -

Signatures: 

dahr~ /-&u~ 
Fatima Hussain 
Analyst 

~<,(w) 1/ J4( 'if" 

# 9040B & 9045C 

TYPE OF 
SAMPLE 

soil 
soil 
Water 
soil 
soil 
soil 
water 

Iskan er 
Supervisor 

DILUTION pH 

10--->20 5.28 
10--->20 8 . 24 

7.99 
10-- ->20 8.04 
10--->20 6.40 
10--->20 5.95 

7 . 90 



• "'ate Callfomia-Cafifom1a Env1ronmen1af Protect!• 'gency Department of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1. Authorization Number 

SAMPLE ANALYSIS REQUEST \,;l M. (:) ~ (. '-l 

3. Requestor: \)AM~ 1 ] ,~..,_,., \L- 4. Phone ( i1<o ) lS S -3b ~1 

5. Address (ToReceiveResults): 0~'-- 6. FAX (-,\€. ) i...::55 -~6°ll 
\ 0 \ S l C.,,Of>or,J t,,J/, ~ ... \-xj, ~~I C.}4. 

HML No,qio l~} 2. Page 

To Cl~'D\7l of 

7. TAT Level: 
(circle one) 

Authonzed By 

3 4 

9. Codes (fill in all applicable codes) 
8. Date Sampled ${- \ <-~ '6 

1---------------------- -----------1 a. Office 

10. Activity:□ Seo O SRP0 ~MB O FPB O SPPT O ER/CL O Others b. INDEX 

11. SAMPLING LOCATION 
c. PCA 

a EPA ID No. d. MPC 

e. SITE 
b. ~ra _;;;::__;--,;~~---=~~~;:-~=::-:.=~~:..+-,la.J...._'-r""7"T--!...:::........, 
c. Address f. County 

12. SAMPLES 

Sample 
d. Type 

Container 
a. 10 
A 

"F 
G 
H 

b. Collector's No. 

~'-'§'IL,e ,- , 1 , 
S... I'> G IL. I E.t - (2J 
fL NG !L! li,j - !3 1 
f:...~S '-je1 - 1 'i1 
t:. '$GtLJ ~ - , £1 
~ !VI €.Jq_ff ' I) I 
~ iv-El~, - I 1.! ' 

I l II I I I I 

13. ANALYSIS REQUESTED 

a Q pH ~ ~ ,L \) 1'c.,F,~, ~ 
tp.,. r I 

o. '1l~ CA,~ ,c.,~ ,E,E,Gi°{ 

c. 0 Metals _______ _ 
(Spec) 

d. 0 W.E.T. _______ _ 

e. D Rash Point _ -____ _ 

So,\. 
So, L 
\o,,}"k"­
~ 0\ \.. 

\ L p. sS::: 

f. 0 PAHs - 8310 ______ _ 

g. 0 PCBs.:'-------- ---.,,,,... 

h. 0 TPH _________ _ 

i. D Gasoline ________ _ 

j. 0 Diesel _________ _ 

k. 0 Cl - Pest ________ _ 

14. SPECIAL REMARKS/ANALYSIS OBJECTIVE: 

15. SUPPLEMENTAL 
REQUESTS 

16. IN O CU 

□ 

□ 

a. -1~::;::::::::~..:...;.4,:::~~~~:::..__ 

C. --------------Signarura 

a.--------------
5,gtla.'Ure 

□ 
□ 

Nameffrtle 

Name/Title 

g. Field Information 

I. 0 OP - Pest _______ _ 

m. 0 VOA - 8021 ______ _ 

n. 0 VOA - 8260 ______ _ 

0. 0 svo - 8270 ______ _ 

p. 0 TCLP ---------
(specify) 

q. g_ s~ ~_:k;..:;_: -~+--,c:.D;__ __ _ 

C._t·v •. D 
I 
r-

Initials------, 

Date _____ ------i 

8 / \ I - f;-1 I 3 I '7 '6 
lndustve Oates 

~ f l'f / '1 - I I 
Inclusive Oates 

I I 
Inclusive Dates 

I I I 
Inclusive Dates 

t~ 17. LAB REMARKS: --~~~:.::..:::::~~::::._.2..:.J~~J.l.l.- ~~=--~\1~~~~~-'---------l L 
A 

---------------------------------------1s 
OTSC 1116 (REV 8197) Ong1nal•la0 • Oupficate•File • Tnp1icate•lnsoec10, NLY 



Department ot Toxic Subsatnces Con1rol 
Hazardous ·Materials Laboratory 

SUPPLEMENTAL_ 

AUTHORIZATION REQUEST FORM (AAF) 

PART .A : (By Requestor - PLEASE PRINT) 'TAT Level 1 (2) 3 4 

Requester's Name .i)A,AJ ±,~\ ½ Phone (c,1() 'LS'S -.,.1' ~ 

Region/Um NEC C~ & 
BACK-UP REQUESTOR ~ 8~ 

r) .\ A A i \ 
,SITE: t,,vt,c..VV\.. ~~\c. M,,ve_ ) 

, 
FAX {~le) 1..s-5-) 7j(, 

Phone iq1, ) '"2.Sf-371). 

~ vr-J~ut I\ /\11r...-e.,. 

Analytical Requests Plann~ 
Number ot Spls I Type Number of Sols / Type 

Anatvsis Soll H20 Solid Liq Dther Anatvsis Soil H20 It Solld Lio Other 
Metal Sean Vol Hdspce 
Met.al Soee. SV Screeng 

W.E.T Vol8260 

oH '5 sv 8270 
Cyanides 1..... I 

Ct-Pest \ : 
OP-Pest 

PAHs TC LP 

PCS.s 8081 Met.a/s 
Gasoline VofatUss 

Oles~! I 

TPH 
8021 H 1---.. 1----+1----+-P_e_st_,_·c_id_e_s _____ _,1--------~ 

Herbicides ti 

Analysis Objective 

(circle one) 

Oeteetion Limit Requirements : 
tit 4-1' •a.u Hualin. Dul 

a. Was1e Characterization b. Treatment Standards 

/2)onnking H20 Standards d. Others : 

Expected Data of SampJes ArrfvaJ at Lab 

PART 8: ( By ST O - HML) 

Authorization Number (AN) 

ub to Receive Samples Name: Hazardous Materials Lab 
Address: 700 He inz St., Ste. 150 

Berkeley, CA 9471 0 

TAT t,.-, I • 10-1S 0.p. l • 16-30 Daya, ) • ll-'5 Pa,,., 4 • d u ,-,Ible (~rcle ••• oe 11M top) 

• O uu ; So(laoul (S.I), OU. hia1 (l'•t). Sl■<l,c (S1)....<:u (plcua ,,~'Y) 



;l 
Vl 

~ 

" w 
Or: 

t 
t 
t 

N -.. 
r-
0 

Callfornle Oepartment of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials laboratory 
Inorganic Section 

Quality Assurance Summary for ICP 

Element 

Ai-Arsenic 

Ba-Barium 
Be-Servlllum 
Cd-Cadmium 
Co.Cobalt 
Cr-Chromium 
Cv-Co00er 
Mo-Mol11bd11nu m 
Ni-Nlckel 
Pb-lead 
Se-Selenium 
Tl-Thallium 
V-Vanadlum 
Zn-Zinc 

Element 

As-Arsenic 
Ba-Barium 

Be-Bervllium 
Cd-Cadmium 
Co-Cobalt 
Cr-Chromium 
Cu-Coooer 
Mo-Molvbdenum 
NI-Nickel 
Pb-Lead 
Se-Selenium 
Tl·Thalllum 
V-Vanadlum 
ZrrZlnc 

HMl Soll QC S.mpl• 

mg/kg 

found known ,-. 

61.3 83.3 96 8 
40.8 4-4.7 91 ,3 
20.6 2 1 6 95.B 
26.0 26.6 98.0 
19.6 20.7 94.7 
62 .6 69 .6 88.3 
33.8 37.7 89.7 
27 .6 30.3 90.8 
33.3 36.4 94. 1 
30.8 31 .0 98.7 
71 .4 72.8 98,1 
118 126 94.4 

33.6 40.9 81.9 
43.8 46.3 94.6 

HML l.JqaJld QC S.mp• 

mg/kg 

found known "-

Method 
Blank 

moll 
<0.10 
<0.010 
<0.006 
<0.010 
<0.06 
<0.08 
<0.10 
<010 
<0.06 
<0. 10 
<0. 16 
<0.20 
<0.06 
<0.1 0 

Reagent 
Blank 

mall 
<30.0 
<2.00 
<2.00 
<3.00 
< 10.0 
<16.0 
<20.0 
<10.0 
<10.0 
<30.0 
<40.0 
<60.0 
<10.0 
<20.0 

C1llbratlon Vttlflcetlon Dupllcat• S.,lkad S1mpl• HML No.: 
Standerd 

mg/L Spike R111ult1 mg/<o VNp Ked 
n----....------.------1:~---.----.----t Ruult 

found known "- A: B: RPO (mg/kgl 

10.3 10.0 
9 .79 10.0 
2.03 2.00 
10.3 10.0 
10.3 10.0 
10.0 10.0 
9 .64 10.0 
10 .3 10 0 
, 0 .2 10 0 
9.99 10 0 
10.4 mo 
9.83 10.0 
9. 77 10.0 
10.2 10.0 

Inorganic Venture, 
Aef•rwic:• Stand•d 

mg/I. 

103 784 778 0.96 267 
97.9 664 688 0.86 198 
102 103 10-' 0.98 0 .82 
103 4!1 478 0,64 7.61 
103 606 603 0.63 26.8 
100 612 604 1.66 24.1 

96.4 30600 30800 2.53 18800 
103 472 476 0.84 < 6.00 
102 487 485 0 .42 16.0 

99.9 704 690 2 94 22 1 
104 612 r,17 0 .98 <7.60 

98.3 373 382 2.38 < 10.0 
97 .7 680 843 7.56 132 
102 794 779 2.93 276 

Ovpllcet• Spiked Semple HML No.: 

Spike Reaults mg/kg UNplk&d 

found known % A: B: RPO 
R11ut1 
[11\Q/Kgl 

0 .99 1.00 99 0 
0.96 1.00 96.0 
0. 19 0.20 95.0 
1.00 1 ,00 100 
1.0 0 1.00 100 
0.98 1.00 98.0 
0.96 1.00 Bfl.O 
1.00 1.00 100 
1 00 1.00 100 

1.00 100 
0 .98 1.00 98.0 
1 .01 1.00 101 
0.94 1.00 94,0 
1.00 

HML Numbor: 980121 
to 980127· 

980121 

Spike 
Added 
(mg/kgl 

500 
600 
100 
600 
600 
600 
12600 
600 
600 
600 
600 
600 
600 
500 

980123 

Spike 
Added 
!mg/kg) 

~lltr,x: Soil 

~ R11co11ery 

A: B: 

106 104 
93.2 94.0 
102 103 

94.7 94.1 
95.8 96 .2 
97.6 96.0 
93.6 96.0 
94.4 95.2 
94,4 94.0 
96.8 93.8 
102 103 

74.6 76.4 
110 102 
104 101 

Matrix: Water 

% Recovery 

A: B: 

ICP Analyst's SlgnatU<e: ~d}fA_-'A/,/ --1 _ + }I ~ I aa S. tskander, Supervisnr• / ~ <; ~' 
Chemist: Fatima Hussain / ~11mi1t's S1gnature:_J,c.._,c.._~--'-..=..;'----±t..........,C.U~..::.l'..,a,.,.'1No--=- ... - ,. 

Oate:ff/J//H_ 

Datt Analyzed: 08/2 6/98 
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Cal fomla Department of Toxic Substances Contra 
Haza dous Materials Laboratory 
Inorganic Sectlon 

HML No.: 980121 
To: 990127 

Quality Assurance Summary for ICP 

WP284 Method lnorg1nl0 Ventur• 0uollc1te SDl!w S1mgl1 HML t\o : Q80123 Matmc: WATER 

El•m■nt ua/L Blink Reference Std ua/lL S0lk1 RNUltl ua/L Un1plked Spike % Recove1v 

found known ~R•c u11/L found known ~ Rec A; 8: RPO R11ult• Added A B 

IA!-Alumlnum 628 729 114 <25 0 656 555 0.21 79.0 500 95.4 95 2 

IAs--AtHn' c 265 235 113 <7.50 1000 1000 100 72 0 72.8 o_g3 1a.e 60 0 107 108 

Be-Barium <0.50 967 1000 9e 7 66.4 ee.2 0.40 18.◄ 60 0 100 99.6 

B•B•Nlllum 236 235 100 <0.50 190 200 950 10 8 10.8 0.00 <0.50 10 0 108 108 

Cd-Cadmium 42.3 39 108 <0.75 1020 1000 102 50 g 51 3 o.ge <0.76 s o 0 , 02 103 

Cr-Chromium 280 261 ,01 <3.75 1010 1000 101 49 7 .cs 9 0.60 <3.75 50 0 99 • 100 

Cu-Coooer ~ .00 Q39 1000 93,9 192 191 260 153 50.0 78 0 76.0 

Fe-Iron 788 797 88.9 <25.0 587 578 1 EM 118 500 93.6 91 .8 

Ni~lckel 225 207 109 <2 50 1010 1000 101 61 8 52 6 1 92 <2.50 50.0 103 105 

Pb-Leed 472 435 109 <7 50 1010 1000 101 55 8 53 8 364 <7.50 50.0 112 ioa 
Sb-Antlmonv Tc be anahrzed bv GFAAS 

Se-Seltnlum <10.0 S80 1000 Q80 56.7 593 6 17 <10.0 50.0 113 119 

n -Thallium• <12.5 S78 1000 Q7.9 51.7 53.9 .. 74 <12.5 50.0 103 ,oa 
Zn-Zinc 44 \ 418 106 <5 00 SS9 1000 100 65.0 64.6 0.87 18.8 50.0 92.4 91 8 

Spu QC7 Reagent Spell QC21 Dupllc■t. S-cike Sample HML No : Mair!)( 

Element R.r.rence•td ua/l. Blank Refwrenca Std ua/l Seiki Ratwllt uaJL Vn•Fl~•d Spika % Recover!/ 

found known ~ Rec ui:ill. found known ~ Rec ~ B RPO R11ult1 Added A 8 : 

Al-Aluminum 1210 1000 121 <100 
As-Arunlc <300 604 500 101 

Ba-Barium 994 1000 99 4 <2.00 
Be-Barvlllum <2.00 481 500 96 2 

Cd-Cadmium <3.00 512 500 102 

Cr-Chromlull' <15.0 507 500 101 

Cu-Cocoer <20.0 480 500 96 0 

F•lron <100 458 600 91 6 

NI-Nicka I <10.0 512 600 102 

Pb-l.Nd <30.0 508 600 102 

Sb-Antimonv 
Se-Selenium <40.0 503 500 101 

n -Thalhum• <500 ◄S9 600 97.8 

Zn-ZJnc <200 ◄92 500 e8.4 

Note: Thallium to be conf1rmeci by GFAA.S. 

ICP Analyst's Signature: ~~ 
Atlr R. Kazman ~ ✓ /- • // , 
Chemist I Signature: Fatin,e Hu1111ln .:7 ~ -ftt,u1a..t.MJ 

Mllad S ''"""'"'• Sup■rvltor. 4~ 
Date Ar ■lyzed: Bf28/98 



California Environmental P ·ection Agency 
,Department of Toxic Substa ,s Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory (Inorganic Section) 
215~ Ber~eley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 

Phone: (510} 540-3003 or {ATSS} 571-3003 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 
Site of Sampling: Engle Mine & Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar 
Taylor Ville 

HML #: 980121 to 
980127 

Auth. No.: HM03649 
Activity: SMB 
Date Collected: 8/12/98 
Date Received: 8/14/98 

Analytical 
Procedure: 
EPA- SW 846 

Samples are digested with 1:1 HN03 (and 30% H202, and 1:1 HCl, 
if applicable) over a hot plate. Digests are cooled, filtered 
and made to final volume with deionized H20. Metal analysis of 
the digests is by ICPAES (EPA #6010B). Units are ug/L. 

Method: 3050B for solids; 3010A for liquids; 3005A for clean water. 

JIML N~er : 
Collector's 
sample No.: 
Sample Type: 

Al- Alu.minwn 
As-Arsenic 
Ba- Barium 
Be- Beryllium 
Cd- Cadmium 
Cr- Chromium 
cu-copper 
Fe-Iron 
Ni-Nickel 
Pb- Lead 
Se-Selenium 
Tl- Thallium* 
Zn- Zinc 

980123 

ENGLE-3 
Water 

79.0 
18.6 
16.4 

<0.50 
<0.75 
<3 . 75 

153 
119 

<2.50 
<7.50 
<10.0 
<12.5 
18.8 

980127 

EVERT-2 
Water 

148 
<7.50 

6.03 
<0.50 
<0.75 
<3.75 
<5.00 

236 
<2.50 
<7.50 
<10.0 
<12.5 
<5.00 

Notes: <=below detection limit of method. 
*=Tl will be confirmed by GFAAS. 

Sb will be analyzed by GFAAS. 

isor 
%I.fl/fr 

Date 

J-d~ ~~ 
Chemist's Signature 
Fatima Hussain 



c1ate cl Califomia-Callfom,a Environmental Protection Agency ---- Department of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1. Authorization Number 

~AMPt E ANAL vsrs REQUEST ~ rv\ <:) :, ' '-l 

3. Requester: fuAM ~l I: \~':':">\ L - 4. Phone ( 'Wo )1.5"S -3 ~ !;1 

5. Address (To Receive Results): 0~ c_ 6. FAX (•11(,) L5 5 - ~6 "1 l 
\0\ S\ <.floyOorJ ...;7, 5,V\--\-c-__;, ~~ I c.~ 

HML No,q i o ld-} 2. Page 

To C\. )S'O\r) of 

7. TAT Level: 
(circle one) 

Authonzed By 

3 4 

9. Codes (fill in all applicable codes) 
8. Date Sampled $/- \'l_ ~ '6 
r------ ---------------------~ a. Office 0 

10. Activity: 0 SCD O SAPD ~ MB O FPB O SPPT O ER/CL O Others b. INDEX s; 
t-=-.,.......-+--+--

11. SAMPLING LOCATION 
c. PCA 

d. MPC 

e. SITE 
b. Site ----'---<lc::J-..~ --.:....:......,_,.__-:--'-:---==-=-==::.:.._:...=::....:.....~'-+-''-'---'-r__:_.:,._.:..;""-'-i 

c. Address~,--__;~~~...!U~~~ ~ -----,,,.li,6,.:µ::~~!....L!l.1.......-=-- f. County ,.._ 
12. SAMPLES 

Sample Container 

• 8 

C 
• D 

E 

" F 
G 

b. Collector's No. 

b4tv6"1L 1e 1- 1\ 1 I 
~NG JL.J€.r - (ZJ I 

S..tNGtLt'u - 13 1 
~f")6°!L J<!J - 1 jJ 
~ Ns>fY p.1 - 1 S"I 
~ !VI EJQ.1T1, JI I 
G.. v,iu C2.1,1- 1 u 

I I I I I I 

13. ANALYSIS REQUESTED 

a~pH ~~.L
1

~ 1c 1F1~, ~ 

D. rml MetaJ ~ ,~ 1 c_, {) E FJ G).( 
,....Scan ' ' v 

c. 0 Metals ______ _ 
(Spec) 

d. 0 W.E.T. ______ _ 

e. D Flash Point _____ _ 

c. Lab No. d. Type e. Type 

'1~0\2...1 S0 1~ '-,......_ ~ 

IWi ~i:n '- ~ 
w A¼ \ l._ ~ 6'-S 

) 0 \ \.. \J 'I"'\.') 

l } • 1l ± q~Olfla , o,l 
0}_:J .--..~i-e.Jl, ~ l ~SS' 

f. 0 PAHs-8310 ______ _ 

g. 0 PCBs.:~--------
/ 

h. 0 TPH ________ _ 

i. D Gasoline _______ _ 

j. D Diesel ________ _ 

k. 0 Cl - Pest --------

14. SPECIAL REMARKS/ANALYSIS OBJECTIVE: 

15. SUPPLEMENTAL 
REQUESTS 

□---------
□ 

C. - - ------,-,,.---------
Signature 

a.-------=.,....--------Signa.'Ure 

□ 

□ 

Name/Title 

Name/TIile 

I. Size g. Field Information 

i =~ 
S a c.> ,-.Q. 

I L.-. 

5001 "' 
S: 
I L 

I. 0 OP - Pest _______ _ 

m. 0 VOA - 8021 _______ _ 

n. 0 VOA - 8260 _______ _ 

0. 0 svo - 8270 _______ _ 

p. 0 TCLP ----- ----
(specify) 

q. ~ s ~~ _:k_:_~~,,_D _ _ _ _ 
Cl'\J •. Di r-

Initials _____ _. 

Date _____ ---i 

8 / \ / - frt /3 I 'j '6 
lndus,ve Dates 

~ /l <f t 1 - I I 
Inclusive Dates 

I I I 
Inclusive Oates 

I I I 
lnclus,ve Oates 

F 
I 
E 
L 
D 

r~ 17. LAB REMARKS: ___ \J=Q....L.."l=--'--~.-----:-~.....::'l..,_0_~=~ '-'--~.,:___..:,_11-=---'=-....JF~-'--- ------1 l 
...!=:..~':;:p.~~....:.u..~-~.!.ft~J..~.M~·S...:..·_.....:9~/_r8'px_ _ __________________ --l ~ 

OTSC 1116 tREV 819n Ong,nai-l.ao • Ouplicat.,.F'de • Triphcate•lnspecto, NLY 

\ 
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9162:53696 DTSC•~t=-MENTO 36,3 Pl:l1 A.JG 11 •~s 16:00 

Department of Toxic Subsatnces Control 
Hazardous'Materials Laboratory 

SUPPLEMENTAL_ 
(cllcct ii Supplt111.,a1:1 Rt<1uu1J 

AUTHORIZATION REQUEST FORM (AAF) 

PART A: (By Requester - PLEASE PRIN1) TAT Lavel 1 (2) 3 4 

Requestor's Name S)~"-.) ?-l~l < Phone (~t") 1..ss-x~ 

Reglon/Uni1 NE:£. c.~ & 
, 

. FAX (~I~) 1-5")-J 7Ji 

BACK-UP REQUESTOR ~ ~~ Phone ~1, ) '255-3 73} 

~ i::-,.,.h\c._ 
\ ~ vr-J~L \._\ J \ "'1 l"-A!..-,SITE: /\l\1Ne.. '\ 

Analytical Requests Planned 
• Number ot Scls I Tvoe Number of Sols / Type 

Analvsis Soll H20 . Solid Liq Dtner· Analvsis Soil • H20 Solid Uq l Other 

Metal Scan <i? 1..\ Vol Hdspce t 
' 

Metal Soec. I SV Screeng : 

W.E.T Vo18260 -( 

oH i sv 8270 ', I 

CVat'lides ~ r Write i •J I I 

OI Pest \ \ .~LL".L 1..... I ( 

OP-Pest I 

PAHs TC L P 

PCBs 8081 Metals 

Gasoline I VolatUss 1 
l I 

Ofeset Semivol. I 

TPH Pesticides I 

602"1 Herbicides I I 
Analysis Objective a. Wasts Characterization b. Treatment Standards 

(cirde one) /2)onnkinQ H20 Standards d. Others : 

Detection Umlt Requirements : 
ft/ <il/f.tl:J • •n.•toin4<1 Dul 

Expected Oat& of Samples Arrival at Lab 

PART 8: ( By ST O - HML) 

Au1horiz:ation Number (AN) 

Lab to Receive Samples Name: Hazardous Materials Lab 
Address: 700 Heinz St., Ste. 150 

Berkeley, CA 9471 0 

TAT t..,,d 1 • 10-1S Day.. l • 16-30 Daya. l • ll-4S Da,.._ , • wllca ,.-illlle (c.ircJ<t ... OOI IM lop) 

• Otiu; SolN■t (S.I), OU. l'ai,t.t (1'1c). $1• <1,c (S1) ... d• (plcuc •11~'Y) u1ll'l'1.•~ 



California Environmental Protection Agency 
Department of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory (Inorganic Section) 
2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 

Phone: (510) 540-3003 or (ATSS) 571-3003 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 
Site of Sampling: Engle Mine & Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar 
Taylor Ville 

HML #: 980121 to 
980127 

Auth. No.: HM03649 
Activity: SMB 
Date Collected: 8/12/98 
Date Received: 8/14/98 

Analytical 
Procedure: 
EPA-SW 846 

Samples are digested with 1:1 HN03 (and 30% H202, and 1:1 HCl, 
if applicable) over a hot plate. Digests are cooled, filtered 
and made to final volume with deionized H20. Metal analysis of 
the digests is by ICPAES (EPA #6010B). Units are mg/kg. 

Method: 3050B for solids; 3010A for liquids; 3005A for clean water. 

HML Number: 
Collector's 
Sample No.: 
Sample Type: 

As-Arsenic 
Ba-Barium 
Be- Beryllium 
Cd-Cadmium 
Co- Cobalt 
Cr-Chromium 
cu-copper 
Mo-Molybdenum 
Ni-Nickel 
Pb-Lead 
Se- Selenium 
Tl- Thallium 
V- Vanadium 
Zn-Zinc 

980121 

ENGLE-1 
Soil 

257 
198 
0.82 
7.51 
26,8 
24.1 
18800 

<5 . 00 
15.0 
221 

<7.50 
<10.0 

132 
275 

980122 

ENGLE-2 
Soil 

15.4 
286 
0 .95 
7.14 
30.2 
25.7 
1260 

<5.00 
16.1 
10.0 

<7.50 
<10.0 

172 
162 

980126 

EVERT-1 
Soil 

<5.00 
69.0 
0.80 
3.34 
15.4 
29.9 
31.1 

<5.00 
11. 6 
10.4 

<7.50 
<10.0 

115 
43.0 

980124 

ENGLE-4 
Soil 

51.2 
119 
0.71 
4.96 
32.9 
11.8 
2710 

<5.00 
18.1 
12.7 

<7.50 
<10.0 

111 
166 

Notes: <=below detection limit of method. 

upervisor 

Jt~ t/w~c~ 
Chemist's Signature 
Fatima Hussain 

980125 

ENGLE-5 
Soil 

5.59 
102 
0.64 
2.60 
13.5 
11.3 
216 

<5.00 
7.83 
11.1 

<7.50 
<10.0 
72.6 
64.5 



California Department of Toxic Substalnces Contro 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 
2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 
415 540 - 3003 

LABORATORY REPORT 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 
Location: Rngle Mine & Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar 
Taylor Ville 

HML#: 980121 
To: 980127 

Coll's #: ENGLE- 1 
to: EVERT- 2 

Auth . No.: HMO3649 
Activity: SMB 

Date Sampled:08/12/98 
Date Received:08/14/98 

Analytical 
Procedure 
Used: 

::-

About 5 to 10 grams of a well- mixed sample is weighed on a 
tared container using a top loading balance capable of 
weighing to the nearest 0 . 01 g. Sample is dried in an oven 
at 105 °C for 12 to 24 hours and cooled in a dessicator for 
30 minutes. Sample is reweighed to determine the weight of 
the dry solids remaining. 

Reference: HML Method No, 704 - S 

Analysis Results: 

HML 
NO. 

980121 
980122 
980124 
980125 
980126 

Signatures: 

Fatima Hussain 
Chemist 

COLLECTOR'S 
SAMPLE NO. 

ENGLE- 1 
ENGLE-2 
ENGLE-4 
ENGLE-5 
EVERT-1 

TYPE OF 
SAMPLE 

Soil 
Soil 
Soil 
Soil 
Soil 

- ilad Iskander 
Supervisor 

% Dry 
Solids 

97.8 
83.5 
75.0 
99.3 
79.3 

Date 



California DepartJDent of Toxic Substances Contro1 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

HML #:980121 
to:980127 

2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 
Ph. (510) 540-3003 

Collector's Name : Daniel Ziarkoyski 
Location: Engle Mine• Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar 
Taylor Ville 

Auth. No.: HMQJ649 
Activity: SMB 

Date Sampled:OB/12/98 
Date Received:08/14/98 

QUality Assurance 
t Dry Solid Determination 

I. Blan.le Reading empty weighing vessel) 

Blank Initial weight Dry weight 
(g) (g) 

1. 1. 55 1.55 

II. Duplicate Resul.t 

HML # 

980121 

Fatima Hussain 
Analyst 

Matrix 

Soil 

sample 
Result 

{\) 

97.7 

Sample 
Duplicate 

Result 
(\) 

97 . 8 

Hil ad Islcander 
supervisor 

Weight change 
(g) 

o.oo 

Mean 
Result RPO 

{t) ' 
97.8 0.10 

Date 

ST9CO~SOTS YV3 ~1:go 86 / Z0/ 60 



California Department of Toxic Substances contro 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

HML#: 980121 
To: 980127 

Coll'5 #; ENGLE-1 
to: rnT-2 

2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 
415 540 - 3003 

LABORATORY REPORT 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 
Location: Engle Mine i Bunker Hill Mine 

Dia;mond Bar 

Aut:h. No.: HM03649 
Activity: SMB 

Date 58ll1pled:08/12/98 
Date Received:08/14198 TAYlor Ville 

Analytical 
Procedure 
Used: 

About 5 to 10 grams or a well-mixed sample is weighed on a 
tared container usi ng a top loading balance capable of 
weighing to the nearest 0.01 g. Sample is dried in an oven 
at 105 °C for 12 to 24 hours and cooled in a dessicator for 
30 minutes. Sample is reweighed to determine the weight of 
the dry solids remaining. 

Reference: HML Method No. 704-S 

Analysis Results : 

HHL 
NO. 

980121 
980122 
980124 
980125 
980126 

Signatures: 

Fatliiia Hussain 
Chemist 

COLLECTOR'S 
SAMPLE NO. 

ENGLE-1 
ENGLE-2 
ENGLE-4 
ENGLE-5 
EVERT-1 

TYPE OF 
SAMPLE 

Soil 
Soil 
Soil 
Soil 
Soil 

\ Dry 
Solids 

97 . 8 
83.5 
75.0 
99.3 
79.3 

Post-Ir brand fax transmittal memo 7671 I• ot i,e11•s • .;i. 

-n, .!Ja.,,id Zia,,.~ I(; 
co. 

O.pl. 

~.;(:/_16):255'- 3 6 q '1 
e:uc:,,)..:i. <;;S - 3 ~3'-/ 

.¼~ 
ifilad Iskander 
supervisor 

From F J.-lu • 
I .SSC(.,~ 

Co. 

PhoM # I)• 3t ,q 75,0 ..5 40 - 0 
Fax' 

Date 

ST9CO~SOTS XVj ~1:go 86 / Z0/ 80 



.. 

CA Department of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 
2151 Berkeley Way, CA 94704 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 

LABO RA TORY REPORT 

Site or Location: Englemine & Bunker Hill Mine 
Diamond Bar 
Taylor Ville 

HML No.: 980121 
To: 980127 

Auth. No HMO3649 
Activity: SMB 
Date Sampled: 
Date Received: 

8/12/98 
8/14/98 

Analytical Sample are extracted with deionized water for one hour using a mechanical shaker. 
Procedure Used: Extracts centrifuged, filtered and analyzed by Ion chromatography. Results are in mg/kg for 

soil and mg/L for liquid. 

Reference: EPA Methods 300A 

Analysis Results: 

HML Collector's Type of SO4 
Number: Sample No.: Sample: 

980122 ENGLE-2 SOIL <30.0 
980124 ENGLE-4 SOIL 65.1 

Signatures: 

~I~ 
hemist, 

1f¼9t 
/ ate 



Department of Toxic Subst ances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 
2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley, CA 94704 
Tel. (510)540- 3003 

LABORATORY REPORT 

Collector's Name: Daniel Ziarkowski 
Location: Engle Mine & Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar , Taylor Ville. 

HML# : 980121 to : 980127 
Cell ' s#: ENGLE- 1 

To: EVERT- 2 

Date Sampled: 8/12/98 
Date Received: 8/14/98 
Activity : - =S=MB=----

Analytical Procedure used: The samples are distilled and collected 
into an absorber- scrubber of 1 . 25N NaOH solution . The cyanide ion 
in the absorbing solution is then determined colorimetrically at 
578 nm within 15 minutes. Ref. EPA Method 9010. 

Analysis Results: 
Concentration units: mg/Kg 

HML NUMBER: 

980124 
980126 

Sig:na.,t.Nes: 

~~ Atif R'.Kozman 
Analyst ~ 

1Y 

COLLECTOR ' S NO : 

ENGLE-4 
EVERT- 1 

9/zt/9P 
Date 

SAMPLE TYPE 

soil 
soil 

Supervisor 

CN 

<0.16 
<0 . 16 



0 tate cf California-California Environmental Protection Agency Department cl Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 1. Authorization Number 

SAMPLE ANALYSIS REQUEST 1J rv\ ~ ~ '- 'i 

3. Requestor: '2AM<=t I:~-0\L~ 4. Phone ("'IVo )lS S -.3,~7 

5. Address (To Receive Results): 0\1:. c_ 6. FAX ("I ,,) t..5 5 • ~G "11 
\ot S\ Ul.o'f°°N .,.,,7 , 5,v\.-k.,;, ~~, c.~ 

HML No.~io l~} 2. Page 

To C\ 'i5'0\7l of 

7. TAT Level: 1 
(circle one) 

Authonzed By 

3 4 

9. Codes (fill in all applicable codes) 
8. Date Sampled ¥-\ 'l_ -c. '6 

1--------------·-'----------------1 a. Ottice 0 

10. Activity: 0 SCD O SRPO ~MB O FPB O SPPT O ER/CL O Others b. INDEX i--=S=-+--'--+---+--. 

c. PCA 
11. SAMPLING LOCATION 

d. MPC 

e. SITE 
b. Site ---t.cJ-""."<::'~-....:....;_.....:..,.-:----.:------==-=c.=........;..::::;;;..~,,;..,..+-'-~-,--:-'r--'-'"'-'-1 

c. Ad&ess ___ =:...i.<:=-c....:>.."---"~,......~----~'°'4.=;.'--L_!__--'---'-''--- ~-f._C_o_u_n_cy _ _._......__ 

12. SAMPLES 

a. 10 
A 

~ B 

C 
{o) 

E 
-{F) 

G 
H 

Humoar 

b. Collector's No. 

~,v6"'1L1e.1- 1 \ I 
~NG 1L1~ - C2.J 
E-,l')G tU tu - 13 1 
~1')'6"1\..tE! - j t 
t:. Ns>IY ~ - 1 S"! 
~ 1v1§JQ.JT1, I I I 
b. lVJ IZ.i qfft- I U 

I I I I t I 

13. ANALYSIS REQUESTED 

a. ftJ.-pH ~ f' , <, ~ 1 'c. , F, G , \I 

b. ~Metal CA. 1fb / -,~ E ~G H Scan j) Q 

c. 0 Metals 
(Spec) 

d. 0 W.E.T. 

e. D Flash Point 

c. Lab No. 

~\Z..~ 

1,1~ 
l 

q_~Olflo 0}_:J 

f. 0 PAHs - 8310 

g. OPCBS-: 
/ 

h. 0TPH 

i. D Gasoline 

j. D Diesel 

k. 0 Cl· Pest 

14. SPEClAL REMARKS/ANALYSIS OBJECTIVE: 

15. SUPPLEMENTAL 
REQUESTS 

16. NO CU 

□ 

□ 

a. _.l..J::=.~:::::::::_-==,~::::::::~~:!:::::::..=. __ 

C.-------,:---------
Sig.na:W. 

d.. _____________ _ 
Signature 

Sample Container 
d. Type e. Type I. Size g. Field Information 

So11 '--s- :2= .....R... 
~~H \_ ~ Soo ,,__Q_ 
wll.¼ \ L~6'-S IL-
Sc11\.. ._;.,.,..._") 

~01 ) • 1 l t Q 

.s:o ,l s: 
._,.+.e.ti., i L ~SS"' IL 

I. 0 OP· Pest 

m. 0 VOA - 8021 

n. 0 VOA - 8260 

0. 0 svo · 8270 

p. 0 TCLP • 
(specify) 

~ q. g_ s \,) Lf'.A-k : D 
C,_1'.) '. 

□---------
□---------

D' 
r-

Initials ------1 

Date -------1 

Inclusive Dates 

~ t l<t / 1 - I 
Inclusive Dates 

I I 
Name/TiUe Inclusive Dates 

I I 
Name/Title lncius,ve Dates 

l7T'SC 1116 lflEV 8197) Ong,nal-Lab • 0uplicale-File • Tnplica1e-lnspec1or 

F 
I 
E 
L 
D 

NLY 



~ 

3cxl P~1 

Department of Toxic Subn.tnces Control 
Ha:zardous·Materials Laboratory 

SUPPLEMENTAL_ 
(cbc-ct i ( SappltiM• l~I R~uclll 

AUTHORIZATION REQUEST FORM (AAF) 

PART A : (By Requester - PLEASE PRINn 'TAT Level l (2l 3 4 

Requestor's Name JJ~I\J 7--l~l< Phone ("It( ) -w--s-.¼~ 
Region/Unit Nff. C-C> & I 

. FAX {"' 16) 'L.5"'5-)7jc. 

BACK-UP REQUESTOR ~ ~~ Phone R1,) £.Sf-3 ,11 
~ b\.G\e.. M,tve.- ' ~ vr.JkL \-\ J \ SITE: ' /\111~ 

Analytical Raq\Jests Planned 
Number ot Spls / Type Number or Sols/ Type 

Analvsis Soll H20 Solid Liq Jtner Analysis Soil 1 H20~ Solid Lla Other 

MataJ Sca.Jl <i<' '-\ \/ol Hdspce 
Metal Soec. SV Screeng 

W.E.T Vol 8260 I 

p H i sv 8270 
Cyanides ,_ 

C Write i•J 
I ij 

Ct-Pest t \ ~l.fA-k- 1-
OP - Pest 

PAHs TC LP 

PC8s 8081 Metals 

Gasoline Volatiles 
Diesel Semivol. 

TPH Pesticides ' 

8021 
w 

l I Herbicides I 
Analysis Objective a. Waste Characterfz.ation b. Treatment Standards 

(cirde one) /2)orinking H2O Standards d. Others: 
-

Detection Umlt Requirements : 
lit il-".:a.oe nul>lirt. Ot..l 

Expected Data of Samples Arrival at Lab 

PART B: ( By ST O - HML) 

Authori zation Number (AN) 

Lab to Receive Sa mples Name: Hazardous Materials Lab 
Address: 700 Heinz St., Ste. 150 

Berkeley, CA 9471 0 

TATL,n,d 1 • 10-15 O.y.. 2- 16- 30 ~ y1, l• ll-.U D:aya,, • •fie■ ...-•ll>le (c.ircle ••• o• IM lop) 

• Ouu I S.INe t ( S.I'), OU. i'a1• J (1'1t). Sl• 4, ~ (ST)...ct. (plUJC apff.lC'y) 



california Environmental Protection Agency 
Department of Toxic Substances Control 
2151 Berkeley Way, Berkeley CA 94704 
Phone: (510) 540-3003 or (ATSS) 571-3003 

HML #: 980121 to 
Collector's#: 

to: 
Authoriz 'n #: 

980127 
ENGLE- 1 
EVERT- 2 
HMO3649 

Laboratory Report for Metal Analysis 

collector's Name: Daniel ziarkowski Date Collected: 08/12/98 
Date Received: 08/14/98 

Activity: SMB. 
sample Location: Engle Mine &Bunker Hill Mine 

Diamond Bar Taylor Ville 

ANALYTICAL 
PROCEDURE: 

ANALYSIS: 

DIGESTION: 

BML No. 

980123 
98 0127 

Signatures: 

Samples were digested with suprapure nitric acid over a hot 
plate. The digestates were made to final volume with deionized 
water . Analysis for Antimony and Thallium is by GFAAS. Units are 
in micrograms/L. 

EPA Method #7041 for Sb & #7841 for Tl. 

EPA Method #3005A (w/o HCl) 

Collector No. 

ENGLE- 3 
EVERT- 2 

sample Type 

Water 
Water 

Antimony (Sb) 

22.5 
< 2 . 50 

Thallium (Tl) 

<1.00 
<l. 00 

>j ~ ./hw.a~ 
Fatima Hussain 
Anal yst 

'I:µ 1<r 
D te ilad s. Iskander 

Supervisor 

jl/4</ff 
Date 

N&, c,~ ) 1 ~~-.f cr~ 



~ of California-California Environmental Protectin11 Agency Department of Toxic Substances Control 
Hazardous Materials Laboratory 

.H AZ~RDOUS MATERIALS 1. Authorization Number 

S AMPL E A N A LYSIS REQUEST \sl f"\ c::> !> , ~ 

~. Requestor: '2AM~I J:,~\L- 4. Phone ( "l\C.. ) 1.:S" S -3,til 

5. Address (ToReceive Results): O~c_ 6. FAX (-, 14 )05 - ~G"'ll 
\O l S l <..ito'f°6f\J "'-'1,5,,.,,.-k.;, l c.~ 

HML No.qio t~ \ 2. Page 

To C\'6D\7l of 

7. TAT Level: 1 
( circle one) 

Authonzed By 

3 4 

9. Codes (fill in all applicable codes) 
8. Date Sampled ¥-\L --C\'6 
~----------------------------1 a. Office 0 

10. Activity: 0 SCD O SAPD ~MB O FPB O SPPT O ER/CL O Others b. INDEX l-"S'--1--....._-+---, 

11 . SAMPLING LOCATION 
c. PCA 

d. MPC 

e. SITE 
b. Si!e ___;;::;_:..........<cJ-~~-....:....:.......!.lo.--:---"7~..c:::=-....:..:::=~~~!......:.-,-:-=r.....!...:~ 

f. County 
c. Address ---=:..,,,C=--:>..<"-"'-'e-"""""~----,,...u,,o.+='--L...:.....>....l.:i....,..,,-- - ----~--

12. SAMPLES 

a ID 
A 

' 8 

C 
·o 

E 
~ F 

G 
H 

b. Collector's No. 

ti.~6"1L1e 1- 1 \ I 
S...r->6 1L.1<;.t-[2.J 
6..JNG Lily -13 1 
~(\)ott..J e, - 1 j J 
~ (')6tLJ €:i -, 5i 
~ ,v1 EJQ.ff1, 1\1 
G. I VI iti Q.f\l - 11.. 

I I I ! I I I 
I 

·13. ANALYSiS REQUESTED 

a f&pH ~~ 1L1£) 1t-,F,G, l.r 

b. ~ Metal ~~ /,O e:,f,G !,( Scan j I Q 

c. 0 Metals 
(Spec) 

d. 0 W.E.T. 

e. 0 Flash Point 

' c .• lab No. 

~0\2..~ 

, ,~:. 
t 

q-~Olf la 0 }__:J 

f. 0 PAHs - 8310 

g. 0 PCBs-e 
/ 

h. 0 TPH 

i. D Gasoline 

j. D Diesel 

k. 0 Cl - Pest 

14. SPECIAL REMARKS/ANALYSIS OBJECTIVE: 

15. SUPPLEMENTAL □ 
REQUESTS □ 

16. IN 0 cu 
, 

a 

0. 

C. 
5iona1Ure 

1. 
_J Signalure 

Sample Container 
d. Type 

Sci~ 
S~n L 
--.J~-\-e11.. 

~ O \ \._ 

} • 1 L 
~oil 
._~-\-e.A., 

□ 
□ 

e. Type 

""'--s-
~ 

\L.~6'-S 
v....-..".J 

t 
iL ~sS-

Nameffrtle 

Name/Ti~e 

f. Size g. Field Information 

:2=~ 
SoQ ,-...Q. 
IL... 

3
0,-...Q_ 
u 

.s: 
IL 

I. 0 OP - Pest 

m. 0 VOA - 8021 

n. 0 VOA- 8260 

o. 0 svo · 8270 

p. 0 TCLP • 
(specify) 

~ q. ~ s \J L.fA-k : D 
C..1\J '. Di r-

lnitials------i 

Date _ ____ --1 

8 / \ / - 6-1 I 3 I '1 '6 
Inclusive Dates 

'6/ l'f / 1 - I 
Inclusive Dates 

I I I 
Inclusive Dates 

I I I 
Inclusive Dates 

F 
I 
E 
L 
D 

17. LAB REMARKS: r~ ---==.,___,__-'r-~ -=--'-0_...c....~+--'-'--=---~-~-- \1~------F-=---'----------i L 
A 

- ----- -----------------------------------19 
OTSC 1116 (nEV 8197) Ongina.l·Lao • Duplicate-File • Tr1plicate-lnspeeior NLY 
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91 fK--C:516% 3 P01 

Department of Toxic Subsatnces Con1rol 
Hazardous 'Materials Laboratory 

SUPPLEMENTAL_ 

AUTHORIZATION REQUEST FORM (ARF) 

PART A: (By Requester - PLEASE PRINT) l'AT Level 1 [21 3 4 

Requestor's Name t ~10+~~l< Phone (''"' ) 1..ss-..,1'~ 

Region/Unit NECC-C>& ' - FAX {C;, IE,) "L5"5-J7'.jC: 

BACK-UP REQUESTOR ~ ~~ Phone ~1,) t-S:f-3 "?1] 

~ 
\ 

~ vr-lkutl\ ,SITE: i;A.G\e.. fV\11\Je- '\ /\1111\.A?.-
AnaJytic~I Requests Planned 

• Number ot Sols I Type Number of Spls / Type 
AnaJvsis Soll H20 Solid UQ Dther .. Analvsis Sail ~ l-120 Solid Lia Olher 

MetaJ Scan <i<' t.\ 1 \/ol Hdspca l 
' 

Metal Spec. SV Screang ' 

W.E.T Vol 8260 I 

,:,H <ii • sv 8270 ' 
I .. 

CVal'lides 'l... ( Write ;•J I 
Cl-Pest \ \ -~LI","..~~ 'L.. 
OP -Pes1 

PAHs TC LP 
PCBs 8081 Metals I 
Gasoline Vo/atilss 

Dies.el SemiYOI. I II 

TPH Pesticides 
8021 Herbicides I 11 

Analysis Objective a. Waste Characterization b. Treatment Standards 

(circle one) /2)orinking H20 Standards d. Others : 
-

Detection Limit Requirements : 
fl! <liff.t ll~••n.1tilin«I Dul 

Expected Oats of Samples Arrival at Lab 

PART B: ( By ST O - HML) 

Authortzation Number (AN) 

Lab to Receive Samples Name: Hazardous Materials Lab 
Address: 700 Heinz St., Ste. 150 

Berkeley, CA 94710 

TATt.--1 1 • 10-lS O.ya. ~ • 16-30 [Ry1, l • l1-"5 P :a,.,., , • "d_e■ pocrJl>le (cjrd• u• oe 1~ top) 

• Ol.llu i S.OIN■t (S.I}, OU. P'ai~ fl'••). $1&~ (!11)..cte (plcaa tptt.ll)) ul l,,q'),oly 



TRACE ELEM ENTS IN THE PLUMAS COPPER BELT, 
PLUMA S COUNTY, CALI FORN IA 

By ARTHUR R. SMITH 

INTRODUCTION 

The Plumas copper belt is California's most signifi­
cant z.one of copper-iron sulfide mineraliud rock that 
is either wholly within or closely associated with gra­
nitic intrusions. The belt extends 18 miles from the 

Engels and Superior mines on the north to the Walker 
mine (fig. 1) m a roughly S. 20° E. direction. T he 
center of the belt is about six mi les east of Taylorsville, 
Plumas County. 

Shasta 1 

! 
-N-

~ 
Figure I. 
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ATTACHMENT F 



• 

PLUMAS COUNTY 
NEGATIVE DECLARATION NUMBER 661 

for 

PERMIT TO MINE/RECLAMATION PLAN 

Turner Excavating, Inc., operator 
California-Engels Mining Company, owner 

MR 2-11/12-01 

Plumas County 
FILED: May 9, 2012 

REVIEW PERIOD 

FROM: May 9, 2012 through June 8, 2012 

APPROVED/CERTIFIED J .:.< /\e ) 7 , 2012 

NEGATIVE DECLARATION 

It is found that this project will not have a significant effect on the environment because the Initial study uncovered 
no evidence to the contrary. An attached copy of the Initial Study documents reasons supporting the finding. 

Determination by: Rebecca K. Herrin 
Title: Senior Planner 
Date: April 27, 2012 

Written by: Rebecca K. Herrin 
Title: Senior Planner 
Date: April 27, 201 2 

SCANNED 
by M. Luk lr. 



PLUMAS COUNTY 
Initial Study 

Permit to Mine/Reclamation Plan 
Turner Excavating, Inc., operator 

(California-Engels Mining Company, owner) 
MR 2-11/12-01 

Date of Initial Study Preparation: April, 2012 

Lead Agency Name and Address: 

Prepared By: 

Project location: 

Applicants: 

Owner: 

General Plan designation: 

Zoning: 

Project Description: 

Plumas County Planning and Building Services, 
555 Main Street, Quincy, CA 95971 
(530) 283-6213 
beckyherrin@countyofplumas.com 

Rebecca Herrin, Senior Planner 

Diamond Mountain Road, Greenville, CA; Assessor's Parcel 
Number 007-080-004; Section 8, Township 27 North, Range 11 
East, MDM 

Brian and Lynne Turner, dba Turner Excavating, Inc. 

California-Engels Mining Company 

Important Timber 

General Forest - GF (Exhibit 2). 

See Exhibit 1 - Reclamation Plan for the Number 10-Level Mine, prepared by Deem/Shiningtree, 
December, 2011. 
This is a proposal to mine up to 100,000 cubic yards of construction aggregate from an existing previously 
disturbed overburden pile. The project will be mined in one section without phasing. Mining will remove 
the overburden material from the top down until it reaches the original ground surface where the original 
soil layer still exists. In addition to mining, the project includes a seasonal rock crushing/screening plant, 
but no permanent structures or buildings. The processing plant will cease operation and be removed from 
the site when available reserves of aggregate overburden have been exhausted. 

Based on the known dimensions of the overburden pile, the amount of material remaining onsite is 
calculated to be 55,000 cubic yards. Removal of the existing pile will result in the exhaustion of all 
available material at this location. 

The total acreage in reclamation plan is plus or minus 2.88 acres. The total area to be reclaimed is plus or 
minus 2.88 acres. Final reclamation will be completed within three years after the available reserves have 
been exhausted. Proposed land uses after reclamation are for timber management. The estimated end of 
mining is January 1, 2032. 

The Number 10-Level Mine is a vested aggregate mine in Plumas County, CA. Mining operations have 
been conducted under the same ownership at the site since 1901. Originally, mining was conducted to 
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retrieve ore. Tunneling conducted to reach the mineralized areas cut through thick sections of non­
mineralized overburden rock, which was left near the tunnel entrance. 

California-Engels Mining Company has maintained records showing that these overburden piles have been 
exploited for aggregate material since at least as early as 1964 by numerous private and public entities. 
Based upon records provided by the owner it appears that approximately 50% of the original pile has been 
removed by past operators. Due to this long history of continued use, the site has been declared a vested 
aggregate operation by the County of Plumas (Exhibit 3). 

Equipment and techniques used to process excavated material will vary. The following description is 
typical of this type of operation: 

Since the material being mined has already been broken down during the process of tunneling, no blasting 
is required prior to moving material to the processing site. 

The overburden aggregate will be harvested with an excavator or loader. Material will be moved to the 
plant site where it will be deposited into the feeder/grizzly unit or surge pile. Following the 
crushing/screening process the material will be sorted in stockpiles within the mine area until needed. 

Some material may be too fine or soft for incorporation into marketable products. This material will be 
saved for eventual use during reclamation as a means of enhancing rooting depth and water holding 
capacity of the soil. Since the overburden is not uniform in size, the final amount of fines is unknown. 

The objective of the reclamation program is to clean up the pre-SMARA (Surface Mining and Reclamation 
Act) mine overburden, restore the original surfaces to a stable condition, prevent erosion, and ensure 
public safety. 

Environmental Setting and Surrounding Land Uses: 
The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

Site elevations range from 4,176 feet on the northeast end of the reclamation area to 4,123 feet on the 
southwest. The hills surrounding the site rise over 1000 feet above the mine. 

The material being processed is a component of the Mesozoic aged plutonic rocks that dominate the area. 
The overburden is a mix of quartz monzonite/quartz diorite and is free from mineralization. Since the 
project only involves the removal of a previously placed pile of overburden to reveal the original ground 
surface, the structural properties of the underlying geology are not included in the plan. 

Mining will be conducted with the goal of uncovering the original soil surface already in place. As soon as 
a section of the soil is exposed, a 30ft. by 30ft. fenced test plot will be set up to determine the viability of 
the proposed seed mix. 

The site is located at the northern end of the Sierra Nevada geomorphic province at an elevation of 4,160 
feet (mean sea level). The climate is Mediterranean, characterized by cool, wet winters and warm, dry 
summers. The yearly average temperature in the area is approximately 51 ° F with an average low of 24° F 
in January and average high of 91 ° F in July. Annual rainfall, as measured at the Greenville Ranger Station 
to the south, averages 39.73 inches per year. There are no detailed records of rainfall at the site but it can 
be assumed that it closely follows this pattern. The majority of the rainfall occurs between November and 
April with the wettest month being February. 

-2-



___, 

The mine site is adjacent to China Gulch, a tributary of Lights Creek that drains China Gulch to the 
northeast. The mine is in the lower reaches of the small watershed, which has its headwaters 
approximately 2 miles to the northeast. Historic mining during the early 20th century resulted in the 
original drainage bed at this location being filled in with overburden. In order to direct runoff away from 
the overburden pile, the stream was channeled along the hillside to the west in a ditch. Removal of the pile 
will not alter the existing flow pattern and no extraction will occur within 10 feet of the stream. 

Surveys conducted in support of nearby timber harvest activities have identified the vegetation regime as 
"Lower Montane Conferous Forest" and corresponds to the description for this association provided by the 
California Native Plant Society. The entire area was heavily logged in the 19th and 20th centuries and all 
mature vegetation in the area is secondary growth. The site is within the boundaries of the massive 
Moonlight Fire that burned through the area in 2008. The vegetation surrounding the mine was heavily 
damaged and the predominant vegetation types are now large areas of brush and grass interspersed with 
unburned mixed stands of Ponderosa Pine, White Fir, Incense Cedar, Sugar Pine, Douglas Fir and Black 
Oak. The mine area itself consists of one contiguous pile of unvegetated overburden rock. In its current 
state the mine area is not suitable habitat for vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed 
during mining or reclamation. Upon removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation 
commonly found in the area. 

The wildlife habitat is characterized as Sierran Mixed Conifer. The presence of year-round water in the 
surrounding area and relative seclusion of the site makes it suitable for many types of large and small 
animals including deer, coyote, rabbits, and numerous small rodents, reptiles and amphibians. The mining 
area itself is devoid of vegetation and surface water and does not currently provide valuable habitat. The 
site is not within a designated sensitive habitat area. The nearest important wildlife habitat area is deer 
winter range located approximately 4,000 feet to the southwest of the site. Upon successful reclamation, 
the site should revert to pre-mining habitat regime as the surrounding area recovers from the 2008 fire. 

Properties within the area of the project, including the mine site are designated in the Plumas County 
zoning code as General Forest (GF). Post mining use of the reclaimed land will be compatible with the 
General Forest designation. 

Relationship to Other Projects: 
There are no known related projects proposed in the vicinity of this project. 

Other public agencies whose approval is required: 
The agencies that will have to issue entitlements if the project is to be undertaken are the Plumas County 
Department of Public Works and Plumas County Planning and Building Services. 

' 

► Encroachment Permit for work in the County road right-of-way - Plumas County Department of 
Public Works 

► Permit to Mine/Reclamation Plan - Plumas County Planning and Building Services 
► Department of Conservation, Office of Mine Reclamation - Review of financial assurances, 

approved Reclamation Plan, Annual Reports, Inspections by Lead Agency 
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Environmental Factors Potentially Affected 

The environmental factors checked below would be potentially affected by this project, involving at least 
one impact that is a "Potentially Significant Impact" and subject to mitigation as indicated by the checklist 
on the following pages. 

□ Aesthetics □ Agriculture/Forestry □ Air Quality 
Resources 

[] Biological Resources [] Cultural Resources [] Geology /Soils 

□ Greenhouse Gas □ Hazards & Hazardous □ Hydrology/ Water 
Emissions Materials Quality 

□ Land Use / Planning □ Mineral Resources □ Noise 

□ Population / Housing □ Public Services □ Recreation 

□ Transportation/fraffic □ Utilities/Service Systems □ Mandatory Findings of 
Significance --

DETERMINATION: 

On the basis of this initial evaluation: 

~ I find that although the proposed project could have a significant effect on the environment, 
there will not be a significant effect in this case. A NEGATIVE DECLARATION will be 
prepared. 
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INITIAL STUDY AND CHECKLIST 

Introduction: 
This checklist is to be completed for all projects that are not exempt from environmental review under the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The information, analysis and conclusions contained in 
the checklist are the basis for deciding whether an Environmental Impact Report (EIR) or Negative 
Declaration is to be prepared. Additionally, if an EIR is prepared, the checklist shall be used to focus the 
EIR on the effects determined to be potentially significant. 

1. AESTHETICS 

Environmental Setting: 
The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

Site elevations range from 4,176 feet on the northeast end of the reclamation area to 4,123 feet on the 
southwest. The hills surrounding the site rise over 1000 feet above the mine. This rugged topography 
prevents the site from being viewed from the nearest public vantage points and helps restrict access. The 
footprint of the vested mine occupies a very small portion of the parcel on which it sits. 

The Plumas County General Plan identifies scenic areas, which are designed to maintain and preserve the 
rural character, representative qualities of historic lifestyles, qualities that attract tourists, and to provide 
standards for scenic highways. The property is not located within a general plan identified Scenic Area or 
adjacent to any Scenic Road. 

Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Would the project: 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect on a □ □ □ ~ 
scenic vista? 

b) Substantially damage scenic resources, □ □ □ ~ 
including, but not limited to, trees, rock 
outcroppings, and historic buildings within a 
state scenic highway? 

c) Substantially degrade the existing visual □ □ □ ~ 
character or quality of the site and its 
surroundings? 

d) Create a new source of substantial light or □ □ □ ~ 
glare which would adversely affect day or 
nighttime views in the area? 
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Impact Discussion: 
The mine site is located in an isolated area and is not visible from any public roadways or properties. 

The mine site is not located adjacent to any designated scenic highways or roadways. The scope of the 
project is limited to mining, crushing and removing overburden material and will not disturb any trees or 
rock outcroppings. 

The scope of the project is limited to mining, crushing and removing overburden material. Reclamation of 
the site and revegetation will improve the visual quality of the site. In its current state the mine area is not 
suitable habitat for vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed during mining or 
reclamation. Upon removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation commonly found 
in the area. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required. Because of the limited scope of the project and the 
remote location of the property from public areas, impacts can be seen as less than significant. 

2. AGRICULTURE/FOREST RESOURCES 

Environmental Setting: Privately owned resource production lands that produce agricultural and timber 
products are located throughout Plumas County. The county also includes parts of the Plumas, Lassen, 
Tahoe, and Toiyabe National Forests, which support some timber and biomass production. 

Surveys conducted in support of nearby timber harvest activities have identified the vegetation regime as 
"Lower Montane Conferous Forest" and corresponds to the description for this association provided by the 
California Native Plant Society. The entire area was heavily logged in the 19th and 20th centuries and all 
mature vegetation in the area is secondary growth. The site is within the boundaries of the massive 
Moonlight Fire that burned through the area in 2008. The vegetation surrounding the mine was heavily 
damaged and the predominant vegetation types are now large areas of brush and grass interspersed with 
unburned mixed stands of Ponderosa Pine, White Fir, Incense Cedar, Sugar Pine, Douglas Fir and Black 
Oak. The mine area itself consists of one contiguous pile of unvegetated overburden rock. In its current 
state the mine area is not suitable habitat for vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed 
during mining or reclamation. Upon removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation 
commonly found in the area. 

Properties within the area of the project, including the mine site are designated in the Plumas County 
zoning code as General Forest (GF). Post mining use of the reclaimed land will be compatible with the 
General Forest zoning designation. 

A Timberland Conversion Permit application must be submitted to CALFIRE when more than three acres 
of timberland will be converted to a non-forestry land use. The project is proposed on a 2.88 acre non­
timberland area where no tree removal is proposed. 

A response letter was received from the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection and is 
included as Exhibit 4. 

Plumas County is not mapped under the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. The only area in 
Plumas County that is mapped is the Sierra Valley. 
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Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

In determining whether impacts to agricultural 
resources are significant environmental effects, 
lead agencies may refer to the California 
Agricultural Land Evaluation and Site 
Assessment Model (I 997) prepared by the 
California Dept. of Conservation as an optional 
model to use in assessing impacts on agriculture 
and farmland. In determining whether impacts 
to forest resources, including timberland, are 
significant environmental effects, lead agencies 
may refer to information compiled by the 
California Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection regarding the state's inventory of 
forest land, including the Forest and Range 
Assessment Project and the Forest Legacy 
Assessment project; and forest carbon 
measurement methodology provided in Forest 
Protocols adopted by the California Air 
Resources Board. Would the project: 

a) Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, □ IJ IJ I&) 
or Farmland of Statewide Importance 
(Farmland), as shown on the maps prepared 
pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and 
Monitoring Program of the California 
Resources Agency, to non-agricultural use? 

b) Conflict with existing zoning for agricultural IJ IJ □ I&) 
use, or a Williamson Act contract? 

c) Conflict with existing zoning for, or cause [] IJ □ I&) 
rezoning of, forest land ( as defined in Public 
Resources Code section I 2220(g)) or 
timberland (as defined by Public Resources 
Code section 4526)? 

d) Result in the loss of forest land or conversion □ □ □ I&) 
of forest land to non-forest use? 

e) Involve other changes in the existing □ □ □ I&) 
environment which, due to their location or 
nature, could result in conversion of Farmland, 
to non-agricultural use or conversion of forest 
land to non-forest use? 

Impact Discussion: 
Plumas County is not mapped as part of the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program. The Sierra 
Valley is the only area mapped. The County's "Right to Farm Ordinance" states that impacts from 
agriculture and timber operations shall not constitute a nuisance provided that operations are lawful and 
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utilize accepted or best management practices. 

There is no agriculturally designated property in the vicinity. 

The property is designated as Important Timber and zoned General Forest (GF). Post mining use of the 
reclaimed land will be compatible with the General Forest designation. 

The project does not conflict with existing zoning or cause rezoning of forest land or timber land. 
The project does not conflict with any designated Timberland Production Zone. The property is 
designated Important Timber and zoned General Forest (GF). The mine area itself consists of one 
contiguous pile of unvegetated overburden rock. In its current state the mine area is not suitable habitat for 
vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed during mining or reclamation. Upon 
removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation commonly found in the area. 

A response letter was received from the California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 
(CALFm.E) is included as Exhibit 4. CALFm.E has no further comments as the project does not involve 
any tree removal. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required. It is noted that there are requirements for future 
harvesting of timber when necessary, and the requirements of CAL Fm.E are adequate to address impacts 
from timber harvesting. The impacts are less than significant. 

3. AIR QUALITY 

Environmental Setting: Within Plumas County, the only pollutant of concern is particulate matter (PM). 
Plumas County is currently in a "non-attainment" status for State level particulate matter of 10 microns or 
less in size (PM10). Suspended particulate matter consists of particles small enough to remain suspended in 
the air for long periods. The sources of particulate matter that could be generated by this project include 
dust from travel on dirt roads and dust from construction of the project. 

Suspended particulate matter can have various adverse effects on human health including asthma, 
emphysema, and lung cancer. Particulate matter is comprised of various organic and inorganic 
components including soil, vegetation particles, and pesticide residue. Attainment plans focus on 
particulate matter ten microns or less (PM10) because the relatively smaller particles are not as readily 
filtered by the human body as larger particulates. 

The Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District submitted a comment letter, included as Exhibit 5. 

"The project as proposed is not likely to result in significant impacts to air resources. However, an 
Authority to Construct/Permit to Operate will probably be required from the NSAQMD." 

"For surface disturbance exceeding one acre, a Dust Control Plan is required pursuant to NSAQMD Rule 
226:Dust Control." 

"The project site is not mapped as having ultramafic rock or naturally occurring asbestos. However, if 
ultramafic rock is encountered then the Asbestos ATCM for Construction, Grading, Quarrying and Surface 
Mining Operations (CCR Title 17, Section 93105) will apply." 
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Where available, the significance criteria 
established by the applicable air quality 
management or air pollution control district may 
be relied upon to make the following 
determinations. Would the project: 

a) Conflict with or obstruct implementation of 
the applicable air quality plan? 

b) Violate any air quality standard or 
contribute substantially to an existing or 
projected air quality violation? 

c) Result in a cumulatively considerable net 
increase of any criteria pollutant for which the 
project region is non-attainment under an 
applicable federal or state ambient air quality 
standard (including releasing emissions which 
exceed quantitative thresholds for ozone 
precursors)? 

d) Expose sensitive receptors to substantial 
pollutant concentrations? 

e) Create objectionable odors affecting a 
substantial number of people? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant 

with 
Mitigation 

Incorporation 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

~ 

(&I 

No 
Impact 

□ 

□ 

□ 

This is a proposal to mine up to 100,000 cubic yards of construction aggregate from an existing previously 
disturbed overburden pile. The project will be mined in one section without phasing. Mining will remove 
the overburden material from the top down until it reaches the original ground surface where the original· 
soil layer still exists. In addition to mining, the project includes a seasonal rock crushing/screening plant, 
but no permanent structures or buildings. The processing plant will cease operation and be removed from 
the site when available reserves of aggregate overburden have been exhausted. 

The project is proposed to be served by an existing county road. Private on-site roads serve the project 
site. These roads have been used in the past for timber harvest and mining/prospecting activities, and will 
likely be used in the future for the same. Six small shacks that store cores produced during mineral 
exploration in the surrounding area are located adjacent to the northeast end of the reclamation area. 

Dust created by the road use and processing activity has the potential to affect local air quality at various 
times during operations, but these impacts are minimal. To minimize air quality impacts associated with 
project- related dust, any activity is required by the NSAQMD to comply with Regulation II, Rule 226: 
Dust Control. Additionally, the disturbance of more than one acre requires the approval of a Dust Control 
Plan by the NSAQMD. 

The NSAQMD has indicated that an Authority to Construct/Permit will likely be required. Equipment 
typically subject to permitting includes generator engines and rock crushing and screening machinery. 
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The material being processed is a component of the Mesozoic aged plutonic rocks that dominate the area. 
The overburden is a mix of quartz monzonite/quartz diorite and is free from mineralization. There is no 
indication of the presence of asbestos rock. 

Sensitive receptors are facilities where sensitive receptor population groups ( children, the elderly, the acutely 
ill and the chronically ill) are likely to be located. These land uses include residences, schools, playgrounds, 
child care centers, retirement homes, convalescent homes, hospitals and medical clinics. Because the project 
would not create substantial pollutant concentrations and there are no sensitive receptors located near the 
project site, nor any property zoned for such uses, the impact would be less than significant. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as the impacts can be seen as less than significant. The 
District Rules of the Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District are applicable to the project and the 
owners/applicants will be provided a copy of the correspondence from the District. Conditions may be 
applied to the permit to ensure that permitting requirements are followed. 

4. BIOLOGICAL RESOURCES 

Environmental Setting: 
The Number 10-Level Mine is a vested aggregate mine. Mining operations have been conducted under the 
same ownership at the site since 1901. Originally, mining was conducted to retrieve ore. Tunneling 
conducted to reach the mineralized areas cut through thick sections of non-mineralized overburden rock, 
which was left near the tunnel entrance. 

California-Engels Mining Company has maintained records showing that these overburden piles have been 
exploited for aggregate material since at least as early as 1964 by numerous private and public entities. 
Based upon records provided by the owner it appears that approximately 50% of the original pile has been 
removed by past operators. 

Page 11 of the "Reclamation Plan for the Number 10-Level Mine" contains descriptions of the resources. 
The mine site is adjacent to China Gulch, a tributary of Lights Creek that drains China Gulch to the 
northeast. The mine is in the lower reaches of the small watershed which has its headwaters approximately 
2 miles to the northeast. Historic mining during the early 20th century resulted in the original drainage bed 
at this location being filled in with overburden. In order to direct runoff away from the overburden pile, 
the stream was channeled along the hillside to the west in a ditch. Removal of the pile will not alter the 
existing flow pattern and no extraction will occur within 10 feet of the stream. 

Surveys conducted in support of nearby timber harvest activities have identified the vegetation regime as 
"Lower Montaine Coniferous Forest" and corresponds to the description for this association provided by 
the California Native Plant Society. The entire area was heavily logged in the 19th and 20th centuries and 
all mature vegetation in the area is second growth. The site is within the boundaries of the massive 
Moonlight Fire that burned through the area in 2008. The vegetation surrounding the mine was heavily 
damaged and the predominant vegetation types are now large areas of brush and grass interspersed with 
unburned mixed stands of Ponderosa Pine, White Fir, Incense Cedar, Sugar Pine, Douglas Fir and Black 
Oak. The mine area itself consists of one contiguous pile of unvegetated overburden rock. In its current 
state the mine area is not suitable habitat for vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed 
during mining or reclamation. Upon removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation 
commonly found in the area. 

The wildlife habitat is characterized as Sierran Mixed Conifer. The presence of year-round water in the 
surrounding area and relative seclusion of the site makes it suitable for many types of large and small 
animals including deer, coyote, rabbits, and numerous small rodents, reptiles and amphibians. The mining 
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area itself is devoid of vegetation and surface water and does not currently provide valuable habitat. The 
site is not within a designated sensitive habitat area. The nearest important wildlife habitat area is deer 
winter range (Plumas County General Plan) located approximately 4,000 feet to the southwest of the site. 
Upon successful reclamation, the site should revert back to the pre-mining habitat regime as the 
surrounding area recovers from the 2008 fire. 

Would the project: 

a) Have a substantial adverse effect, either 
directly or through habitat modifications, on any 
species identified as a candidate, sensitive, or 
special status species in local or regional plans, 
policies, or regulations, or by the California 
Department offish and Game or U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service? 

b) Have a substantial adverse effect on any 
riparian habitat or other sensitive natural 
community identified in local or regional plans, 
policies, regulations or by the California 
Department of Fish and Game or US Fish and 
Wildlife Service? 

c) Have a substantial adverse effect on federally 
protected wetlands as defined by Section 404 of 
the Clean Water Act (including, but not limited 
to, marsh, vernal pool, coastal, etc.) through 
direct removal, filling, hydrological 
interruption, or other means? 

d) Interfere substantially with the movement of 
any native resident or migratory fish or wildlife 
species or with established native resident or 
migratory wildlife corridors, or impede the use 
of native wildlife nursery sites. 

e) Conflict with any local policies or ordinances 
protecting biological resources, such as a tree 
preservation policy or ordinance? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

Less Than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

□ 

IJ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 

I&] 

IJ 

I&] 

□ 

No 
Impact 

IJ 

I&] 

IJ 

I&] 

The Plumas County General Plan identifies Important Wildlife Habitat Areas which are intended to avoid 
significant interference with identified wildlife habitat areas. The project site is not located within any 
identified Important Wildlife Habitat area. 

Historic mining during the early 20th century resulted in the original drainage bed at this location being 
filled in with overburden. In order to direct runoff away from the overburden pile, the stream was 
channeled along the hillside to the west in a ditch. Removal of the pile will not alter the existing flow 
pattern and no extraction will occur within 10 feet of the stream. The overburden pile is stable in the area 
adjacent to the stream and best practices will be utilized to keep from impacting the stream. 
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There is no vegetation in the processing area and wildlife is not expected to be impacted. If suitable area is 
available after reclamation is completed a fenced, 30 foot by 30 foot test plot will be revegetated with a 
seed mixture. Vegetative success will be monitored for two consecutive years, or until success standards 
are met without human intervention, following completion of reclamation. Should revegetation not seem 
attainable after two years, an alternative vegetative planting program, addressing species richness, density, 
and cover, shall be undertaken. As a part of the revegetation program, noxious weeds will be controlled. 

Financial assurances held for reclamation work will be released when the performance standards of the 
reclamation plan are satisfied. This includes successful establishment of vegetation with no human 
interference, including but not limited to fertilization, irrigation, weeding, etc. The financial assurance will 
be the in form of a performance bond or other mechanism as approved by Plumas County. 

Although the California Department of Fish and Game did not provide comment, the agency will be 
reviewing this Negative Declaration during the circulation period. The property owner has indicated that 
there are existing Streambed Alteration Agreements for all stream crossings obtained as part of the timber 
harvest activities. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts are less than significant. 

5. CULTURAL RESOURCES 

Environmental Setting: 
This is a proposal to mine up to 100,000 cubic yards of construction aggregate from an existing previously 
disturbed overburden pile. The project will be mined in one section without phasing. Mining will remove 
the overburden material from the top down until it reaches the original ground surface where the original 
soil layer still exists. In addition to mining, the project includes a seasonal rock crushing/screening plant, 
but no permanent structures or buildings. The processing plant will cease operation and be removed from 
the site when available reserves of aggregate overburden have been exhausted. 

The Number 10-Level Mine is a vested aggregate mine in Plumas County, CA. Mining operations have 
been conducted under the same ownership at the site since 1901. Originally, mining was conducted to 
retrieve ore. Tunneling conducted to reach the mineralized areas cut through thick sections of non­
mineralized overburden rock, which was left near the tunnel entrance. 

California-Engels Mining Company has maintained records showing that these overburden piles have been 
exploited for aggregate material since at least as early as 1964 by numerous private and public entities. 
Based upon records provided by the owner it appears that approximately 50% of the original pile has been 
removed by past operators. Due to this long history of continued use, the site has been declared a vested 
aggregate operation by the County of Plumas (Exhibit 3). 

The area excavated under this reclamation plan is limited to the pile of tunnel overburden and no material 
will be left after mining concludes. Other existing piles of tunnel overburden at nearby areas, not 
associated with this plan may be mined under separate approvals and plans in the future. 

The property is not located in an area designated as potentially archaeologically significant in the Plumas 
County General Plan. 
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Would the project: 

a) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of a historical resource as defined 
in 15064.5? 

b) Cause a substantial adverse change in the 
significance of an archaeological resource as 
defined in 15064.5? 

c) Directly or indirectly destroy a unique 
paleontological resource or site or unique 
geologic feature? 

d) Disturb any human remains, including those 
interred outside of formal cemeteries? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

No 
Impact 
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The area has a long history of mining and timber harvesting activities. This operation can be viewed as a 
continuation of the long pattern of mining on the site. This limited processing operation will utilize 
existing overburden resources. This project can be seen to have no significant impact on Cultural 
Resources. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts are less than significant. 

6. GEOLOGY AND SOILS 

Environmental Setting: 
Plumas County is located in the northern part of the Sierra Nevada geomorphic province. The Sierra 
Nevada province starts in the north at Lassen Peak in the Cascade Range and continues to the south where 
it meets the Tehachapi Mountains. The Sierra Nevada province is comprised principally of Cretaceous 
granitic plutons; remnants of Paleozoic and Mesozoic meta volcanic and metasedimentary rocks, and 
Cenozoic volcanic and sedimentary rocks. The Paleozoic and Mesozoic metavolcanic and 
metasedimentary rocks were intruded by the granitic plutons approximately 77 to 225 million years ago, 
resulting in local uplift and deformation of the overlying older rock. Regional uplift and rapid erosion of 
most of the overlying metamorphic rocks closely followed intrusion of the plutons, exposing the 
underlying granitic rocks. Continued uplift and erosion, accompanied by volcanic activity and alpine 
glaciation resulted in the present pattern of deep-walled valleys that characterize the Sierra Nevada. 

The Diamond Mountains and Sierra Nevada Range traverse through the County in a northwesterly 
direction. The Diamond Mountains dominate the eastern portion of the County, while the Sierra Nevada 
Range dominates the southwestern portion of the County. Between the two mountain ranges is the Plumas 
Trench. Several faults have resulted in the uplift of the Diamond and Sierra Nevada Ranges, with the 
northwesterly tending Melones fault traversing through the County and forming the structural boundary 
between the two ranges. Many of the valleys formed from this fault and were once filled with glacial 
lakes. The glaciers eroded the underlying granitic rocks on the mountain peaks and formed a vast alluvial 
meadow system in the headwaters of the Feather River. 
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The soils in the valleys or low-lying area of Plumas County are dominated by highly erodible granitic and 
sedimentary deposits. To date, there have been no soil surveys conducted by the U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS) for Plumas County. However, an erosion 
study conducted by the USDA has shown that soils in Plumas County have low permeability and are prone 
to erosion from storm water runoff.* 
*Draft EIR, Monterey Plus, October 2007. 

The material being processed is a component of the Mesozoic aged plutonic rocks that dominate the area 
(see page 9 of the "Reclamation Plan for the Number IO-Level Mine"). The overburden is a mix of quartz 
monzonite/quartz diorite and is free from mineralization. 

Page 9 of the "Reclamation Plan for the Number IO-Level Mine" also contains a description of the 
resource. Since the project only involves the removal of a previously placed pile of overburden to reveal 
the original ground surface, the structural properties of the underlying geology are not discussed in the 
reclamation plan. All final slopes will match the gentle underlying contours of the exposed slope above 
the site ( approximately 3: 1 ). The surrounding forest slopes show no signs of mass wasting or failure and 
the final reclaimed surfaces will be free from the risk of significant erosion provided post-mining erosion 
control measures are in place. 

Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Would the project: 

a) Expose people or structures to potential [] [] [] I&) 
substantial adverse effects, including the risk of 
loss, injury, or death involving: 

i) Rupture of a known earthquake fault, as [] [] [] I&) 
delineated on the most recent Alquist-Priolo 
Earthquake Fault Zoning Map issued by the 
State Geologist for the area or based on other 
substantial evidence of a known fault? Refer to 
Division of Mines and Geology Special 
Publication 42. 

ii) Strong seismic ground shaking? [] [] (&I [] 

iii) Seismic-related ground failure, including [] [] [] I&) 
liquefaction? 

iv) Landslides? [] [] [] ~ 
b) Result in substantial soil erosion or the loss [] IJ [] I&) 
of topsoil? 

c) Be located on expansive soil, as defined in [] [] [] ~ Table 18-1-B of the Uniform Building Code 
(1994), creating substantial risks to life or 
property? 

d) Have soils incapable of adequately [] IJ [] I&) 
supporting the use of septic tanks or alternative 
waste water disposal systems where sewers are 
not available for the disposal of waste water? 
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Impact Discussion: 
Plumas County is not listed in Table 4, Special Publication 42 (Cities and Counties Affected by Alquist­
Priolo Earthquake Fault Zones as of 12/17/03). The proposed project would not expose people or 
structures to substantial adverse effects due to impacts from earthquakes or seismic shaking. Like most of 
California, the site can be expected to be subjected to seismic ground shaking at some future time. As the 
project appears to be located in an area where the probability of significant ground shaking is low, 
potential geologic impacts would be less than significant. 

The proposed project would not expose people or structures to significant risk due to seismic-related 
ground failure, including liquefaction. Liquefaction is a phenomenon where loose, saturated, granular soils 
lose their inherent shear strength due to excess water pressure that builds up during repeated movement 
from seismic activity. Factors that contribute to the potential for liquefaction include a low relative density 
of granular materials, a shallow groundwater table, and a long duration and high acceleration of seismic 
shaking. Liquefaction usually results in horizontal and vertical movements from lateral spreading of 
liquefied materials and post-earthquake settlement of liquefied materials. Liquefaction potential is greatest 
where the groundwater level is shallow, and submerged loose, fine sands occur within a depth of 
approximately 50 feet or less. Due to the type of soils onsite, liquefaction within the project area is 
unlikely. 

The overburden pile being mined was put in place nearly 100 years ago on top of the existing soils. 
Mining will be conducted with the goal of uncovering the original soil surface already in place. Removal 
of the overburden pile will not alter the existing stream flow pattern and no extraction will occur within 10 
feet of the stream, making it unlikely that substantial soil erosion or loss of topsoil will take place. 

Land disturbances on projects of one acre or more requires the landowner to obtain coverage under the 
General Permit for Stormwater Discharges. The project proponent will need to file a Notice of Intent 
(NOi), along with a vicinity map, a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), and appropriate fees 
to the State Water Resources Control Board prior to commencement of activities on site. 

During operations, an erosion and pollution control plan shall be applied to the site, unless future changes 
in stormwater regulations compel the operator to institute stricter measures. This plan has two major 
objectives: 

1. To identify and evaluate sources of pollutants associated with reclamation activities that may affect the 
quality of storm water discharges and authorized non-storm water discharges from the facility; and 

2. To identify and implement site-specific best management practices (BMPs) to reduce or prevent 
pollutants associated with reclamation activities in storm water discharges and authorized non-storm water 
discharges. 

During reclamation activities, a copy of this plan will be kept by the foreman at the quarry site. The 
preparer of this plan is a Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC) and a qualified 
QSD/QSP (Qualified SWPPP Developer and Qualified SWPPP Practioner for the Construction General 
Stormwater Permit). The Operator will oversee the plan's implementation. Best Management Practices 
(BMPs) will be implemented during reclamation activities. If unforeseen circumstances require new 
and/or revised BMPs, they will be employed immediately. Specific measures used during reclamation may 
be changed if more economical BMPs with comparable or improved results are identified.-

No septic tanks or wastewater systems are proposed as part of this project. A portable toilet will be used. 
Sewage from the portable toilet will be hauled by approved hauler and disposed at an approved disposal 
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site. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts are less than significant 

7. GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS 

Environmental Setting: Greenhouse gases (GHG) are gases that trap heat in the atmosphere. GHG are 
emitted by natural and industrial processes, and the accumulation of GHG in the atmosphere regulates the 
earth's temperate. Greenhouse gases (GHGs) include carbon dioxide (CO2), methane, halocarbons 
(HFCs), and nitrous oxide (NO2). CO2 emissions, stemming largely from fossil fuel combustion, 
comprise about 87% of California emissions. In California, approximately 43% of the CO2 emissions 
come from cars and trucks. Agriculture is a major source of both methane and NO2, with additional 
methane coming primarily from landfills. Most HFC emissions come from refrigerants, solvents, 
propellant agent, and industrial processes, and persist in the atmosphere for longer periods of time and 
have greater effects at lower concentrations compared to CO2. The adverse impacts of global warming 
include impacts to air quality, water quality, sea level rise (flooding), fire hazards, and an increase in health 
related problems. AB32 establishes a state goal of reducing GHG emissions to 1990 levels by the year 
2020 (a reduction of approximately 30% from the "business as usual" forecast 2020 emission levels, or a 
10% reduction from today's levels). 

Assembly Bill 32 (AB32), the California Global Warming Solutions Act, was adopted in September 2006 
and requires that statewide GHG emissions be reduced to 1990 levels by the year 2020. This reduction 
will be accomplished through regulations to reduce emissions from stationary sources and from vehicles. 
The California Air Resources Board (ARB) is the State agency responsible for developing rules and 
regulations to cap and reduce GHG emissions. In addition, the Governor signed Senate Bill 97 in 2007 
directing the California Office of Planning and Research to develop guidelines for the analysis and 
mitigation of the effects of greenhouse gas emissions and mandating the GHG impacts be evaluated in 
CEQA documents. CEQA Guidelines Amendments for GHG Emissions were adopted by OPR on 
December 30, 2009. 

Draft Thresholds of Significance for GHGs were developed and released by ARB in October 2008, but 
ARB is not talcing action on adopting those thresholds, which now serve for informational purposes. 

Currently, there are no federal laws regulating GHGs, but on April 17, 2009, the federal EPA formally 
declared that GHGs are a public health and safety issue, clearing the way for their identification as criteria 
pollutants that could be regulated under the Clean Air Act. 

Would the project: 

a) Generate greenhouse gas emissions, either 
directly or indirectly, that may have a 
significant impact on the environment? 

b) Conflict with any applicable plan, policy or 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 
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regulation of an agency adopted for the purpose 
of reducing the emissions of greenhouse gases? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Cl 

Less Than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

IJ 

Less Than 
Significant 

Impact 

~ 

No 
Impact 

Cl 

CO2 is the main component of greenhouse gases. For the proposed project, it is anticipated that CO2 
levels would not be substantially significant because the project is not substantially increasing vehicle trips. 
The project would not contribute to a substantial increase in traffic during the operational phase of the 
project that could result in a significant increase in GHG emissions because the project would consist of 
limited vehicle traffic. 

Given Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District standards, the project would limit air pollution to 
the maximum extent feasible. Because the proposed project would be below anticipated thresholds, and 
would not conflict with any applicable plan, policy or regulation adopted to reduce the emissions of 
greenhouse gases, this impact would be less than significant 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required. 

8. HAZARDS AND HAZARDOUS MATERIALS 

Environmental Setting: This project is not located on or near a hazardous waste substances site. Some 
activities and materials onsite could potentially be sources of pollution. 

The project site is located within the State Responsibility Area (SRA) for wildland fires. Wildland fire 
protection is provided by the United States Forest Service through a Memorandum of Understanding with 
the State Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CALFIRE). 

The project site is not within a district which provides structural fire protection services. 

Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Would the project: 

a) Create a significant hazard to the public or Cl Cl Cl (&I 
the environment through the routine transport, 
use, or disposal of hazardous materials? 

b) Create a significant hazard to the public or Cl Cl ~ Cl 
the environment through reasonably foreseeable 
upset and accident conditions involving the 
release of hazardous materials into the 
environment? 

c) Emit hazardous emissions or handle Cl Cl Cl (&I 
hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, 
substances, or waste within one-quarter mile of 
an existing or proposed school? 

d) Be located on a site which is included on a 
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list of hazardous materials sites compiled 
pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 
and, as a result, would it create a significant 
hazard to the public or the environment? 

e) For a project located within an airport land 
use plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 
public use airport, would the project result in a 
safety hazard for people residing or working in 
the project area? 

f) For a project within the vicinity of a private 
airstrip, would the project result in a safety 
hazard for people residing or working in the 
project area? 

g) Impair implementation of or physically 
interfere with an adopted emergency response 
plan or emergency evacuation plan? 

h) Expose people or structures to a significant 
risk of loss, injury or death involving wildland 
fires, including where wildlands are adjacent to 
urbanized areas or where residences are 
intermixed with wildlands? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

□ 

IJ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

□ 

IJ 

□ 

□ 

□ 

Less Than No 
Significant Impact 

Impact 

□ ~ 

IJ ~ 

~ 

□ ~ 

□ 

The project site is not listed on the California Department of Toxic Substances Control Hazardous Waste 
and Substances Site List (Cortese List) and is not near any listed sites or sites known or suspected to 
contain hazardous materials. A review of regulatory agency databases, which included lists of hazardous 
materials sites compiled pursuant to California Government Code Section 65962.5, did not identify any 
sites at or adjacent to the project site that have used, stored, disposed of, or released hazardous materials. 

Some activities and materials onsite could potentially be sources of pollution. Pages 16 through 20 of the 
"Reclamation Plan for the Number 10-Level Mine" contain discussion of those sources. The following 
potential sources of pollutants exist: 

Removal of equipment for crushing and screening operation. 
Dust is generated during the dismantling and removal of processing equipment. Sediment remaining from 
the processing of material is possible. There could be spillage of petroleum products on the ground during 
removal of diesel tanks and generators. 

Physical reclamation of Quarry. 
Major activities at the site consist of the following: 
1. Finish grading, including elimination of stockpiles. 
2. Placement of overburden and topsoil. 
3. Seeding. 

Dust can be generated from the establishment of final contours, flattening of stockpiles and replacement of 
overburden and stockpiles. There could be leakage from the equipment. Heavy vehicles associated with 
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reclamation operations generally include one water truck, front-end loader and a dozer as well as small 
support vehicles. All heavy vehicles and certain stationary equipment use diesel fuel No. 2 as well as 
assorted petroleum based lubricants. 

During periods of activity, fueling of vehicles occurs at this location, as well as the storage of lubricants for 
machinery and equipment. These are stored onboard a service truck. Petroleum products could be a 
source of pollution from spillage during fueling of vehicles and equipment or the filling of tanks or 
transport of drums and buckets. There could also be leakage from vehicles and equipment. 

Sewage generated from the employees is handled by a portable toilet, which will be regularly maintained. 

The following measures are proposed as part of the project to address potential issues. These best 
management practices will also be incorporated into the conditions of project approval. 

"Good housekeeping measures in erosion control 
"The following good housekeeping practices will be applied on site: 
1. Avoid storing erodible overburden/stockpiles near drainage conveyances unless erosion control 
measures are installed around them. 
2. Encourage employees to report any potential erosion concerns to the plant manager. 
3. Use of water truck for dust mitigation." 

"Petroleum products and maintenance BMPs include the following: 
"1. Providing secondary containment of diesel tanks, motor oils, and lubricants. 
2. Used fluids, filters, and other contaminated materials will be disposed on a regular basis. 
3. Used batteries are also properly removed from the site by a registered hauler. 
4. Place rags used for cleaning spills in a container for removal from site. 
5. Adequately sized drip and drain pans used when removing fluids. 
6. Material storage areas and containers are checked daily. 
7. Equipment operators are responsible for inspecting and/or maintaining the equipment. Unsafe 
conditions should be reported to the facility manager or foreman as soon as possible. Company 
inspections, maintenance, and service significantly reduce the potential for this type of pollution to occur. 
8. For all contracted equipment, it is the responsibility of the private contractor to maintain his equipment 
in a clean and safe manner. 
9. Drums and containers will be capped and tilted to allow runoff of water. 
10. Equipment and machinery will be well maintained to prevent the leaking of petroleum products. 
11. Promptly cleaning up minor spills using absorbent materials such as rags and sand. 
12. If a major spill occurs, it will be contained with earthen berms, excavated, stored in a stockpile, and 
covered with an impervious material. 
13. Employee training on fueling, spill response, and cleanup. 
14. Inspection of staging areas for any leakage from vehicles and prompt cleanup. 

"Miscellaneous BMPs include the following: 
1. Non-hazardous solid waste is removed from the site and taken to the County disposal facility. 
2. Empty portable toilets on a regular basis. 
3. Locate portable toilets away from drainages. 
4. Portable toilets will be out of vehicle traffic areas." 

"Best Management Practices (BMPs) 
Best management practices (BMPs) are procedures designed to reduce contamination or the potential for 
contamination of storm water. They can be simple, low cost solutions, such as installation of a water bar. 
Conversely, BMPs can be as expensive as installing an oil/water separator. BMPs are to be reviewed 
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Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

e) Otherwise substantially degrade water □ □ □ ~ 
quality? 

f) Place housing within a 100-year flood hazard □ □ □ ~ 
area as mapped on a federal Flood Hazard 
Boundary or Flood Insurance Rate Map or other 
flood hazard delineation map? 

g) Place within a 100-year flood hazard area □ □ □ ~ 
structures which would impede or redirect flood 
flows? 

h) Expose people or structures to a significant □ □ □ ~ 
risk of loss, injury or death involving flooding, 
including flooding as a result of the failure of a 
levee or dam? 

i) Inundation by seiche, tsunami, or mudflow? □ □ □ ~ 

Impact Discussion: 
The overburden pile being mined was put in place nearly 100 years ago on top of the existing soils. 
Mining will be conducted with the coal of uncovering the original soil surface already in place. Removal 
of the overburden pile will not alter the existing stream flow pattern and no extraction will occur within 10 
feet of the stream, making it unlikely that substantial soil erosion or loss of topsoil will take place. 

Land disturbances on projects of one acre or more requires the landowner to obtain coverage under the 
General Permit for Stormwater Discharges. The project proponent will need to file a Notice of Intent 
(NOi), along with a vicinity map, a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP), and appropriate fees 
to the State Water Resources Control Board prior to commencement of activities on site. 

During operations, the following erosion and pollution control plan shall be applied to the site, unless 
future changes in stormwater regulations compel the operator to institute stricter measures. This plan has 
two major objectives: 

1. To identify and evaluate sources of pollutants associated with reclamation activities that may affect the 
quality of storm water discharges and authorized non-storm water discharges from the facility; and 

2. To identify and implement site-specific best management practices (BMPs) to reduce or prevent 
pollutants associated with reclamation activities in storm water discharges and authorized non-storm water 
discharges. 

During reclamation activities, a copy of this plan will be kept by the foreman at the quarry site. The 
preparer of this plan is a Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC) and a qualified 
QSD/QSP (Qualified SWPPP Developer and Qualified SWPPP Practioner for the Construction General 
Stormwater Permit). The Operator will oversee the plan's implementation. Best Management Practices 
(BMPs) will be implemented during reclamation activities. If unforeseen circumstances require new 
and/or revised BMPs, they will be employed immediately. Specific measures used during reclamation may 
be changed if more economical BMPs with comparable or improved results are identified.-
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The total acreage in reclamation plan is plus or minus 2.88 acres. The total area to be reclaimed is plus or 
minus 2.88 acres. Final reclamation will be completed within three years after the available reserves have 
been exhausted. Proposed land uses after reclamation are for timber management. The estimated end of 
mining is January 1, 2032. 

The Number IO-Level Mine is a vested aggregate mine in Plumas County, CA. Mining operations have 
been conducted under the same ownership at the site since 1901. Originally, mining was conducted to 
retrieve ore. Tunneling conducted to reach the mineralized areas cut through thick sections of non­
mineralized overburden rock, which was left near the tunnel entrance. 

California-Engels Mining Company has maintained records showing that these overburden piles have been 
exploited for aggregate material since at least as early as 1964 by numerous private and public entities. 
Based upon records provided by the owner it appears that approximately 50% of the original pile has been 
removed by past operators. Due to this long history of continued use, the site has been declared a vested 
aggregate operation by the County of Plumas (Exhibit 3). 

Equipment and techniques used to process excavated material will vary. The following description is 
typical of this type of operation: 

Since the material being mined has already been broken down during the process of tunneling, no blasting 
is required prior to moving material to the processing site. 

The overburden aggregate will be harvested with an excavator or loader. Material will be moved to the 
plant site where it will be deposited into the feeder/grizzly unit or surge pile. Following the 
crushing/screening process the material will be sorted in stockpiles within the mine area until needed. 

Some material may be too fine or soft for incorporation into marketable products. This material will be 
saved for eventual use during reclamation as a means of enhancing rooting depth and water holding 
capacity of the soil. Since the overburden is not uniform in size, the final amount of fines is unknown. 

The objective of the reclamation program is to clean up the pre-SMARA (Surface Mining and Reclamation 
Act) mine overburden, restore the original surfaces to a stable condition, prevent erosion, and ensure 
public safety. 

The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

Site elevations range from 4,176 feet on the northeast end of the reclamation area to 4,123 feet on the 
southwest. The hills surrounding the site rise over 1000 feet above the mine. 

The material being processed is a component of the Mesozoic aged plutonic rocks that dominate the area. 
The overburden is a mix of quartz monzonite/quartz diorite and is free from mineralization. Since the 
project only involves the removal of a previously placed pile of overburden to reveal the original ground 
surface, the structural properties of the underlying geology are not included in the plan. 

Mining will be conducted with the goal of uncovering the original soil surface already in place. As soon as 
a section of the soil is exposed, a 30ft. by 30ft. fenced test plot will be set up to determine the viability of 
the proposed seed mix. 
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Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Would the project: 

a) Result in the loss of availability of a known □ □ □ ~ mineral resource that would be of value to the 
region and the residents of the state? 

b) Result in the loss of availability of a locally- □ □ □ ~ important mineral resource recovery site 
delineated on a local general plan, specific plan 
or other land use plan? 

Impact Discussion: The project site is not designated to be of regional or state importance, or of a locally 
designated mineral resource recovery site. While the operation will result in the use of an overburden pile for 
construction aggregate, this is not seen as a significant impact or loss of resource. 

The requirements of the Surface Mining and Reclamation Act (SMARA) and conditions of permit approval 
will be satisfied by the project. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts are less than significant 

12.NOISE 

Environmental Setting: 
The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

Site elevations range from 4,176 feet on the northeast end of the reclamation area to 4,123 feet on the 
southwest. The hills surrounding the site rise over 1000 feet above the mine. This rugged topography 
prevents the site from being viewed from the nearest public vantage points and helps restrict access. The 
footprint of the vested mine occupies a very small portion of the parcel on which it sits. 

Noise is usually defined as unwanted sound. It is an undesirable by-product of society's normal day-to-day 
activities. Sound becomes unwanted when it interferes with normal activities, when it causes actual 
physical harm, or when it has adverse effects on health. The definition of noise as unwanted sound implies 
that it has an adverse effect on people and their environment. Noise is measured on a logarithmic scale of 
sound pressure level known as a decibel ( dB). 

Noise sources occur in two forms: (1) point sources, such as stationary equipment, loudspeakers, or 
individual motor vehicles; and (2) line sources, such as a roadway with a large number of point sources 
(motor vehicles). Sound generated by a point source typically diminishes (attenuates) at a rate of 6.0 
dB(A) for each doubling of distance from the source to the receptor at acoustically "hard" sites and 7 .5 
dB(A) at acoustically "soft" sites. For example, a 60-dB(A) noise level measured at 50 feet from a point 
source at an acoustically hard site would be 54 dB(A) at 100 feet from the source and 48 d.B(A) at 200 feet 
from the source. Sound generated by a line source typically attenuates at a rate of 3.0 dB(A) and 4.5 

-26-



dB(A) per doubling of distance from the source to the receptor for hard and soft sites, respectively. Sound 
levels can also be attenuated by man-made or natural barriers. 

Sensitive receptors are facilities where sensitive receptor population groups ( children, the elderly, the acutely 
ill and the chronically ill) are likely to be located. These land uses include residences, schools, playgrounds, 
child care centers, retirement homes, convalescent homes, hospitals and medical clinics. 

The project site is located in a isolated area with generally low noise levels. 

Would the project result in: 

a) Exposure of persons to or generation of 
noise levels in excess of standards established in 
the local general plan or noise ordinance, or 
applicable standards of other agencies? 

b) Exposure of persons to or generation of 
excessive groundbome vibration or 
groundbome noise levels? 

c) A substantial permanent increase in ambient 
noise levels in the project vicinity above levels 
existing without the project? 

d) A substantial temporary or periodic increase 
in ambient noise levels in the project vicinity 
above levels existing without the project? 

e) For a project located within an airport land 
use plan or, where such a plan has not been 
adopted, within two miles of a public airport or 
public use airport, would the project expose 
people residing or working in the project area to 
excessive noise levels? 

f) For a project within the vicinity of a private 
airstrip, would the project expose people 
residing or working in the project area to 
excessive noise levels? 

Impact Discussion:. 

Potentially Less Than 
Significant Significant with 

Impact Mitigation 
Incorporation 

IJ [] 

IJ [] 

IJ [] 

IJ [] 

IJ [] 

IJ [] 

Less Than No 
Significant Impact 

Impact 

(&I IJ 

IJ (&I 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

The Plumas County General Plan Noise Element establishes ambient outside noise levels for land use 
designations. The average dbA for Important Timber is 50dbA and range is 35 to 60dbA. It is unlikely 
that this operation, which is located in the middle of a large parcel, would exceed allowable noise levels at 
the property boundaries. The Noise Element also contains policies and constraints for Local Industrial 
Noise Sources: 

"Temporary and portable industrial operations such as wood processing and gravel recovery must be 
considered on an individual basis. These facilities, when located within a prime mining or important 
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timber area, will generally not impact adjacent lands. Locations outside the specified lands may severely 
impact adjacent land uses and life styles necessitating the institution of mitigative measures. " 

This project is located in an area designated for industrial type operations. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts can be seen to be less than significant. 

13. POPULATION AND HOUSING 

Environmental Setting: 
The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

No housing is proposed. No additional infrastructure is proposed. 

Would the project: 

a) Induce substantial population growth in an 
area, either directly (for example, by proposing 
new homes and businesses) or indirectly (for 
example, through extension of roads or other 
infrastructure)? 

b) Displace substantial numbers of existing 
housing, necessitating the construction of 
replacement housing elsewhere? 

c) Displace substantial numbers of people, 
necessitating the construction of replacement 
housing elsewhere? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

Less Than 
Significant with 

Mitigation 
Incorporation 

IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

Less Than 
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IJ 

IJ 

IJ 

This project does not involve additional homes or businesses. It does not displace any housing. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts can be seen as less than significant. 

14. PUBLIC SERVICES 

No 
Impact 

(&I 

(&I 

Environmental Setting: Public services within the unincorporated County are provided by the County of 
Plumas, state and federal agencies, and numerous special districts, including fire protection districts, 
school districts, recreation districts, County Service Agencies (CSAs), and Community Service Districts 
(CSDs). 
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The following public services are provided to the site: 

Fire: United States Forest Service through an agreement with CALFIR.E for wildland 
fire protection only. 

Police: Plumas County Sheriff 

a) Would the project result in substantial 
adverse physical impacts associated with the 
provision of new or physically altered 
governmental facilities, need for new or 
physically altered governmental facilities, the 
construction of which could cause significant 
environmental impacts, in order to maintain 
acceptable service ratios, response times or 
other performance objectives for any of the 
public services: 

Fire protection? 

Police protection? 

Schools? 

Parks? 

Other public facilities? 

Impact Discussion: 
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No increase in the need for services is anticipated through implementation of the project. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts are less than significant 

15. RECREATION 

No 
Impact 

~ 

~ 

~ 
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~ 

Environmental Setting: Recreational opportunities within Plumas County are varied, ranging from 
public parks with intensively used recreational facilities, to vast tracts of forest lands and drainage systems, 
which provide a natural environment for recreation. There are four Recreation Districts within the County. 

The project site is not located within a district that provides recreational opportunities. 
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a) Would the project increase the use of 
existing neighborhood and regional parks or 
other recreational facilities such that substantial 
physical deterioration of the facility would 
occur or be accelerated? 

b) Does the project include recreational 
facilities or require the construction or 
expansion of recreational facilities which might 
have an adverse physical effect on the 
environment? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

[] 

[] 

Less Than Less Than 
Significant with Significant 

Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

C] C] 

C] C] 

No increase in the need for services is anticipated through implementation of the project. 

No 
Impact 

~ 

~ 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required as impacts can be seen to be less than significant.. 

16. TRANSPORTATION/TRAFFIC 

Environmental Setting: The Plumas County street system is composed of a combination of roadways, 
including state highways, County Roads, Forest Service system roads and private roads. 

The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, CA. Access to the site is 
north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. The unmarked turnoff to the 
mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain Road encountered after the historical 
marker for the Superior Mine. Access is restricted by a locked gate. 

The Plumas County General Plan identifies the following constraints and policies applicable to the site: 
Resource Transportation Route. 

Resource transportation routes are those roads which provide primary access to timber and mining resource 
areas. The Land Use Management for Resource Transportation Routes is to protect resource transportation 
routes by requiring development to provide alternate access routes, limited access or otherwise ensure 
continued access to resources. 

A memorandum was received from the Plumas County Public Works Department (Exhibit 6). Concerns 
with road access issues raised in the letter will be evaluated in this section. 

\ 
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Potentially Less Than Less Than No 
Significant Significant with Significant Impact 

Impact Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Would the project: 

a) Cause an increase in traffic which is □ □ ~ □ 
substantial in relation to the existing traffic load 
and capacity of the street system (i.e., result in a 
substantial increase in either the number of 
vehicle trips, the volume to capacity ratio on 
roads, or congestion at intersections)? 

b) Exceed, either individually or cumulatively, a □ □ □ ~ 
level of service standard established by the 
county congestion management agency for 
designated roads or highways? 

c) Result in a change in air traffic patterns, □ □ □ ~ 
including either an increase in traffic levels or a 
change in location that results in substantial 
safety risks? 

d) Substantially increase hazards due to a □ □ □ I&) 
design feature ( e.g., sharp curves or dangerous 
intersections) or incompatible uses (e.g., farm 
equipment)? 

e) Result in inadequate emergency access? □ □ □ I&) 

f) Result in inadequate parking capacity? □ □ □ I&) 

g) Conflict with adopted policies, plans, or □ □ □ ~ programs supporting alternative transportation 
(e.g., bus turnouts, bicycle racks)? 

Impact Discussion: 
The Land Use Management of the Resource Transportation Route is met because access is limited to one 
encroachment onto Diamond Mountain Road. 

The Memorandum from the Plumas County Public Works Department (Exhibit 6) raises several issues of 
concern regarding roadways: 

"1. Consultation with the USFS is necessary to ascertain whether or not a special use permit is necessary 
for use of forest service roadways." 

The representative of the United States Forest Service responded that the agency had "no comment" on the 
project. The roadways have been in use for timber harvesting, both involving the private lands and the 
USFS lands. 
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"5. With respect to impacts on the County Roadway, the following requirements should be reflected as 
conditions of project approval" 

"a. An encroachment permit shall be obtained from the Plumas County Public Worlcs Department 
for the access onto Diamond Mountain Road. 

"b. Signs stating 'Truck Crossing' or 'Caution Truck Crossing' shall be posted on the truck route 
along Diamond Mtn. Road. In addition, and a 'Stop' sign shall be installed at the intersection 
of the access road and Diamond Mountain Road. These signs shall be installed to the 
satisfaction of the Plumas County Public Works Department. This signage shall be removed 
upon cessation of mining activities. Encroachment permits shall be obtained from the Plumas 
County Public Works Department prior to sign installation. 

"c. The applicant shall be responsible for repairing any ruts or potholes resulting from truck traffic 
to the satisfaction of the Plumas County Public Works Department. 

"d. The applicant shall be responsible for maintaining the paved portion of the County roadway 
free from spillage. 

"e. The haul road shall be watered daily to minimize air quality impacts associated with 
transporting the construction aggregate." 

Issues 5.a. and 5.b. will be addressed through the encroachment permit process. A requirement for the 
applicant to obtain an encroachment permit will be added to project conditions of approval. 

There is no mechanism in County code to require 5.c. It cannot be imposed as a mitigation unless it can be 
shown that the project traffic, and not the other logging, mining, recreation and residential traffic, is 
directly creating or worsening the potholes. 

Issues 5.d. and 5.e. will be addressed by compliance with the Dust Control Rules of the NSAQMD. 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation is required because the impacts are shown to be less than 
significant. 

17. UTILITIES AND SERVICE SYSTEMS 

Environmental Setting: Public utilities serving Plumas County include Pacific Gas and Electric (PG&E), 
Plumas Sierra Rural Electric Coop, Sierra Pacific Power for electricity. Propane and heating oil is a 
common fuel source used in Plumas County by individual homes and businesses. 

Wastewater treatment within the unincorporated County is provided by individual small wastewater 
systems with some areas served by sewage collection and treatment facilities operated by special districts, 
County Service Agencies (CSAs), and Community Service Districts (CSDs). 

The County contracts with independent haulers for solid waste services. 
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Would the project: 

a) Exceed wastewater treatment requirements of 
the applicable Regional Water Quality Control 
Board? 

b) Require or result in the construction of new 
water or wastewater treatment facilities or 
expansion of existing facilities, the construction 
of which could cause significant environmental 
effects? 

c) Require or result in the construction of new 
storm water drainage facilities or expansion of 
existing facilities, the construction of which 
could cause significant environmental effects? 

d) Result in a determination by the wastewater 
treatment provider which serves or may serve 
the project that it has adequate capacity to serve 
the project's projected demand in addition to the 
provider's existing commitments? 

e) Be served by a landfill with sufficient 
permitted capacity to accommodate the project's 
solid waste disposal needs? 

f) Comply with federal, state, and local statutes 
and regulations related to solid waste? 

Impact Discussion: 

Potentially 
Significant 
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Sewage generated from the employees is handled by a portable toilet, which will be regularly maintained. 
Sewage will be hauled by a licensed hauler to an approved disposal facility. 

Measures to address storm water will be conditions of the permit ( see discussion under Hazards and 
Hazardous Materials and Hydrology and Water Quality, above). 

The County Integrated Waste Management Plan, used in planning new facilities and improvements to 
existing disposal facilities, assumes an annual growth rate of 2.3% This contrasts with the real annual 
growth rate from 1980 to 1990 of about 1.3% and the projected post-1990 annual growth rate of about 1 %. 
Since about 26% of the residences in Plumas County are held for seasonal use, the seasonal population can 
be expected to add a proportional demand. This could be incorporated into seasonal and annual growth 
rates of about 1.6% and 1.8% respectively. The plan on which the need for substantial new or improved 
solid waste facilities is based still assumes an annual growth rate sufficient to accommodate the projected 
growth to which this project would contribute (County Integrated Waste Management Plan; General Plan, 
pages 35-61) 

Mitigation Measures: No mitigation measures are required, as impacts are less than significant. 
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18. MANDATORY FINDINGS OF SIGNIFICANCE 

a) Does the project have the potential to 
degrade the quality of the environmen~ 
substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or 
wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife 
population to drop below self-sustaining levels, 
threaten to eliminate a plant or animal 
community, reduce the number or restrict the 
range of a rare or endangered plant or animal or 
eliminate important examples of the major 
periods of California history or prehistory? 

b) Does the project have impacts that are 
individually limited, but cumulatively 
considerable? ("Cumulatively 
considerable" means that the incremental effects 
of a project are considerable when viewed in 
connection with the effects of past projects, the 
effects of other current projects, and the effects 
of probable future projects)? 

c) Does the project have environmental effects 
which will cause substantial adverse effects on 
human beings, either directly or indirectly? 

Potentially 
Significant 

Impact 

Cl 

Cl 

Cl 

Less Than Less Than No 
Significant with Significant Impact 

Mitigation Impact 
Incorporation 

Cl [] ~ 

Cl I&) Cl 

Cl I&) Cl 

The Initial Study prepared for the proposed project found that the proposed project would not substantially 
degrade the quality of the environment, substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, or 
otherwise adversely affect any rare or endangered plant or animal. The proposed project would not have a 
cumulatively considerable impact when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects 
of other current projects and the effects of probable future projects. 
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EXHIBITS 

1. "Reclamation Plan for the Number IO-Level Mine", December 2011 

2. Zoning map 

3. Letter dated October 20, 2011, RE: Vesting of aggregate source located on APN 007-080-004 and 
response letter from Randy Wilson, Plumas Director, dated October 21, 2011 

4. Letter dated March 19, 2012 from California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection (CALFIRE) 

5. Email sent March 27, 2012 from Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District (NSAQMD) 

6. Memorandum dated March 13, 2012 from Plumas County Public Works Department 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

PROJECT SUMMARY: 

Project Name: Number 10-Level Mine Reclamation Plan 

A. California Mine Identification Number: 
None Assigned 

B. Owner of Property: 
California-Engels Mining Company 
P.O. Box 778 
Greenville, CA 95947-0778 
(530) 284-6191 

C. Owner of Mineral Rights: 
California-Engels Mining Company 
P.O. Box 778 
Greenville, CA 95947-0778 
(530) 284-6191 

D. Location: 
Assessor's Parcel Number: 007-080-004 (Plumas County). Section 8 ofT27N, Rl lE, 
M.D.B.M. Latitude 40° 12' 34.98" N. Longitude 120° 45' 43.66" W. 

E. Total parcel size(s): 509.37 acres 

F. Total acreage in reclamation plan: 2.88+- acres 

G. Total area to be reclaimed: 2.88+- acres 

H. Quantity and type of materials to be mined: Up to 100,000 ± CY of construction 
aggregate. 

I. Proposed land uses after reclamation: Timber management. 

J. Estimated end of mining: Jan 1, 2032. 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

INTRODUCTION: 

The Number IO-Level Mine is a vested aggregate mine in Plumas County, California. In addition 
to mining, the project includes a seasonal rock crushing/screening plant. Figure 1, below shows 
the regional setting of the mine. 

Figure l : Regional Setting 

This reclamation plan contains the following topics and sequence: 

I. Site location/land use 
2. Environmental setting 
3. Project description 
4. Site reclamation and acceptance ofreclamation 
5. Reclamation Maps 

The reclamation plan is for the life of the mine operation. Final reclamation will be completed 
within three years after the available reserves have been exhausted. The estimated date for 
completion of mining is January I, 2032. 

There are three maps prepared for this project. These maps are attached as appendix C at the end 
of the Reclamation Plan. The maps are as follows: 

• Sheet I - Existing Conditions 
• Sheet 2 - Post Mining Contours 
• Sheet 3 - Cross Sections 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

EXISTING CONDfflONS: 

This section descn'bes the existing site and adjacent lands. The first part is an overall view of 
where the site is in relationship to the general area. The second section explains the current 
condition of the site, particularly concerning the impacts of past and current extraction activities. 
The terms site and project refer to the area within the reclamation plan boundaries. 

Mining operations have been conducted under the same ownership at the site since 1901. 
Originally, mining was conducted to retrieve ore from deep inside the mountain. Tunneling 
conducted to reach the mineralized areas cut through thick sections of non-mineralized 
overburden rock, which was cast aside near the tunnel entrance. California - Engels Mining 
Company has maintained records showing that these overburden piles have been exploited for 
aggregate material since at least as early as 1964 by numerous private and public entities. Based 
upon records provided by the owner it appears that approximately 50% of the original pile has 
been removed by past operators. Due to this long history of continued use, the site has been 
declared a vested aggregate operation by the County of Plumas. The location of the property is 
shown in Figure 1. A legal description of the lands affected by the mining is in Appendix B of the 
Plan. 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

ENVIRONMENT AL SETTING: 

Site Access and Topography 

The mine is located approximately 11 miles northeast of the town of Greenville, California. 
Access to the site is north from Greenville on North Valley Road to Diamond Mountain Road. 
The unmarked turnoff to the mine site is 0.44 miles beyond the first bridge on Diamond Mountain 
road encountered after the historical marker for the Superior Mine. Access to the site is restricted 
by a locked gate. The area within the reclamation boundary consists of an unvegetated rock pile 
that partly fills a 2.88 acre portion of China Gulch below the former Number IO-Level Mine 
entrance (now collapsed). 

Site elevations range from 4,176 feet on the northeast end of the reclamation area to 4,123 feet on 
the southwest. The hills surrounding the site 1ise over I 000 feet above the mine. This rugged 
topography prevents the site from being viewed from the nearest public vantage points and helps 
restricts access. The footprint of the vested mine occupies a very small portion of the parcel on 
which it sits. The remoteness of the site, difficult terrain, and gated access ensure that there is no 
public safety concern associated with the project. 
See Figure 2 for details. 

Figure 2: Site Access and Topography 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

Geology 

The material being processed is a component of the Mesozoic aged (245-65 mya+-) plutonic 
rocks that dominate the area (indicated by the symbol "gr" in Figure 3). The overburden is a mix 
of quartz monzonite / quartz diorite and is free from mineralization. 

Since the project only involves the removal of a previously placed pile of overburden to reveal the 
original ground surface, the strnctural properties of the underlying geology are not included in this 
plan. All final slopes will match the gentle underlying contours of the exposed slope above the 
site (approx. 3:1). The surrounding forest slopes show no signs of mass wasting or failure and the 
final reclaimed surfaces will be free from risk of significant erosion provided post-mining erosion 
control measures are in place. 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

The entire site is within the Wapi Family-Rock Outcrop Complex group of soils (see figure 4 for 
details). Production value of this complex is very low and is rated with a land capability 
classification of 7e. The soil cover ranges from 18-22 inches in depth. The full NRCS soil 
descriptions are included as Appendix A. . The overburden pile being mined was put in place 
nearly 100 years ago on top of the existing soils, for this reason no soil salvage or storage is 
needed. Mining will be conducted with the goal of uncovering the original soil surface already in 
place. As soon as a section of the soil is exposed, a 30ft x 30ft fenced test plot will be set up to 
determine the viability of the proposed seed mix. 

Figure 4: Soils Map 

fs f {I Jble Sile 2.88 Aaes 

Welp, Sols fain!y 

Climate & Hvdrology 

The site is located at the northern end of the Sierra Nevada geomorphic province at an elevation 
of 4,160 feet ms!. The climate is Mediterranean, characterized by coo~ wet winters and warm, 
dry summers. The yearly average temperature in the area is approximately 51 degrees F with an 
average low of24 degrees Fin January and average high of91 degrees Fin July. Annual rainfaR 
as measured at the Greenville Ranger Station to the south, averages 39.73 inches per year. There 
are no detailed records ofrainfall at the site but it can be asswned that it closely follows this 
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pattern. The majority of the rainfall occurs between November and April with the wettest month 
being February. 

The mine site is adjacent to China Gulch, a tnbutary of Lights Creek that drains China Gulch to 
the northeast. The mine is in the lower reaches of the small watershed, which has its headwaters 
approximately 2 miles to the northeast. Historic mining during the early 20th century resulted in 
the original drainage bed at this location being filled in with overburden. In order to direct runoff 
away from the overburden pile, the stream was channeled along the hillside to the west in a ditch. 
Removal of the pile will not alter the existing flow pattern and no extraction will occur within IO 
feet of the stream. 

Vegetation 

Surveys conducted in support of nearby timber harvest activities have identified the vegetation 
regime as ''Lower Montane Coniferous Forest" and corresponds to the description for this 
association provided by the California Native Plant Society. The entire area was heavily logged in 
the 19th and 20th centuries and all mature vegetation in the area is secondary growth. The site is 
within the boundaries of the massive Moonlight Fire that burned through the area in 2008. The 
vegetation surrounding the mine was heavily damaged and the predominant vegetation types are 
now large areas of brush and grass interspersed with unburned mixed stands of Ponderosa Pine, 
White Fir, Incense Cedar, Sugar Pine, Douglas Fir and Black Oak. The mine area itself consists 
of one contiguous pile of unvegetated overburden rock. In its current state the mine area is not 
suitable habitat for vegetation and no existing mature vegetation will be removed during mining or 
reclamation. Upon removal of the pile the underlying soil should support the vegetation 
commonly found in the area. 

Wildlife 

The wildlife habitat is characterized as Sierran Mixed Conifer. The presence of year-round water 
in the surrounding area and relative seclusion of the site makes it suitable for many types of large 
and small animals including deer, coyote, rabbits, and numerous small rodents, reptiles and 
amphibians. The mining area itself is devoid of vegetation and surface water and does not 
currently provide valuable habitat. The site is not within a designated sensitive habitat area. The 
nearest important wildlife habitat area is deer winter range located approximately 4,000 feet to the 
southwest of the site. Upon successful reclamation, the site should revert back to the pre-mining 
habitat regime as the surrounding area recovers from the 2008 fire. 

Land Use 

Properties within the area of the project, including the mine site are designated in the Plumas 
County zoning code as General Forest (GF). Post mining use of the reclaimed land will be 
compatible with the GF designation. 
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PROPOSED OPERATION: 

This section details how the site will be mined, the storage of topsoil and overburden, processing 
of materials and future mining of the site. 

Mining Areas and Sequence of Mining 

The project will be mined in one, 2.88-acre section without phasing. Mining will remove the 
overburden material from the top down until it reaches the original ground surfuce where the 
original soil layer still exists. 

Available Reserves 

Based upon the known dimensions of the overburden pile, the amount of material remaining 
onsite is calculated to be 55,000 cubic yards. Removal of the existing pile will result in the 
exhaustion of all available material at this location. 
Processing Plant Site 

All processing of material occurs in the central portion of the site. Sheet 1 of the Reclamation 
Plan maps shows the location of the portable aggregate crushing/screening plant when it is 
present. The processing plant will cease operation and be removed from the site when available 
reserves of aggregate overburden have been exhausted. 

Description of Process 

Equipment and techniques used to process excavated material will vary. The following 
description is typical of this type of operation: 

Since the material being mined has already been broken down during the process of tunneling, no 
blasting is required prior to moving material to the processing site. 

The overburden aggregate will be harvested with an excavator or loader. Material will be moved 
to the plant site where it will be deposited into the feeder/ grizzly unit or surge pile. Following 
the crushing / screening process the material will be stored in stockpiles within the mine area until 
needed. 

Some material may be too fine or soft for incorporation into marketable products. This material 
will be saved for eventual use during reclamation as a means of enhancing rooting depth and 
water holding capacity of the soil. Since the overburden is not uniform in size, the final amount of 
fines is unknown. 
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Topsoil Storage 

The overburden pile was created during the 1920's from sterile tunnel debris and is devoid of 
vegetation. Previous harvesting has revealed that the original soil surface is still in place beneath 
the pile. As mining progresses the soil will be exposed allowing for revegetation. No soil 
stockpiling or storage is required for this project. 

Future Mining of Site 

The area excavated under this reclamation plan is limited to the pile of tunnel overburden and no 
material will be left after mining concludes. Other existing piles of tunnel overburden at nearby 
areas, not associated with this plan may be mined under separate approvals and plans in the 
future. 

SITE RECLAMATION: 

Reclamation Obiective 

The objective of the reclamation program is to clean up the pre-SMARA mine overburden, 
restore the original surfaces to a stable condition, prevent erosion, and ensure public safety 

Existing Conditions 

Site disturbance from pre-SMARA mining activity includes 2.88 acres ofun-reclaimed land in 
which there are marketable reserves of aggregate. The site is accessed by an existing road used 
for ongoing forest management operations on the same parcel. Six small shacks that store cores 
produced during mineral exploration in the surrounding area are located adjacent to the northeast 
end of the reclamation area. A small stream, previously re-channeled during pre-SMARA mining, 
is located immediately west of the site. 

Plant Site Reclamation 

The reclamation prescription for the crushing plant is as follows: 

1. Remove all equipment and other facilities from the site. This includes all machinery, 
vehicles, and equipment associated with the processing activities. 

2. Clean up all trash and other debris. 

3. All aggregate stockpiles will be either transported off site, or used on the property for 
erosion control measures (i.e. weatherization of adjacent forest roads) 

13 
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4. Final floor contours will be the same as those existing prior to the placement of the 
overburden. 

Establishment of Test Plots 

A test plot will be established if the progression of mining produces a suitable site prior to the 
exhaustion of the aggregate resource. The 2.88 acre site is likely too small to allow for test plots 
since the soil might not be exposed until the end of the mining process. The ongoing forest 
management activities on lands adjacent to the site have produced substantial evidence for the 
productivity of these soils. If a suitable area presents itself a fenced, 30ft x 30ft, test plot will be 
established. 

Planting Prescription 

The seed mixture listed below will be used to stabilize the topsoil unless it fails to meet the 
requirements for cover in test plot results. Details of the seed mixture are included below: 

ITEM Lbs/ Acre 
Zorro fescue 3 
Blando Brome 10 
Rose Clover 10 
Burr Clover 5 
Lana Vetch 15 

There is no grazing in the area and so fencing will not be necessary. Details of the revegetation 
goals are listed in the summary of vegetation chart at the end of this segment: 

If, after 2 years the reclaimed area fails to meet the proposed standard then the operator/ 
owner will submit to the County a modified plan for achieving the reclamation goal. 

REVEGETATION SUCCESS CRITERIA 
PLANT RICHNESS PLANT DENSITY PERCENT COVER 

NIA 80% 
Note: Natural re eneration of native ses and trees counts towards meetin success criteria. 

Post Reclamation Monitoring 

Vegetative success will be monitored for two consecutive years, or until success standards are 
met, without human intervention following the completion of reclamation. Should the success of 
revegetation not seem attainable after two years of monitoring, the operator has the option of 
submitting an alternative vegetative planting program to the Plumas County Planning Department. 
The alternative vegetative planting program will give the results of vegetation monitoring, identify 
where the success criteria has and has not been achieved, and present an alternative vegetation 
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planting prescription and performance standard. The performance standard will address species 
richness, density, and cover as applicable to each revegetation area. 

ADDffiONAL RECLAMATION POLICIES: 

The previous section descnbed reclamation and revegetation policies for the site. This section 
lists additional standards that will be implemented to achieve reclamation. 

Weed Management Policies 

SMARA §3705 (k) requires that weeds be controlled if they interfere with achieving revegetation 
standards. Plowing, replanting, hoeing, and spraying can control weeds. Noxious weeds shall be 
managed: (1) When they threaten the success of the proposed revegetation; (2) To prevent the 
weeds spreading to nearby areas; and (3) to eliminate fire hazard. The specific criteria for 
determining when weed abatement measured will be implemented are as follows: 

1. No more than 5% of the reclamation area shall be covered in weed species. 
2. Areas of weeds of more than 55 square feet in area, where weed cover is more than 50% will 

be treated. 

In order to achieve these goals the following policies will be practiced during mine operations and 
final reclamation: 

1. Organic erosion control materials shall be certified weed free, whenever possible. 

2. Seed used for reclamation and revegetation work shall be at least 98.5% weed free. 

3. Piles of salvaged topsoil or overburden will be reseeded as soon as possible after pile 
creation to help prevent establishment of weed species. 

Topsoil and Fines Policies 

1. Salvageable fines, which are otherwise unusable, will be employed during soil 
rehabilitation. 

2. During final reclamation, compacted surfaces including former stockpile areas will be 
ripped, then fines will be laid down to enhance the topsoil profile, if needed. 

3. The finished grade on the reclaimed land will vary based on the depth of top soil and 
overburden / fines replaced. In no instance will the resoiling create a slope steeper than 
2:1. 
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Specific Policies 

1. Reclamation will occur after cessation of mining. The stockpiles and plant site will be 

reclaimed when they are no longer needed. 

2. Overall finished slopes in the reclamation area will not exceed 2: 1. 

3. All equipment and structures will be removed from the site after cessation of mining. This 
includes scrapers, loaders, scales, and crushing/screening plants. All refuse such as 
papers, used wood, etc. also will be removed. Since this site operates on a seasonal, as­
needed basis there is no equipment onsite the majority of the time. Facilities and 
equipment associated with the ongoing timber and underground minerals exploration will 
remain. 

Erosion and Pollution Control Policies 

During operations, the following erosion and pollution control plan shall be applied to the site, 

unless future changes in storm.water regulations compel the operator to institute stricter measures. 

This plan has two major objectives: 

1. To identify and evaluate sources of pollutants associated with reclamation activities that 
may affect the quality of storm water discharges and authorized non-storm water 
discharges from the facility: and; 

2. To identify and implement site-specific best management practices (BMPs) to reduce or 
prevent pollutants associated with reclamation activities in storm water discharges and 
authorized non-storm water discharges. 

During reclamation activities, a copy of this plan will be kept by the foreman at the quarry site. 
The preparer of this plan is a Certified Professional in Erosion and Sediment Control (CPESC) 
and a qualified QSD / QSP .1 The Operator will oversee the plan's implementation. BMPs will be 
implemented during reclamation activities. If unforeseen circumstances require new and/or 
revised BMPs, they will be employed immediately. Specific measures used during reclamation 
may be changed if more economical BMPs with comparable or improved results are identified. 

Description of Potential Sources of Pollution 

Some activities and materials onsite could potentially be sources of pollution. This section will 
address those locations and activities that are potential sources of pollution. 

1 The preparer of this plan is a Qualified SWPPP Developer (QSD) and Qualified SWPPP Practitioner (QSP) for 
the Construction General Stormwater Permit. Proposed changes to the General Industrial Permit may institute 
separate qualifications. 
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The following potential sources of pollutants exist: 

Removal of equipment for Crushing/Screening Operation 

Dust is generated during the dismantling and removal of processing equipment. Sediment 
remaining from the process of material is possible. There could be spillage of petroleum products 
on the ground during removal of diesel tanks and generators. 

Physical reclamation of Quarry 

Major activities at the site consist of the following: 

1. Finish grading, including elimination of stockpiles. 

2. Placement of overburden and topsoil. 

3. Seeding. 

Dust can be generated from the establishment of final contours, flattening of stockpiles and 
replacement of overburden and stockpiles. There could be leakage from the equipment. Heavy 
vehicles associated with reclamation operations generally include one water truck, front-end 
loader and a dozer as well as small support vehicles. All heavy vehicles and certain stationary 
equipment use diesel fuel No. 2 as well as assorted petroleum based lubricants. 

During periods of activity, fueling of vehicles occurs at this location as well as the storage of 
lubricants for machinery and equipment. These are stored onboard a service truck. Petroleum 
products could be a source of pollution from spillage during fueling of vehicles and equipment or 
the filling of tanks or transport of drums and buckets. There could also be leakage from vehicles 
and equipment. Dust from traffic is a potential pollutant. 

Sewage generated from the employees is handled by a portable toilet, which will be regularly 
maintained. 

Table 1 lists the possible locations of pollution sources and the B:MPs that are proposed to reduce 
or eliminate their entering storm water. 

TABLE 1 

Area Activity Pollutant Source Pollutant Best Management Practices 
Aggregate Removal or Fine particles on Sediment • Pre-watering of piles prone to 

Stockpiles leveling of all aggregates Dust wind erosion before leveling 

remaining Equipment leaks Petroleum • Watering travel areas during 

aggregate piles. based reclamation 

lubricants 
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Crushing Plant Removing Spills and leaks at Diesel fuel • Housekeeping measures 

crusher & tanks Petroleum • Watering travel surfaces . 

screens Equipment and based • Train employees on proper 

machinery leakage, lubricants. fueling, cleanup and spill response 

Vehicular and Dust techniques 

equipment traffic Sediment • Implement adequate protective 

maintenance program to prevent 

tank and line leaks. 

• Inspect area daily to detect 

problems before they happen 

Parking and Storage of Leaks from vehicles Petroleum • Inspect vehicles and use area 

storage material, Parking and equipment. lubricants regularly to detect any sources of 

of vehicles and Stored metal and Minor dust, leaks. 

equipment wood products sediment & • Keep most stored products off the 

Vehicular and metals ground (pallets) 

equipment traffic 

Extraction area Finish grading of Loose and falling Sediment • Watering quarry face. 

including roads quarry slopes, rocks Dust • Watering use areas. 

and accessory moving aggregate Denuded surfaces Petroleum • Mulching & seeding 

areas and spreading Leaks from vehicles based • Straw bale barriers 

overburden & and equipment. lubricants 

topsoil. Small vehicle and 

heavy equipment 

traffic 

Vehicle fueling Fueling Spills and leaks Diesel • Secondary containment for all 

and petroleum during delivery Gasoline petroleum products 

storage. Spills caused by • Minimize run-on into fueling area 

topping off • Implement adequate protective 

Leaking storage maintenance program to prevent 

tanks tank and line leaks 

• Inspect fueling area daily to detect 

problems before they happen 

• Train employees on proper 

fueling, cleanup, and spill 

resoonse techniques 
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l. Track-walking 
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2. Straw anchoring 

'TRACKING ' WITH MAC/i/N/;t?Y ON 
SANDY SOIL PROVIDES ROUGHEN/NC 
WITJfour UNDUE COMPACTION. 

NOTES: 

1. ROUGHEN SLOPE W!/7t BUI.LOOZER 

2. BROADCAST SEED AN!) F£RTIUZE:R. 

STRAW ANCHORING 

J. SPREAD 5~7T?AW MUlCH J• (76mm) T/f/CK. (2 f/2 roNS PER ACRE} 
4 . PUNCH S/'RAW 1./ULC!t INTO SLOPE BY RUNNING BULLf)()ZER UP AND 

DOWN SLOP£. 

@ 0, •• !l'IRWAl•ICh 

STRAW 
ANCiiORI NG 

22 



NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE RECLAMATION PLAN 

3. Straw wattles 

SPACING DF.P£NDS 
ON SOIL TYP£ AND 
SLOP£ STEEPNESS r- S£D!l.l£NT, ORCANIC I.IA nrn, 

/ 
AND NATIVE S££DS AR£ 
CAPTURED BEHIND TH£ ROLLS 

LIVE SlAK. 

~ NOTE: 

i. r. s rRAW RO/.L tN~TALLATION REQUIRES THE 
PLACEMENT AND SECURE STAK/NC or !HE ROLL IN ! A TRENCH, .r-s• (75-125mm) DEEP. DUG ON 
CONTOUR. RUNOFF uvsr NOT 8£ ALLOWED TO RUN f UNDER OR Al?OUND ROLi . . 

J"- SH (75-l25mm} 

ff ,r- 8H- 10· DIA. 
,✓ ,,,/' (200-250mm) 

'< 
., ,~ 

",.~ 

!'' X tu SrAKE 
(25 K 25mm) 

NOT TO SCALE 

STRAW 
ROLLS 

@"--..!;!~!!!!!!:!!B:':.... ___ _ ____ _____ _:::::=============-=:V 
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4. Erosion control blankets 

TYPICAL SLOPE. 
SOIL STABIUZATION 

NOlFS: 
t. SLOPE SURFACE SHALL BE FREE OF 

~ ROCK.~ CLOOS, STlCKS AND CRASS: MATS/ 
:I 8£.AIIKETS SHIU.L. l(A/1£ (JO(}/J SOtl CONTACT, 

NOT ro SCA~ 

,. ,,,,.----------- -t 2. APPLY PERNAN'Elt/T S£EJING 8/TORE 
Pf.AC/NC BLANKC!S. 

I ,!, I.AY BLANKETS LOOSEL.'I' ANO STAK[ Oil 
i STAPI.E ro UA/lllAIN' OfK£CT CONTACT WITH 
- nfE SOIL DO NOT S77l£TC1l 

c.> FU£: I'll. .P 

EROSION BLANKETS & 
TURF REINFORCEMENT MATS 

SLOPE INSTALLATION 
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Timing of BMP installation 

It is the responsibility of the Operator to assure the BMPs are implemented in a timely manner. 
New BMPs and/or other changes to the Plan will be considered by the Operator during the course 
of reclamation and implemented as necessary. The site will be weatherized prior to the beginning 
of the monitoring period. 

During the first winter following the completion of grading, planting and seeding, the Operator or 
their designated agent will periodically inspect the site to judge the effectiveness of the BMPs and 
to identify where additional BMPs need to be employed unless the site is inaccessible due to 
unforeseen conditions. 

MONITORING: 

The responsibility of determining if the site is being reclaimed rests with the lead agency. Section 
2774(b) of the Surface Mining and Reclamation Act requires the lead agency to inspect the mine 
operation at least once a year. The yearly inspection will determine if the applicant is complying 
with the policies listed in the approved plan in addition to any Use Permit conditions Plumas 
County has imposed. Furthermore, the annual monitoring will talce place at approximately the 
same time of year and at the end of the growing season until success standards are met. 

FINANCIAL ASSURANCES POLICIES: 

Financial assurances held for reclamation work will be released when the performance standards 
(as described within the above policies) of the reclamation plan are satisfied. This includes 
successful establishment of vegetation with no human interference (including but not limited to 
fertilization, irrigation, weeding, etc.) and the removal of all equipment, supplies, etc. The 
financial assurance will be in the form of a performance bond or other mechanism as approved by 
Plumas County. 

The financial assurance will be submitted after approval of the reclamation plan. 
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ACCEPTANCE OF RECLAMATION: 

I, Brian Turner, hereby accept full responsibility by Turner Excavating Inc. for reclaiming all 
mined lands descnbed and submitted herein with any modifications required by Plumas County as 
conditions of approval. 

Brian Turner 
Turner Excavating Inc. 

Note: In the event that the site operator changes during the life of this plan, the responsibility to 
reclaim the site transfers to the new operator upon submittal of a new financial assurance and 
assurance mechanism. 
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APPENDIX A NRCS CLASSIFICATION OF SOILS AT PROJECT SITE 
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302-Wapi family-Rock outcrop complex, 50 to 85 percent slopes. 
Map Unit Setting 

• Elevation: 2,100 to 5,800 feet 
• Mean annual precipitation: 15 to 30 inches 

Map Unit Composition 
• Wapi family and similar soils: 55 percent 
• Rock outcrop: 30 percent 
• Minor components: 15 percent 

Description of Wapi Family Setting 
• Landform: Mountains 
• Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope 
• Landform position (three-dimensional): Mountain flank 
• Down-slope shape: Concave 
• Across-slope shape: Convex 

Properties and qualities 
• Slope: 50 to 85 percent 
• Depth to restrictive feature: 18 to 22 inches to lithic bedrock 
• Drainage class: Somewhat excessively drained 
• Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): High to 
• very high (5.95 to 19.98 in/hr) 
• Depth to water table: More than 80 inches 
• Frequency of flooding: None 
• Frequency of ponding: None 
• Available water capacity: Very low (about 1.4 inches) 

Interpretive groups 
• Land capability (non-irrigated): 7e 

Typical profile 
• 0 to 3 inches: Gravelly loamy sand 
• 3 to 18 inches: Gravelly coarse sand, gravelly loamy coarse sand 
• 18 to 22 inches: Unweathered bedrock 

Description of Rock Outcrop Setting 
• Landform: Mountains 
• Landform position (two-dimensional): Backslope 
• Landform position (three-dimensional): Mountain flank 
• Down-slope shape: Convex 
• Across-slope shape: Convex 
• Properties and qualities 
• Slope: 50 to 85 percent 
• Depth to restrictive feature: 0 to 4 inches to lithic bedrock 

ii 
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• Drainage class: Excessively drained 

Interpretive groups 
• Land capability (non-irrigated): Be 

Typical profile 
• 0 to 4 inches: Unweathered bedrock 
• Minor Components 
• Chaix family 
• Percent of map unit: 10 percent 
• Rubbleland 
• Percent of map unit: 5 percent 

Data Source Information 
Soil Survey Area: Plumas National Forest Area, California 
Survey Area Data: Version 6, Jan 31, 2008 
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APPENDIX B LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LANDS AFFECTED BY MINING 
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JAN 30 19'28 
, . . •·. ·,, .. ,BaoraIDento 017273. 

- : · . ; . 
tibe Wniteb ~tateis of ~~rita, 

iJo all lo IDbom lf,~e presents Jlf,an mne, @mtfng·: 

WHEREAS, In purau111~ or the prawl1loo1 or the Rewlttd Statutea or the United Slates, Chapter Six. Title Thlr1y•two, lllld legislation 

•~pplemeAtal thorato, 1h11 hln been deposited In Iba 60114,aJ Land Ort!" of the Uoltod Slaloa lbe PIii and 11,ld Notu of Sur,e7 1 0d rhc 

Ctr1lllcat1 of tbe Register of th lilld Offlc• II Sacramento, Califo mia, 

accompanied bt other eyldence whereby It 1ppe111 that the Rngels Copper )lining Company 

bas urercdendpaldforth, Carbonate No. 4-, Engels No. 6, Engel11.1'lo. !• Engels 

No. 8, Sulphide No. 5, Sulphide No~ 6, Sulphide No. 7, Sulpilide No. 8, 

Sulphide No. 9, and Sulphide No. 10 lode mining claims, 

deilp&lcd b7 th s .... ,,o, General u Survey No. 5780. embracing a portion of Sections 

eight and nine in Township twenty-seven north of Range eleven east of 

the Mount Diablo Meridian, in Plumas County, California, 

IIJld bow,dtd, ducribed, and platted U lollo"11 Boclnnlng for the description of the Carbonate No·. 

4 lode claim, at corner No. l, a post four inches square, four feet long, 

marked O. 4-1,5780, E. ·No.4--2, i. No, 5-1, C. No,3-4 , 52.56, with mound 

of stone; identical with corners Hos. 2, 1, and 4 of the Engels He. 4, 

Engels No. 5, and Carbonate No. 3 lode claims , respeotively, Survey No. 

5256, from which t~e quarter corner to Sections four and nine in Township 

twenty-seven north of Bange eleven east of the Mount Diablo Meridian, bears 

north fifty degrees twenty-eight minutes east nine hundred fifty-nine and 

thirteen hundredths feet distant; 

Thence, firs~ course, south ~hirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. · 2, a spruce post four 

inches square, four feet long, marked C. 4 - 2, R. 6 - 2 - 5780, and E. 

1. 



Sacramento 017273. 

No. 5 - 2 - 5256, with mund of sto~e; identical with corner Ho. 2 of 
said Engels Iio. 5 lode claim; -· 

• i'hence, ·second ~~e, sOllth forty ciegx&ei f if~i.:!IU· minn~••: • -,.,·.::s,~ 

east six hundred feet to corner No. 3,' a oedar post six i~hes ·aqua~e. • • ·-J 
. . 

four feet long, marked O. 4 - 3 - 5780. with momnd of stone; 
Thence, third oaurse, north thirty-eight degrees forty minutes c 

east one thousand five hundred feet to corner tlo. 4, a fir post fmr 

inches square, four feet long, marked o. 4 .. 4 - 5780 and o. No. 3 - 3, 

5256, with mound of stone; identical with corner ~• 3 o_f said Carbonate 

No. 3 lode claim; 

Thence, fourth ooun,e, north forty degrees fifty-six miD11tes west . .. 
three hundred feet to a point from which disco~er., bears saith thirty-

::~:::x:~ ~:~~e~::s 0;

8

~~~:::; '':!~ ~~:;~ ~r~:t~~~~=r .: ::.:1 

as above described, extending one thousand five hundred feet in length : 

along said Oarbonate ItJ. 4 vein or lode; 
Beginning, for the description of the. Ingels llo. 6 lode claim 

at corne~ No. l, a pine post four inc•hes square, four feet loq, marked 

I. 6 - 1-~ B. 7 - 1, 5780, with Jm)Und of. stone, from which the quarter 

corner to Sections eight and nine, se.id l'~~~ship ~ Range, bears ~o~t)l .... J 
thirty .. egrees twenty-one minutes west" i~ree hundred five· and ninety-one- ··-] 

! 
hundredths feet distant;. . . 

Thence, first course, north _thirty-eight degrees forty minutes ✓ 

east one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. 2, identical ivith 
i 

corner No. 2 of said Carbonate Ho. 4 ~ode olaim;- • :.i 

fhen~e, second oourse," no~tli forty d~ee1i':fift~~six~miil~tes. .· ·:-.-? 
west three hundred-feet t~. ~ ~int f~oq whfch. ~i~c~veri'\;.:ra soiitli ~--:.-;:_,.:-.·~)~ 

thirty- eight degrees forty • iniokt es we_st· thi~ti :~~-~~ _:d~ata-~'.{ • ~1x<hu~c1t.~{);~ 
• • . ·_; ., . . ,·.:. •' ' .. ·' ... !·; ~--:;;. 

• 
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feet to corner No. 3, ~ spruce p~st four inches square, four f"eet long, 
(" 

marked I. 6 - 3, ~~ 5 -. 2 - 5789 a!t~ ~~~~~o. ~~f-• ~•N~-~5~~~ ~~-~•-.-~th_ ..... ___ .Jd 
mound of stone; identi!)al with corner Ro~ 4 af ·the. SUlpiiide· lo(i·.lp~!:./>.;\.~ 
olaim Survey No. 52>6 •• and o~~ner No·/ 3 o~-'said~ ~l~ ·uo~ :5.·1ode c1aim~· ;~-1 

. !hence, third course, south thii:ty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five h~Ddred feet to corner No. 4, a pine post four 
• . 

inches square, follr f'eet long, marked E.6-4, B.'1-2-S. 5-1, S.6-1, 5'180 

with mound of stone; 
Thence, fourth course, south forty degrees fifty-six minutes 

east six hllndred feet to corner lo. 1, the plac,e of beginning; the survey ... 

of the lode claim, as above described, extending one thousand five hundred 

feet in length aloog se.id Ingels No. 6 vein or lode; 
Beginning, for the description of the Ingels· 10. 'I ~ode 014im,. . . . ·; 

·at corner ~o. l, identical° with coi-n8r Bo~ l. of' Bai.a lagal.~ Nii>61~.P.: -::,~ 
claim; •• ·: • •• ---~ 

Thenoe, first c_ourse, north forty degrees fifty-six _mimtes west 

three hundred feet to a point from which discovery cut bears south thirty­

eight degrees forty miniltes west sixty feet distant; six hundred feet to 
. . 

corner No~ 2, identical with corner Ro. 4 of said Engels Ho. 6 lode olaizn; iiJ 

Thence, second oourse, sou.th.thirty-eight degrees.forty minutes 
west one thousand five hundred fee~t :to cotnei-. io~·-~. a pine .post four.·• 

. . 

inches squere,"four feet long, marked I. 7-3, B.8-4, 8~~~4, 87-2, -5~80; 
Thence, third course, south foriJ degrees ·fifty-six minutes east 

six hundred feet to corner No. 4, a pine post four inches squere, four 

feet long, marked E. 7-4, i.8-3, 5780, with mound or stone; 
.I 

Thence, fourth course, n~rth thirty-eig~t • d~es for~1 minu~es. _. --~.::1' 

east one thoasand five hundred feet to corner Ho. l, tlie· plao·e o~ ~egfo- • ~· 

ning: the su"ey of the lode ·claim~ as above desorib•d·~- ext.encling one • .·_ jl 
thousand five hundred fee~ in length along ~aid -~ai~· Ip. 7 ~ein o~ lode;\~\ 

.• _;, 
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Thence, second oourse, north forty degrees ~~fty-six minutes 
west three hundred fee~ to a point from which discovery bears south 

.. . . / 
thirty-eight degrees forty miD11tes west fifty feet. distant; six hundred 

feet to corner Ho. 3,· a pine_post four inches square, tour feet long, 
marked_S. No. 4 -· 1, s. lo. 11 - 4 - 52.56, s. 5-3-S~ 10-4, ~780, with 
mound of stone; identical with corner No. l of said Sulphide .No. 4 lode 

claim and corner No. ♦ of the Sulphide ~o. 11 lode o laim Su~ey No. 5~6; 
Thence, third course, south thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

w~st one thousand f.ive hundred fee~ to oon.er No. 4, a pine post four • 
inches square, four feet long, marked s .. 5-4, s.~2, _s. 9-1, s. 10-3-

5760, with mound of stone; 

Thence, fourth course, south forty degrees fifty-six minutes 

east six hundred feet to corner No. l,. the place of beginning; the survey 

of the lode claim, as above described, extending one t~ousand five hundred 
feet in length along said Sulphide.No. 5 vein or lode: 

Beginning, for: the ~ascription of the Sulphide No. 6 lode claim, 

V 

at corner No. 1, identical with oor~er No •.. l of said Sulphide lfo. 5 lode V 
. . .. . 

claim; 

. ~neno~ ,. firs~ o 01.irse, nqrth forty degrees ~irty-six minutes west 
~hree hundred feet to a point from which discovery out bears south thirty­
eight degrees forty• minutes west four hundr~d forty feit distant; six 

hundred feei to-c~rner 10. 2, identical with corner No. 4 or said SUlphide 
No. 5 lode cla.im; . • . 

. Thence, second course, south thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five httndred feet ·to corner No. 3, a pine post.four 

inches sqaare1 four feet long, marked s. 6 - 31 s.7-31 8~8-2, s. 9 - 4 -
5780, with moand or stone; 

Thence, third course, south forty ~agrees fifty-six mi011tes east 
six hundred feet to corner Bo. 4, identic'4 with corner ~o. 3_ of sai~ 

Engels Mo. 7 lode claim; 

.5 

----------------------



Sacramento 017273. 

Beginning, for the description of the Ingels No. 8 lod~ c.).aim, 

at corner }To. l, a pine post· ~our_ inch~~ square, four fee~ long, marked 

1. B•l, s. 7-l-5780, with mound of stone, fro~ which the quarter corner 

to Sections eight and seventeen, said ~owllShip and Range, bears sou.th ✓ 

fifty-seven degrees twenty-one minutes west one thousa~ one hundred . . . . . 
sixteen and seven-tenths feet distant; 

Thence, first course, south forty degre~s _fifty-six minut_es ~st 

three hundred feet to a point fro~ \\'hioh discovery bears iiort~ thirty­

eight degrees forty minµtes east forty-five feet distant; six hundred 
.l • .. 

feet _to corner No. 2, a pine post four inches square, four feet long. 

marked E. 8~2-5780; 
thence. second course, north thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

east one thousand five hundred feet to corner lo. 3, identical with cor- V 
ner No. 4 of said Bng,la lo. 7 lode ~laim; 

Thence, third course, north forty degrees fifty-six minutes west 

six hundred feet to corner Ro. 4, id~ntical wi~h c»rner No. 3 of said 

Ingels No. 7 lode.claim; 
. . 

Thence, fourth course, south thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one:thousand .five hundred feet to corner No. 1, the place ~f begin­

ning; the survey of the lode claim, as above desori)>ed, extendiog one 

thousand_five hundred feet in length ~long said ii.gels fio. 8 vein or lode: 

. :BegiDDing,._.· for the description of the Sulph_ide No~ 5 lode claim, 

at corner No. 1, identical with corner No. 4 of said Engels No. 6 _lode r 
claim, from which the quarter c_orner to said Seotion.s eight and __ nine, 

bears south fifty-on& degrees thirty-fo~r min~tes east three hundred four 

and fifty-six-hundredths feet distant; 
Thence, first course. north thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

east one thousand five hundrfd feet to corner No. 2, identical with corner 
No. 3 of said Jngerrwc,.-e·-xwo oxamr-·-· ----------

4 
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Thence, fourth oolll"se, •. north thirty-eight degree_s forty minutes 

~st one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. l, ··the plaoe or Q~n-

uing; the s~ney of the lode ·claim, as above desoribed; extending on~ . i 

tbousaad five ~u'1dred fe~t iii. lellgtb elci~ e~ d-_SUl~f ~~," 6_:'~~f i~: ,:;5:-ft~ti 
lode; . • · • •· · • .• · ·· ·· •••• - -~· ~~-- •• -~_. . -::-·•··: ····.:~.-: . · · ·._:.~ 

:Beginning, for the description of the Sulphide ~lo. 7 lode claim, 

at corner Mo. 1, identical with corner No. 1 of said Ingels tJo. 8 lode 
claim; 

Thence, first course, t;10rth thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 
east one t~ousand five hundred feet to corner No. 2,· identical with cor­

ner Bo. 4 or said Ingels No. 8 lode claim; 

Thenoe, seco_nd c~urs_e, north forty degrees fifty-six .mi~tes· 
west three hundred feet tq a point from which discovery cut bears south 

thirty-ei~t degrees forty milllltes.west fift7 feet distant; six 411adred 
feet to corner No:_·3, idetj.tioal ·with oorn~r Ho. ··3_ of:·sjiid.-'Slilphid.•·•10~_.. 6 ·: · . ·. •. . . 
lode claim; 

Thence, third co~se, s011th thiryy-eight degrees forty minutes 
west one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. ·4, a pine post· 6_x 4 

inches, four feet long, marked s. 7 - 4, ~- 8 - l - 5780, with mound of 
stone; 

Thence, fourth course, south forty _d~ees f~fty-~ minutes 
east six hundred feet ~o·· o~rner No. 1, the ·place of b~Qning; the suney· 

of the lod~ claim,-as above desorib~d, eztending one thousand five hundred . . 
feet in length along:said sulphide No. 7 vein or lode; 

Beginning. for ~he description o(t_he Sulphide No. 8 lode ~laim, 

at_ corner Ho. 1, identical with corner Bo~ 4 of said Slllphid~ ao.? lode 

claim, from which the quarter corner to said Seotio~ • ~ig}lt ·an·d sevenhe~ 

~~re south twenty-Seven degrli8i twenty-four_ minut'ea • west o~e thoU.Blilld ·one 

hundred eighty-nine and_ one-tenth fee~ diat~nt·; 

6. 

\ 

• --1· 
.. ~ 
- : 

.. 

' 

·--~·--·-----·--------.,.......--------........,.---.....-.=~ 



Sacramento 017273. 

Thenc~, first co~rse, north thirty•e~g~t degrees fo!tY minutes 

east o~e thous~nd five hundred feet to c~rn~r Ho. 2, identical with cor­
ner No. 3 of said Sulphide No~ 7 lode claim; 

' . . 
Theno e, second cou_rse, north forty degrees fi_fty-~ix minutes 

west three hundred fee~~~ a point from which diac~very b~rs s_ou.th 
thi~ty-eight degrees forty miDUtes west fifty feet distant; six hundred 

fee~ to corner Ho. 3, a pine post four inches siuare, four feet long~ 

marked s. 8 - 3, s. 9 - .3, 5780, wlth mound of stone; 
~.;Thence, third course, south thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. 4, on face of rook and 

not established; 

Thence, f~urth course, south forty degrees fif~y-six ~i~tes 
east six feet to witness corner to said corner No. 4, a pine post four 

inches square_. f OIU' feet long~ marked s. 8 - 4 5'160 W. C., rit!i mou~d 

of stone; six hundred feet to oorne_r lio. l, the place_ ot: b•inni~; the 

survey of the lode cl~~• as above described, extending one_tbouaand five 

hundred feet ~n length along said Sulphide No. 8 vein or lode; 

Beginning, for the description of the Sulphide No. 9· .lode claim, 

at corner No. 1, identical with corner li~. 4 of said ~lphide.No. 5 lo~e 

claim, from which the quarter corner to said Sections eight and nine, b~rs 

scutb forty-four degrees thirty-one minutes east nine hundred one and one-. . . ' .. 
tenth feet distant; 

Thence, f~irst oou~se~ north forty degrees fi~ty-six -miD11tes west • Y 

six hundred feet to corner No. 2, a spruce post four inches square, four 

feet long, marked s. 9 - 2·, ~- 10 - 2, 5780, with mound of stone:· 

Thence, seoond course, ~outh thirty-eight_ degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. 3, identical with cor-
ner no. i of aai~ Sulphide io. 8 lode olaim; • 

7 
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Thence, third course, south forty degrees fi~ty-six ainutes east 

three hundred feet to a point from which disc~very b.ears nor~h thirty-
~ . 

eight degrees forty minutes east fifty feet distant; six hundred feet to v 
corner No. 4, identical with ~orner ~o. 2 of said_Sulphi~~ No. 9 lode • 

claim; 

!hence, fourth course, north thirty~eight degrees forty minutes 

-east one thousand five hundred feet. to corner flo. l, the place of be~n­

ning; the suney of the lode claim, as_ a~ove desoribed, extendi~ one 

thousand five hundred· feet in length along said Sulphide No. 9 vein or 
lode; 

Beginning, for the description of the sulphide· No. 10 lode claim 

at corner Ho. 1, a pine post four inches square, four feet long, marked 

s. 10 - l - 5780, s. No. 11 - l - 52'56 with mound of stone~ identical 

with corn er No. l of said Sulphide I~o. 11 lode claim, from which the 
northeast corner to s~id Section eight be,rs north twenty degrees twenty­

seven ~ioutea east tour hundred sixteen and fifty-seven-hundredths feet 
distant: / .. 

!hence, first course, south thirty-eight degrees forty minutes 

west one thousand five hundred feet to corner No. 2, identical with corner . . 
No. 2 of said Sulphide No. 9 lode claim: 

Thence, second course, south forty degrees fifty~six minute~ east 
six hundred feet to corner No. 3, identical with corner No. 1 of said 

Sulphide No. 9 lQde claim: • 

Thence, third course, north thirty-eight d agrees forty minutes 

east one thousand five hundred fee~ to oorner'No~ 4,· ide~tioal with corner 

No. 3 of said Sulphide No. 5 lode claim; • 
Thenoe, fourth course, north forty degrees fifty-six minutes west 

three hundred feet to.a point !rom which discovery bears"south thirty­
eight degrees forty minutes west. fifty feet dist.ant; six hundred feet to 

8 
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Sacramento 01?273. 
NOW KNOW YE, That there b therefore, purau~ laws aforesaid, bereby granted by the United Stales unto th~ nld 

~els Copper Mining Company 

ht or poueuion lo such outr.ldt parts or said veins, lodes, or ledges 1hall be 

confined to such portions thereof as tie between v 

OM direction that such planes will Intersect 1 

u drawn downwsrd through the end lines of said survey so continued in their 

or parh or said veins, lodes, or ledi;ea: And provided further, Thal nothing herein 

r upon tho surface or a claim owned or pouemd by anothr, cont•ined 1hall authorize tte grantee 

nature thereunto belonging, unto the uid g 

and •ulgns fore,er; subject, neverthtles 

SECOHI>. 

may provide n,lei r., worklng­

cor:i~:e1e Je,elopmenl, 

e, together with all tho rl;hls, privileges, Immunities, and appurtenances or whiltlooer 

1ts successors 

ovo•menlloncd and to the following conditions and stipulations: 

shall be held subject to any ~sled and ~ccrued waler rlghh for mining, agricultural, 

lc~os.u _d NJ&ervo!~ u111d In connection with such vratet ri&hU, u may be recognized ar.d 
.,.~~~~••=~ :_;:.j~C'~.:~.:• t ' • -~!~•\-:,:• ~' > • • C •• • • • • • 

1~1_al,!~·•f:tb"~·-.caurta. ,:·And . theie li·~.~~dJr_oa, .tht •lands her~brgnnted a right of wo.y 

.. o i~r~~-:~~,--i~: ~n1i.is.-.;... • ,. 

ms.try leglslall~n by Congress, the Leslslature or California 

claim er premises hereby gra111ed, Involving e>semenla, dralnai;e, and other necessary means to Its 

IN TE~TIMONY WHEREor, ,. Calvin Coolidge, 

f:'rt.ildent of the United Stales of America, have caused these leltera to be made 

Patent, and the Sul of lhe Genera.I Land Office to be hereunto afflud, 

GIVEN under my hand, at tha City or Washington, the JWEtlT'(-TifTli 

day or JAN IJAllY In the 12ar of our lord one thousand 

nine hundred and lWENT,Y•EIGHT and or th• Independence or th 

RECORD~atent Number . . i,o~ 

10. 

y 
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NOTES: 
L AT THE CONCLUSION Of MINING. All 

EQUIPMENT AND STOCICPIL£S WlU BE 
REMOVED FROM THE SITE. 

2. POSTMININGMAPCONTOURSARE 
APPROXIMATE. THE ACT\JAL FINISHED 
SURFACE WIU CORRESPOND TO THE 
ORIGINAl. PRE-0\/ERSURDEN 
STOCKPILE CONTOURS. 

3. THEADJACENTSTREAMWASRE· 
CHANNELED DURING THE EARLY 'lfJ"' 

CENTURYTO AVOID THE PILE. THIS 
PROJECT DOES NOT INVOLVE RE· 
ESTASUSl!MENT Of THE ORIGINAL 
STREAM COURSE. 

•· THE ORIGINAL SOIL SURFACE IS BURlm 
BEN EA TH THE EXISTING PILE Of 
OVERBURDEN SO SOIL SALVAGE 
DURING MINING IS NOT REQUIRED. If 
NECESSARY TO ENHANCE THE 
SIUTABIUTY OF THE UNDERLYING SOIL 
OVERBURDEN WHICH HAS INFILTRATED 
THE SOIL PRORLE WIU BE SCREENm 
OUT. MATERIAL PRODUCEO IN THIS 
MANNER Will BE REMOVED ALONG 
WllH REMAINING STOCICPIW. 

5. THE MATERIALS BEING PRODUCED AT 
THIS SITE 00 NOT TYPICALLY GENERATE 
UNUSEABLE BY-PRODUCTS. ANY 
UNUSED RNES SUITABLE FOR 
RESOIUNG WlU BE USED DURING 
RECLAMATION TO ENHANCE ROOTING 
DEPTH. 

6. COMPLETION OF MINING UNDER nus 
REClAMATION PIAN WIU EXHAUST 
THE AGGREGATE RESOURCES AT THIS 
SITE. 

' 
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• 
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NUMBER 10-LEVEL MINE -TYPICAL X-SECTION 
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PLUMAS COUNTY PLANNING & BUILDING SERVICES 
55s Main street 
Quincy, CA 95971-9366 
(530) 283-7011 

October 21, 2011 

Travis Deem 
740 Melton Court 
Red Bluff: CA 96080 

Dear Mr. Deem, 

www .plumascounty.us 

This letter is in response to your letter of October 20, 2011 regarding the vesting of an 
aggregate source located on APN 007-080-004, which is located in the County of 
Plumas, California. I have read this letter with your arguments that this aggregate source 
be vested for mining. I agree with your arguments that this aggregate site is vested. You 
also indicate in your letter that vesting does not give relief from the requirement for a 
Reclamation Plan in accordance with the Sur.face Mining and Reclamation Act 
(SMARA). Accordingly, an approved Reclamation Plan including all requirements for a 
Financial Assurance Cost Estimate (FACE) and Financial Assurance Mechanism (FAM) 
must be in place before additional material is removed from the site. 

If you have any questions feel free to contact me at 530-283-6214. 

u~ 
Planning Dire,otot 
Plumas County, California 



Th.urnday, October 20, Wl I 

Randy Wihmn, Plaru1.ing Director 
Plumas County Plarm.it1g & Ruildirig §en1ices 
555 Mai1.1 §treet 
Quincy, CA 95971 

RE: Vesting of aggregate 1;,ource located m1 Al?'~T 007-ogo-004 

Dear Mr. Willmn, 

We have prepared. th.ii. letter to 1mpply you wiili rnleva11t dai:a regarding tlw reque6t for a 
determination of veGting for the aggregate imurce located ttear the Number W-Level of ilie E11geli., 
mine (!ilee 2 attached mapG for general location and i.ite data). Based Ut'Olt our i1.1vei.tigatim1 of the 
site and e~isti.ng hililtmical documet1ts, it ir. our belief that tbe!ile 1murces tneet the 6i:aLtdardi,, for 
ve!ilting that have been ei.tablii.hed i1.1 Califomia and would appreciate your d1oughtful 
con!ilideration of thi& requefi\t. 

Generally, in m·der for a !lite to be cmwidered vested it 1t1eeds to fi\ati.dy the following criteria: 

1. The use must predate the year £hat tb.e County passed zoning regulatimu, that would either 
prohibit such use of the land or require the ii;;!iiua!Ee of a miie permit fur tlre mi11.i11g activitier, 
or prior to Jarmary l 5\ 1976 (effective date oftlte §urfa.ce Mi1.1ing amf Reclamation act -
§MARA), whichever ii. eairlnest (§MA.RA 62776). 

a. Mining operations have bee11 cmtducted a€ the !!lite for nearly 100 yearn. Origin.ally, 
mi11ing was con.ducted to retrieve precious mctals frnm vei!ils deep inside the 
mom1tain. Tunneling conducted to reach the mineralized areai,, cut through thick 
secti011s of 11on-mi1:1erahzed oveirburdel'i. rock, which was cai.t aside t.'iear €he f:mmel 
entrance. Catifomia, fa1.gels Mining Cornpal.ly bas maintamed !records !i\howiug that 
these overburden pilei. have been ej.ploited for aggregate material since at leas;t as; 
early as 1964-. 

I,. This ui.e of the overburden piles as aggregate sources predates §MA.RA by at least 
12 yearn and pregumably the adot,tion of applicable zoni.t1g regul.ation.s in P'lmnas 
County. 

2. There must be evid.e11ce that the sire ba.i. been active. 

a. The following timeline \Val!. provided by the Ca1i.f.omia-Et1gefo Mining Co. !oh.owing 
a contii.iuous h.ii.rory of ui.e @t r.he !ilnte by numerous e11tities, it'lCludmg Plumas 
County. 



Number 10 Level Overburden History: 

1. 1964 - 1975 American Exploration & Mining Company lease and use of overburden for 
roads. 

2. 1965 - No. 10 Level overburden donated to the Plumas County Road Department. 
---------?-11mrt2";"1:~no-=-t06~bic-yards-oroverbordeu fi om the-No:-HH..,-evel-sold to-MeMuHe,n-------­

Sand & Gravel. 
4. March 29, 1976 - 3,489 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level sold to Columbia 

Helicopters, Inc. 
5. May 15, 1976 - May 16, 1985 J.W. Fisher Logging Co. No. 10 Level overburden leases -

9,204 cubic yards of overburden. 
6. 1986-12,120 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level donated to the Plumas 

County Department of Public Works for use on Diamond Mountain Road only. 
7. 1988 - 564 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level donated to the Plumas County 

Department of Public Works for use on Diamond Mountain Road only. 
8. 1989 - 3,248 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level donated to the Plumas County 

Department of Public Works for use on Diamond Mountain Road only. 
9. 1989 - 690 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level sold to the Plumas County 

Department of Public Works. 
10. 1993 - 2002 - 11,660 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level sold to McMullen 

Sand & Gravel. 
11. 1995 - 984 cubic yards of overburden from the No. 10 Level sold to the Plumas County 

Department of Public Works. 
12. 1997 - 630 cubic years of overburden from the No. 10 Level donated to the Plumas County 

Department of Public Works for rebuilding the Lights Creek Bridge resulting from the 1997 
flash flood. 

13. 2010 - Present - Turner Excavating Inc. No. 10 Level overburden lease. 

b. The following pages include a photographic history of the site dating to 1921 which establishes 
the origin of the material and history of use as an aggregate source. 



lrf.llo~ n: l?'ierure of tflle ~Ire t.aif.ielll DEil Ill!Jl?ll Eoofilllli ro di.e imorth Gliowll!lf: tlie loeB1tio11 of the Jli!umber IO.Level tu11nel 
tlll1llll! ot1crili!J!rde1,11 eii,~aiD airr~. 

l.i"&l!oto ?: l"&l!o~o fro11m Il979 ioofd1,11g '1fmiliw5it from lile:u ffltrr2nce roaid guowiog the reiultg of pa.lit ba.rves;ting of 
ot1erbure'et11. 





P'!.B£o §: ILno~ing 1;011£hwe1,t at McMullen §t11nd & Gravel oper2tione iu 199'6. 

ll'lmto 6: !Looking r.outbwer.t at Turner Eitcavating operatiom; 2011. 



3. There must be no indication that the use has been abandoned. 

a. In the case of Hansen Bros. Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Supervisors, the court 
noted that abandonment of a vested right generally requires (1) A subjective 
intention to abandon by the owner; and (2) an overt act, or failure to act, which 
carries the implication the owner does not claim or retain any interest in the right of 
the ooo-cnnfnnnjng use Thjs location is lYJ>ical of rock sources located in remote 
sections of the State whose use is characterized by periods of activity interspersed 
by inactive times thatJast for several years. The repeat~ qse;, of this site as a source 
for rock indicates that the property owners continued to value the mineral resource 
at the site. There is no evidence to conclude that at any time the owners lost interest 
in the established use. 

b. It should be noted, that vested rights deal with the right to the land use and do not 
eliminate the need to obtain a reclamation plan under SMARA. There is also an 
important distinction between abandonment in terms of vested use and 
abandonment as defined by SMARA. The abandonment clause in SMARA 
(§2770(h) (6)) does not pertain to the underlying vested right to the use of the land. 
SMARA regulates the timing and implementation of reclamation at sites covered by 
an approved reclamation plan. SMARA can compel reclamation to commence if 
the site meets the criteria set out in that law but it does not affect the right to the 
use. 

Based on the evidence we believe that this site does contain a vested mine and that the owner 
should be able to continue operations once they obtain a reclamation plan. We request that the 
county make a determination of vesting for this site at which time the Operator will proceed with 
the preparation of a reclamation document. Please do not hesitate to contact us if you have any 
questions. We can be reached at 530-736-2448. 

Respectfully, 

~ S-'"'l~d~-----
Travis Deem 
CPESC#3948 
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STATE OF CALIFORNIA-THE NATURAL RESour -s AGENCY Edmund G. Brown Jr, Govemo, 

. • · : DEPARTMENT OF FORESTRY AND FIRE PROTECTION 
•• Lassen - Modoc - Plumas Unit 

- 697-345 Highway 36 
•• Susanville, CA 96130 

(530) 257-4171 

March ·19, 2012 

Plumas Co. Planning & Building Services 
Attention: Rebecca Herrin 
555 Main Street 
Quincy, CA 95971 

REC'EJ ·ED 

MAR 2 U 2D1t 

I l'lt1i il ll1t , L i ' ,11I·' 
~ J Ulll y 

Re: Turner Excavating application for a Permit to Mine/Reclamation Plan 

Dear Rebecca, 

With respect to Turner Excavation's application for a Permit to Mine/Reclamation Plan the California Department of 
Forestry & Fire Protection (CAL FIRE), Lassen-Modoc-Plumas Unit, submits the following comments: 

The California Forest Practice Act was adopted in 1973, resulting in a comprehensive process where CAL FIRE 
oversees enforcement of California's forest practice regulations. The purpose of the Forest Practice Rules is to 
implement the provisions of the Z'berg-Nejedly Forest Practice Act of 1973 in a manner consistent with other laws, 
including but not limited to, the Timberland Productivity Act of 1982, the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
o-f 1970, the Porter Cologne Water Quality Act, and the California Endangered Species Act. 

CEQA Guidelines (14 CCR 15382) defines "Significant effect on the environment'' as a substantial, or potentially 
substantial, adverse change in any of the physical conditions within the area affected by the project, including land, 
air, water, minerals, flora, fauna, ambient noise, and objects of historic or aesthetic significance. The removal of trees 
to transform timberland to a non-timber growing use has an effect on the physical environment and must be 
addressed by Plumas County Planning & Building Services (lead agency) pursuant to CEQA. 

I talked to Brian Turner about the project and he informed me that the project is proposed on a 2.88 acre non­
timberland area where no tree removal is proposed. In addition, CAL FIRE Fire Captain, Shane Vargas has no 
concerns. Therefore, CAL FIRE has no further comment concerning the project. Thank you for the opportunity to 
comment on this project. Please contact CAL FIRE Plumas Area Forester, Al Klem at (530) 283-1792, if you have 
any. question regarding timber harvesting. For fire protection matters please contact CAL FIRE Fire Captain, Shane 
Vargas at {530) 283-9322. 

signature 

Al Klem { Forester I, RPF #2546) 
For Brad Lutts (Unit Chief) 
California Department of Forestry and Fire Protection 
Lassen - Modoc - Plumas Unit 
P.O. Box F, Quincy, CA 95971 

cc: Turner Excavating, Norman lamb, Jim Chapin, Prevention File, Chrono File 

CONSERVATION IS WISE-KEEP CALIFORNIA GREEN AND GOLDEN 

PLEASE REMEMBER TO CONSERVE ENERGY. FOR TIPS AND INFORMA TlON, VISIT "FLEX YOUR POWER" AT WWW.CA.GOV. 



Herrin, Becky 

From: 
Sent: 

To: 

Sam Longmire [sam@myairdistrict.com] 

Tuesday, March 27, 2012 2:11 PM 

Herrin, Becky 

Subject: Number 10-Level Mine, Diamond Mountain Road 

Dear Ms. Herrin: 

The Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District has reviewed the Preliminary Review and 
Consultation for a seasonal rock crushing/screening plant on Diamond Mountain Road in Greenville (APN 
007-080-004 ). 

The project as proposed is not likely to result in significant impacts to air resources. However, an 
Authority to Construct/Permit to operate will probably be required from the NSAQMD. Application 
materials and information are available on the district's website at www.myairdistrict.com. The applicant 
should contact the NSAQMD main office in Grass Valley (530-274-9360) to discuss the possible need for 
permitting. Equipment typically subject to permitting includes generator engines and rock 
crushing/screening machinery. 

For surface disturbance exceeding one acre, a Dust Control Plan is required pursuant to NSAQMD Rule 
226: Dust Control. This could be a stand-alone document or could be included in the plan of operations 
or operating permit. The next level of environmental documentation should indicate where dust control 
conditions will be accessed by workers and how following the conditions will be assured. It may be 
necessary to install a gravel apron to minimize track-out onto paved public roadways if conditions exist 
that indicate this could happen. If track-out does occur, dirt should be removed from any paved roadway 
at least daily. • 

The project site is not mapped as having ultramafic rock or naturally occurring asbestos. However, if 
ultramafic rock is encountered then the Asbestos ATCM for Construction, Grading, Quarrying and Surface 
Mining Operations (CCR Title 17, Section 93105) will apply. 

Sincerely, 
Samuel F. Longmire, APCS 
Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District 

Samuel F. Longmire, MSES 
Air Pollution Control Specialist Ill 
Northern Sierra Air Quality Management District 
PO Box 2509, Grass Valley, CA 95945 
Phone: (530) 274-9360 x106 
Fax: (530) 274-7548 

4/10/2012 

CCl.c~ 1 Ul 1 



Project Title: Permit to Mine/Reclamation Plan for Turner Excavating, Inc. 

Lead Agency: Plumas Counly 
Mailing Addms: 555 Main Street 
Ci1y: Owney Zip: 95971 

Comae\ Person: Rebecca Herrin 
Phone: (530) 283-6213 

County: _P_lu_m_a_s ___________ _ 

Project Location: County: --P---'lu_m.caccs'--------- City!Ne:ues.t Community· .cG_re"-e'-n-'--v-'il"'le ___________ _ 
Goss Strce~: Diamond Mountain Road Z,p Code: ____ _ 

Loni11ude/L:1titudc idcsrces. minutes and se,oud)): ~ 0 :!1._· 13 t1"' NI ~ 0 
~ · ~ ,. \V Total Acres: _2_.8_8 _____ _ 

Assessor's l'::irccl So :007•080·0{)4 Sccuon· 8 Twp.: ~ R;in,gc. ~ Blbc: MOM 
Within 2 Mik>: St::ne Hw) =: none \\'a1crw.1ys: .cC_h_in..ca_Gc..uc..l.c.ch'--',---'L'-'19._h-'t-'-s---'C"-rec..ec..k-'-------------

Airport>: n_o-'-n-'--e'--------- R:ulwa)·s: _no_n_e ______ _ S'-'hools:: n"-o __ n_e'-------

Document Type: 

CEQA: D :-or D Drof, EIR 
0 Supplcmem/Sub«quem EIR 

i'-°EPA: NOl Other. D Join1 Document 
inal Docum:!nt D Earl) Cons 

~ Neg Dec (Pnor SCI! No.J _____ _ lhcr: -------0 Mi, Neg Dec 

Local Action Type: 

01hcr: --------- j 8ifrarG,E IVE 
0 FONS! 

- - M/l.Y ~ 4 .;10+.?- REC 
D General Plan Updau: 
D Gt:ncral Pl:.m Amendmcm 
0 General Plan Elc:mcnl 
D Communny Pion 

D Specific Plan 
D Ma>h::r Plan 
0 Planned Unit Dcvelopmelll 
0 Si,e Plan 

□ Rezo11STATE CLEARING HOUS D Pre«ln D Use Pe~m-,i:-,--------l~ 

0 Land Division (Subdivision, e,c.) [8] 

A11ncxa1ion 
Redevelopment 
Coaslill Pe:nnu 
Other.Mining permil 

Development Type: 

D Residt:ntial: Unn:. Acres __ _ 

- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -SY: D 
0 Office: Sq.ft. --- A1.:1c:,, Employees __ _ 
D Commcrcial:Sq.f1. --- /\c.:rcs Employees __ _ 

0 Transponution: Typc_~-----------
{R) t-.·lining: Mineral Construction aggregate 

0 lndustri:11: Sq.f1.. --- Acre:s Employees __ _ 
0 Educationul: __ =:=:=:=:=:-___________ _ 

D Power: Type ______ MW~----
0 Wuste Trc.atmcnt:Type ______ MGD ____ _ 

D Recre:nionol'--: ~~-------~=~---- - 0 Hauirdous Waste:Type ____________ _ 
□ W~tcr Fac1lities:Typc ______ MGD _ ___ _ D Other: __________________ _ 

Project Issues Discussed In Document: 

0 Aes1hctic/V1suul O Fiscal D Recrcution/Parks 
0 Al!.nrultural Land O Flood Plain/Flooding O Schooli/Universuies 
(g] Air Quality O Forest l..;lnd/Flrc: Haz.ard O Septic Systems 
[gj Archcological/His1or1c:il [Rl Geolog,c/Seismic O Sewer Capacily 
D Blolo1.?ic.il Rc!iiourcc:i,, [E] ~tinernh (EJ S01I Erosion/Compac11on/Gr.1ding 
D Coas,;f Zone O Noise O Solid Wam 
D Or;unagc/.ti.bsorpt1on D Popula1ion/Housing Balonce D Toxic/Haurdous 
D Economic/Jobs D Pubhc Servlcesir-aciluies O TrJffic/Circuldlion 

Present Lnnd Use/Zoning/General Plan Designation: 
lrT\portant Timber/General Forest 

IB'] Vegc1a1ion 
(gJ Wa1er Qu3lity 
0 W;11er Supply/Groundw,Hcr 
0 We1land/Ripmon 
0 GroWlh 1111.Juc.:emem 
0 Land Use 
0 Cumul:stive Effects 
D O•h•r. ______ _ 

Project Description:- (please use a separate-page! / necessaryf - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
Proposal 10 mine up to 100,000 cubic yards of construction agg,egate from an existing previously disturbed overburden pile. 
The project will be mined in one section ,nithout phasing. In addition to mining, the project includes a seasonal rock crushing/ 
screening plant. but no permanent structures or buildings. The processing plant will cease operation and be removed from the 
site when available reserves of aggregate overburden have been exhausted. 

State Cle~ringhmrse Contact: 

State Revie" Began: 

(916H~5-0613 

§_._:L_. 1011 

Proj ect Sent to the following State Agencies 

__lL__ Resources StaI c/Co11su111cr Svcs 
General Services 

Cal E l'A 

~-~-1011 

Boating & Waterways 
CoaS1al Comm 
Colorado R vr Bd 

~ Conserva,ion 
___x_ Fish & Game;; 2 

ARB: A irponl Energy Projec,s 
__ A R.B: T ransponalion Projects 

SCH COMPLIANCE 

Please note Srate C lear inghouse Number 
(SCH #) on all Comments 

201 2052016 
SCH#: _ _________ _ 
Please forward lute comments direct!) 10 the 
Lead Ag1:ncy 

Delta Protection Comm 
c Cal Fire 

ARB: Major Industrial Projects 
-- SWRCB: Div. Financial Assist. 

_x Historic Preservation 
_____x_ Parks & Rec 

Cemral Valley Flood Pro1. 

Bay Cons &. Dev Comm. 

-- SWRCB: Wtr Quo iii)' 
-- SWRCB: \Vtr Right; 

X Reg. WQCB #~ 
__ Toxic Sub Ctrl-CTC 

Ytli /Adlt Correct ions 

___x.: DWR Correc,ions 
Cal EMA ri1 

,, 

_& Resources. Recycling and Recovery _:.., C- ... 
Bus Transp 1-lous Independent Comm r,-, ~ 

.Aeronautics Energy Comm1ss10nC) =" · ; 
~ CHP X NAH C ~ O. 
___x_ Caltrans = 2 Public Utilities·ColJ!)n 1' 

Trans Planning ----25:,_ Srnte Lands Cornn,-: O ! 
' ' Housing & Com D~v 

Food & Agriculture 
Public Health 

_y:;._. Tahoe Rgl Plan A~-:ci'1-

..... -
j 

m 

::s? 
.•.Q~lDAPCD ".2-,\ 

(Resources: _.5__ _Q_, 
Conservancy C.!l 

0."'I 
Other: _____ _ 

I 1,. 

ER 

. j 

·-
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